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To the Shareholders of Acciona, S.A.  

REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion __________________________________________________________________  

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Acciona, S.A. (the “Parent”) and 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheet at 31 December 2017, the 
income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in total 
equity, the statement of cash flows, and the notes, all of them consolidated, for the year then 
ended. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the equity and financial position of the Group at 31 December 2017 and of its 
financial performance and cash flows, all of them consolidated, for the year then ended, in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union 
(IFRS-EU) and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable in Spain. 

Basis for Opinion _________________________________________________________  

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in 
Spain. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial statements section of our report.  

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those 
regarding independence, that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in 
Spain pursuant to the legislation regulating the audit of accounts. We have not provided any non-
audit services, nor have any situations or circumstances arisen which, under the aforementioned 
regulations, have affected the required independence such that this has been compromised.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  
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Key Audit Matters ________________________________________________________  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Recognition of revenue from construction contracts 
See notes 4.2.(O) and 25 to the consolidated financial statements 

Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit 

A large part of the Group's revenue is from 
construction service contracts, whereby revenue is 
recognised in accordance with the percentage of 
completion method, which requires estimating the 
margin on each contract, the costs still to be incurred 
and the probability that revenue arising from any 
amounts claimed or disputed vis-à-vis clients will be 
received. 

The recognition of revenue and results on these 
contracts therefore requires a high level of 
judgement by management and the Directors, and 
rigorous control over the estimates made and any 
deviations that may arise over the life of the 
contracts. The estimates take into account all costs 
and revenue related to the contracts, including any 
unforeseen cost overruns, risks or claims currently in 
dispute and any revenue currently being negotiated 
with or claimed from clients. Revenue is recognised 
only when the probability of collection from the client 
is high and the recoverable amount can be reliably 
determined.  

Due to the uncertainty associated with these 
estimates and as any changes therein could give rise 
to material differences in the revenue recognised, 
this has been considered a key audit matter.  

 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 
following: 

• We evaluated the design, implementation and 
effectiveness of key controls in relation to the 
process for revenue recognition using the 
percentage of completion method and the 
process for budget control, evaluating the 
methodology used to draw up the contract 
budgets and monitor the assumptions used 
therein.  

• Based on certain quantitative and qualitative 
selection criteria, we obtained a sample of 
construction contracts and evaluated the most 
significant and complex estimates therein used 
by the Group for purposes of revenue 
recognition. We obtained documentation 
supporting these estimates and evidencing the 
judgements made by the Group. 

• We compared the results on completed 
contracts with the budgeted results, including 
the historical performance and the Group's 
control over the budget, to evaluate the 
reasonableness of the estimates made 
regarding the contracts. 

• For a selection of contracts, we analysed key 
clauses and identified significant contractual 
mechanisms, such as penalties and bonuses, in 
order to evaluate whether these clauses are 
adequately reflected in the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements. 

• We evaluated the Group's judgement regarding 
the recognition of revenue at the reporting date 
in respect of completed work pending 
certification for which client approval is currently 
being obtained, and the general reasonableness 
thereof. On the basis of our own expectations, 
in turn based on our knowledge of the Group 
and our experience in the sector and the 
countries where the Group operates, we 
updated the status of negotiations with clients 
per the main case files and verified the 
reasonableness and consistency of the 
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Recognition of revenue from construction contracts 
See notes 4.2.(O) and 25 to the consolidated financial statements 

Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit 

documentation supporting the probability of 
recovery. 

• We visited the main work sites, physically 
inspecting the projects for stage of completion 
and identifying areas of potential risk through 
observation and by analysing documentation and 
holding discussions with site personnel. 

• We evaluated whether the provisions 
recognised at the reporting date for each 
contract reasonably reflect the main obligations 
and the level of risk of the contracts, assessing 
the Group's judgement when drawing up these 
estimates. 

• We assessed whether the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements meet the 
requirements of the financial reporting 
framework applicable to the Group. 

 

Recoverability of the property, plant and equipment of the Energy division 
See notes 4.2 (E) and 5 to the consolidated financial statements 

Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit 

The Group recognised impairment of Euros 641 
million on the property, plant and equipment of the 
Energy division in prior years.  

In accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework, at the end of each reporting period the 
Group assesses whether there has been any 
indicator of possible impairment or any evidence of 
changes in the events or circumstances that gave 
rise to previously recognised impairment and, where 
applicable, regulatory or other changes that could 
modify future cash flow expectations. Determining 
and measuring the indicators requires management 
and the Directors to make significant judgements 
and estimates, which increases the risk. 
Consequently, this area has been considered a key 
audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 
following: 

• We obtained an understanding of the evaluation 
process used by the Group to identify indications 
of impairment in the valuation of property, plant 
and equipment or indications that previously 
recognised impairment should be reassessed, and 
we evaluated the design and implementation of 
that process.  

• We reviewed management's analysis of possible 
impairment indicators and the conclusions drawn.  

• We also assessed whether the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements meet the 
requirements of the applicable financial reporting 
framework. 
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Valuation of the investment in Nordex SE 
See notes 3.2 (f) and 9 to the consolidated financial statements 

Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit 

The Group has an investment in Nordex SE, an 
equity-accounted company listed on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange. Subsequent to the acquisition, the 
market value of Nordex SE fell to below the carrying 
amount of the investment on the balance sheet. 

To determine whether there are any impairment 
losses, the Group has calculated the recoverable 
amount of this investment based on its estimated 
value in use, in turn calculated using the present 
value of the investment's estimated future cash 
flows. 

There is a high level of judgement and complexity 
involved in determining whether there are indicators 
of impairment and estimating the value in use of the 
Group's investment in Nordex SE. Value in use is 
based, among other things, on financial projections 
that consider the assumptions made regarding 
macroeconomic trends, the internal circumstances 
of the investee and its competitors, discount rates 
and the future performance of the business. 

Furthermore, changes in the Group's key 
assumptions for the valuation of Nordex SE could 
imply significant modifications to its value in use and, 
therefore, to its carrying amount at the reporting 
date. Due to the foregoing, there is a significant risk 
inherent in the valuation of the aforementioned 
investment, therefore making it a key audit matter. 

 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 
following: 

• We documented our understanding of the 
Group's processes for identifying indications of 
impairment and estimating value in use, which 
included testing the design and implementation of 
the key controls established by the Group in 
connection with these processes.  

• We evaluated the reasonableness of the 
methodology and assumptions used by the Group 
in estimating the recoverable amount of the 
investment in Nordex SE, with the collaboration of 
our specialists in business valuations. We 
reviewed the extent of achievement of the 
estimates in past business plans and contrasted 
the information contained in the valuation model 
with Nordex SE's business plans used by the 
Group and with estimates and forecasts for the 
industry of which Nordex SE forms part, obtained 
from external sources. In addition, we evaluated 
the growth rates and discount rates used in the 
calculation of the recoverable amount, and 
sensitivity of the latter to changes in key 
assumptions to determine its impact on the 
valuation. 

• Lastly, we assessed whether the disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements meet the 
requirements of the applicable financial reporting 
framework. 

 

 

  



 
 
 
5 
 

 

Litigation and contingencies 
See notes 4.2 (m) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements 

Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit 

In the course of its activity, the Group is exposed to 
claims and disputes and may find itself becoming a 
party to administrative or judicial proceedings and 
arbitration. 

The process for controlling, monitoring and 
evaluating claims and disputes involving the Group 
is complex. Management and the Directors must 
exercise judgement to predict the outcome thereof 
and estimate the probability of a ruling against the 
Group, its possible economic consequences and, 
where appropriate, the amount of any provisions 
needed to cover the related obligations and other 
accounting impacts and/or disclosures to be 
included in the consolidated financial statements. 

As mentioned in note 17 to the consolidated 
financial statements, the subsidiary ATLL Sociedad 
Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. is 
involved in legal proceedings appealing the decision 
of the body that granted it the concession. 
However, at the date of this report, these 
proceedings have not prevented the 
aforementioned subsidiary from continuing to 
operate the service concession. On 21 February 
2018, the Spanish Supreme Court dismissed two of 
the appeals against the decision adopted by the 
Catalonian High Court on 22 June 2015, thereby 
confirming the cancellation of the award of the 
concession. Should the outcome of the appeals that 
are pending a decision by the Supreme Court be the 
same as the aforementioned decision, the contract 
would be cancelled and go into liquidation, and the 
government would be bound to pay compensation 
in accordance with the Public Sector Contracts Law. 
Nevertheless, in accordance with the tender 
specifications, ATLL Sociedad Concesionaria de la 
Generalitat de Catalunya is obliged to continue to 
provide the service until the certificate evidencing 
the return of the related assets and rights has been 
signed and the compensation provided for in the 
tender specifications for early termination of the 
concession has been received. Based on the 
opinion of their legal counsel and their best 
estimate at this date, the Group's Directors 
consider that the outcome of the aforementioned 
litigation will not undermine the Group's equity or 
require an outflow of funds. Consequently no 
impact has been recognised in this regard at 31 
December 2017. 

Due to the judgement involved in predicting the 
outcome of these matters and the uncertainty 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the 
following: 

•  We obtained details of claims and litigation 
involving the Group from the information provided 
by the Group's legal counsel. 

• We evaluated the design and implementation of 
the relevant controls established by the Group in 
relation to the integrity of claims and litigation and 
to estimate the possible consequences thereof for 
the Group and, where appropriate, the necessary 
provisions and their corresponding recognition. 

• We obtained responses from the Group's lawyers 
containing their representations regarding the 
status, probability and possible consequences for 
the Group of the most significant claims and 
disputes in quantitative and qualitative terms. 

• In the case of the more significant claims and 
litigation, together with our legal specialists we 
evaluated the reasonableness of the assumptions 
and estimates made by management and the 
Directors and, where appropriate, the Group's 
lawyers. 

• We also assessed whether the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements meet the 
requirements of the applicable financial reporting 
framework. 
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Litigation and contingencies 
See notes 4.2 (m) and 17 to the consolidated financial statements 

Key Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed in Our Audit 

inherent in the estimates related to claims and 
disputes, particularly those subject to a court ruling 
or arbitration, and because changes therein or the 
outcome of such rulings could give rise to 
significant differences with respect to the amounts 
recognised by the Group at the reporting date, we 
have considered litigation and contingencies to be a 
key audit matter. 

 

Other Information: Consolidated Directors' Report __________________________  

Other information solely comprises the 2017 consolidated directors' report, the preparation of which 
is the responsibility of the Parent's Directors and which does not form an integral part of the 
consolidated financial statements.  

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not encompass the consolidated 
directors' report. Our responsibility regarding the content of the consolidated directors' report is 
defined in the legislation regulating the audit of accounts, which establishes two different levels: 

a) A specific level applicable to the consolidated statement of non-financial information and to 
certain information included in the Annual Corporate Governance Report, as defined in article 
35.2. b) of Audit Law 22/2015, which consists solely of verifying that this information has been 
provided in the consolidated directors' report, or where applicable, that the directors' report 
makes reference to the separate report on non-financial information, as provided for in 
legislation, and if not, to report on this matter. 
 

b) A general level applicable to the rest of the information included in the consolidated directors' 
report, which consists of assessing and reporting on the consistency of this information with 
the consolidated financial statements, based on knowledge of the Group obtained during the 
audit of the aforementioned accounts and without including any information other than that 
obtained as evidence during the audit. Also, assessing and reporting on whether the content 
and presentation of this part of the consolidated directors' report are in accordance with 
applicable legislation. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are 
material misstatements, we are required to report them.  

Based on the work carried out, as described above, we have verified that the information mentioned 
in a) above has been provided in the consolidated directors' report and that the rest of the 
information contained in the consolidated directors' report is consistent with that disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements for 2017 and the content and presentation of the report are in 
accordance with applicable legislation.  
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Directors' and Audit Committee's Responsibility for the Consolidated 
Financial statements ______________________________________________________  

The Parent's Directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements in such a way that they give a true and fair view of the consolidated equity, 
consolidated financial position and consolidated financial performance of the Group in accordance 
with IFRS-EU and other provisions of the financial reporting framework applicable to the Group in 
Spain, and for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Parent's Directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either 
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Parent's audit committee is responsible for overseeing the preparation and presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
statements  ______________________________________________________________  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing legislation regulating the audit of accounts in Spain, 
we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Parent's Directors. 
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– Conclude on the appropriateness of the Parent's Directors' use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair view. 

– Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the audit committee of the Parent regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Parent's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with the 
applicable ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated to the audit committee of the Parent, we determine those that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period 
and which are therefore the key audit matters.  

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter.  

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

Additional Report to the Audit Committee of the Parent ____________________  

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with our additional report to the Parent's audit 
committee dated 26 February 2018. 
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Contract Period __________________________________________________________  

We were appointed as auditor of the Group by the shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on 
18 May 2017 for a period of three years, from the year ended 31 December 2017. 

 

 

(Signed on the original in Spanish) 

 

Borja Guinea López 
On the Spanish Official Register of Auditors (“ROAC”) with number 16210 
 
26 February 2018 
 

KPMG Auditores, S.L.  
On the Spanish Official Register of 
Auditors (“ROAC”) with No. S0702 
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TRANSLA TION 

ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED JNCOME STATEMENT FOR 2017 and 2016 

(Thousand euros) 

NOTE 2017 2016 

Revenue 25 7,253,974 5,977,419 

Other income 4.2 A) 613,346 554,705 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 29,166 8,395 

Cost of good sold 26 ( 1,975,668) (l,595,057) 

Personnel expenses 26 ( 1,497,031 ) ( 1,287,557) 

Other operating expenses 26 (3, 148,568) (2,466,378) 

Depreciation and amortisation charge and change in provisions 4,5,7,26 (662,989) (778,381) 

lmpaimlent aad profit!(loss} oo disposals of oon-cwrent lt5Sds 26 104,323 532,l94 

Other gains and losses 3.774 42,837 

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERA TIONS 720,327 988,177 

Financia! income 28 45,628 61,921 

Fin.anee costs 28 (368,747) (732,653) 

Translation differenccs (9,898} 27,689 

Profit/(loss) from changes in value of financia! instrumeoJs at fuir val u e 26 38,482 (7,069) 

Profit/(loss) of companies accounted for using the equity method 8 (69,506) 69,570 

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 356,286 407,635 

lncome tax expense 22 (105,341) (33,780) 

VEAR'S PROFIT/{LOSS) FRO!\f CONTINUING OPERA TIONS 250,945 373,855 

Profit/(Loss) aftfl" t:n from discoati1111tfll openüoas -1 
YEAR'S PROFJT/(LOSS) 250,945 373,855 

Non-control ling interests 16 (30,814) (2 1,874) 

PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE PARENT COMPANY 220,131 351 ,981 

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUJNG OPERA TIONS 31 3.85 6.17 

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTJNUING OPERATIONS 31 3.79 6.22 

BASlC EA RNlNGS PER SHARE (euros) 31 3.85 6. 17 

DlLUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (euros) 31 3_79 6.22 

Accompanying Notes 1 to 36 and the appendices are an integral part ofthe consolidated financia! statements for 2017 _ 
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TRANSLATION 

ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT O F CO MPR EHENS IVE INCOME FOR 2017 a nd 2016 (Thousand euros) 

Note 2017 2016 

A) COl\SOLIDA n:o PKOHT FOR THE YEAR 250,945 373,855 

l. Profit attmmted to !be Pareut 220,131 351,981 

2. Non-cootroffmg ffi1c:rest5 30,814 21,874 

B) ITE~1S l1IA T WILL :r-iOT BE RECl..ASSIFIED TO THE 
t16 (1,146) INCOME STATE'\IENT 

l. Revaluation/(Reveision ofrevaluation) ofproperty, plant and 
- -

equipmeot and intluwlik assets 
2. Actuaria! gains ami losses and other a:djustmen!S 17 155 (1,372) 

3. Ta.x effect (39) 226 

C) ITEMS TllAT MAY BE RECL~IFIED TO THE IM:O'.\IE 
(J S0,288) 173,771 STA TE\lt:l\"f 

'-arad upHsr rccogniRd dirttdy im rqnity (184,983) (61.,232} 

1. Ri:\ia!mtioo of fuu;:::i:ial mstn.=3: {316} 269 

a) Al·ailable-fur-sale financia! as.sets 16 (316) 269 

b) Othcr mrome I (expi21SCS) - -

2. Cas!J flow l:edges 20 60.879 (130.766) 

3. Translalion dift~ (230,4()5) 48,854 

4. Othtt i.noome :md expenses reroguised direct.ty in eqiiity - -

5. Taxdfect (15,141) 20,411 

Tninsltrs lo tllc inamlc smttmcat: ~,695 235,003 

1. Reuluati<m of financial insarummts: - -

a) Avail.al!!e-fur-s.a!e finaocial asscts - -
b) Olher iru:ome /(expenses) - -

2. Cash fkiw tredges 20 47.,54$ :uo.oio 
3. TranslatIDn diffen:nces (966) (6,672) 

4 . Other inoome and expenses recognisro din:ctly in equity - -
5. Taxeffecl (11,887) (78,335) 

T01'AL RECOGNISED INCO~tE I (LXPENSE) (A+B+C) 100,773 546,480 

a) Attribi;skd to thr Pannt 121,324 529,624 

b) Attrib kd to noa-«:oatroUing i.atrrcsts (20,551) 16,856 

Accompanying Notes 1 to 36 and the appendices are an integral part of the consolidated fi nancia! statements fo r 20 17. 
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TRANSLA TION 

ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CO!"\SOLIDA TED STATEl\lt.:NT OF CHANGES f.'li TOTAL EQUnY A T 31 DECEMBER. 2817 (tnmalld fllrm) 

Openiog bab•tt at 
61181/17 
Adjustments dueto changes 
in accounting policies 

Adjustrnents due to errors 

AdJusted opellÍlllg balutr 

Total recognised 
income/(exvcnse) 
Transactions with 
shareholders or owners 
Capital 

increases/(rcductions) 
Conversion of fi nanc ia! 

liabiliries into equity 

Dividends paid 

Treasury share transactions 
(net) 

1 ncreases/(Decreases) due to 
business combinations 

Other transactions with 
shareholders or owners 

Other changes in equity 

Share-based payments 

Transfers between ~uüy 
items 

Other changes 

Closing balllllltt at 
31112/17 

Slaare 
capibl 

57,260 

-

-

57.,26a 

-

--

--

--

--

--

-

--

--

--

-

-

57;wi 

Share 
pRWllÍllllll, 

~rs 

aod 
iatttim 

dñidmd 

3,712,946 

-

-

J,712,946 

-

(201,992) 

--

--
( 164,569) 

(35,7 11 ) 

--

(I,712) 

350, 143 

573 

35i,9&l 

(2,411) 

.J.,161,.997 

TR':ISIU'Y 
sbans 

(14,403) 

-

-

(14.48}) 

-

(2,195) 

-

--

--
(2,195) 

- · 

--

13,452 

13,452 

-

-

(3,1-") 

Silarehollltrs' Equity (Nott 16) 

Yrar's prnfit 
attribekd tG 
tllt Parrmt 

351,981 

-

-

351.,98) 

220, 131 

--

-

--

--
--

--

--
(351,981) 

--

(351,981) 

-

Zll>,J.Jl 

Otkr nr•ify 
iostrumeots 

-

-

-

-

-

--

-

--

--

--

--

--

--
--

-

-

-
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Value 
adjast­
mmts 

(276,308) 

-

-

(276,308) 

(98,807) 

--

-

-

--

--

--

--

--

--

-

-

(375.,115> 

Non­
roatrullillg 
iaternts 

265,870 

-

-
2,5.,878 

(20,551) 

(39,053) 

-

--

(40,422) 

--

2,426 

(1,057) 

(3,225) 

-
-

(3,225) 

2ll.,IMI 

Total eqaity 

4,697,346 

-

-

4/»7,346 

111,773 

(243,240) 

--

--

(204,991) 

(3 7,906) 

2,426 

(2,769) 

8,389 

14,025 

-

(5,636) 

3,9'3,US 
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TRANSLATION 

ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOUOATEO STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TOTAL EQUITY A T 31 OECEMBER 2016 (thousand euros) 

Oproiag bab.rlu at 
91161/16 

Adjustments dne to changes 
in accoonling piilic:íes 

Adj~d!!!:: taemMS 

Adjostrd ~Ring bab.Bcr 

Total nc:oguised 
ÜK 

Trusadi!Kn witb 
slulrrlloldrrs or ow11us 
Capital 

increasesi{n:d:n:tioos) 
Conversion offimm:ial 

liabilities into equity 

Dividends paid 

Treaswy shan: transactions 
(net) 

lncreasesi( I:>eaeases) dile to 
business combi.oations 

Other transactioos 'l\'ith 
sharcholdefi or 6"'UCIS 

Othrr dtamgrs m rq11ity 

Share-based payments 

Transfers between equity 
iteras 

Otht."í cbanges 

Closing babatt at 
31112/16 

Shan 
capital 

57.,2'41 

-

-

57,266 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

57;1.f:IJ 

Equity attribwtrd to thr Pareat Cornpaay (tliousaad ruros) 

Sban 
pnmium, 

l"C!ll!n·rs lllld 
illi.rri!::I 
dividud 

.1,7U2..,a91 

-

-

3,792,890 

-

(197,355) 

-

-

(143,104) 

(58,029) 

-

3.778 

207,411 

368 

207.,324 

(281) 

.1,712.,9"6 

Sh:anhol!kn' Eqaity (Nok 16) 

{m,u!l) 

-

-

(26,238) 

-

16 

-

-

-

16 

-

-

5.,819 

5.819 

-

-

(14,4113) 

\'nr"s 
profit 

attribakd 

"°* Parrnt 

2S7.J?4 

-

-

287,324 

351,981 

-

-

--

-

-

-

-

(:ztn .J?4) 

-

(207.,324) 

-

351.'}81 

Otbcr 
tqllity 
~ 

-

-

-

-

-

--

-

-

-
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Valne 
adjast­

ts 

(~I) 

-

-
(453,951) 

177,64l 

-

-

-

-
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(276,3Wt 

Accompanying Notes 1 to 36 and the appendíces are an integral part of the consolídated financia! statements for 2017. 
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260.,SQ'I 

-

-

266,866 

16,&56 

(12.,259) 

(12) 

-

(46,018) 

-

32,009 

l,762 

413 

-

-

413 

265,870 

Total equity 

3,754,145 

-

-
3,754,145 

546.480 

(209,598) 

(12) 

-

(189,122) 

(58,013) 

32,009 

5,540 

6,319 

6,187 

-

132 

4,097,346 



TRANSLAT ION 

ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STA TEMENT OF CASH H.OWS FOR 2017 Uld 2816 (Thamaad nres) 

2817 2616 

CASH FLO\\'S FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 491,987 8"..l,082 

Profit btfon tll &.. CCMU..mg epn-aO-S 356,286 487,635 

AdjllStmcats für: 846,776 684,491 

Depreciation and amortisation charge and provisions 
5,6,7,8, 11 , 1 

627,494 892,998 
3,14, 17,26 

Other adjustments to profil (net) 9,26,28 219,282 (208,507) 

Changcs in working capital (343,096) 162,145 

Other cash flows from operating activities: (368,879) (431,269) 

lnterest paid 28 (297,724) (379,063) 

lnterest received 28 32,207 65,431 

Dividend received 9 20,204 21,808 

lncome tax rccovercd/(paid) 25 (110,812) (79,387) 

Other amounls received/(paid) rela.ting lo operating activitics (12,754) (60,058) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 5,6,8,11 (588,435) (625,930) 

Paymrots due to iunstmrnt: (929,097) (823,776) 

Groop companies, associates and business units ( l(i0,329) (33,540) 

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investmenl property (768,768) (790,236) 

Proceeds from disposal: 231,036 65,289 

Group compan ies, associates and business units 188,433 1,222 

Property, plrull and cquipment, intang ible assets and investment property 42,603 64,067 

Otller casi! Oows from innstiag adivitirs: 109,626 132,557 

OlheT amounts recei\•ed/(paid) relating to investing actnities 109,626 132,557 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCU~G ACTIVITlES (25,574) (231,192) 

Prnettds Uld (paJ111C11&} irdalDlg BI rqwit)· iastntwmb: 16 ({,,567) (355) 

Parchases (6~'567) (355) 

Dísposals - -
Proceeds and (payments) relating to financial liability instrumen ts: 18 231,954 (326,292) 

Proceeds rrom issues 2,088,1 75 3,855,626 

Repayments and redemptions ( 1 ,850,22 1) (4,18 1,9 18) 

Dividends and returns on other cqui ty instru ments paid 16 (204,991) (189,122) 

Odlrr easli ftews fntm maa~ umities (51,,71) 284,576 

Otber amounts recei~·ed/(paid} rclat.ing to füiancing activities (51,970) 284,576 

EFFECT OF FORElGN EXCll.ANGE RATE CHANGES (32,616) 2.267 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH A:\'D CASH EQU1'7 ALENTS (155,538) (31,85.t) 

CASH ANO CASH EQUJV ALENTS AT BEGINNING Of YEAR 1,428,319 1,460,173 

CASH ANO CASH EQUIV ALENTS AT END OF YEAR 1,272,781 1,428,319 

COMPONENTS OF CASH ANO CASH EQUIVAl.ENTS AT END OF 
YEAR 

Cash on hand and at banks 909,851 1,116,858 

Other financia! assets 362,930 311 ,461 

TOTAL CASH Ai'l) CASH EQUW Alli\TS AT END OF \ 'L\R 15 J,272,781 t,428,319 

Accompanying Notes 1 ro J.6 md lhe appendrces are an integral part of tbe ooDSIO'lid.ised fmmciaJ stalements for 2017. 

- Page9 -

("\zr,·•o CU\R/'.\ LO~S L\...u--i\i 

Nº. 10009 ----·-



TRANSLATION 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017 OF ACCIONA, S.A. AND 

SUBSIDIARIES 
(Consolidated Group) 

l. - Group activities 

Acciona, S.A. ("the Parent Company" or "the Company") and its subsidiaries integrate 
the Acciona Group ("Acciona" or the "Group"). Acciona, S.A.'s registered office and 
headquarters are in Alcobendas (Madrid) at A venida de Europa 18. 

The Acciona Group companies operate in severa! sectors of economic activity, including 
most notably: 

Acciona Energy: including the electricity business, contemplate development of 
renewable energy plants, their construction, operation, maintenance, and the sale of the 
energy produced. All the electricity generated by Acciona Energy comes from renewable 
so urce s. 

Acciona Infrastructure Construction: including mainly construction and engmeermg 
activities and transport and hospital concessions. 

Acciona Water: including the activities relating to the construction of desalination plants, 
water treatment plants and drinking water plants as well as the management of the entire 
water cycle, an activity that covers from the initial water collection, to its treatment, 
including desalination, to its purification and retum to the environment after use. It also 
operates concessions for services related to the entire water cycle. 

Acciona Service: including the activities of facility services, airport handling services, 
waste collection and treatment, and logistics services, among others. 

Other Activities: businesses relating to fund management and stock market brokerage, 
wine production, as well as the activities of the Acciona Trasmediterránea subgroup, and 
other investments. 

Note 27 to the accompanying consolidated financia} statements, "Segment Reporting", 
includes detailed information about the assets, liabilities and transactions carried out in 
each of the above business divisions that integrate the Acciona Group. The Acciona S.A. 
Shares are traded on the Madrid Stock Exchange. 

2. - Regulatory framework for the energy division 

The regulatory framework for the energy division in Spain is summarised below, as it is 
the most significant within the Group's activity. The business of electricity production 

- PagelO -
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under the special system in Spain was regulated until 2013 by Spanish Electricity Industry 
Act 54/1997, of 27 November, and by the regulatory provisions developing the Act, 
mainly Royal Decree 661/2007, of25 May, which regulated electricity production under 
the special system. 

In addition, most ofthe Group's electricity production facilities in Spain were constructed 
under, as far as the rernuneration frarnework for the suppo1t of renewable energy sources 
is concerned, the special system stablished by Royal Decree 661/2007, of 25 May, which 
regulated electricity production under the special regime. 

Transitional Provision One of Royal Decree 661/2007 acknowledged the right of wind 
generated power facilities, inter alia, with start-up certificates pre-dating 1 January 2008, 
to continue to receive the premiums and incentives existing under the previous system 
(Royal Decree 4 36/2004, of 12 March) until 31 December 2012, befo re transitioning in to 
the new system. The facilities owned by the Group's subsidiaries that commenced 
operations prior to that date availed themselves of the aforementioned Transitional 
Provision. For all the facilities that carne into service after 1 January 2008 caps and floors 
were set for the aggregate price (market price plus premium) applicable to power sales in 
the market, ora regulated tariff was established. 

Royal Decree 6/2009, of 30 April, introduced the facility pre-assignrnent system for 
entitlement to the premiums system of the Special System defined in the Spanish 
Electricity Industry Act until the targets set in the Renewable Energy Plan for 2020 had 
been met. The facilities that, at the date of publication of the Royal Legislative Decree, 
met the pre-assignment conditions established therein, would be entitled to the premiums 
and tariffs provided for in Royal Decree 661/2007. 

Royal Decree 1614/2010 was approved on 7 December 2010. The purpose of this 
legislation was to modify and regulate matters relating to the production of electricity 
using solar thermal and wind energy technologies, with the aim of containing the deficit. 
This Royal Decree established a limit on the equivalent hours of operation with 
entitlement to a premium for solar thermal and wind technologies, the obligation to sell 
electricity at the regulated tariff for the solar thermal sector for the twelve months 
following the entry into force of the Royal Decree or following the start-up of the related 
facility if ata later date, anda 35% reduction in the premiums for wind technology subject 
to Royal Decree 661/2007 and for the period from the date of approval of the Royal 
Decree to 31 December 2012, while maintaining the amounts relating to the cap, floor 
and regulated tariff unchanged. 

The reduction in the prerniums established by the aforesaid Royal Decree hardly affected 
the Group's farms, since most of them had start-up certificates pre-dating 1 January 2008 
and they availed themselves of the aforementioned Transitional Provision of Royal 
Decree 661 /2007. The remainder of the facilities sold theír energy under the regulated 
tariff systern. Also, the limits placed on operating hours had Iittle impact on the Group's 
facilities, since the number of hours establíshed in the Royal Decree exceeded the hours 
that the facilities actually operated. 

On 28 January 2012, Royal Decree-Law 112012 was published in the Spanish Central 
Govemment Gazette and it carne into force on that sarne date, giving rise to the 
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suspension of remuneration pre-assignment procedures and the removal of economic 
incentives for new electricity production facilities which use combined heat and power, 
renewable energy sources and waste. Royal Decree-Law 1/2012 affected, inter alia, 
facilities under the special system that at 28 January 2012 had not been registered in the 
Pre-assignment Register. Since the Group's facilities had been registered in the 
aforementioned Register before 28 January 2012, this Royal Decree did not have any 
effect on the profitability of the Group's facilities. 

On 28 December 2012 Act 15/2012 was published, regarding tax measures aimed at 
energy sustainability, which affected all electricity production facilities in Spain from 
2013 onwards. Ali of Acciona's facilities became subject to the tax on the value of 
electricity output, which means 7% tax over income from electricity sales. On the other 
hand, the aforementioned Act also introduced a charge for the use of inland water for 
electricity production. This charge meant 22% tax on the economic value of electricity 
output, with a 90% reduction in the tax for facilities with a capacity lower than 50 MW 
and pumped storage power plants. Lastly, Act 15/2012 also established a dual tax on solar 
thermal plants: on the one hand, the Act eliminated the premium for power produced 
using fossil fuels and, on the other, it introduced a tax of 0.65 euros per GJ of gas 
consumed. 

Until 31 December 2012, practically all the facilities owned by the companies in the 
Group operating on the Spanish market were selling their energy under the free market 
system ("pool") through Acciona Green Energy Development, S.L., part of Group 
compames. 

Royal Decree-Law 2/2013of1 February on urgent measures in the electricity sector was 
approved in 2013. This RDL, in force from 1 January 2013, set the premiums at 0€/kWh 
for all special system facilities applying the market sale option, with the option for tariff­
based sales being maintained, although the coefficient for annual updating of said tariff 
was modified, it being referenced to core inflation instead of to the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI). This RLD established that the registered holders of facilities had to opt for selling 
the electricity under the regulated tariff option or selling it freely on the market without 
receiving any premium. Once an option was taken, it was then irrevocable. 

For practica} purposes, this RLD meant that the Acciona Group's wind farms and 
thermoelectric or biomass power stations had to choose the regulated tariff sale option 
from 2013 on. The hydroelectric power plants under the Special System were already 
selling at the tariff prior to the publication ofthis RLD. 

On 13 July of 2013 Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 was published, whereby urgent measures 
to guarantee the financia! stability of the electricity system were adopted. This Royal 
Decree-Law repealed the remuneration system supporting renewable energies and 
introduced substantial changes in the applicable legal and economic framework. 

This new regulation meant that, in addition to the remuneration for the sale of electricity 
generated valued at market prices, facilities could receive a specific remuneration 
comprising (i) a term per unit of power installed, covering, where appropriate, the 
investment costs for a standard facility that cannot be recovered through electricity sales 
and (ii) an operating remuneration term that covers, where applicable, the difference 
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between operating costs and the revenue of a '"standard" facility that participates on the 
market, to which each pre-existing facility would assimilate. 

To calculate this specific remuneration, for each type of facility, it is considered, 
throughout its regulatory lifetime and with respect to activities conducted by an efficient 
and well-managed company: 

a) The standard revenue from the sale of the energy generated valued at market production 
pnce. 
b) Standard operating costs, and 
c) The standard value of the initial investment. 

According to the regulation, the aim of these parameters is not to exceed the minimum 
level necessary to cover the costs that enable the renewable facilities to compete on a 
similar level with the rest of the technologies on the market and make it possible to obtain 
a reasonable profit. 

With regard to this reasonable profit, the Royal Decree-Law indicated that in general it 
would be similar, before tax, to the average profit of a ten-year Govemment Bonds on the 
secondary market after the application of an appropriate differential. For the facilities 
under the prernium-based economic system prior to the enactment of Royal Decree-law 
9/2013, the first additional provision specified that reasonable profit would be around (i) 
the average return for the 24 months prior to the enactrnent of said Royal Decree-law plus 
(ii) a differential of 300 basic points, ali without prejudice to possible review every six 
years. 

RD-L 9/2013 carne into force on 14 July 2013. Its regulatory development (RD relating 
to the production activity with renewable energies and remuneration parameters order for 
such activity) was still pending approval at the close of financia] year 2013, existing a 
draft Ministerial Order containing the parameters for remuneration, based on which, at 31 
December 2013, the Group estimated and re-appraised its revenue and other key figures, 
posting the resulting impairments according to the new model. 

In December 2013, Act 24/2013, of 26 December was published, on the Electricity 
Industry, that was enacted to replace Act 54/1997; it stablished the new legal framework 
for the industry, including the provisions of RDL 912013, eliminating the concept of the 
special system, and regulating specific remuneration and also establishing the formula for 
defining the reasonable profit of the facilities. 

Royal Decree 413/2014, of 6 June, was published in the Central Govemment Gazette on 
10 June 2014, to regulate the activities of electricity generation from renewable energy 
sources, co-generation and waste. As a follow-up to the same, final Ministerial Order JET 
1045/2014 was issued on 20 June 2014 and published in the Central Govemment Gazette 
on 29 June 2014. This Order contained the final remuneration parameters applicable to 
ali renewable energy facilities, whether already in existence or planned for the future . The 
new model defined the remuneration of assets applicable from 14 July 2013 as a 
consequence of RDL 9/2013. 

[ CLARA LC!S LOZANO . ' 
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TRANSLA TION 

In financial year 2017, the main regulation with a relevant impact on the electricity 
generation business based on renewable energies in relation to ACCIONA's assets was 
the publication of Order ETU/130/2017, dated February 17, whereby remuneration 
parameters are updated for standard facilities, applicable to certain facilities that produce 
electricity from renewable energy sources, cogeneration and waste, for the purposes of 
its application to the regulatory half-period beginning 1 January 2017. 2016 was the last 
year of the first regulatory half-period, so a partial review of sorne of the model 
parameters was necessary (those related to past and future market price estimates). On 
the basis of the new market price estimates, the Ministerial Order determines the 
investment and operating remuneration values to be applied to the renewable assets 
entitled to them in the period 2017-2019. The Group considers that the updating of 
remuneration parameters applicable as from 2017 has not had a significant impact on the 
business plans or the value of the energy division assets in Spain. 

At last, the European Commission's Decision of 1 O November on matters of state aid 
(SA.40348) is also relevant, where in the European Comrnission concludes that the 
Spanish support system for electricity generation from renewable energy sources, high­
efficiency cogeneration of heat and electricity and waste, complies with EU standards 
regarding state aid. In this decision, the Comrnission declared the compatibility of the 
current support system with European legislation and noted that the old system - which 
was in fact built into and replaced by the current one -, did not need to be replaced. 
Therefore, the possibility of an eventual negative impact on renewable energy producers 
receiving incentives (currently and/or in the past) that could have been derived on an 
unfavourable resolution of the matter on that file . 

United States 

The fight against climate change at the state level has been undermined with the entry of 
the new Trump administration, which has removed it from its list of priorities, and in 
addition has announced the country's withdrawal from the París Agreement. It is not 
clear, however, that these measures will have a real impact, since the withdrawal from 
the Paris Agreement does not come into force until 4 years after its announcement. In 
addition, there is significant movement of states and corporations who aim to compensate 
for the efforts of the federal government. 

On the other hand, renewable energies have also been affected for several reasons: 

• A negative effect is expected on the photovoltaic sector derived from the so­
called Suniva Case. The photovoltaic panel company Suniva declared bankruptcy 
claiming to have suffered "serious damage" dueto PV panel imports from China. The 
Committee on Intemational Trade (CIT) agreed and delivered remedial 
recommendations to the President, which consisted in duties of $0.25/W and $0.32/W 
on cells and modules, respectively. These remedia! measures may vary at the 
President's discretion, whose final decision is expected at the beginning of 2018. 

• The Department of Energy (DOE) ordered FERC to force RTOs in competitive 
markets to modify their structures in order to pay nuclear and coal facilities their 
capital and operation costs, claiming problems of supply security. This would prevent 
these plants, which are often not competitive, from shutting down. On 8 January 2018, 
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the FERC has rejected the order from the DOE. The FERC has said that it will ask 
every RTO and Independent System Operator (ISO) for specific information to be 
provided within 60 days, and from which it will conduct its own analysis on how to 
deal with the problem. 

• A major tax reform was adopted at the end of the year. The drafts of the Senate and 
the Parliament prior to the version that was finally approved predicted very harmful 
effects to renewable energies, but the final version will have less dramatic effects. The 
main points of the reform as it has been approved are: 

o Reduction of the corporation tax from 3 5% to 21 %. This is positive because it 
increases the profit after tax, but renders the financing of renewable energy 
projects difficult by reducing the value of the tax credits and the value of the 
accelerated depreciation benefits. 

o Increase in accelerated depreciation benefits, allowing up to 100% of expenses 
to be declared as costs (previously only 50% was formerly allowed). This 
compensates for the reduction in the benefits resulting from the reduction in 
the corporation tax. 

o Inclusion ofthe BEAT clause, but allowing 80% ofITCs and PTCs to be used 
to cancel it. The BEA T Clause (Base Erosion Anti-Abuse Tax), which is 
designed to penalise multinational companies, means that companies must 
calculate their taxes on payments made to foreign sites and compare the results 
with the mínimum percentage determined by the BEAT clause (10% for non­
financial companies and 11 % for financia! companies). If the results are below 
this limit, the company must make an additional payment until it reaches this 
minimum tax rate. This extra amount can be paid with up to 80% of the ITCs 
until 2025. In addition, from the year 2026 the mínimum determined by the 
BEAT clause will increase to 12.5% and 13.5% for non-financia! and financia! 
companies, respectively. 

The "Renewable Portfolio Standard" (RPS) is a market policy freely established by sorne 
states which requires that a mínimum proportion of the electricity supply comes from 
renewable sources. The percentages vary between states, with the majority being between 
20% and 30% ofthe supply from 2020 to 2025. The implementation of it is usually done 
using Renewable Energy Credits (RECs), a system of tradeable certificates that verify 
that a kWh of electricity has been generated from a renewable source. At the end of a 
certain year, the electricity generators must have sufficient certificates to cover their 

. annual quota, and sanctions will be applied in the event of non-compliance. 

The PTCs grant the electricity generated with a tax deduction during the first 1 O operating 
years for an amount per MWh which is adjusted annually based on the CPI (regulated by 
the "Energy Policy Act"). 

In the year 2005, Congress established an investment tax credit of 30% ITC initially 
applicable to solar energy projects. In the year 2009, a Law was adopted according to 
which the companies that could not access the PTC regime could receive ITC in 
exchange, or altematively, could receive payment equivalent to 30% of the investment. 

CLL\:;J\ LO!S LOZ,'.\.NO 
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These tax incentives have always needed to be renewed annually, with the associated 
uncertainty , but in December 2015 a long-term extension of the PTC and ITC was 
approved, for both wind and solar energy, with a gradual decrease in the incentive. In the 
case of wind energy, the PTC decreases 20% each year until 2020, ending with 0% 
incentive. In the same way, the ITC is also progressively reduced until it is eliminated in 
2020. In the case of solar energy, 30% of the ITC is maintained until 2020 (31 December 
2019), from when it will begin to decrease until it is set at 10% after 2022. The milestone 
that determines the time frames is the start of construction. 

In May 2016, the Interna! Revenue Service (IRS) published a Notice extending the saje 
harbours to 4 years from the end of the year construction started. The saje harbour allows 
the date from which a facility is eligible for the PTC to be determined. In May, the IRS 
also revised the Notice to make clarifications and corrections and to provide guidance to 
the projects commissioned after 2 January 2013. 

There is also another tax benefit linked to the ability of a wind farm's owner to take 
advantage of the accelerated depreciation in most of the capital assets (Modified 
Accelerated Cost Recovery - MACRs), which can be fiscally transferred toan average 
depreciation period of five years. This benefit has no expiration date. 

Australia 

The "Renewable Energy (Electricity) Amendment Bill 2015" was approved in June 2015, 
which introduced stability to the green certificate system, setting RET to 33,000 GWh in 
2020 and eliminating the target revisions that took place every 2 years (which are now to 
be done every 4). The first and only case to date of a company that chose to paya penalty 
for non-compliance rather than delivering the corresponding renewable electricity 
certificates took place in January 2017. 

The State of South Australia suffered a major blackout in September 2016. This event 
caused storage and renewable energy integration issues to become more relevant in the 
country. In June, the final version of the Finkel report was published, which 
commissioned by the government after the blackout with the aim of providing 
recommendations to enhance the safety and reliability of the system and to reduce 
emissions according to the Paris targets. The report stresses the importance of carrying 
out the energy transition in an orderly, studied and planned manner, in addition to the 
need for strong governance and it poses systemic recommendations to maintain the level 
of security of the system ( e.g., revision of market rules). It gives the consumer a greater 
role to play. A continuation of the RET after 2020: The Clean Energy Target (CET) is 
also proposed, which would be based on a green certificate system that would include 
RES and technologies that comply with an emissions limit. Sorne ofthe recommendations 
in the report were approved at the Coalition Joint Party meeting on 20 June, although the 
Minister of Energy announced that the implementation of the CET would be analysed 
later more calmly. 

In April, the Clean Energy Council published a recommendations report to eliminate 
regulatory barriers to storage and to improve the security of the network ("Policy and 
regulatory reforms to unlock the potential of energy storage in Australia"), and in August 
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the Victoria Government announced a renewable energy auction of 650MW, which is 
part of the Victorian Renewable Energy Auction Scheme (VREAS) to achieve the 
Victorian Renewable Energy Target (VRET) of 40% of renewable energy by 2025. 

In October 2017, the govemment announced the National Energy Guarantee (NEG) 
scheme to replace the current CET. Its key aspects are: i) Reliability Guarantee 
(obligation for retailers to contracta certain amount of"dispatchable" energy - from coal, 
gas, hydro or stored); (ii) Ernissions Guarantee ( obligation for retailers to reach an 
emissions intensity level in their energy portfolio that supports Australia's commitment 
to reduce emissions by 26% by 2030). The final document is pending publication and a 
decision is expected by April 2018. 

In October 2017, the Victoria Government also proposed a state RET with renewable 
targets of 25% by 2020 and 40% by 2025, compatible with the start of the VIC RET 
auction process. 

Mexico 

Until December 2013, the generation, transrnission, distribution and sale of electrical 
energy was reserved exclusively to the Federal Government through the Federal Energy 
Commission (FEC). 

The only options for the sale of renewable energy were Independent Energy Production 
( electricity generation plants that sell their production directly to the FEC) or Self­
Sufficiency Contracts ( electricity generation plants that sell their production to a load 
centre plant which has a certain ownership percentage ofthe generation plant). 

On 20 December 2013, a constitutional reform introducing significant changes to the 
Mexican energy model was published, leading to the market to open up and accepting 
greater private participation. The new Law on the Electricity Industry (LEI) published on 
11 August 2014 defines these substantial changes to the electricity sector: it reduces the 
role of the State in the sector, which is limited to operating the system and to providing 
transmission and distribution services; the legal separation of activities is imposed; a 
wholesale electrical market is created which is operated by the CENACE, the bids for 
which will be based on costs, and establishes an obligations system for generators to cover 
with Clean Energy Certificates (CECs). In addition, auctions for Electricity Coverage 
Contracts will take place to cover the supply to Basic Services U sers. Clean energy, power 
and CEC electricity coverage contracts are assigned in the Long-Term Auctions. With 
regards to the existing contracts from the previous law, the LEI contemplates their 
continuity. 

The first market bases were published in 2015 and must be re-evaluated every 3 years 
(the manual to carry out this re-evaluation is currently being discussed). In January 2016, 
SENER published a resolution authorising operations to start in the sbort-term market in 
the different interconnected systems, and CENACE started the Day-Ahead Market 
(DAM) operations. The DAM is in operation to date, and the Real Time Market (RTM) 
will not open to the public until the Market Information System (MIS) is ready. Also, in 
February 2017 the Power Balancing Market was opened, which determines the price that 
supports the capacity ofthe previous year, the volume and the total amount. It is an annual 
and ex-post market. 
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2018 will be the first year with CEC obligations, and the certificates must be delivered 
until 5% of the electricity sold is reached. The CEC Requirements were published in 
February 2017, corresponding to the Obligation Periods 2020, 2021 and 2022, (7.4%, 
10.9% and 13.9%, respectively) that complement the one published in 2016 for 2019 
(5.8%). 

To date, three long-term auctions have taken place: the first in March 2016, the second in 
September 2016 and the last in October 201 7. The latter already included a clearing 
house, potentially allowing the participation of suppliers different to the FEC. 

The last DEPRONES (Development Programme of the National Electrical System) 
published by SENER for the period 2017-2030 estimates that in 2031 electricity 
generation will be of 443 TWh, less than what was estimated in the 2015-2030 estimates 
for 2030 ( 456 TWh). 

Chile 

Chile amended Law 20,257 (Non-Conventional Renewable Energy Law) of 2008 through 
Law 20.698 (Law 20/25) in 2013, and established a renewable target on the total power 
generation of 20% by 2025. The electricity companies must prove that a percentage of 
the energy that is removed from the system comes from this type of technology. The law 
also imposes a penalty for breaching the obligation amounting to 0.4 UTM per MWh that 
is not accredited (approximately 32 USD) and, for companies that continue to breach the 
obligation in the three years following the first breach, the penalty will be 0.6UTM/MWh 
(approximately 48 USD). The law indicates that those companies that have administrated 
renewable energy in excess of their obligation may transfer that excess to other 
companies. However, a green certificate market has not been established, but bilateral 
contracts are signed between the parties concemed and the transfer certification is made 
through an authorised copy of the contract. 

To achieve the target set, Law 20/25 also introduced annual renewable energy auctions 
according to the demand forecasts from the Government for the next three years. 

In April 2016, an Exempted Resolution was published, approving the preliminary tender 
report which established the values ofregulated consumptions (in GWh-year) that should 
be put out to tender in the next few years. The volumes included a decrease in the energy 
demand forecast of approximately 10% between 2021 and 2041, which implies a 
significant decline of what was going to be auctioned this year (from the 13,750 GWh 
expected to approximately 12,500 GWh). The volumes of the preliminary report were 
confirmed in May with the final publication of the report. 

YrarCall ro VnrAwankd S pply Starts \'olume Doratioe 
Tender 

2016 2017 2023 2,500 20 

2017 2018 2024 7,000 20 

2018 2019 2025 9,000 20 

2019 2020 2026 4,500 20 

Up to date 2 auctions have been held: 
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• 2015/01, held in July 2016 which put out 12,430 GWh/year to tender, with supply 
starting in the years 2021 and 2022. 

• 2017/01, held in October 2017 which put out 4,200 GWh/year to tender, with 
supply starting in 2023. 

The Transmission Law was published in July 2016, which establishes a new electrical 
power transmission system and creates a single independent coordinator entity for the 
national electrical system. In general, the new Law seems to particularly favour non­
conventional Renewable Energies. Work on the associated regulations began after the 
Transmission Law was approved. 

In 2017, the regulation to implement the tax on C02 emissions was approved (exempted 
resolution 659), which as it stands involves all generation companies, including non­
polluting companies, making compensation payments. However, in the final version this 
compensation was significantly reduced by changing the way it is quantified (annually 
instead of monthly - at the suggestion of Acciona). 

3. - Basis of presentation of fmancial statements and consolidation principies 

3.1 Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financia! statements for financia! year 201 7 of the Acciona Group were 
prepared by the Directors of Acciona, S.A. at the Board of Directors Meeting held on 26 
February 2018, and disclose a true and fair view ofthe Group's equity and consolidated 
financial position at 31 December 2017, and of the results of its operations, the changes 
in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expenses, the changes in the 
consolidated equity and the consolidated cash flows in the years then ended. 

These financia! statements were prepared in accordance with the applicable regulatory 
financial reporting framework and, in particular, with the principies and criteria contained 
in the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union, in conformity with Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and 
of the Council. The main mandatory accounting principies and measurement criteria 
applied, the altemative treatments permitted by the relevant legislation in this respect, and 
the standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force at the date of formal 
preparation of these financia! statements are summarised in Note 4. 

These financial statements were prepared on the basis of the accounting records kept by 
the Parent Company and by the other Group companies. These records include the figures 
relating to the joint ventures, groupings and consortia considered to be joint operations, 
in which the Group companies have interests, through the proportional consolidation 
method, that is, through the inclusion, based on the percentage of participation, of the 
assets, liabilities and operations of these entities, after asset and liability balances are 
appropriately eliminated, as well as operations in the year. 
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The Acciona Group's consolidated financia! statements for 2016 were approved by the 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 18 May 201 7. The consolidated financia! 
statements for 2017 of the Acciona Group ha ve not yet been approved by the shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting. However, the Parent's Company Board of Directors 
considers that the aforementioned financia! statements will be approved without any 
material changes. 

Unless otherwise indicated, these consolidated financia! statements are presented in 
thousands of euros, because the euro is the functional currency of the principal economic 
area where the Acciona Group operates. Foreign operations are accounted for in 
accordance with the policies established in Notes 3.2.g) and 4.2.q). 

3.2 Consolidation principies 

a. Consolidation methods 

The companies o ver which, under IFRS 1 O, control is exercised were fully 
consolidated. These companies are considered subsidiaries and they are listed in 
Appendix I, and their consolidation method is explained in section d. of this same note. 

Entities managed jointly with third parties as a joint operation are proportionately 
consolidated when it is concluded that the participating company has direct rights and 
obligations for its share percentage in the assets and liabilities under the agreement. 
This is explained in section e. in this note. The companies consolidated by applying 
the proportional method are listed in Appendix II. 

Finally, the companies not included in the paragraphs above, where significant 
influence is held in their management or they are a joint venturer, are associates, and 
they are measured by applying the equity method (see Appendix III). This 
consolidation method is explained in section f. in this note. 

b. Eliminations on consolidation 

All material balances and effects of the transactions performed between the 
subsidiaries and the associates and joint operations, and intra-subsidiaries, were 
eliminated on the consolidation process. 

The gains on transactions with associates and jointly controlled entities are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group's share percentage in their capital. Exceptionally, the profit 
and loss on intemal transactions with Group companies, jointly controlled entities or 
associates in connection with certain concession-related activities were not eliminated. 

c. Uniformity 

The Spanish resident companies included in the scope of consolidation were 
consolidated on the basis of their separate financia! statements prepared in accordance 
with the Spanish General Accounting Plan and foreign companies were consolidated 
in accordance with their local standards. All material adjustments required to adapt 
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these financia} statements to International Financia! Reporting Standards and/or make 
them compliant with the Group's accounting policies were considered in the 
consolidation process. 

d. Subsidiaries 

"Subsidiaries" are defined as companies over which the Company has the capacity to 
exercise effective control; control is generally seen in three elements that must be 
complied with: having authority over the subsidiary, exposure or the right to variable 
returns from its investment, and the ability to use said authority to influence the amount 
of these returns. 

The financia! statements of the subsidiaries are fully consolidated with those of the 
Company. Accordingly, all material balances and effects of the transactions between 
consolidated companies were eliminated on consolidation. 

When a subsidiary is bought, its assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are 
measured at their acquisition-date fair values, as provided for in IFRS 3, Business 
Combinations. Any excess in the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the 
identified net assets is recognised as goodwil1. If the cost of acquisition is lower than 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets, the difference is credited to profit or loss 
on the acquisition date. 

For subsidiaries acquired during the year, only the results from the date of acquisition 
to year-end are included in the consolidation. Similarly, for subsidiaries disposed of 
during the year, only the results from the beginning of the year to the date of disposal 
are included in the consolidated income staternent. 

The interest of non-controlling shareholders is stated at their proportion of the fair 
values of the assets and liabilities recognised. 

The share ofthird parties in the equity oftheir investees is disclosed within the Group's 
equity under "Non-Controlling lnterests" on the consolidated balance sheet. Similarly, 
their share in the profit or loss for the year is disclosed under "Non-Controlling 
Interests" on the consolidated income statement. 

e. Joint operations 

Joint arrangements are deemed to be ventures in which the investee Gointly controlled 
entity) is managed by a Group company and one or more unrelated third parties, all of 
whom act jointly to manage the relevant activities and where strategic decisions 
require the unanimous consent of the parties. 

Joint arrangements where the investing company is deemed to hold direct rights and 
obligations for its share percentage in the assets and liabilities under the arrangement 
are considered joint operations. 

The financia} statements of joint operations are proportionately consolidated with 
those of the Company and, therefore, the aggregation of balances and subsequent 
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eliminations are only applied in proportion to the Group' s share in the capital of these 
entities. 

The assets and liabilities relating to operations are recognised on the consolidated 
balance sheet classified according to their specific nature. Similarly, the income and 
expenses from joint operations are disclosed in the consolidated income statement on 
the basis of their nature. 

f. Equity method 

In the consolidated financia! statements, investments in associates and joint ventures 
(joint arrangements giving a right to the net assets of the arrangement) are measured 
by applying the equity method, i.e., at the Group's share in net assets of the investee, 
after considering the dividends received therefrom and other equity eliminations. 

The value of these investments on the consolidated balance sheet implicitly includes, 
where applicable, the goodwill arising on their acquisition. 

When the Group's investments in associates are reduced to zero, any additional 
implicit obligations in the subsidiaries that are accounted for by the equity method are 
recognised under "Non-current provisions" on the consolidated balance sheet. 

In arder to disclose results uniformly, the Group's share in the profit or loss of 
associates is disclosed on the consolidated income statement befare and after tax. 

g. Translation differences 

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign operations with a 
functional currency other than the euro are translated to euros at the exchange rates 
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly. 
Capital and reserves are translated at the historical exchange rates. Translation 
differences, if any, are classified as equity. Such translation differences are recognised 
as income or as expenses in the year in which the investment is made or disposed of. 

h. Changes in the scope of consolidation 

Appendices I, II and III to the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain 
relevant information about the Acciona Group's subsidiaries, joint operations and 
associates and joint ventures, and Appendix IV shows the changes in consolidation 
scope in the year. 

In financia! year 201 7, the significant change in scope related to the acquisition of 
Geotech Holdings Pty Ltd, the parent company of the Australian construction group 
called "Geotech Holding". Acquisition of the subgroup was done through the 
following corporate structure: 
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On 8 March 2017, the company Acciona Infrastructure Asia Pacific, Pty. Limited, 
100% controlled by the Group, indirectly acquired 82.4% of Geotech Holding 
subgroup for an adjusted price up to 147 million euros (205 million AUD), with the 
aim of increasing the Group's presence in the Australian and New Zealand construction 
market. The acquisition cost includes: (i) the delivery of a cash amount, (ii) a payment 
comrnitment in favour ofkey executives ofthe company subject to the achievement of 
certain long-term objectives related to the expected EBITDA of the Subgroup, which 
would enabJe them to increase their sbare up to a maximum of 20% and which has 
been deemed probable, and (iii) a price adjustrnent corresponding to changes m 
working capital, net debt and investment according to the contract. 

The Acciona Group acquired control of the Subgroup Geotech Holding after this 
transaction, and it began to be consolidated by fully consolidated rnethod. Breakdown 
of the business cornbination is as follows (in thousand euros). 

Carrying 
Pun:base 

Acqoisitioo Perceat 
amonutor 

Price 
Subgroup 

rost ac:quired 
100% of 

Alloattioo 
the 

(PPA) 
compaoy 

Goodwill/DFC 

Geotecb Holding 
147,483 82.40"/o 19,963 13,826 

Subgmup 
11 7.,207 

The table below shows the breakdown ofthe Geotech Holding Subgroup 's assets and 
liabilities consolidated at the time control was taken over: 

Thousand euros 

ASSETS 

Other intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment 

Deforred tax assets 

Non-current assets 

08/03/201 7 

156 

15,450 

768 

16,374 
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LIABI LITIES 

Equity 19,963 

Non-current liabilities 2,248 
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Total Assets 

40,140 

56,514 

34,303 

Total Liabilities 56,514 

At the time of the acquisition, the Group carried out an analysis of the fuir value of the 
acquired Subgmup's assets and liabilities in order to allocate the purchase price 
("Purchase Price Allocation" or PPA) in ac.cordance with the indications ofIFRS 3. 

As part of the PP A process an asset was recognised, due to the confirmed work 
portfolio that the Australian subgroup had at the time it was purchased, which was 
allocated with a total value of 13 ,826 thousand euros. This amount has been recognised 
under "'Other intangible asset5" and it is amortised according to the cash :flow 
generated by the associated work contracts. At 31 December 2017, the amortisation 
impact dueto the allocated intangible asset carne to 6,112 thousand euros which has 
been recognised under "Depreciation and amorti.sation charge and change in 
provisions" on the accompanying income statement. 

In addition, the fair value of the non-eontroHing interests identified at the time of the 
acquisition amounted to 3,513 thousand euros. 

As a result of the previous process, and as a consequence of the difference between the 
fair value of the net assets acquired and the acquisition cost, an amount of 11 7 ,207 
thousand euros has been recognised as goodwill. According to applicable accounting 
regulations, the allocation of assets and liabilities identified shall be deemed final once 
12 months has passed since the acquisition date. 

The notes to these consolidated financial statements detail the main assets and 
liabilities contributed by the subgroup Geotech Holding. Note 16.f) also details the 
main amounts contributed by this subgmup in financia! year 2017. 

It should be noted that the revenue and benefit after tax contributed by the subgroup 
Geotech Holding before the aforementioned intangible asset is amortised, from the 
effective acquisition date until 31 December 2017 amounted to 103, 7 51 thousand 
euros and a profit of 2,208 thousand euros, respectively. If the acquisition date of this 
subgroup had been 1 January 2017 then the revenue and profit after tax, before the 
aforementioned intangible asset is amortised, would had been 119, 716 thousand euros 
anda benefit of 2,663 thousand euros, respectively. 

The functional currency of the Geotech Holding subgroup is the Australian do llar. 

On the other hand, Acciona Wind Energy Canadá Inc (A WEC), a subsidiary of 
Acciona Energía Internacional, S.A. acquired an additional 50% of the shares of 
Ripley N that were owned by Suncor Energy Inc. on 10 July 2017 for 31.9 million 
euros (47.1 million of Canadian dollars) by exercising their right of first refusal 
established in the agreement from the N constitution. With this acquisition A WEC 
now holds 100% ofthe shares ofthe Ripley N 76 MW wind farm located in Ontario 
(Canada), meaning that the consolidation method changes from proportionately to 
fully consolidated. Breakdown of the business combination is as follows (in thousand 
euros). 
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Carryieg 
Po rebase 

Acquisition Percent 
amountof 

Price 
JV 100% of 

cost acquired 
the 

Alloatioo 

company 
(PPA) 

Ripley JV 31,832 50% 62,489 1, 175 

The table below shows the details of the N ' s assets and liabilities consolidated at the 
time control was tak:en over: 

T housa nd euros 

AS SETS 

Property, plant and equipment 

Non-current assets 

Current assets 

Total Assets 

10/07/201 7 

79,734 

79,73 4 

1,476 

81,210 

T housand eu ros 

LIABILITI ES 

Equity 

Non-current liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

10/07/20 17 

62,489 

17,193 

1,528 

81 ,210 

A PP A attributed to the wind farm has been identified according to the value anal y sis 
under IFRS 3 and IFRS 11, and therefore a gross amount of 1,599 thousand euros that 
has been recognised in section "Other Plant and Machinery". 

At 31 December 2017, the amortised amount of the PPA carne to 70 thousand euros. 
The net income and profit after tax for the financia} year 2017 prior to the 
aforementioned consolidation adjustments carne up to 14.3 million euros and 6.7 
million euros respectively, if it had been integrated into the Group from 1 January; the 
consolidated amounts from the time of its acquisition amounted to 10.3 million euros 
and 4.4 million euros, respectively. The functional currency of Ripley N is the 
Canadian dallar. 

On 28 July 2017 the Parent Company acquired the additional 50% of the 
concessionaire Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A. for 8,219 thousand euros; therefore the 
Group now holds 100% of this company and the consolidation method changes from 
the equity method to fully consolidated. Breakdown of the business combination is as 
follows (in thousand euros). 

Acquisitioo Percent 
C01Dpa11y 

c:ost :uqoired 

Autovía de los 
8,219 50"/u 

Viñedos, S.A. 

Carryiag 
amouotof 
IW/eof 

the 
company 

(20,618) 

Purchase 
Price 

Allocatioo 
(PPA) 

37,056 

The table below shows details of the Concessionaire's assets and liabilities 
consolidated at the time control was taken over : 

Thousa nd euros 28/07/2017 T housand euros 28/07/2017 

ASSETS LIABILITIES 

Intangi ble asse ts 122,606 Equity (20,61 8) 

Deferred tax assets 26,33 5 

Other assets 360 
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Non-current assets 

Current assets 

Total Assets 

149,301 

36,035 

185,336 

Non-current liabilities 

Curren! liabilities 

Total Liabilities 

196,010 

9,974 

185,366 

A PPA attributed to the concession asset has been identified according to the value 
analysis on IFRS 3, and therefore its value has been increased by a gross amount of 
49,409 thousand euros. At 31 December 2017, the amortised amount of the PPA 
amount to 1,594 thousand euros. 

The revaluation of the pre-existing investment that the Group held has led to an added 
value of21 million euros recognition, as the reclassification ofthe derivatives reserves 
to the income statement for a negative amount of 16 million euros, recorded under 
"other gains and losses". 

The net income and profit after tax for the financia! year 2017 prior to the 
aforementioned consolidation adjustments amount to 19,428 thousand euros and 458 
thousand euros, respectively if it had been integrated on the Group from 1 January, 
and the consolidated amounts from the time of its acquisition amounted to 10,088 
thousand euros and 1,3 51 thousand euros respectively. 

On 27 July 2017 an agreement was signed for the non-cash contribution of the 
investments that the Group held in Compañía Urbanizadora del Coto, S.L., Valgrand, 
S.A., and certain real estate assets from Acciona Real Estate, S.A., valued at 336 
million euros, to Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A. In exchange for this contribution, 
Acciona Real Estate, S.A. subscribed and paid up 2,645,404,051 new shares (with a 
nominal value of26 million euros), representing 21.02% of the share capital of Testa 
Residencial SOCIMI, S.A., with an associated share premium of 309 million euros. 
The operation took effect on 20 September 2017, the date on which the precedent 
conditions established on the agreement of the non-cash contribution were reached. 
The capital gains from the operation amounted to 74 million euros, recognised in 
"Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets" section of the 
accompanying consolidated income statement. 

On 24 October 2017, authorisation was given by Chilean competition authorities 
through which the purchase agreement signed on 11 August 2017 with Global Vía 
Infraestructuras Chile, S.A. and Global vía Chile, S. p.a. was approved over 100% of 
shares that the Group held in the Concessionaire Acciona Concesiones Ruta 160, S.A. 
at a purchase price of 335 million euros, of which 109 million correspond to the 
assumption of financia! debt, and 33 million to the market value of the financia! 
derivatives associated to the debt, and through which capital gains of 34 million euros 
have been recognised in the income statement. 

In financia! year 2017 no significant additions to or remo vals from the scope of 
consolidation took place, apart from those described in the paragraphs above. 

4.- Main accounting policies 

4.1 Adoption of new standards and interpretations issued 
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Standards and interpretations applicable in this financial year 

In financial year 2017, the following accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretations carne into force and, accordingly, were considered in the preparation of 
the accompanying consolidated financia) statements. 

Standards, amendmeots aod 
interpretations: 

Appro\•ed to be apPtied ilt tire EU 

Arnendments to IAS 7: Disclosure 

initiative 

Arnendments ro IAS 12: RC\..<Jgniti<m 

of deferred tax assets für unreaiised 

losses. 

Not approved for use in the EU at 31 

December 2017 

Jmprovements to IFRS Cycle 2014-

2016: Clarification regarding IFRS 12 

Introduces additional disdosure requirements in 

relatioo to the reoonciliarion of movements of 
financia1 liabilities with fue ra5iI fiows fium 

financing activities_ 

Clarification of the principies esrablisbed 

reganiíng the recognitíon of defemxi tax assets for­
unrealised Josses OD debt instmments measmed at 

fuirvalue. 

The clarificalion regarding the scope of IFRS 12 

and its interaction with IFRS 5 comes into force in 

this period. 

Maadatoñfy applicable 
in aa111111I periods 

begiaaiug en or after: 

01 January 201 7 

01 Jam.1iu)· 2017 

01January2017 

The standards were applied with no impact on the reported figures or on the 
presentation and disclosure of the information, either because they do not involve 
relevant changes or because they refer to economic events that do not affect the 
Acciona Group. 

Standards and interpretations issued but not in force 

At 31 December 2017, the following were the most significant standards and 
interpretations published by the IASB, but they have not: come into effect yet, either 
because their e:ffective date is later than the date ofthe consolidated financia) statements, 
or because they have not been adopted by the European Un.ion yet: 

Standanls, ammdmmts -d 
iattrp~tions: 

Approved to be applied in the EU 

IFRS 15 - Revenue from conlrart.<; with 

clients 

lFRS 9 - Financial lnstruments 

Amendments to IFRS 4 - lnsurance 

Contracts 

New standard für revenue rerognitWü (.replacing 
IAS 11 , IAS 18, IFRIC 13, lFRJC 15, IFRIC 18 and 

SIC 31). 

T.his new stmdant reptares the ~ for 
classifica.tion, measurement, recognition and de­

recognition of financia! assets and liabilities, hedge 

accounting and impairme.nt under lAS 39. 

lt gives entities within the scnpe of IFRS 4 tbc option 

to apply IFRS 9 ("'o••erlay approach! or temporary 
exemptioo_ 

Maadatorily appliable ill annual 

prrieds begill11iag o• or after: 

01 January 2018 

o 1 Januaiy 20 !8 

01 Jammy 2018 
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IFRS 16 - L:ases 

Net appnwed tor use in the EU 

R.qJ~-es !AS E 7 2!l:d r,:-!a!ed ~ill!S. U.e 

oo'\·elty centn.~ around a unique accmmting toodel 

for lessees, whicb will indude all leases .in the 

ba1am:e sk:et (with some fünited ex~~ioas) with a.-i 

impact similar to tbat of the cmrent financia} lea.ses 

(there will he amortisa1iünoftbe asset by the rightof 

use and a ímance expense for th:e amortised cost of 

the liability on leases ). 

Amendments ti} IAtS 2: C!:assifi~ .:a:nd Th.ey = limited ;;m~ms whrch dzrif)· speri.fü:: 

measuremmt of sbare-baSL-d payments issues ~"llch as the effects of accrual conditkms on 

sh!!re-based payments settred m cash, the 
c~fü:atñm1 of sbzn:~ ~mems n :bm, }t has 

net settlement clallses, l!OO some aspccis of changes 

in the type of ~-ha.sed payment. 

Ameru!merus to !AS 46: R.edassifu:alfiln of The ~ cl.arif"n:s tha! reclassifiC2ti.lm of <rn 

lmprovements to IFRS Cycle 2014-2016 

lFRIC 22 - foreign cm:rency tran.<a.'1ions 
andwanres 

investrnent from or to a property investment is 

allowed only when there is evidence of a cbange in 
use_ 

Minm" amenrlmeru:s to a number of standards_ 

Tbis interpremtion establisbes the tr.msaction dare-

19 fue effects etf determinmg tire excb.imge rate 

applicable to transactíons with foreign currency 
advam:es.. 

IfRIC 23 - Un=taimy º"ª tax ~1s This int~r;00 dmfies how ro ~p.!y the 
n:cogmtion ami measurement criteria f.rom fAS i2 

Amendme:nts to iFRS 9: Prepayment 

features with n:egative oompensatioo.. 

Amendments to !AS 28: Loog-term 

interests in associatcs and joint ventures 

Improvements to IFRS Cyde 2015-2017 

IFRS 17 - lnsurance Coo1racts 

when tbere is uocertainty about tbe ta-: authority's 

=q»abil.ity of a particular tax treatment used by the 
enricy_ 

Et aUows rertain fimmcial im.'truments \\ ith 

prepayment feanm~s to be rnt:asmed at amorti.<:ed 

cost, allowing payment of an ammmt less fuan the 

unpaid amounts of capital and interest. 

Minor amendments to a number of standarrls. 

Clarifies that lFRS 9 shou!d be appfa:d to the Iong­

term interests in an associa!c Of" joint venture if the 

equity metb-Od is oot applied.. 

Replaces IFRS 4, ami irn:m:porates the principles of 

rec.ognition, measurement, presenta1ion and 

disclosure of insurance contracts with the aím that 

the entity provides relevan! and reliable informarion 

that enables users of the information to determine the 
effect that cootracts have on the financia! statements. 

Amendment to IFRS 10 and !AS 28: Sales Clarií1Cation about the gain or loss from these 

or contribution of as.sets between an 

invcstor and rts associateljoint ~-enture 

operations if it is related to busincsscs or assets_ 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: 

01J=u.ary2018 

(}} Januacy 2018 

Ol Janmuy 2018 

01 lanwey 2019 

01January201 9 

01 Janua.ry 201 9 

01 JanllaI)' 201 9 

01 January 2021 

No set date 

IFRS will replace IAS 39 from the financia! year starting on 1January2018 and it affects 
both financia! assets and financia! liabilities. The differences with the current standard 

- Page28 -



TRANSLATION 

are related to three major blocks: (i) classification and measurement, (ii) value impairment 
and (iii) hedge accounting. The Group is carrying out a preliminary analysis on the 
impacts that IFRS 9 will have on the consolidated financia! statements at 31 December 
2017 and the most relevant conclusions obtained from this analysis are the following: 

• Classification and measurement: 

The new asset classification approach is based on the asset's contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the entity's business model. IFRS 9 includes three financia! asset 
classifications: (i) amortised cost, (ii) fair value with changes in equity and (iii) fair value 
with changes in the income statement. Entities may choose to submit certain equity 
instruments in the fair value with changes in equity category without recycling back to 
the income statement. The analysis carried out has found that the transition to these 
categories would involve a change in nomenclature, but no significant impacts on the 
measurement of affected financia! assets are expected. 

On the other hand, in relation to the contractual amendments of financia! liabilities which 
in accordance with IAS 39 were not de-recognised from the balance sheet as they were 
considered to be non-substantial amendments, the new standard provides that they should 
be accounted for as a change in the estímate of the liability's contractual cash flows, 
maintaining the original effective interest rate and adjusting its value at the date of the 
amendment, recording the difference in the income statement. The Acciona Group has 
carried out a nwnber of debt refinancing operations in the last few years. The approximate 
impact at 1 January 2018 (date standard is first applied) is an 8 rnrnion euro reduction in 
the carrying amount of the financial liability andan increase in retained eamings. 

• Value impairment: 

The new standard establishes an impairment model based on the expected losses, 
compared to incurred losses in the previous model. This new model requires the expected 
losses resulting from a "default" event for the next 12 months, or for the life of the 
financial instrwnent according to the evolution ofthe financial asset's credit risk since its 
initial recognition, to be recognised at the financia! asset' s initial recognition date. 

The standard also puts forward a simplified model for trade receivable accounts, accounts 
receivable for finance leases and assets under IFRS 15, which the Group will use as a 
general rule, and which calculates the expected loss over the life of these credits. 

The Group is in the process of finalising the complete model of the expected losses. The 
analysis carried out has estimated a negative impact of 23 miJlion euros, net of the tax 
effect, which will be recognised as a balancing entry in the retained earnings at 1 January 
2018 in accordance with the standard. 

• Hedge accounting: 

IFRS 9 seeks to align hedge accounting with company risk management policies, and in 
this way the requirements to designate hedging instruments and hedged items are relaxed 
and extended. The Group has determined that the existing hedging relationships which 
are currently designated as effective hedges could continue to be classified as hedges 
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under IFRS 9. As IFRS 9 <loes not change the general principles on how hedges are to be 
recognised, the Group <loes not expect the application of this standard to ha ve a significant 
impact. 

On applying this new standard, the Group would not re-state comparative figures from 
prev10us years. 

IFRS 15 - Revenue recognition: 

IFRS 15 is the new standard for recognising revenue with customers that from 1 January 
2018 will replace the following standards and interpretations in force at 31 December 
2017: IAS 11 -Construction contracts, IAS 18 -Revenue, IFRIC 13 -Customer loyalty 
programmes, IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 -
Transfers of assets from Customers and SIC 31-Revenue - Barter Transaction Involving 
Advertising Services. 

An initial assessment of the impact of this standard on the scope of the various businesses 
has been carried out, including changes to intemal policies, information systems and 
controls in order to establish practica! criteria to be applied. The main effects with impacts 
have been identified for the Construction, Water and Services divisions, and they are 
related to: (i) the customers' level of acceptance in relation to the work performed, (ii) 
the identification of different obligations when undertaking long-term contracts, and (iii) 
the treatment of incremental costs of obtaining a contract. 

• Customers' level of acceptance in relation to the work performed 

IFRS 15 requires approval from the Customer (in writing, by oral agreement or implicitly 
following traditional business practices), stating that " . .. a contract modification is a 
change in the scope or the price of a contract (or both) that the Parties to the contract 
approve ... There is a modification to the contract when the parties approve a modification 
that creates new rights and obligations or changes in the existing ones". 

For those cases in which the assessment of the approved modification is pending, the 
standard provides that the income is recognised by an amount for which it is highly likely 
that a significant reversa} of the cumulative amount of ordinary revenue recognised would 
not be produced when the uncertainty is resolved in the future. This criterion is more 
demanding that the requirement of IAS 11 and IAS 19 which establish that there should 
be a probability that the customer will approve the contract modification. Therefore, there 
will be a delay in recognising the revenue in comparison with the current standard. 

• Identification of different obligations when undertaking long-term contracts 

IFRS 15 pays special attention to the identification and separation of the different 
commitments when transferring goods or services referred to in a contract. This implies 
that the revenue recognised for each of the obligations that can be identified individually 
within the same main contract be carried out separately instead of treating them as a single 
contract. This separation of the different performance obligations, as defined in IFRS 15, 
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affects a number of contracts in which up to now the various contract elements had been 
grouped together and the combined margin recorded. 

• Treatment of incremental costs of obtaining a contract 

IFRS 15 establishes that the only capitalised costs associated with obtaining a contract 
with a customer of those which the entity would not ha ve incurred if they had not obtained 
the contract. This implies that certain bidding costs capitalised at the close ofthe financia! 
year must be reversed and charged to the reserves as they do not comply with the 
definition of incremental costs established in the standard. 

The analysis carried out has initially estimated a negative impact of 390 rnillion euros, 
net ofthe tax effect, which will be recognised as a balancing entry in the retained eamings 
at 1January2018 in accordance with the standard. 

On applying this new standard, the Group would not re-state comparative figures frorn 
prev1ous years. 

IFRS 16 - Leases: 

IFRS 16 - Leases will replace IAS 17 - Leases in the financial years beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. This new standard provides for the Jessee a single accounting model 
where all the leases (leases of little value and those covering a period shorter than twelve 
months can be excluded) will be recognised on the balance sheet in a similar manner to 
current finance leases (recognising finance cost for the amortised cost of the liability and 
depreciation for the right of use). F or the lessor a dual model based on current IAS 17 is 
maintained and leases will be finance or operating. 

The Group has not yet completed the analysis of the effects ofthis standard. The expected 
theoretical impact will be potentially in line with the analyses published by different 
accounting experts in relation to increases in assets and financia! liabilities for the future 
payment obligations associated with operating leases. The mandatory date of application 
is 2019 and the Group <loes not anticípate early application. 

Except for the impacts of the standards indicated in the paragraphs above, the Group's 
Directors do not anticípate any significant changes to arise as a result of the introduction 
of the other standards, arnendments and interpretations published but not yet in force, 
since they are applications to be applied prospectively, amendments related to 
presentation and disclosure issues and/or matters that are not applicable to the Group's 
operations. 

4.2 Measurement standards 

The main measurement standards applied in the preparation of the Group's consolidated 
financia! staternents, in accordance with Intemational Financia! Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, were as follows: 

----·------------· 
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A) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment acquired for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services or for administrative purposes are stated on the consolidated balance sheet at the 
lower of acquisition or production cost less any accumulated depreciation and their 
recoverable amounts. 

The costs of expansion, modemisation or improvements leading to increased 
productivity, capacity or efficiency orto a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are 
capitalised. Acquisition cost includes professional fees and borrowing costs incurred 
during the construction period that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial 
period of time to get ready for their intended use. The finance costs relating to this funding 
used for the construction of these assets are entirely capitalised during their construction. 

The acquisition cost of elements acquired before 31 December 2003 includes any asset 
revaluations permitted in the various countries to adjust the value of the property, plant 
and equipment due to the effect of inflation until that date. 

The balances of assets retired as a result of modemisation or for any other reason are de­
recognised from the related cost and accumulated depreciation accounts. 

In-house work done by the Group on its own property, plant and equipment is recognised 
at accumulated cost (external costs plus intemal costs calculated on the basis of in-house 
consumption ofwarehouse materials and manufacturing costs incurred). At 31 December 
2017 "other income" on the accompanying consolidated income statement recorded the 
arnount of 3 51 million euros for work done by the Group on its own property, plant and 
equipment, mostly related to wind projects developed in Chile, India, Mexico and 
Australia, and a photovoltaic project in Chile. 

Upkeep and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated income statement for the 
year in which they are incurred. 

Generally, depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, on the basis of the 
acquisition cost of the assets less their residual value, it is understood that the land on 
which the buildings and other structures stand have an indefinite useful life and, therefore, 
is not depreciated. The Group companies depreciate their property, plant and equipment 
over the years of estimated useful life. The annual depreciation rates applicable in 2017 
were as follows: 
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Buildings 

Special facilities: 

Wind farms 

Annual deprcciation rates 

Hydroelectric power plants 

Biomass plants 

Solar thermal plants 

Photovoltaic solar plants 

Vessels (*) 

Remaining plan! 

Machinery 

Furniture 

Computer hardware 

Transport equipment 

Other property, plant and equipment 

2- 10% 

4% 

1-4% 

4% 

3.33% 

4% 

5-6% 

3-30% 

5-33 % 

5 - 33% 

13 - 33% 

7-25% 

2 - 33% 

(*) It should be noted that Acciona Group, based on an analysis using internal information 
sources, has made a new estimate ofthe useful life of the subgroup Trasmediterránea's 
cargo vessels, passenger ships and high-speed vessels, increasing it from 15 to 25 years 
for fast ferry vessels and from 20 to 25 years for the remaining vessels. Consequently, the 
"Depreciation and amortisation charge" in the consolidated income statement includes 
the impact ofthis change in estímate from 1January2017, which has resulted in a lower 
amortisation of 2 mi Ilion euros. 

The consolidated companies recognise in the books any loss that may have occurred in 
the registered value of these assets due to their impairment, and the heading "result due 
to impairment of assets" on the consolidated income statement is used as balancing entry. 
The criteria to recognise the impairment losses of these assets and, if appropriate, the loss 
recoveries that might occur subsequently are detailed in section E) in this note. 

Finance leases 

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are recognised in the 
corresponding asset category and are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the 
sarne basis as owned assets. 

B) Investment property 

"Investment Property" on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet reflects the net 
values (i.e. less any accumulated depreciation) of the land, buildings and other structures 
held either to earn rentals or for capital appreciation on their sale. 

Investment property is stated at acquisition cost and for all purposes the Group applies 
the same policies as those used for property, plant and equipment ofthe same kind. 

Each year the Group determines the fair value of its investrnent property with the support 
of appraisals undertaken by independent experts (see Note 6). 
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Investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the years of estimated 
useful life of the assets, which constitutes the period over which the Group companies 
expect to use them. The average depreciation rate is as follows: 

Annual depreciation rate 

Buildings held for renta! 2-5% 

C) Goodwill 

As part of the process carried out in a business combination, the existing excess between 
the given consideration, plus the allocated value to non-dominant stake holdings and the 
net amount of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed measured at fair value are 
recognised as goodwill. lf applicable, the shortcoming after measuring the given 
consideration, the value assigned to non-dominant stake holdings and the identification 
and measurement of the net amount of the assets acquired at fair value is recognised in 
the profit/(loss ). 

The assets and liabilities acquired are measured provisionally at the date on which control 
is acquired, and the resulting value is reviewed no later than one year from the date of 
acquisition. 

Goodwill is not amortised, but impairment is verified each year, or before then if there 
are signs of a potential loss of asset value. For these purposes, the goodwill resulting from 
the business combination is assigned to each of the Cash-Generating Units (CGU) or 
groups of CGUs that belong to the Group which are expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination. After the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at its cost less the 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill generated intemally is not recognised as an asset. Goodwill is only recognised 
when it has been acquired for a consideration and represents, therefore, a payment made 
by the buyer in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets of the acquired 
company that are not individually and separately identifiable and recognisable. 

Goodwill arising in the acquisition of companies with a functional currency other than 
the euro is translated to euros at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

D) Other intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recognised initially at acqmslt1on or production cost and are 
subsequently measured at cost less, if applicable, any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over those useful lives using 
methods similar to those used to depreciate property, plant and equipment. The 
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amortisation rates, which were determined on the basis ofthe average years of estimated 
useful life of the assets, are basically as follows: 

Devclopment expenditure 

Administra live concessions 

Leasehold assignment rights 

Computer softwa re 

Annual depreciation rate 

10- 20% 

2-25% 

10-20% 

7- 33% 

The consolidated companies recognise any impairment loss in the carrying amount of 
these assets with a charge to "Impairment and profit/(loss) on Disposals of Non-Current 
Assets" on the consolidated income statement. The criteria to recognise the impairment 
losses of these assets and, if appropriate, the loss recoveries that might occur subsequently 
are detailed in section E) in this note. 

Research and development 

As a general rule, expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the 
year in which it is incurred, except in development projects in which an identifiable asset 
is created, it is probable that the asset wm generate future economic benefits, and the 
development cost of the asset can be reliably measured. The Group's development 
expenditure, basically related to the wind power business, is only recognised asan asset 
if it is probable that it will generate future economic benefits and the development cost of 
the asset can be reliably measured. 

Development expenditure is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. UnJess 
the aforementioned conditions for recognition as an asset are met, development 
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the year in which it is incurred. 

Administrative concessions 

The "Administrative Concessions" line item includes concessions that have been acquired 
by the Group for a consideration (in the case of concessions that can be transferred) or 
for the amount of the expenses incurred to directly obtain the concession from the 
Government or from a public agency. Administrative concessions are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the concession. Appendix V details the duration (and, 
therefore, amortisation) of the main concessions. 

Intangible assets in infrastructure projects 

Since the adoption ofIFRIC 12, the Acciona Group has included under "Intangible Assets 
in Infrastmcture Projects", the intangible assets associated with concessions in which the 
demand risk is borne by the operator. This type of concession-related activity is carried 
out through investments mainly in transport and water supply infrastructure that is 
operated by subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or associates ( concession operators ), 
the main characteristics being as follows: 

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases. 
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- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or 
regulates the service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which it 
should be provided. 

- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the concession 
tender specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this period, the 
assets are handed over to the concession grantor, and the concession operator has no right 
whatsoever over these assets. 

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from 
the users or through the concession grantor. 

The most significant accounting criteria applied by the Acciona Group in relation to these 
concession arrangements are as follows: 

- Capitalisation of the borrowing costs incurred during the construction period and non­
capitalisation of the borrowing costs subsequent to the entry into service of the related 
assets. 

-Amortisation of the concession infrastructure on a straight-line basis over the concession 
term. 

- Concession operators amortise these assets so that the carrying amount of the investment 
made plus the costs considered necessary to return the assets in working order is zero at 
the end of the concession term. 

- Practically in all the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction work was 
carried out by Group companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding 
to infrastructure construction or upgrade services are recognised at their gross amount 
(recognition of the sales and the cost of sales on the consolidated financial statements of 
the Acciona Group ), with the construction margin recognised on the consolidated financial 
statements. If construction were not carried out by the Group itself, this fact would be 
considered for the purpose of recognising sales and the cost of sales on the consolidated 
financial statements. No adjustment was necessary in 2017 for this reason. 

Computer software 

The acquisition and development costs incurred in relation to the basic computer systems 
used in the Group's management are recognised at acquisition cost with a charge to 
"Other Intangible Assets" on the consolidated balance sheet. 

Computer system maintenance costs are recognised with a charge to the consolidated 
income statement for the year in which they are incurred. 

E) Impairment of non-current assets 

At the closing date of each balance sheet, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its 
property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets, to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets might have sustained an impainnent loss. 
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If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the value impairment loss (if any). Where the asset <loes not 
generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the smallest identifiable cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. 

Ifthe recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount ofthe asset (or cash-generating unü) is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. 

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset ( or 
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estímate of its recoverable amount, but 
in such a way that the increased carrying amount <loes not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(or cash-generating unit) in previous years. 

At the end of each reporting period, goodwill is reviewed for impairrnent (i .e. a reduction 
in its recoverable amount to below its carrying amount) and any impainnent is written 
down with a charge to "Impairment and profit/(loss) on Disposals ofNon-Current Assets" 
on the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised for goodwill do not 
reverse in a subsequent period. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The 
methodology used to estimate value in use varíes on the basis of the type of asset in 
question. For these purposes, the Group considers three types of assets: investment 
property ( assets held to eam rentals ), goodwill of companies and assets of a limited 
duration (primarily assets related to electricity production and infrastructure 
concessions); the way they are measured is explained below. Similarly, due to its 
specificity, the following paragraphs explain how the recoverable value is estimated for 
the vessels from the Compañía Trasmediterránea, S.A. subgroup. 

Real estate assets (assets held to earn rentals and inventories) 

The Group's real estate investment relates to properties earmarked for lease. The fair 
value at 31 December 2017 of the Group' s real estate investment was calculated with the 
support of valuations conducted at that date by "Aguirre Newman Valoraciones y 
Tasaciones, S.A." (its report was issued on 31112/2017), and Savills Consultores 
Inmobiliarios S.A. (its report was issued on 16/02/2018). 

Assets of this type are rneasured by updating the rents at rates that vary on the basis of 
the type of building earmarked for lease and of the specific characteristics of the 
buildings. In proportion to their carrying amounts, the assets held to earn rentals may be 
classified as residential for rent (22.59% ), offices ( 48.66% ), Iand for development 
(15.10%) and other property (13.65%) (housing, car parks, etc.) The update rates used for 
each type of property lie in the following ranges: residential property for rent ( 6-8% ), 
offices (7.25-10%) and other property (8-11%). 

The method used to calculate the rnarket value of investment goods consists in preparing 
ten-year forecasts for the income and expenses of each asset that will then be updated at 
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the date of the statement of financia! position, through a market discount rate. The residual 
amount at the end of the tenth year is calculated by applying a yield rate ("exit yield" or 
cap rate") from the forecasts for net income in the eleventh year. The market values thus 
obtained are analysed through calculation and analysis of the capitalisation of the yield 
implicit in these values. The forecasts are used to reflect the best estímate of income and 
expenses of property assets over the future. The yield rate and the discount rateare defined 
according to the domestic market; the reasonability of the market value thus obtained is 
proved in terms of initial gain. 

To calculate the fair value ofland, the residual method was applied. This method consists 
in estimating the value of the final product on the basis of the comparison or cash flow 
discount method, and the development costs are taken off this value. Development costs 
include the cost or urbanisation, construction, fees, levies and all the costs needed to carry 
out the projected development. Revenue and costs are distributed over time according to 
the development and sale periods estimated by the appraiser. The update rate used is the 
rate representing the annual average yield of the project, and the externa! financing that 
would be required by an average developer for a development ofthe characteristics ofthe 
development analysed is not considered. This update rate is calculated by adding the risk 
premium ( determined through the risk assessment of the development, with the type of 
property as set to build, its location, liquidity, term of construction and amount of required 
investment being considered) to the free-risk rate. Where in the determination of the cash 
flows externa! financing is considered, the risk premium mentioned above increases 
depending on the percentage of said financing (leverage level) attributed to the project 
and on the usual interest rates on the mortgage market. 

Taking the valuations made as a benchmark, the related impairment if any is booked and 
recognised in "Impairment and profit/loss on disposal of non-current assets" on the 
income statement (see Note 6). 

Goodwill of companies 

The impairrnent test takes into consideration the cash-generating units' overall capacity 
to generate future cash flows. 

The Group prepares five-year forecasts of projected cash flows, including the best 
available estimates of income and expenses for the cash-generating units, using industry 
projections, past experience and future expectations. 

Also, a residual value is calculated on the basis of the normalised cash flows of the last 
year of the forecast, to which a perpetuity growth rate is applied which under no 
circumstances exceeds the growth rates of previous years or those estimated in the long 
term for the market where the cash generating unit is located. The cash flow used to 
calculate residual value considers the replacement investments required for the continuity 
of the business in the future at the estimated growth rate. 

The weighted average cost of capital (W ACC) is used to discount cash flows, which will 
depend on the type of business and on the market in which it is carried on. The average 
leverage during the projection period is considered in the calculation of the W ACC. 
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Other items calculated include: i) the effective cost of borrowings, which tak:es into 
account the tax shield that they give rise to, based on the average tax rates in each country; 
and ii) the estimated cost of equity based on a risk-free interest rate, (generally using as a 
benchmark the retum on a ten-year bond in each market), the beta (which factors in the 
leverage and the risk associated with the asset), anda market premium (estimated on the 
basis of historical yields on the capital markets). These variables are tested using recent 
studies on premiums required at long term, comparable companies in the industry and 
rates habitually used by investment banks. 

At 31 December 2017 the impairment tests implemented did not show the need to register 
impairment (see Note 7). 

Non-current assets in projects 

This line item includes concession assets and projects with a limited duration and 
characterised by having a contractual structure that mak:es it possible for the costs incurred 
in the project to be clearly determined (both at the initial investment stage and at the 
operating phase) and the related revenue to be reasonably projected over the life of the 
project (basically property, plant and equipment frorn the energy division). They are 
registered under property, plant and equipment (mainly under electric power generation 
facilities) and in other intangible assets under intangible concessions (IFRIC 12). 

To calculate the value in use of assets of this nature, the expected cash flows are projected 
until the end of the life of the asset. Therefore, it is assumed that there is no terminal 
value. This is possible because: 

• These assets have a stable long-term production, thus mak:ing it possible for 
reliable long-term estimates to be made. 

• There are extensive series of historical data from reliable extemal sources. 
• In connection with the energy division, the estimates of prices used by the Acciona 

Group for revenue determination (pool price) are based on a profound 
understanding of the market and on the analysis of the parameters determining 
pool prices. 

• The operating costs are known and with scant variability. 
• Most of them ha ve been financed with long-term debt with known and constant 

terms and conditions that make it possible to forecast easily the necessary 
outflows of cash to cover the debt service. 

The projections include both known data (based on project contracts) and basic 
assumptions supported by specific studies performed by experts or by historical data ( on 
demand, production, etc.). Also, macroeconomic data, such as inflation, interest rates, 
etc., are projected using data provided by independent specialist sources ( e.g. 
Bloomberg). 

The discounted cash :flows are those obtained by the shareholder after servicing the debt. 
The rates used to discount these cash flows are based on the cost of equity, and in each 
case include the business risk and the sovereign risk relating to the location where the 
operation is being performed. 

Nº 10009 

---~--------



TRANSLATION 

At 31 December 2017, the Acciona Group recognised the amount of 13 mi Ilion euros in 
"Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets" on the accompanying consolidated 
income statement in accordance with these analyses carried out for a concession asset in 
Brazil, as mentioned in Note 8. 

Property, plant and equipment - Other plant: vessels 

To calculate the recoverable amount of the ships from the Compañía Trasmediterránea, 
S.A. subgroup, the specific characteristics of the market for seagoing vessels are taken 
into account; it's a narrow market where the specific features of each ship is particularly 
important, as they are not built on a production line but tailor-made for certain types of 
traffic; their value depends on the year and country of construction, ramps, linear metres, 
height of the hold, passenger capacity, speed, etc., so the measurement of value usually 
takes into account comparable market features through the intemational brokers the 
Group works with (see Note 5). It should be noted that the Group's vessels have been 
reclassified under the line "Non-current assets held for sale" (see Note 23). 

F) Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All 
other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Finance leases 

When the consolidated companies act as the lessee, they disclose the cost of the leased 
assets on the consolidated balance sheet, based on the nature of the leased asset, and, 
simultaneously, recognise a liability for the same amount (which will be the lower of the 
fair value of the leased asset and the aggregate present values ofthe amounts payable to 
the lessor plus, where applicable, the price of exercising the purchase option). These 
as sets are depreciated using the same criteria as those applied to similar items of property, 
plant and equipment that are owned. 

The finance charges arising under finance leases are charged to the consolidated income 
statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases. 

Operating leases 

In operating leases, the ownership of the leased asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards relating to the leased assets remain with the lessor, which recognises the assets 
at their acquisition cost. 

These assets are depreciated using a policy consistent with the lessor' s normal 
depreciation policy for similar items and lease income is recognised on the income 
statement on a straight-line basis. 

When the consolidated companies act as the lessee, lease costs, including any incentives 
granted by the lessor, are recognised asan expense on a straight-line basis on their income 
statements. 
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Amounts received and receivable as incentives for the arrangement of operating leases 
are also recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

G) Non-current receivables and other non-current assets 

"Non-Current Receivables and Other Non-Current Assets" includes the non-current trade 
receivables, mainly from public authorities, and withholdings from trade receivables, 
mainly from the Infrastructure Construction division. 

Since the Acciona Group adopted IFRIC 12, it has recognised under "Other Non-Current 
Assets" non-current assets associated with concessions in which the grantor guarantees 
the demand risk is mitigated through the payment of a quantified or quantifiable amount, 
and where, therefore, the operator <loes not bear any demand risk. 

This type of concession-related activity was carried on through investments mainly in 
transport, water supply and hospital infrastructure operated by subsidiaries, jointly 
controlled entities or associates (concession operators), the detail being as follows: 

- The concession infrastructure is owned by the grantor in most cases. 

- The concession grantor, which can be a public or private sector entity, controls or 
regulates the service offered by the concession operator and the conditions under which it 
should be provided. 

- The infrastructure is operated by the concession operator as established in the concession 
tender specifications for an established concession term. At the end of this period, the 
assets are handed over to the concession grantor, and the concession operator has no right 
whatsoever over these assets. 

- The concession operator receives revenue for the services provided either directly from 
the users or through the concession grantor. 

The most significant accounting criteria applied by the Acciona Group in relation to these 
concession arrangements are as follows: 

- The account receivable is recognised for the present value of the amount receivable from 
the grantor. 

- Borrowing costs are not capitalised, either during the construction phase or after the 
concession has started to operate. 

- The Group recognises interest income eamed on the financial asset, even during the 
construction phase, by applying the effective interest rate of the financia} asset. This 
income is recognised in the net revenue. 

- Practically in all the concessions of the Acciona Group, the construction work was 
carried out by Group companies. In this regard, the income and expenses corresponding 
to infrastructure construction or upgrade services are recognised at their gross amount 
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(recognition of the sales and the cost of sales on the consolidated financia! statements of 
the Acciona Group ), with the construction margin recognised on the consolidated financia! 
statements. If construction were not carried out by the Group itself, this fact would be 
considered for the purpose of recognising sales and the cost of sales on the consolidated 
financia! statements. 

- There is no depreciation or amortisation charge since the arrangements constitute a 
financia! asset. 

- Annual billings are divided into a financia! asset component recognised on the balance 
sheet ( and, therefore, not recognised as sales) and the component relating to services 
provided, which is recognised under "Revenue". 

H) Financia! instrument disclosures 

The qualitative and quantitative disclosures in the financia! statements regarding financia! 
instruments and risk and capital management are detailed in the following notes: 

Financia} asset and liability categories, including derivative financia} instruments 
and accounting policies are detailed in Note 4.2 i). 
Classification of the fair value measurements of financia! assets and for derivative 
financia! instruments consistent with the fair value hierarchy established in IFRS 7, 
detailed in Note 4.2 i). 
Disclosure requirements ( qualitative and quantitative information) regarding the 
capital are detailed in Note 16 g). 
Risk accounting and management policies are detailed in Note 19. 
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting are detailed in Note 20. 
Transfers from equity to the year's profit or loss, for settlements of hedging 
derivative financial instrument transactions, are detailed in Note 28. 

I) Financia} instruments 

Non-current and current financia! assets excluding hedging derivatives 

The financial assets held by the Group companies are classified in the following way: 

- Loans and receivables: financia! assets originated by the companies in exchange for 
supplying cash, goods or services directly to a debtor. These items are measured at 
amortised cost, which is basically the initial market value, less principal repayments, 
plus the accrued interest receivable calculated using the effective interest method. This 
category is comprised practically in its entirety of the assets recorded in "Trade and 
other accounts receivable" and "Loans and credits to companies accounted for using 
the equity method". 

- Cash and cash equivalents: this item comprises both cash and bank deposits on demand. 
Other cash equivalents comprise short-term investments, with maturity under three 
months, and not subject to a relevant risk of change in value. 

- Page42 -



TRANSLA TION 

- Held-to-maturity investments: assets with quantified or quantifiable payments and 
fixed maturity. The Group has the positive intention and ability to hold them from the 
date of purchase to the date of maturity. This category includes mainly short-term 
deposits, which are booked at amortised cost, as indicated above, and deposits and 
guaran te es. 

- A vailable-for-sale financia! assets: these relate to securities acquired that are not 
classified in the other categories; almost all of them relate to investments in the capital 
of companies. They are measured: 

- In the case of shareholdings in unlisted companies, given that the fair value cannot 
always be reliably determined, at acquisition cost, adjusted for any impairment 
losses disclosed. The main criterion applied by the Acciona Group to determine if 
there is objective evidence of impairment is to have incurred significant or 
permanent losses in the investee. 

At fair value when it is possible to determine it reliably, either through the market 
price or, in the absence thereof, using the price established in recent transactions 
or the discounted present value of the future cash flows. The gains and Iosses from 
changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity until the asset is disposed 
of, at which time the cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in equity 
are recognised on the income statement for the year. If the fair value is lower than 
the acquisition cost and there is objective evidence that tbe asset has sustained an 
impairment loss that cannot be considered reversible, the difference is recognised 
directly on the consolidated income statement. 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the available-for-sale financia! assets were 
measured by reference to quoted (unadjusted) market prices and categorised in 
level one of the hierarchy established in IFRS 7. 

In financial years 2017 and 2016, no financial assets were reclassified among the 
categories defined in the foregoing paragraphs. 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are booked using the trade date rnethod. 

Transfers of financial assets 

The Acciona Group de-recognises financial assets when they expire or when the rights to 
the cash flows from the financia! asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership have also been transferred, such as in the case of firm asset sales, factoring of 
trade receivables in which the company <loes not retain any credit or interest rate risk, 
sales of financia! assets under an agreement to repurchase them at fair value and the 
securitisation of financia] assets in which the transferor does not retain any subordinate 
financing or award any kind of guarantee or assume any other kind of risk. 

Bank borrowings other than derivatives 
,----------· 
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Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recognised at the amount received, net of 
direct issue costs. Borrowing costs, including premiums payable on settlement or 
redemption and direct issue costs, are recognised in the income statement on an accrual 
basis using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the 
instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. In 
subsequent periods, these obligations are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

In specific cases where liabilities are the underlying of a fair value hedge, they are 
measured, exceptionally, at fair value for the portion of the hedged risk. 

The Group writes off financial liabilities or part of them when the obligations contained 
therein expire, or when it is legally released from the main responsibility of the liability 
through a legal process or by the creditor. 

The exchange of debt instruments between Group and the counterparty, or substantial 
modifications to the liabilities that had initially been recognised, are accounted for as the 
cancellation of the original financia! liability and the recognition of a new financial 
liability, whenever the instruments have substantially different terms. 

The Group considers the terms to be substantially different ifthe discounted present value 
of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received 
and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 1 O per cent different 
from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financia! 
liability. 

If the exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financia! liability, 
then any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the profit or loss. Otherwise, the 
cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any difference with 
the previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, the costs or fees 
adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of 
the modified liability. 

The Group recognises the difference between the carrying amount of a financia! liability 
( or part thereof) extinguished or transferred to a third party and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed in profit or loss. 

The Group also applies this accounting treatment to debt renegotiations arising from 
agreements with creditors, recognising the effect of them at the date the agreement is 
legally approved. Positive results are recognised under "financia! income arising from 
agreements with creditors" in the consolidated income statement. 

Derivative financia! instruments and hedge accounting 

Because of its activities, the Group is mainly exposed to the financia! risks derived from 
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and interest rates and in certain fuel stocks and fuel 
supplies. The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap 
contracts to hedge these exposures. Electricity and fuel price and supply hedging 
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transactions are also arranged. The Group <loes not use derivative financia] instruments 
for speculative purposes. 

The use of financia} derivatives is governed by the Group's policies approved by the 
Board of Directors. 

Accounting policies: 

Derivatives are recognised at fair value (see rneasurernent bases below) at the 
consolidated balance sheet date under "Other Current Financial Assets" or "Non-Current 
Financia} Assets" if positive and under "Bank Borrowings" (both current and non­
current) if negative. Changes in the fair value of derivative financia} instruments are 
recognised on the consolidated incorne statement as they arise. If the derivative has been 
designated as a hedge which is highly effective, it is recognised as follows: 

- Fair value hedges: these hedges are arranged to fully or partially reduce the risk of 
fluctuations in the value of assets and liabilities (underlying) recognised on the 
consolidated balance sheet. The portian of the underlying for which the risk is being 
hedged is measured at fair value, as is the related hedging instrument, and changes in 
the fair values of both items are recognised under the same heading on the consolidated 
income statement. At 31 December 2017, the Group had no fair value hedges. 

- Cash :flow hedges: these hedges are arranged to reduce the risk of potential changes in 
the cash flows associated with the interest payments on non-current floating-rate 
financia} liabilities, exchange rates and fuel stock and fuel hedges. Changes in the fair 
value of derivatives are recognised, with respect to the effective portion of the hedge, 
in "Reserves - Value Adjustments" under equity. The cumulative gain or loss 
recognised in this heading is transferred to the consolidated income statement to the 
extent of the impact of the underlying (resulting from the risk hedged) on the 
consolidated income statement; thus, this effect is netted off under the same heading 
on the consolidated in come statement. Gains or losses on the ineffective portian of the 
hedges are recognised directly on the consolidated income statement. 

- Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation: changes in fair value are recognised, 
in respect of the effective portian of these hedges, net of the related tax effect, as 
"Translation Differences" in equity, and are transferred to the consolidated income 
statement wben tbe hedged investrnent is disposed of. At 31 December 2017, the 
Group had no hedges relating to net investments in a foreign operation. 

Group policy on hedging: 

At the inception of the transaction, the Group designates and fonnally documents the 
hedging relationship and the objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. Hedges are 
only recognised when the hedging relationship is expected, prospectively, to be highly 
effective from inception and in subsequent years it will be effective to offset the changes 
in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item during the life of the hedge and, 
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retrospectively, that the actual effectiveness of the hedge, which can be reliably 
calculated, is within a range of 80 - 125% of the gain or loss on the hedged item. 

The Group does not hedge projected transactions, but rather only firm financing 
commitments. If the cash flows from projected transactions were hedged, the Group 
would assess whether such transactions were highly probable and whether they were 
exposed to changes in cash flows that could ultimately affect the year' s profit or loss. 

lf the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or projected transaction results in the 
recognition of a non-financia! asset ora non-financia! liability, then, at the time the asset 
or liability is recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative that had 
previously been recognised in equity are included in the initial measurement of the asset 
or liability. F or hedges that do not result in recognition of a non-financia! as set or liability, 
amounts deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement in the same period as 
that in which the hedged item affects net profit or loss. 

Compound financia! instruments with multiple embedded derivatives 

The Acciona Group does not have any compound financial instruments with embedded 
derivatives. 

Measurement and adjustment for credit risk bases 

The Group measures derivatives not traded on an organised market (OTC) by discounting 
the expected cash flows and using generally accepted option pricing models based on spot 
and futures market conditions at the closing date of every financia! year. The fair value 
calculations for each type of financial instrument are as follows: 

Interest rate swaps are valued by discounting future settlements between fixed and 
floating interest rates to their present value, in line with implicit market rates, 
obtained from long-term interest rate swap curves. Implicit volatility is used to 
calculate the fair values of caps and floors using option pricing models. 

Foreign currency hedging and option contracts are valued using the spot 
exchange rate, forward spots of the related currencies and, in the case of options, 
implicit volatility until maturity. 

Commodities contracts (for fuel) are valued in a similar way, in this case, taking 
into account the futures prices of the underlying and the implicit volatility of the 
options. 

In order to determine the adjustment for credit risk in the measurement of derivatives at 
31 December 201 7, the technique applied was based on a calculation through simulations 
of the total expected exposure (incorporating both the actual and the potential exposure) 
adjusted in line with the probability of default over time and the severity ( or potential 
loss) assigned to the Company and to each of the counterparties. 

More specifically, the adjustment for credit risk was obtained from the following formula: 
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EAD * PD * LGD, where 

EAD: Exposure at default at any given moment. This is calculated through the 
simulation of scenarios witb market price curves. 
PD: Probability of default, i.e., that one or other of the counterparties may fail to 
fulfil its payment obligations at any given moment. 
LGD: Loss given default with a severity = 1- (recovery rate ): The percentage of 
losses ultimately occurring when one of the counterparties has incurred default. 

The total expected exposure from derivatives is obtained using observable market inputs, 
such as interest curves, exchange rates and volatilities depending on the market conditions 
on the measurement date. 

The inputs applied to obtain credit risk and counterparty risk (determination of the 
probability of default) are mainly based on the application of credit spreads of the 
Company or other comparable businesses currently traded on the market (CDS curves, 
IRR of debt issues). In the absence of credit spreads ofthe Company or other comparable 
businesses and in order to maximise the use of relevant observable variables, the listed 
references considered are those considered most suitable in each case (listed credit spread 
indices). For counterparties with credit information available, the credit spreads used are 
obtained from the Credit Default Swaps (CDS) listed on the market. 

Furthermore, far the fair value (adjustment ofthe market value to the bilateral credit risk), 
consideration has been given to the credit enhancements in te1ms of collateral or 
guarantees when determining the severity rate to be applied to each position. Severity is 
considered to be unique over time. If there are no credit enhancements in terms of 
collateral or guarantees, a standard market recovery rate has been applied which 
corresponds to a senior unsecured debt of 40%. Nonetheless, this recovery rate would 
range between 71.40% and 90.60%, depending on the degree of progress in the project 
(construction or operation phase), and its geographical area (Western Europe, Eastern 
Europe, North America, Latin America, Oceania and Africa), far derivatives contracted 
under Project Finance structures. 

The measurements at fair value made over the different derivative financia! instruments 
including the information used for the calculation of the adjustment far credit risk ofboth 
the Company and its counterparty are classified at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy 
established in IFRS 7 as the inputs based on prices listed far similar instruments on active 
markets (not included in leve! 1 ), listed prices for identical or similar instruments on 
markets that are not active, and techniques based on valuation models for which all the 
significant inputs are observable on the market or can be corroborated by observable 
market data. 

Although the Acciona Group has determined that rnost ofthe inputs used to evaluate the 
derivatives are at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy, the credit risk adjustments use leve! 3 
inputs such as the credit estimations based on the credit rating or comparable companies 
to assess the probability of insolvency for the Company or its counterparty. The Group 
has assessed the relevance of the credit risk adjustments far the total valuation of the 
derivative financial instruments and has concluded that they are not material. 
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Trade payables 

Trade payables are not interest bearing and are stated at their nominal value, which <loes 
not differ substantially from their fair value. 

Trade payables include unpaid balances to suppliers which are handled through 
confirming contracts with financia} entities and, in the same way, payments related 
thereto are classified as transaction flows, since these transactions do not include either 
special guarantees given as pledge for the payments to be made or modifications that 
change the commercial nature of the transactions. 

Current/Non-current classification 

On the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, assets and liabilities maturing within 
no more than twelve months are generally classified as current items and those maturing 
within more than twelve months are classified as non-current items. However, the 
companies in the Real Estate division classify them based on the operation cycle, which 
is usually greater than one year. The current assets and liabilities allocated to this division 
with an estimated maturity of more than twelve months are as follows: 

Thousand euros 

2017 2016 

1 nventories 414,273 366,835 

Trade receivables 

Total current assets 414,273 366,835 

Bank borrowings 9,375 6,491 

Other current liabilities 8,627 5,723 

Total current liabilities 18,002 12,214 

Loans that mature in the short term but whose long-term refinancing is, at the Group's 
discretion, ensured through available long-term credit facilities are classified as non­
current liabilities. 

J) Inventaries 

The Group companies measure their inventaries as follows: 

In the Construction business, procurements, consisting basically of construction 
materials located at the sites of the various construction projects in progress, are 
measured at acquisition cost. Semi-finished goods or work in progress to be included 
in the value of the construction projects are recognised at production cost. 

In the real estate business, land is measured at acquisition cost, plus urban 
development costs, if any, purchase transaction costs and borrowing costs incurred 
from the date of commencement of the development of the site for its desired use 
until construction begins, or at their estimated market value, whichever is the lower. 
If the building work is halted due to its rescheduling or other reasons, the borrowing 
costs cease to be capitalised. 
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The costs incurred in property developments or part thereof whose construction has 
not been completed at the closing date of the financial year are treated as inventories. 
These costs include land, urban development and construction costs, capitalised 
borrowing costs incurred in the construction period, and other allocable direct and 
indirect costs. Commercial costs are charged to the income statement in the year in 
which they are incurred. 

In financial year 2017, the capitalised borrowing costs in inventories carne to 672 
thousand euros, the capitalised arnount not being significant for this line ítem during 
financial year 2016 (see Note 28). 

Other inventories are recognised generally at the lower of weighted average cost and 
net realisable value. These inventories can, on a residual basis, be measured at FIFO 
cost. 

As regards real estate inventories, the Group's Directors estímate their fair value at the 
end of every year on the basis of the valuations carried out by independent experts "Savills 
Consultores Inmobiliarios, S.A.", whose report was issued on 16/02/2018, and "CB 
Richard Ellis, S.A.", whose report was issued on 16/02/2018, allocating if necessary 
provisions for impairment when the properties are found to be overvalued. 

The valuations were carried out in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Standards 
issued by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) of Great Britain and the 
International Valuation Standards (IVS) issued by the International Valuation Standards 
Committee (IVSC). The residual method was used to calculate the fair value, 
supplemented by the comparative method. 

Whenever there is a reasonable change in the basic assumptions that affect the recoverable 
amount ofthe assets, the Group performs a sensitivity analysis to determine whether this 
change may reduce the realisable value to below the carrying amount, in which case, an 
impairment loss is recognised. 

K) Treasury shares 

At 31 December 2017, Acciona, S.A. held 45,702 treasury shares representing 0.0798% 
of the share capital at the time. The acquisition cost of these shares amounted to 3, 146 
thousand euros. The acquisition cost of the treasury shares and the gains or losses on 
transactions involving them were recognised directly in equity (see Note 16). 

At 31 December 2016, Acciona, S.A. and its subsidiary Finanzas Dos, S.A. held 233,898 
treasury shares representing 0.4085% ofthe share capital at that date. The acquisition cost 
ofthese shares amounted to 14,403 thousand euros. 

L) Termination bene:fits 

Under the legislation for the time being in force, the Spanish consolidated companies and 
certain foreign companies are required to pay termination benefits to employees 
dismissed on unfair grounds. The Acciona Group companies do not currently have any 
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ernployee terrnination plans that have not been appropriately provisioned in accordance 
with the regulations in force. 

M) Provisions 

The Group' s consolidated financia! staternents include all the provisions covering present 
obligations at the balance sheet date arising frorn past events which could give rise to a 
loss for the companies, certain as to its nature but uncertain as to its amount and/or timing. 
They include all the provisions with respect to which it is considered that it is more likely 
than not that the obligation will have to be settled. 

Provisions, which are quantified on the basis of the best information available on the 
consequences of the event giving rise to them and are reviewed and adjusted at the el ose 
of every accounting period, are used to cater for the specific obligations for which they 
were originally recognised. Provisions are fully or partially reversed when such 
obligations cease to exist orare reduced. 

Litigation and/or claims in process 

At the close of financia! years 2017 and 2016, certain litigation and claims arising from 
the ordinary course of operations were in process against the consolidated companies. 
The Group's Directors, considering the opinion of its legal advisers, consider that the 
outcome of litigation and clairns will not have a material effect on the consolidated 
financia! statements for the years in which they are settled. Accordingly, they did not 
deem it necessary to record an additional provision in this respect. 

Operating provisions and allowances 

These provisions and allowances include costs that have not yet been incurred. The 
provision for the cost of completion of construction projects is intended to cover the 
expenses arising frorn the date on which project units are completed to the date of delivery 
to the client. 

Provisions far pensions and similar obligations 

Except for the two groups discussed below, the Acciona Group companies do not have 
any pension plans to supplement social security pensions. The appropriate provisions are 
recognised for terminations of pennanent site personnel. 

The collective agreernents of certain companies in the Compañía 
Trasmediterránea subgroup establish benefits of specific amounts for employees who 
reach retirement age, subject to compliance with the conditions stipulated in these 
agreements. These collective agreernents also establish a loyalty bonus based on the 
ernployee' s length of service at the cornpanies. The subgroup currently recognises these 
obligations at the moment of their effective payrnent; the cost recognised for these 
commitments in 201 7 and 2016 were 5 thousand euros and 8 thousand euros, respectively. 
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On 15 December 2002, pursuant to Royal Decree 1588/1999, of 15 October, Compañía 
Trasmediterránea extemalised its employee retirement benefit obligations by arranging a 
single-premium insurance policy. The cost recognised at 31December2017 and 2016 
relating to the amounts payable to the insurance company for the benefit obligations 
accrued in these two years amounted to 281 and 346 thousand euros, respectively, and 
this amount was recognised under "Wages and Salaries" on the accompanying 
consolidated income statement. 

Certain companies from Acciona Group entered into or were subrogated to 
collective agreements that establish benefits of specific amounts for employees included 
in such agreements that reach retirement age, provided that the conditions established in 
the agreements are met. Sorne of these collective agreements also establish a loyalty 
bonus based on the employee' s length of service at the companies. The impact of these 
obligations is not material. 

These companies have various pension obligations to their employees. These defined 
benefit obligations are basically formalised in pension plans, except as regards certain 
benefits in kind, mainly electricity supply commitments, which, due to their nature, have 
not been externalised and are covered by the related in-house provisions. 

For the defmed benefit plans, the companies recognise the expenditure relating to these 
obligations on an accrual basis over the working life of the employees by performing at 
the consolidated balance sheet date the appropriate actuaria! studies calculated using the 
projected unit credit method. The past service costs relating to changes in benefits are 
recognised immediately on the consolidated income statement as the benefits are accrued. 

The defined benefit plan obligations represent the present value of the accrued benefits 
after deducting the fair value of the qualifying plan assets. The actuaria} losses and gains 
arising in the measurement of both the plan liabilities and the plan assets are recognised 
directly in equity under "Reserves - Change dueto Actuaria} Losses and Gains on Pension 
Schemes". 

For each of the plans, any positive difference between the actuaria! liability for past 
services and the plan assets is recognised under ''Provisions" on the consolidated balance 
sheet and any negative difference is recognised under "Trade and Other Receivables" on 
the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet, provided that such negative difference is 
recoverable by the Group, usually through a reduction in future contributions. 

The impact ofthese plans on the consolidated income statement is not material (see Note 
17). 

The Group recognises termination benefits when there is an individual or collective 
agreement with the employees or a genuine expectation that such an agreement wiII be 
reached that will enable the employees, unilaterally or by mutual agreement with the 
company, to cease working for the Group in exchange for a termination benefit. If a 
mutual agreement is required, a provision is only recorded in situations in which the 
Group has decided to consent to the termination of the employees when this has been 
requested by them. In all cases in which these provisions are recognised the employees 
have an expectation that these ear]y retirements wiU take place. 
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N) Grants 

Govemment grants related to assets to cover staff re-training costs are recognised as 
income once all the conditions attached to them have been fulfilled over the periods 
necessary to match them with the related costs. 

Government grants related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 
treated as deferred income, are classified under "Other Non-Current Liabilities" and are 
taken to income over the expected useful lives of the assets concemed under "Other 
Income". 

O) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and 
represents the amounts receivable for the goods and services provided in the normal 
course of business, net of discounts, V A T and other sales-related taxes. Sales of goods 
are recognised when substantially all the risks and rewards have been transferred. 

Following is a detail of sorne of the particular features of the business activities carried 
on by the Group: 

Construction business: 

Revenue: 
Given the type of activity, revenue usually comes from long-term contracts where the 
start date of the contract activity and the date of completion of same generally fall into 
different accounting periods, so the initial revenue and cost estimates may suffer 
variations that could affect the recognition of revenue, expenses and results thereof. 

The Group companies recognise construction contract revenue and expenses by reference 
to the stage of completion of the activity under contract at the closing date of the balance 
sheet, determined on the basis of the examination of the work caiTied out, or by the 
percentage of costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs. In the first case, based on 
the measurement of the units made, the production of the month is recorded as revenue 
and costs are recognised based on the accrual related to the units performed. In the second 
case, revenue is recognised in the revenue statement according to the percentage of 
progress in costs ( costs incurred versus total costs estimated on the contract), applied to 
the total revenue from the project. The latter is commonly used in markets of Anglo­
Saxon influence and contracts without unit prices. 

In exceptional cases, where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be reliably 
estimated, contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are 
incurred, and contract revenue is recognised only to the extent that the contract costs 
incurred are likely to be recovered. 

In addition, for contracts where it is considered probable that the estimated costs of the 
contract will exceed the revenue derived from same, the expected losses are provisioned 
against the income statement for the year in which they are known. 

- Page52 -



TRANSLATION 

Ordinary revenue from the contract is recognised considering the initial amount of the 
contract agreed with the client as well as any modifications and claims on the same to the 
extent that it is probable that revenue will be obtained from same and that it can be reliably 
measured. 

It is considered that there is a modification to the contract when there is a client's 
instruction to change the scope of the contract. lt is considered that there is a claim on the 
contract when, due to the client or third parties, there are costs not included in the initial 
contract ( delays, errors in specifications or design, etc.) and the contractor is entitled to 
be compensated for the overrunning costs incurred, either by the client or by the third 
party causing them. These modifications and claims are included as revenue from the 
contract when the client is more than likely to approve modifications or claims in an 
advanced negotiation stage or because there is a technical and legal report from 
independent experts supporting their inclusion as contract revenue. Once these concepts 
are recognised, in the event that the claims end in dispute, arbitration or litigation, no 
additional amounts are recorded until their settlement. 

When, due to a delay in collection orto the client's insolvency, uncertainty arises as to 
the collectability of an item already recognised as contract revenue, the recoverability of 
the assets is duly analysed and, if applicable, a related provision far impairment and 
client's insolvency is recorded. 

As discussed above, construction contracts are subject to estimates for revenues and costs 
that need to be reviewed by project managers as they progress. Any change in estimates 
far revenue, expenses and final work results is subject to review by the different 
management levels and when verified and approved, the effect is treated as a change in 
the accounting estímate in the year in which it occurs and in subsequent periods, in 
accordance with the accounting standards in force. 

Expenses: 
A project costs include those directly related to the main contract and to any modifications 
or claims on the contract. In addition, they include the costs related to the contracting 
activity far each contract, such as insurance, consultancy, design and technical assistance, 
etc. 

Construction contract costs are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e., the costs related to 
work units performed and total contract indirect costs attributable to said units are booked 
as expense. 

Costs that relate to future activity on the contract, such as insurance premiums, site 
installations, consultancy, design and other initial costs are initially recognised as as sets 
in "inventaries" and are charged to the income statement on the basis of the stage of 
completion ofthe contract. 

Machinery removal and site installation dismantling costs, upkeep costs within the 
warranty period and the costs, if any, arising in the period from completion of the 
construction work to the date of final settlement, are deferred and recognised over the life 
of the construction project, since they are considered one more cost of the construction 
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work and they relate both to the completed contract units and to the future activity on the 
contract. 

As regards the provision for depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in 
construction contracts, the assets whose estimated useful life coincides with the duration 
of the construction work are depreciated over the term of the contract so that they are 
fully depreciated upon completion thereof. Machinery whose useful life exceeds the term 
of the contract is depreciated systematically on the basis ofthe technical criteria stipulated 
under the various contracts for which it is used, and it depreciates under the straight-line 
method in the course of each contract. 

Late payment interest due to delay in the payment by the client for work certifications are 
registered, as financia! income, only when they can be reliably measured, and their 
collection is reasonably guaranteed. 

The Group companies record in the account "Executed production pending certification", 
under "Trade and other accounts receivable", the positive difference between the 
recognised revenue from a contract and the amount of the certifications at the origin of 
the contract. In addition, they record in the account "Advances received on orders", under 
"Trade and other accounts payable", the amount of advance certifications for various 
items, including advances received from the client. 

Real Estate business: 

The Group companies recognise property sale revenue and costs on the date the property 
is delivered, since this is considered to be the time when the risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership are transferred to the buyers. 

Accordingly, at the date of delivery of the property the Group companies recognise, if 
appropriate, the provisions required to cover the contractually stipulated costs not yet 
incurred in relation to the asset delivered. These provisions arise from a present obligation 
ofthe company, the amount ofwhich can be reliably estimated and whose settlement will 
probably give rise toan outflow ofresources for the company. 

Rental revenue is recognised on an accrual basis, and incentive-related income and the 
initial costs ofthe lease agreements are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
o ver the term of the agreement. 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acqmslt10n or construction of property 
developments or property investments -assets that necessarily require a substantial period 
of time to be prepared for their intended use or sale- are added to the cost of said assets 
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for use or sale, provided that the 
market value exceeds the accumulated cost ofthe asset. Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

Services business: 
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Revenue associated with the rendering of services is also recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date, provided the outcome of 
the transaction can be reliably estimated. 

For every year the Group companies recognise as profit or loss on their services the 
difference between production (value at the selling price of the services provided during 
the period, as stipulated on the main contract entered into with the client or in amendments 
or addenda thereto as approved by the client, or ofthe services not yet approved but whose 
recovery is reasonably certain) and the costs incurred during the year, since the revenue 
and costs of projects in the services industry can undergo majar changes during the period 
of performance, which are difficult to predict and quantify objectively. 

Price reviews stipulated under the initial contract signed with the client are recognised as 
revenue on an accrual basis, regardless of whether they have been approved by the client 
on an annual basis. 

Energy business: 

One the Acciona Group's businesses is the turnkey construction of wind farms and other 
energy production facilities. The total costs incun·ed in these projects are recognised as 
operating expenses and the related sales are recognised in accordance with the stage of 
completion of the project, calculated on the basis of the price and terms and conditions of 
the sale agreement at the cost incurred and at the estimated cost, based on the detailed 
budgets of each contract, with application since the beginning thereof. Losses on contracts 
are recognised in full in the year' s profit or loss as soon as they become known. 

P) Income tax. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Income tax expense is calculated by aggregating the current tax ansmg from the 
application of the tax rate to the adjusted accounting profit for the year, after deducting 
the tax credits allowable for tax purposes, plus the change in deferred tax assets and 
Jiabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the taxes expected to be payable or recoverable on 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and their tax bases. They are registered by applying the tax rates at which they 
are expected to be recovered or settled. 

Corporate tax and changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities not arising from business 
combinations are recognised on the consolidated income statement or in equity accounts 
on the consolidated balance sheet depending on where the profits or losses giving rise to 
them have been recognised. 

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences, and tax loss and tax credit 
carryforwards are recognised only if it is considered probable that the consolidated 
companies will have sufficient future taxable profits against which they can be utilised. 
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised are reassessed at each balance sheet date in 
order to verify whether they still exist, and the appropriate adjustments are made on the 
basis of the findings of the analyses performed. 

Q) F oreign currency balances and transactions 

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of each company are 
recognised in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates prevailing at the 
date of the transaction. During the year, the differences that arise between the balances 
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction and the balances 
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of collection or payment are recorded 
as finance costs or finance income on the consolidated income statement. 

In addition, balances receivable or payable at 31 December of every year denominated in 
currencies other than the functional currencies in which the financia! statements of the 
consolidated companies are denominated are translated to euros at the year-end exchange 
rates. Translation differences are recognised as finance costs or finance income on the 
consolidated income statement. 

R) Environment-related activities 

In general, environment-related activities are considered to be operations whose main 
purpose is to prevent, reduce or redress damage to the environment. 

Investments relating to environmental activities are measured at acquisition cost and 
capitalised as an addition to non-current assets in the year in which they are made. 

Environmental protection and improvement expenses are charged to profit or loss in the 
year in which they are incurred, regardless of when the resulting monetary or financia! 
flow arises. 

Provisions for probable or certain liability, litigation in process and outstanding 
environmental indemnity payments or obligations of an unspecified amount, not covered 
by the insurance policies taken out, are recorded when the liability or obligation giving 
rise to the indemnity or payment arises. 

S) Discontinued operations and non-current assets and liabilities held for sale 

The Group classifies as "Non-Current Assets Held for Sale" property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, other non-current assets or investments under "Investments 
Accounted for Using the Equity Method" and disposal groups (groups of assets which 
will be disposed of together with their directly associated liabilities) for which at the date 
of the consolidated balance sheet an active programme and at reasonable prices has been 
started so as to sell them and the sale is expected to be completed within twelve months 
from that date. 

The Group classifies as "Discontinued Operations" the relevant business lines that were 
sold or otherwise disposed of or which meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale, 
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including, where applicable, assets which, together with the business line, are part of the 
same disposal plan or are classified as held for sale as a result of acquired commitrnents. 
Similarly, companies acquired exclusively with a view to resale are classified as 
"Discontinued Operations". 

These assets or disposal groups are measured at their carrying amount or their fair value 
less costs to sell, whichever is the lower, and depreciation on such assets ceases from the 
time they are classified as "Non-Current Assets Held for Sale". However, at the date of 
each consolidated balance sheet the related value adjustments are made to ensure that the 
carrying amount is not higher than the fair value less costs to sell. 

Non-current assets held for sale and the components of the disposal groups classified as 
held for sale are disclosed on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows: 
the assets as a single line item called "Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations" and the liabilities also as a single line item called "Liabilities Associated with 
Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations". 

Profit or loss after tax of discontinued operations is disclosed as a single line item on the 
consolidated income statement as "Profit/(Loss) after Tax from Discontinued 
Operations". 

There were no discontinued operations at 31 December 2017 and 2016. 

T) Eamings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the period' s net profit attributable to 
the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during said 
period, excluding the average number of shares of the Parent held by the Group 
compames. 

Diluted eamings per share are calculated by dividing the period' s net profit or loss 
attributable to ordinary shareholders adjusted by the effect attributable to the dilutive 
potential ordinary shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period, adjusted by the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would 
have been outstanding if all the potential ordinary shares have been converted into 
ordinary shares of the company. For these purposes, it is considered that the shares are 
converted at the beginning ofthe accounting period or at the date of issue ofthe potential 
ordinary shares, if the latter had been issued during the accounting period. 

U) Consolidated cash flow statement 

The following terms, with the meanings specified, are used on the consolidated statement 
of cash flows, which was prepared using the indirect method: 

Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are taken to be 
changes in the value of short-term, highly liquid investrnents. 

Operating activities: the main revenue-producing activities of the Company and other 
activities that are not investing or financing activities. Beginning with the profit before 
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tax from continuing operations, in addition to the adjustment for "Depreciation and 
Amortisation Charge'', transfers of interest paid and received are recognised under 
"Other Adjustments to Profit (Net)" although on a separate basis, as well as the 
transfer of the gains or losses on disposal of non-current assets included under 
investing activities and, lastly, the adjustments to the results of companies accounted 
for using the equity method and, in general, any results that do not generate cash 
flows. 

Investing actlvlt1es: the acqmslt1on and disposal of long-term assets and other 
investments not included in cash and cash equivalents. 

Financing activities: activities that result in changes in the size and composition of 
equity and ofborrowings that are not operating activities. 

4.3 Accounting estimates and judgements 

The information contained in these financia! statements is the responsibility of the 
Directors ofthe Parent Company. 

For the consolidated financia! statements for 2017 and 2016, estimates were made by the 
Group's Directors in order to measure sorne of the assets, liabilities, income, expenses 
and obligations reported therein. These estimates, the results of which can be found in the 
applicable measurement standards, refer to: 

The measurement of assets and goodwill so as to determine any impairment losses 
thereon. 
Distribution of the cost of business combinations. 
Recognition of revenue in the construction activity. 
The assumptions used in the actuaria! estímate of pens1on liabilities and 
obligations. 
The useful life of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets. 
The assumptions used to measure the fair value of financia! instruments. 
The probability of occurrence and the amount of liabilities of an undetermined 
amount or contingent liabilities. 
Future costs for dismantling facilities and the restoration of land. 
The results for tax purposes of the various Group companies that will be reported 
to the tax authorities in the future, which served as the basis for recognising the 
various corporate tax related balances on the accompanying consolidated financia! 
statements. 

These estimates were made on the basis of the best information available at 31 December 
2017 and 2016 on the events analysed. However, events that may take place in the future 
could make it necessary to change these estimates. Any such changes would be made in 
accordance with the requirements ofIAS 8. 
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4.4 Changes in accounting estimates and policies and correction of fundamental 
errors 

Changes in accounting estimates: the effect of any change in accounting estimates is 
recognised prospectively, under the same income statement heading as that under 
which the expense or income measured using the previous estimate was recognised. 

Changes in accounting policies and correction of fundamental errors. The effects of 
changes and corrections of this kind are recognised as follows: if material, the 
cumulative effect at the beginning of the year is adjusted under "Reserves" and the 
effect for the current year is recognised on the income statement. In these cases, the 
financia} data for the comparative year presented together with those for the current 
year are restated. 

The useful life of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible 
assets with finite useful lives. Based on an analysis using interna! information sources, 
Acciona Group has made a new estimate of the useful life of the subgroup 
Trasmediterránea's cargo vessels, passenger ships and high-speed vessels, increasing 
it from 15 to 25 years for fast ferries and from 20 to 25 years for the rernaining vessels. 
Consequently, the "Depreciation and amortisation charge" in the consolidated income 
statement includes the impact of this change in estímate from 1 January 2017, which 
has resulted in a lower amortisation of 2 mi Ilion euros. 

Except for the change described abo ve, at 31 December 2017 there were no material 
changes in accounting estimates or accounting policies; nor any corrections of errors. 
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5.- Pro~erty2 ~lant and egui~ment 

The changes in financia! years 2017 and 2016 in cost and accumulated depreciation were 
as follows (in thousand euros): 

Property, plant Land and 
Electricity Other plant Advances 

De pre- Jmpair-
aod equipment buildiogs 

generatiog aod aod PPE in Other PPE 
ciation meot 

Total 
facilities macbioery progress 

Balance at 31/12/2015 402,463 11,169,263 1,215,005 125,851 206,214 (4,581,540) (873,069) 7,664,187 

V ariations due to 
changes in the scope of (96) (88,878) 15,207 7,429 (1 ,514) 40,482 4,215 (23, 155) 
consolidation 

Additions I charge for 
5,079 16,272 238,121 446,229 38,363 (476,066) (85 , 185) 182,813 

the year 

Reductions (919) 5,762 (29,592) (3,525) (6,327) 31,481 2,249 (871) 

Transfers 1,425 134,460 22,852 ( 163,385) 2,498 516 (1,634) 

Othcr changes 664 184,873 3,636 1,413 (13,544) (28,054) (4,455) 144,533 

Balance at 31/12/2016 408,616 11,421,752 1,465,229 414,012 225,690 (5,013,181) (956,245) 7,965,873 

Variations due to 
changes in the scope of 150 62,632 38,038 (185) 8,096 (37,995) 286 71,022 
consol idation 

Additions I charge for 
7,358 10,487 139,625 445,089 49,958 (511 ,949) (493) 140,075 

the year 

Reductions (2,416) (8,987) (36,3 88) (5,31 8) (5,025) 40,875 2,941 (14,318) 

Transfers (57,348) (848, 184) (769,869) (381,656) (51, 188) 715,612 161,480 (1,231,153) 

Othcr changes (50) (334,879) ( 19,566) (41,592) (4,884) 94,516 15,285 (291,171) 

Balance at 31112/2017 356,310 10,302,821 817,069 430,350 222,646 (4,712,122) (776,746) 6,640,329 

Breakdown of the net balances at the end of 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Pmprrty. pfa11t 
2017 2l}Jf) 

aad rquipmr11t 

Cast l>qil"ttiatil>n lmpainarat Tata.I Cost DqK'Kialiml lrapai.nntut Total 

Landaral 
356,JIO (153,597) (I#) 262,569 408,616 (152,943) (3,252) 252,421 

huildings 

Electricity 
generating I0,302,821 (3,871,768) (769,443) 5,661,610 11,421,752 (3,827,170) {857,266) 6,737,316 
fucilities 

Otherplaut 204,747 (128,661) (2,545) 73,541 907,568 (507,705) (91,288) 308,575 

Machinet)· 612,312 (415,024) (2,484) 194,814 557,661 (364,144) (2,484) 191,033 

Advances ami 
430,350 (2,091) 428,259 414,012 ( 1,916) 412,096 

PPE in progress 

Other-PPE 222,646 (I·B,072) (39) 79,535 225,690 ( 161,219) (39) 64,432 

TotaJ 12.129.200 (4,712,122) (776.,746) 6.(i40,329 13,935,.299 (5.,1113,181) (956.,245) 7,96Sf,73 

The main movements in PPE in financia! year 201 7 correspond to the transfer of the 
subgroup Trasmediterránea and certain energy assets to "assets classified as held for sale" 
for a net carrying amount of 1.,255 million euros (see Note 32h) and 23)_ 
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The commissioning of the El Romero photovoltaic plant (Chile) and the commissioning 
of a wind farro in India for a combined approximate amount of 380 million euros should 
also be highlighted. These plants are active from March and April 2017 respectively. 

"V ariations for changes in scope" in eludes the addi tion of plant, machinery and other PPE 
within the construction division for acquiring control of the Australian construction 
subgroup "Geotech Holding", and for acquiring the additional 50% of a wind power 
generation facility in Canada (see Note 3). In financia! year 2016, the main movement 
was represented by the wind assets in Greece leaving the scope, in the energy division 
(see note 3.2h)), as it was agreed to deliver said assets in payment for the settlement of an 
existing litigation (see Note 26). 

The main "Additions" in financia! year 2017 correspond to the Trasmediterránea Group's 
acquisition of the "Dimonios" vessel for 54 million euros, ongoing investments in the 
energy division corresponding to power generation facilities in projects in Mexico, India, 
Chile and Australia for approximately 421 million euros, and investments in machinery 
and other PPE to carry out construction projects in Canada, Ecuador, United Arab 
Emirates and Norway. 

In financia! year 2016, the significant "Additions" in PPE are mainly related to the 
development of three wind power generation facilities in the United States and India, and 
photovoltaic generation facilities in Chile for a total amount of 425 miUion euros, in 
addition to investments made in machinery and other PPE in the construction division for 
the construction of a tunnel in Norway, an underground train line in Quito, anda dam in 
Canada for 197 million euros. 

Land located in Poland and ongoing PPE belonging to the real estate business have been 
reclassified under "Inventaries" for an amount of 17 rnillion euros, after the outlined 
strategy on such assets was changed. In financia! year 2016, the main movement in 
"transfers" is related to the transfer of the developments costs of a wind project located 
in the United States, mentioned in the paragraph about "additions", for 135 million euros, 
from PPE in progress to electricity generating facilities. 

In 2017, "Other changes" include the effect of translation differences for the period, for 
a negative amount of 294 million euros (positive 105 mi Ilion euros in 2016), which carne 
mainly from the wind farros located in the United States, Chile and Mexico, whose 
financial statements consolidate in US dollars. This currency depreciated against the euro 
in2017. 

In the course of 2016 there were signs of a drop in value of certain assets, mainly due to 
the fall in the market prices of energy and to regulatory changes in sorne countries where 
the Group operates. Which resulted in the recognition of an impairment for the amount 
of 73 million euros, mostly related to wind facilities located in Italy, Poland and the 
United States. No signs of impairment have been identified during 2017 which have 
pointed to the need to recognise any additional impairment. 

At 31 December 2017, the amount registered for 2017 and for the previous years under 
"impairments" amounted to 777 million euros (956 million euros in 2016) which has 
decreased significantly after reclassífying the Trasmedíterránea Subgroup and certain 
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energy assets as "assets held for sale". The impairment amounts of the assets registered 
at 31 December 201 7 mainly correspond to the energy division, both in the intemational 
area and in respect of Spanish assets. In the case of Spanish assets, it is due to the 
regulatory change that took place in 2012 and 2013 as explained in detail in note 2 relating 
the Spanish regulatory framework. 

In 2017 the companies capitalised finance costs amounting to 4.2 million euros as 
property, plant and equipment, and 6.4 million euros at 31 December 2016 ( see Note 28). 

Fully depreciated property, plant and equipment in use at 31December2017 and 2016 
amounted to 455 and 578 million euros, respectively; most of these assets are currently 
muse. 

At 31December2017, the Group companies had property, plant and equipment purchase 
commitments amounting to 546 million euros, mainly in the energy division, for the wind 
projects currently under construction in Mexico, Australia and Chile. The amount 
committed at 31 December 2016 carne to 62 million euros. 

The Group has insurance policies to cover the possible risks to which its property, plant 
and equipment are exposed, and the claims that might be filed against it in the 
development of its business activities. These policies are considered to provide adequate 
cover for the related risks. 

At 31December2017 the carrying amount ofthe Group's property, plant and equipment 
acquired under the finance lease system amounted to 44 million euros ( 42 million euros 
in 2016); most of this PPE related to machinery for the construction of a dam in Canada, 
as mentioned above. 

At 31 December 201 7 the net carrying amount for material assets used as guarantee for 
finance debts associated with a specific project in the energy division was 2, 163 million 
euros. 

The Group has mortgaged land and buildings coming to a net carrying amount of 18 
million euros (23 million euros in 2016) to secure credit facilities granted to the Group 
by banks. 

6.- Investment property 

The Group' s investment property relates mainly to properties earmarked for lease. 

The changes in 2017 and 2016 in the Group's investment property were as follows: 
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l11vcstmr11t property 

Balance at J 1112/2015 

Additions 

Disposals 

Transfers 

Other changes 

Balance at 31/12/2016 

Additions 

Disposals 

Transfers 

Changes in scope 

Balance at 31/12/2017 

Co.R 

1.1119,701 

3,771 

(87,796) 

( 190,294) 

745,382 

27,947 

(17, 144) 

(48 ,814) 

(430,567) 

276,804 

Tlloesaad reros 

Attnmalatrd 
drprttiatiof.I 

and impairmrnt Total 
losscs 

(344,486) 675,215 

(22,746) ( 18,975) 

42,396 (45,400) 

9 1,048 (99,246) 

(233,788) 511,594 

(7,729) 20,2 18 

16,754 (390) 

28,308 (20,506) 

96,408 (334, 159) 

(100,047) 176,757 

The most significant changes in financia! year 2017 correspond to: 

- The additions are mainly due to the acquisition of Iand in Spain to be used for offices. 

- Certain assets have been transferred following the change in management strategy for 
the Group's rental assets which started in 2016 and through which the possible rotation 
of the assets is considered on the one hand, and assets with better potential to generate 
added value for the Group are developed on the other hand; these assets mainly 
correspond to the reclassification of land from property investments to inventories due to 
their change in use for a gross amount of 48 mili ion euros ( 148 million euros in 2016) 
anda net impairment value of 20.5 rnillion euros (73 rnillion euros in 2016). 

- The change in scope through which Acciona Real Estate, a company 100% owned by 
the Group, provided Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A. with a package of rental assets by 
contributing its share in the companies Cía. Urbanizadora del Coto, S.L. and Valgrand 6, 
S.A.U., as well as 44 homes located in Lleida, in exchange for newly issued shares of 
Testa representing 21.02% of the resulting capital after the increase (see Note 3.2.h), and 
which involves net real estate assets of 336 million euros leaving the scope. 

In 2016, the sale of a shopping centre andan office building located in Madrid, along 
with a hotel in Barcelona should be highlighted, for a total price of 67, 150 thousand euros 
and ajoint result for disposal of 6,711 thousand euros (see Note 26). 

At 31 December 2017, the fair market value of the assets recorded under this line ítem 
estimated on the basis of the valuations made by independent appraisers (see note 4.2. E) 
carne to 196,944 thousand euros (547,658 thousand euros at 31December2016). The fall 
in value in 2017 compared to 2016 was mainly due to the sale of assets indicated above 
(with an appraised value of 346,820 thousand euros at 31 December 2016) and, to the 
transfer to "Inventories" of a plot of land (with an appraised value of 20,500 thousand 
euros at 31 December 2016). If these two impacts were to be considered, the appraised 
value in 2016 if compared to 2017 would amount to 180,338 thousand euros. 

The rental income earned by the Group from investment property listed under this heading 
at 31 December 2017, aJI of which was Jeased out under operating ]eases, amounted to 20 
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million euros (28 million euros in 2016). Direct operating expenses ansmg from 
investment property in the period amounted to 9 million euros (10 million euros in 2016), 
recognised under "Other Operating Expenses" on the accompanying consolidated income 
statement. 

At 31 December 2017 the Group had mortgaged a portian of its investment property 
included under this heading for a net carrying amount of 41 million euros (367 million 
euros at 31 December 2016) to secure various loans and credit lines granted to the Group. 
The decrease was mainly due to the contributions of the already mentioned real estate 
investments to Testa Residencial, which at December 2016 hada carrying amount of 330 
million euros. 

Detail by location of the cost of the properties held to eam rentals assigned to the Real 
Estate Division of the Acciona Group at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Location 2017 2016 

Cost 
Dcpreciation 

Cost 
Depreciation 

and provisions and provisions 

Madrid 116,366 (29,923) 520,664 (127,784) 

The Levant Region 21 ,772 {7,773) 24,147 (9,185) 

Andalusia 16,220 (9,575) 16,000 (9,045) 

Catalonia 64,750 (30,093) 125,781 (61 ,888) 

Other 55,251 (22,781) 56,345 (25,013) 

Total 274,359 (99,145) 742,937 (232,915) 

7. - Goodwill 

The movements in "Goodwill" on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in 2016 
were as follows (in thousand eUTos ): 

Acciona Facility Services subgroup 

Acciona Agua subgroup 

Olhers 

Total 

llal;aiur at 
3 1/12/2015 

50,962 

27,976 

358 

79.2% 

Additious lmpaimttet 

(12) 

(12) 

Ralancr at 
31/1212016 

50,962 

27,976 

346 

79,284 

The movements in "Goodwill" on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in 201 7 
were as follows (in thousand euros): 

Balaiatt at 
Additions Impairmrnt 

Otbn" Balanceat 
3111212016 d1angrs 3111212017 

Subgroup Geotech Holding 117,207 (10,860) 106,347 

Acciona Facility SeTvicessubgroup 50,962 50,962 

Acciona Agua subgroup 27,976 27,976 

Otht:JS 346 19 366 

Total 79.,284 117.,207 (16,Ml) 185,650 
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Recognition of total goodwill amounting 117 mili ion euros for the construction division 
following the acquisition of the Australian construction subgroup "Geotech Holding" in 
March 2017 (see Note 3) should be noted. 

At 31 December 2017, negative trans1ation differences under this heading have been 
registered amounting to approximately 11 million euros, mainly due to Australian dollar 
exchange rate fluctuations. 

In 2017, the update of the impairrnent tests, according to the method described in note 4.2 
E) carried out for the Acciona Facility Services and Acciona Agua subgroups did not 
show the need to record additional impairment. 

The W ACC rates after tax that were applied were: 6.93% for the Acciona Facility 
Services subgroup and 5.90% for the Acciona Agua subgroup. 

The growth rate employed by the subgroups to extrapolate the cash flow projections 
beyond the five-year period covered by the forecasts was 1.50%. 

A sensitivity test was carried out, particularly in relation to the operating margin, the 
discount rate and the perpetuity growth rate, in order to ensure than possible changes in 
the estimation did not have an impact on the possible recovery of the goodwill registered. 
The outcome of these sensitivity tests indicated that, decreases of 75 basis points in the 
growth rate applied, increases in the discount rate of up to 40 basis points and 15% 
reductions in the net operating margin, these assumptions being considered jointly, do not 
change the outcome of the impairment test, that is, no goodwill impairment is shown. 

At the close of the financia! year, the calculation of the goodwill generated in the 
acquisition of the Subgroup Geotech Holding was updated, which did not revea! any 
significant changes to the assumptions used in the initial model. 

The Acciona Group applies the acquisition method to account for any and all additions to 
the Group that involve the acquisition of a controlling interest. 

There were no further additions to the group in 2016 and 2017 that led to recognition of 
goodwill different than the one described above. 
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8. - Other intangible assets 

The changes in 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousand euros): 

Oth« int.agib!r 
Dn·ckpmmt Co~llS OtHn 

Co.p:atcr 
Al!h·aous 

A«tialatnl 
pain:nmt Total 

:llssds sollware amortisatiou 

Babuceat 
58.,IUI 789.,846 1.,lU 57,.813 4,982 (308.,040) (95.,588) 588,484 

Jl/1212015 

Variations dne lo 
changes in the scope 
of consolidaiion (8,065) l ,052,866 (207) (55,423) 1,608 990,779 

Additions I d1arge for 
tbe rear 3,<»6 50',342 no 6,00!! I,285 (63,519) (31,926} (34,148) 

Removals (64) (607) (561) (305) 780 22 (735) 

Transfers l,473 (573} l3 403 (37) (47} 1,232 

Other changes 34 37,232 (23) 5 94 (5,996) 31 ,346 

Balance at 
54,464 1,929,606 1,451 63,467 6,019 (432,245) (125,804) 1,496,958 

31/12/2016 

Variations due to 
changes in the scope 
of consolidation 141 271,564 13,827 152 (99,547) 186, 137 

Additions I charge for 
the year 1,279 28,936 31 ,322 6,485 9,821 (83,680) (13,110) (18,948) 

Removals (3,687) (1 ,374) (6) 2,096 (2 ,971) 

Transfers (2,282) (93 ,791) (11) ( 15,088) (1 ,395) 44,231 16,556 (51 ,880) 

Other changes (293) (39,906) ( 1,242) (62) 6,758 1,471 (33,274) 

Balance at 
53,309 2,092,622 45,347 53,580 14,439 (562,388) (120,887) 1,576,022 

31112/2017 

Breakdown of the net balances at the end of 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Intangible assets 2017 2016 

Cost Amortisation lmpairment Total Cost Amortisation lmpairmcnt Total 

Development 53,309 (49,894) 3,415 54,465 (47,937) 6,528 

Concess ions 2,092,622 (455,050) ( 120,854) 1,516,718 1,929,606 (331 ,388) (125,771) 1,472,447 

Transfer rights 3, 142 (745) (33) 2,364 1,450 (657) (3 3) 760 

Computer 
53,580 (41,396) 12,184 63,467 (52,263) 11,204 software 

Other intangible 
42,205 ( 15,303) 26,902 assets 

Ad vanees 14,439 14,439 6,019 6,019 

Total 2,259,297 (562,388) (120,887) 1,576,022 2,055,007 (432,245) (125,804) 1,496,958 

The "Concessions" line mainly includes those concess1on assets where the risk of 
recovering the asset is assumed by the operator. 

In addition, it includes the cost of the administrative concessions and the levies paid by 
Acciona Agua for concessions related to the integral water cycle. 
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Breakdown ofthe concessions and advances line at 31December2017 and 2016 was as 
follows: 

Concessions 2017 2016 

Cost 
Amortisatio lmpairmen 

Total Cost 
Amortisatio lmpairmen 

Total 
t t n n 

Admin istrativ 
293,454 ( 109,300) ( 16,199) 167,955 380,359 ( 128,524) (34, 11 6) 2 17,7 19 

e Concessions 

Intangible 
1,806,06 1,355,65 

Concessions 
4 

(345, 750) (104,655) 
9 

1,549,247 (202,864) (91 ,655) 1,254,728 
(IFRIC 12) 

Administrativ 
e concess ion 3,358 3,358 356 356 
ad vanees 

IFRIC 12 
5,663 5,663 

advances 11 ,08 1 11 ,08 1 

Tota l 
2,107,06 

(455,050) (120,854) 
l ,531 ,15 

1,935,625 (331 ,388) (125,77 1) 1,478,466 
1 7 

The breakdown of the main concessions is given in Appendix V (SIC 29) and the detail 
of the balance of the main concessions under the intangible model (IFRIC 12) at 31 
December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Concessions 2017 2016 

Cost (*) Amortisation 
lmpair-

Total Cost (*) Amortisation 
lmpair-

Total 
mcn t mcnt 

Rodovia do At;o, S.A . 142,900 (27,331) ( 101 ,550) 14,019 156,053 (27, 182) (88,550) 40,321 

S.C. A2 Tramo 2, S.A. 148,564 (58,292) (3 , 104) 87, 167 148,532 (48,6 14) (3 , 104) 96,814 

Consorcio Eólico Chiripa, S.A. 104,075 (19,120) 84,955 118,344 (15,389) 102,955 

Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A. 271 ,711 (105, 107) 166,603 

Atll Concess ionaria de la 
1,06 1,3 19 ( 103,67 1) 957,658 1,055, 196 (82,662) 972,534 

Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. 

(*) lncludes the amounts of the ad.vanees associated with the concessions. 

The main intangible from this company (registered according to IFRIC 12, intangible 
assets model, given that the concession carries the demand risk) relates to the current 
value of the assets assigned by the Catalan Government according to the concession 
arrangement subscribed between the concessionaire A TLL and the Catalan Government 
after the award signed on 6 November 2012 and which, at 31 December 2017, amounted 
to a net value for amortisation of 958 million euros (973 million euros at 31 December 
201 6), 816 million of which are pending payment at this date (792 million euros at 31 
December 2016) (see Note 21). 

At 31 December 2017 the main '"additions" in this heading corresponded to the 
investment arising from the obligations nndertaken by A TLL Concessionária de la 
Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A., the addition of the Brazilian concession Rodovía Do Ac;o 
and payment ofthe initial fee for a water supply concession awarded in Mexico. 

"V ariation for changes in scope" includes the acquisition of 50% of the concessionaire 
Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A., through which its entire equity is consolidated following 
the fully consolidated method and the concession is consolidated according to the 
intangible method in IFRIC 12 for a net amount of 172 million euros. Also worth 
mentioning is the consolidation of intangible assets from the Subgroup Geotech Holding 
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acquired in 2017 and recognition of the PP A assigned to the Australian construction 
subgroup's portfolio ofworks under "other intangible assets" for 13.8 million euros (see 
Note 3). 

After the El Romero photovoltaic plant in Chile was commissioned in March 2017, the 
operating rights acquired at the beginning of the project and recorded under 
"Concessions" were "transferred" to "Property, plant and equipment" for a net carrying 
amount of 27 million euros. A transfer was also made to "Non-current assets held for 
sale" for a net carrying amount of 21 million euros associated to the Trasmediterranea 
Subgroup. 

In financia! year 2017, "Other changes" includes the effect of translation differences in 
the period for a negative amount of 33 million euros, mainly related to the Brazilian real 
and the US do llar (positive amount of 31 million euros in 2016). 

In 2017, the Group has recognised an additional impairment of 13 million euros after 
additional signs of a drop in its value were shown, mainly due to a drop in the expected 
revenue derived from increased rates and from the worsening of the country' s 
macroeconomic conditions. As a result, the impairment test was updated, as indicated in 
note 3 .2 E) on the basis of the projection of cash flows estimated after covering the debt 
service. The discount rate used incorporates the country risk based on the average yield 
of a 10-year USA bond over the last 1 O years, to which a risk premium is added according 
to the conditions of the country and corrected by the average leverage from comparable 
companies (leveraged beta), and increased by the difference in the CPI between USA and 
Brazil, the cost of own capital standing at 11.5%. The impairment calculated amounted 
to 13 million euros (30 million euros in 2016), which was recorded under the heading 
"impairment and profit/(loss) from disposal of assets" on the accompanying income 
statement (see Note 26). 

After carrying out a sensitivity analysis on the main model assumptions, it is expected 
that there will be an additional impact of 7 .9 million and a reduction of 9 .4 million on the 
accumulated impairment at the end of the year when faced with changes in the discount 
rate of +/- 1.25%. 

In the same way, increases in traffic of 10% would be expected to lead to a reduction in 
the impact of the 24.9 million impairment, and an increase in the deterioration of 25.8 
million. 

As regards the other intangible assets, in 201 7 no impairment was estimated, and no 
significant losses appeared that were not covered with the provisions in place at 31 
December 2017. 

At 31 December 201 7, Group companies had commitments to acquire intangible assets 
in the amount of 126 million euros, for concession projects in the infrastructure 
construction division (motorways) and in the water division. At 31 December 2016, the 
amount committed carne to 172 million euros. 

Additionally, ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A., in accordance 
with the concession contract, maintains the obligation to carry out infrastructure 
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improvements in water tightness and structures, as well as technical and safety 
adjustments within 10 years from the signing of the contract for a total amount of 139 
million euros at 31 December 2017. These commitments are treated, from an accounting 
perspective, as a new concession and the consideration must be recorded received as 
intangible assets in the year in which these actions are carried out; it is considered that 
these amounts will be recovered in the amount of 122 million euros with the generation 
of higher revenues, by increasing the rate in the year immediately following the year when 
such investrnents are made. In financia) years 2013 to 2017, the Company has made 
investments amounting to 28,617 thousand euros (6,133 thousand euros in 2017 and 
22,484 thousand euros in previous years). 

Fully amortised intangible assets in use at 31 December 2017 and 2016 amounted to 88 
and 90 million euros, respectively. 

9.- Investments in associates and joint arrangements booked by the equity 
method 

The movement in 2016 in this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet 
was as follows (in thousand euros): 

lblaatt at Sltarc:ia Dñ-i«knd TaxdfttlHd Chaggcsin Balance: at 
Dirttl i11nstmnts af die: Parnt C-p1111y 31!11l l5 prefit (1885) edln"~ ~& 31/12116 

btforc:tu otlac:r 
and 

impairmnt 

Direct investments of the Parent Company 

Consorcio Traza, S.A. 5,602 160 (396) 5,366 

Gran Hospital Can Misses, S.A. 1,964 (120) (322) 1,522 

Novo Hospital De Vigo S.A. 11 ,975 678 (408) 229 12,474 

Nordex S.E. 28,954 ( 10,039) 753 ,942 772,857 

Total direct investment 19,541 29,672 (11,165) 754,171 792,219 

Jndirect investments ofthe Parent Company 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Energy 
142,865 17,791 (5,723) (1 ,713) 12,646 165,866 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Ceatesalas Subgroup 84,939 (212) ( 1,906) 824 (601) 83,044 

Jndirect investments ofthe Acciona Construction 
22,814 6,190 (2,282) 2,810 29,532 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Concessions 
12,704 934 (460) 479 3, 124 16,781 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Water 
107,547 14,056 (5 ,616) (4,004) (43, 103) 68,880 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Property 
17,800 1,269 440 ( 16,077) 3,432 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona 
110 106 (4) (30) 182 

Trasmediterránea Subgroup 

Other indirect investments 794 (236) 172 155 885 

Total indirect investments 389,573 39,898 (13,709) (6,114) (41,046) 368,602 

Total 409,114 69,570 (13,709) (17,279) 713,125 1,160,821 

(*) lndirect lnvestments ofthe Acciona Water Subgroup included the concessionaire ATLL, which contributed a value on application 
of the equity method of 52, 123 thousand euros. 

Nº. '10009 

---------··-----·· 



TRANSLATION 

The movement in 2017 in this heading on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet 
'ó\ras as follows (in thousand euros): 

~at S!uirrm Dnidmd T .111 elJttt a.9d Cbr.tgnm Balance at 
Direct üav~ols of lhe Pareot Compaay 31112116 profit (&oss} o&herdt~ scope& 

before tax other 

Dired iavaúllftlls af die Pant1t C pa.ay 

Conson:io Tram, S.A 5,366 (l.345) 873 

Gran Hospital Can Misses, S.A 1,522 (168) 1,135 (2,489) 

Novo~ De Vigo S.A. 12,474 2,123 (556) (14,Ml) 

NordexS.E. 772,857 (141,811) (8,437) 

Total direct iuvrstmmt 792,219 (141.291) (6.,985) (16.,530) 

lndirect investments of the Parent Compa11y 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Energy 
165,866 40,069 ( 12,159) (10,376) 9,221 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Ceatesalas Subgroup 83,044 7,871 ( 1,276) ( 1.447) 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Construction 
29,532 7,404 (860) (99) 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Concess ions 
16,781 2, 163 (395) ( 1,9 12 ) 16,530 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments of the Acciona Water 
68,880 14,853 (4. 141 ) ( 13,901) 9,844 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona Property 
3,432 ( 1,437) ( 1o1) 335,527 

Subgroup 

lndirect investments ofthe Acciona 
182 23 (5) (200) 

Trasmediterránea Subgroup 

Other indirect investments 885 749 (170) (375) (1 74) 

Total indirect investments 368,602 71,695 (18,146) (29,172) 370,849 

Tota l 1,160,821 (69,506) (18,146) (36,157) 354,319 

The Acciona Group's interests in associates are detailed in Appendix III to these notes to 
the consolidated financia! statements. 

When the Group's investments in associates, mainly certain toll road concession 
operators, which are consolidated by application of the equity method, are reduced to 
zero, and where there could be implicit obligations exceeding the contributions made, the 
losses or equity decreases are recognised under "Non-Current Liabilities - Provisions" on 
the consolidated balance sheet (see Note 17). In these cases, the loss is recognised under 
"Other Gains or Losses" instead of"Profit/(Loss) of Companies Accounted for Using the 
Equity Method". 

Of note in financia! year 2017 is the addition of the investment in Testa Residencial 
SOCIMI, S.A. which corresponds to 21.02% ofthe company's capital after the non-cash 
contribution of shares and assets that was carried out on 27 July 2017 as cited in note 
3.2.h, which has been initially valued at 336 million euros and which amounts to 335 
million euros at the end of 201 7. 

In December 2017, Acciona S.A. sold a group of concession companies to Acciona 
Concesiones S.L., a company belonging to the Group and the effect of which is reflected 
under "changes in scope and others". 
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Regarding the investments in Nordex, a company whose shares are traded on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange, the decline in the share price experienced in recent months 
has always been considered by the Group Management asan event that did not necessarily 
constitute a deterioration in the intrinsic value of the business nor of its medium or long 
term financia} return, as the share in Nordex is a strategic investment for the Acciona 
Group that aims to achieve synergies while maintaining a relevant position in the wind 
generation value chain. On the other hand, there is no doubt that the share price has been 
dragged by the markets' disproportionate reactions to one-off events that, on the other 
hand, have a broad impact on the sector. 

However, the share price being at a level significantly below its carrying amount for a 
prolonged period of time, along with a downward re-estimation of the forecasts recently 
announced by the company, has been regarded as a sign of impairment. Therefore, the 
Acciona Group has carried out an impairment test to check whether the value of the 
investment in use has dropped below its carrying amount. The result of the test is that the 
value in use amounts to 623 million euros at 31 December 201 7, and hence the Group has 
an impairment of 145 million euros to align the investment value until it reaches the 623 
million euros indicated above. 

The methodology for calculating the value in use is described in note 3.2.E), i.e. , through 
discounting the cash flows (W ACC) at a rate which considers the risks inherent to the 
company' s business as well as the different markets in which it operates. A cash flow 
projection tbat covers a period of five years (2018-2022) has been calculated for this 
discount operation along with a terminal value that represents the value of the future cash 
flow from the sixth year and which has been determined based on a standard cash flow 
estímate. The cash flow projection has been based on the estimates that the Nordex' s 
management team has made public, and on indicators obtained from externa} sources 
specialised in the sector, producing results that are consistent with the historical evolution 
of the entity. 

With regard to the growth of sales used for the standard period, which serves as a basis 
to calculate the terminal value ("g" parameter), a 1.5% growth has been estimated, despite 
the existence of growth prospects in the sector in which Nordex operates that support 
greater growth, among other reasons, due to the growing need for the replacement of 
conventional energies. However, given the uncertainty associated with projections for 
such large periods, it has been considered that 1.5% is a reasonable growth rate. 

F or the discounted cash flows, an after-tax W ACC rate of 7 .2% has been considered. 

Also, in order to strengthen the consistency and reasonableness of the test, sensitivity 
analyses have been performed on changes reasonably expected to occur in the main 
hypotheses. Thus, a variation of +/- 50 basis points in the WACC would produce an 
additional impact on the impairment amount of +58 and -69 million euros, anda variation 
of +/- 50 basis points in the sales growth rate in the standard period ("g") would result in 
an additional impact on the impairment arnount of -56 and +4 7 million euros. 

The most significant movements in financia! year 2016 are explained by the takeover of 
ATLL, explained in note 3.2 h), as well as by the acquisition of 29.9% of Nordex S.E. 
also expJained in note 3 above. 
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"Tax effect and other changes" reflects, in addition to the tax effect of the year's result, 
the variations due to derivatives, translation differences and the effect of transfers to non­
current liabilities of values that tum out to be negative upon application of the equity 
method. 

At 31 December 2017, the heading "Tax effect and other changes" mainly includes a 
negative amount of 22 million euros corresponding to the tax effect, a negative amount 
of 13 million euros dueto translation differences, and a positive amount of 3 million euros 
due to the variation of derivatives. 

The table below shows, in proportion to the share percentage in the capital of each of the 
associates included under this heading, the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss 
for 2017 (the figures related to associates with an equity deficit, recognised on the liability 
side of the consolidated balance sheet, are detailed in Note 17): 

Energy Construction Water Services 
Other Total 2017 

Businesses 

Assets 

Non-curren! assets 1,262,042 379,438 116,867 438 452,504 2,211 ,289 

Curren! assets 556,256 l 19,104 83,998 6,123 19,346 784,827 

Total assets 1,818,298 498,542 200,865 6,561 471,850 2,996,116 

Liabilities 

Equity 903,423 74,140 75,537 809 337,422 1,391 ,331 

Non-current liabilities 509,198 346,06 l 81 ,393 187 130,354 1,067,193 

Curren! liabilities 405,677 78,341 43,935 5,565 4,074 537,592 

Total cquity and liabilities 1,818,298 498,542 200,865 6,561 471,850 2,996,116 

Profitl(Loss) 

Net revenue 1,048,796 90,210 74,899 17,914 8,055 1,239,874 

Profit before tax from 
(93,871) 9,994 14,853 932 (1,414) (69,506) 

continuing operations 

l'rofitl(Loss) before tax (93,871 ) 9,994 14,853 932 (1 ,414) (69,506) 

None of the associates are individually significant for the Group except for Nordex, S.E., 
(29.9%) and Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A. (21.02%); all the main key figures ofthese 
investments based on the latest available information are detailed below. 
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a) Nordex, SE: 

The breakdown of the financia} information relating to the investee is as follows: 

Assets Nordex (*) 

Non-curren! assets 1,245,760 

Curren! assets 1,586,239 

Total assets 2,831,999 

Equity and Liabilities 

Shareholders ' equity 956,040 

Value adjustments (1,704) 

Equily 954,336 

Non-current liabilities 789,072 

Current liabilities 1,088,591 

Total equity and liabilities 2,831,999 

(*) Corresponds lo /he las/ periodic p11blic informa/ion iss11ed by Nordex, S.E. on the Frankjio·/ s/ock exchange on 30 Seplember 2017. 

Reconciliation of the consolidated profit/(loss) of the investee is detailed below: 

Nordcx 

Profit 

Nd 
beforctax 

Pnifif/(Loss) 
Prolit/(Ll>lls) from 

ra-caac 
contiaa~ 

aftrr tax 

actiritics 

f'inancial statements of investees (*) 2,319,466 43,654 27,902 

% Share 29.9% 

Attributed result 13,053 8,343 

Adjustments (**) (9,864) (7,435) 

lmpairment ofvalue on applying equity 
( 145,000) (145,000) 

rnethod 

Profit/(loss) accounted for using the 
(141,8 11) (144,093) 

equity method 

(*) Co/'/'esponds lo the last periodic pub/ic itiformation issued by Nordex, S.E. on lhe Fran/ifurl stock exchange on 30 Seplember 2017. 
(**) Correspond lo the valualion homogenisation adjustments as well as /he eslimale of lhe profill(loss) from the fourth quar/er of 
2017. 
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b) Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A.: 

The breakdown of the financia! information relating to the investee is as follows: 

Assets Testa 

Non-curren! assets 2,176,205 

Curren! assets 72,592 

Total assets 2,248,797 

Equity and Liabilities 

Equity 1,534,247 

Non-curren! 1 iabil ities 591,940 

Curren! liabilities 122,610 

Total equity and liabilities 2,248,797 

Reconciliation of the consolidated profit/(loss) of the investee is detailed below: 

Profitl(Loss) 

Firumcial statements of investees 

% Share 

Adjus1ments 

Profit/(Joss) accounted for using the 
equity method 

10. - Interests in joint operations 

Nd 
n:vtnue 

52,943 

T rsbt 

Profit 
befon: tax 

Profit/(Loss) 
from 

eootia11i.Bg 
after tax 

ac:üviürs 

(5,1 20) (5,415) 

2 1.02% 

(l,076) (l,138) 

24 !19 

(1,052 ) (1,01 9) 

The Acciona Group's interests in joint operations are explained in Appendix JI to these 
Notes to the consolidated financia! statements. The most significant amounts included in 
the consolidated financia! statements, in relation to these interests, at 31 December 201 7 
are summarised as follows: 

2017 2016 

Companies Joint operations Companies Joint operations 

Net revenue 163,400 1,336,740 110,319 843,948 

Gross profit/(loss) !Tom operations 4,339 148,097 8,138 115,314 

Profit/(loss) from operations 3,696 119,387 4,243 85,399 

Non-curren! assets 17,038 266,357 62,262 272,875 

Current assets 110,817 922,410 96,099 1,006,320 

Non-current liabilities 3,380 300,447 6,553 397,504 

Curren! liabilities 99,596 857,899 88,060 900,948 
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There are no stakeholdings in joint operations that are material for the Group. 

11. - Other current and non-current financial assets 

Breakdown of the balance for this chapter on the consolidated balance sheet was as 
follows: 

2017 2016 

Non-current Current Non-current Current 

Available-for-sale financia! assets 25,902 28,526 20 

lmpairment of available-for-sale financia! assets (10,530) ( 11 ,032) 

Financia! derivatives at fair value (Note 20) o 8,225 7,811 6,668 

Deposits and guarantees 10,460 34,492 15,954 23,845 

Other deposits 166,499 165,531 

Other loans 111 ,946 37,895 142,067 15,397 

!mpairment of other loans (5 ,855) ( 123) (4,246) (238) 

Net Total 131,923 246,988 179,080 211,223 

Available-for-sale financia! assets 

In 2017 there were no significant changes in "Available-for-Sale Financia} Assets". 

Other deposits 

This heading relates basically to the funds allocated to the debt service reserve accounts 
by the energy division for the projects under way as required by Project Finance clauses 
in force to secure compliance with the payment obligations. There were no significant 
changes in 2017. 

Other loans 

This line is related mainly to loans granted to companies consolidated by applying the 
equity method. 

12. - Non-current receivables and other non-current assets 

Breakdown of this heading at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Non-current operating receivables 

Non-curren! prepayments and accrued income 

Concessions under the non-current financia! asset model 

Total non-curren! receivables and other non-curren! assets 

31.12.2017 

132,283 

32,375 

112,592 

277,250 

31.12.2016 

145,079 

27,345 

120,977 

293,401 
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"Non-Current Operating Receivables" includes mainly client balances and other trade 
receivables generated by operating activities maturing at over one year and also the 
retentions that are customary in the construction business. In addition, it includes the 
amount of 66,614 thousand euros (53,428 thousand euros at 31 December 2016) related 
to the fair value of a non-financing derivative engaged by a Chilean subsidiary within the 
energy Division to supply energy to a clientas from 2017 atan inflacted fixed price for 
13 and a half years. 

"Non-current prepayments and accrued income" includes the amount of 14,571 thousand 
euros (16,259 thousand euros at 31 December 2016) related to the initial value of an 
energy contract entered into, in December 2015, by a subsidiary in the United States, to 
supply a specific amount of energy for a term of 13 years. 

"Concessions under the Non-Current Financia! Asset Model" includes the balance 
receivable to more than one year for concessions which, in accordance with IFRIC 12, 
were treated as financia! assets, since there was an unconditional collection right on the 
investment made to date. The current portion of this unconditional collection right was 
recognised under "Trade and Other Receivables" based on the collections expected to be 
made by the grantors of the concessions under the various economic and financia! plans. 
At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the balance reclassified to short term in the "Concessions 
under the Current Financial Asset Model" under the heading "Trade and Other 
Receivables" for the amount expected to be collected by the granting entities in the next 
twelve months carne to 14,573 and 16,232 thousand euros, respectively (see Note 14). 

Breakdown, by division, of"Concessions under the Non-Current Financia! Asset Model" 
was as follows: 

lnfrastructure division 

Water division 

Total 

31.12.2017 

112,211 

381 

112,592 

31.12.2016 

118,441 

2,536 

120,977 

The main concession projects included in the infrastructure division relate to hospitals 
and motorways, and those in the water division relate to the integral water cycle and are 
detailed in Appendix V. Breakdown of the balance of the main concessions under the 
financia! model at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

S.C. Hospital del Norte, S.A. 79,301 82,285 

Hospital De Leon Bajio, S.A. De C.V. 32,910 36, 156 

At 31 December 201 7 and 2016, the Group companies had no commitments to acquire 
concession assets under the financial asset model in any significant amount. 

13. - Inventories 
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Detail of the Group's inventories at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows (in 
thousand euros): 
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Real Estate 

Raw materials, othcr procurements and trade inventories 

Land 

Property developments in progress 

Property developments completed 

Advances paid 

lmpairment 

Total real estate 

Other inventories 

Raw materials, other procurements and trade inventories 

Work in progress and half-finished goods 

Finished goods 

Assets received in payment of loans 

Land 

Advances paid 

lmpairment 

Total other inventories 

Total inventories 

2017 

65 

734,044 

140, 128 

22,333 

485 

(444,859) 

452,196 

2017 

229,260 

35,951 

3,713 

12,477 

8,110 

112, 132 

(32,873) 

368,769 

820,965 

2016 

62 

705,516 

73,203 

49,085 

492 

(454,515) 

373,843 

2016 

218,103 

34,167 

3,418 

15,328 

8,116 

162,672 

(32,922) 

408,882 

782,725 

The main movement in 2017 related to the reclassification of several plots of land from 
property investments and PPE to inventaries, for the gross amount of 68 million euros 
(37 million euros net in impairment), dueto their change in use according to the Group's 
new strategy in order to optimise the value, realisation and liquidity of property assets 
(see Note 6). 

Also, plots of land located in Spain and Mexico for a total amount of 79 million euros 
were acquired in 201 7, land mainly located in Poland has been sold for a gross amount of 
74 million euros (50 million euros net of impairment) and land amounting to 45 mili ion 
euros has been transferred to work in progress. 

In 2017 the Group has reduced the impairment provision for certain property assets in 
inventaries in 5 million euros, as their carrying amount is less than their recoverable 
amount on the basis of the valuations made at 31 December 201 7 by independent 
appraisers not related to the Acciona Group. 

Based on these valuations performed by Savills Consultores Inmobiliarios, S.A. and CB 
Richard Ellis, S.A., the Group's property inventaries have an estimated value of 497 
million euros. These valuations incorporated the distortions and uncertainties currently 
persisting in the real estate market and carne up when taking into consideration the 
Group's current strategies in relation to the property division in terms of realisation and 
liquidity. 

At 31 December 201 7 and 2016 the net carrying amounts of mortgaged inventaries were 
6,367 and 14,558 thousand euros respectively, and related mostly to property 
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developments completed in 2017 and 2016. The decrease was mainly due to the sale of 
as sets. 

At 31 December 201 7 there is a firm commitment to purchase a plot of land in Madrid 
for an amount of 3 mi Ilion euros. 

Property development sales comrnitments to clients at 31 December 2017 and 2016 
amounted to 100,613 and 12,152 thousand euros, respectively. From the balance at 31 
December 2017, the amount of21,010 thousand euros was instrumented in notes and bilis 
receivable, the balancing entry of which was recorded under "Current Trade and Other 
Payables" on the liability side of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet until the 
date of delivery (3,790 thousand euros at 31December2016). 

14. - Trade and other receivables 

Detail of "Trade and Other Receivables" at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as 
follows: 

2017 2016 

Trade receivables 1, 166,241 1,132,3 11 

Doubt-ful trade receiva bles 41 ,673 68,098 

Amounts to be billed for work performed 757,213 619, 130 

Total trade receivables for sales and services 1,965,127 1,819,539 

Receivable rrom associates 58,216 92,027 

Sundry accounts receivable 173,259 165,874 

Curren! concessions under the financia! asset model (Note 12) 14,573 16,232 

Provisions (319,282) (370,014) 

Total trade and other receivables 1,891,893 1,723,658 

Advances rrom clients (Note 36) (658,402) (944,048) 

Total net balance at 31 l>ecember 1,233,491 779,610 

In 2017, the balance of "advances from clients" has reduced, mainly as a result of the 
progress of the works in the construction division, the most notable ones being those 
developed in Australia, Norway and Ecuador, as well as 2 desalination projects in Qatar 
in the water division that are in the final stages. 

In the opposite sense, the most important advances received correspond to works 
developed in Chile and Dubai. 
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Break:down, by business activity, of the balance of trade receivables for sales and 
services, net of client advances, was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Energy 688,713 682,938 

lnfrastrncture construction 699,076 198,582 

Water 221 ,455 176,300 

Services 209,590 195,902 

Other business activities 100,493 176,377 

lntra-Group transactions (685,836) (650,489) 

Total net balance at 31 December 1,233,491 779,610 

Breakdown relating to the construction business was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Progress billings receivable 577,411 543 ,189 

Amounts to be billed for work performed 708,473 574,234 

Sundry accounts receivable 189,002 166,024 

Provisions (259,744) (287,030) 

Total constructioo trade rcccivables 1,215,142 996,417 

Ad vanees from el ients (571 ,581) (839,303) 

Total oet balance at 31 December 643,561 157,114 

Breakdown, by type of client, of the net balance of construction trade receivables was as 
follows: 

2017 2016 

Central Government 34,509 34,981 

Regional Governments 40,524 29,768 

Local Governments 7,049 7,999 

Other 93,817 74,007 

Pub! ic-sector subtotal 175,899 146,755 

Private-sector subtotal 66,719 101 ,887 

Total Spanish clients 242,618 248,642 

Total foreign clients 972,524 747,775 

Break:down, by age, of receivables from clients was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Age up to 3 months by date ofinvoice 747,324 750,809 

Age between 3 and 6 months by date of invoice 29,014 43,389 

Age over 6 months by date ofinvoice 389,903 338J 13 

Total 1,166,241 1,132,311 

lnvoices past due by more than 3 months and not 
214,025 180,307 

provisioned 
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The movement in provisions for losses due to impairment in the value of receivables at 
31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Openiog balance 

lncrease in prov ision for impairment ofaccounts rece ivable 

Accounts receivable de-registered as impossible to collect 

Reversion of amounts not used 

Transfer to Non-curren! assets held for sale (note 23) 

Reclassifications and other minor adjustments 

Closing balance 

15. - Cash and cash equivalents 

2017 

(370,014) 

(26,696) 

27,880 

9,889 

27,147 

12,512 

(319,282) 

2016 

(352,469) 

(36,273) 

9,6 10 

6, 166 

2,952 

(370,014) 

Detail of "Cash and Cash Equivalents" at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Cash 

Deposits and other 

Tota l cash and cash cquivalcnts 

2017 

909,851 

362,930 

1,272,781 

2016 

1, 116,858 

3 11 ,461 

1,428,319 

"Cash and Cash Equivalents" includes mainly the Group' s cash, bank deposits and risk­
free deposits with initial maturity of three months or less. 

The only unavailable balance related to the cumulative balance for the so-called drought 
provision of the subsidiary ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. for 
30 million euros (25 million euros at 31December2016) (see note 17). 

In 2017 and 2016 the cash and cash equivalent balances eamed interest at market rates. 

16. - Equity 

a) Subscribed and registered share capital 

The Parent Company's share capital is represented by 57,259,550 fully paid-up ordinary 
shares with a face value of 1 euro each, represented by book entries. All the Parent 
Company's shares carry the same rights, are listed and there are no restrictions as to their 
transferability under the Articles of Association. 

The table below shows, based on the notices received by the company, the owners of 
significant direct and indirect equity interests at 31 December 2017 and 2016. 

Tussen de Gracbten, B. V. 

Wit Europesse lnvestering, B.V. (*) 

Capital Research and Management 
Company (**) 

31.12-2017 31.12.2016 

27_80'";.. 

28.39"/o 

27.80"/o 

28.23% 

4.07"1o 
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(*) On 26 January 2018, the family Group of Mr. José María Entrecanales de Azcárate 
informed of the internal reorganisation carried out in the investment company that 
centralises Acciona, S.A. shares, under which La Verdosa S.L has become a direct holder 
of 5 .31 % of Acciona. After this reorganisation, the investment company Wit Europesse 
Investering, B.V. Holds 25.01 % of Acciona, S.A. 

(**) Indirect holder of the equity interest. The decrease in indirect investment held by this 
significant shareholder is the cause of the communication made on 23 March 2017 
informing that the share in Acciona, S.A. Which was previously 4.07% of the share 
capital had fallen below 3%. 

b) Share premium, reserves and translation differences 

The balance of the "Share Premium" account, which at 31 December 2017 and 2016 
amounted to 170,110 thousands of million euros, arose as a result ofthe capital increases 
with share premiums carried out on different dates. The consolidated text of the Capital 
Companies Act expressly permits the use of the share premium account balance to 
increase capital and <loes not establish any specific restrictions as to the use of said 
balance. 

Detail of the share premium, reserves and translation differences appeanng on the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity was as follows: 

2017 2016 

lssue premium 170,1 JO 170,110 

Legal reserve 11 ,452 11 ,452 

Reserve for relired capital 10,454 10,454 

Voluntary reserves 3,204,081 3,035,238 

Consolidated reserves (Note 16.d) 327,097 270,260 

Su btotal reserves 3,553,083 3,327,404 

Translation differences (Note 16.d) (237,211) (60,876) 

Total 3,485,982 3,436,638 

The legal reserve, to which transfers must be made until 20% of the share capital is 
reached, can be used to increase capital provided that the remaining reserve balance <loes 
not fall below 10% of the increased share capital amount. Otherwise, until the legal 
reserve <loes not reach 20% of share capital, this reserve can only be used to offset losses, 
provided that there are no other reserves available in a sufficient amount for this purpose. 

c) Treasury shares 

The changes in treasury shares in financia! years 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 
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2017 2016 

Numbcrof 
Cost 

sharcs 
Number of 

Cost 
shares 

Opcning balance 233,898 14,403 320,460 20,238 

Additions 3,395 ,430 253, 160 4,992,255 338,284 

Removals (3 ,392,9 16) (253,024) ( 4,987,221) (338,300) 

Liquidity contract 2,514 136 5,034 (16) 

Additions 03/05/2017 (*) 221 ,357 16,569 

Other additions 90,001 6,370 

Removals (502,068) (34,332) (9 1,596) (5,819) 

Othcr movcmcnts (190,710) (11,393) (91,596) (5,8 19) 

Closing balance 45,702 3,146 233,898 14,403 

(*) Specific acquisition to meet the convertible bond conversion requirements 

On 3 July 2015 Acciona, S.A. reported subscription of a liquidity contract with Bestinver 
Sociedad de Valores, S.A. forthe management ofits treasury stock. The company's stock 
operations carried out by Bestinver within the framework of this contract take place on 
the Spanish stock exchanges and the purpose is to increase the liquidity of transactions 
and the stability of the trading price. On 10 July 2017, Acciona, S.A. cancelled said 
contract and on the same date, the Company signed a new liquidity contract with the terms 
detailed in Circular 1/2017 of the Spanish National Securities Market Commission 
(CNMV) for the purposes oftheir acceptance as a market practice. The cash accounts and 
securities accounts that were associated with the cancelled liquidity contract and 
amounted to 44,328 shares and 3,539,114.85 euros have been used to allocate cash and 
securities to the new liquidity contract, adjusting the amount in cash to the trading value 
of the shares assigned to the new contract, in accordance with the limits established in the 
new CNMV circular, which have been set at 44,318 shares and 3,340,000 euros. 

At 31 December 2017 the shares under the liquidity contract lost 61 thousand euros, 
which was recognised in reserves. 

As regards to the rest of the movements, 484,068 shares were retired in 2017. The main 
movement in the period corresponds to the conversions associated with the early 
amortisation ofthe Convertible Bond which has resulted in a decrease of 279,965 shares 
with a loss reflected in "reserves" for an amount of2,484 thousand euros (see Note 18.b )) . 
To carry out this operation, the liquidity contract was temporarily suspended on 3 May 
2017 and 221 ,357 shares at 74.85 euros each were acquired on the market. 

It should also be noticed that two block purchases were carried out on 18 December 2017 
comprising a total package of90,000 Acciona, S.A. treasury shares, representing 0.157% 
of the share capital at a price of 70. 78 euros per share. 

The remaining shares retired in 2017 mainly relate to the shares delivered to the Group' s 
management. This dehvery took place under the Share Delivery Plan and the variable 
remuneration Replacement Plan (see Note 34). The profit reflected in "reserves" for these 
operations is 1,275 thousand euros. 
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In 2016, 48,000 shares were used for the liquidity contract discussed in the paragraph 
above, and 91,596 shares were retired, with a profit of 368 thousand euros, recognised in 
reserves. This delivery took place under the Share Delivery Plan and the variable 
remuneration Replacement Plan (see Note 34). 

d) Reserves in consolidated companies and translation differences 

The detail, by line of business, ofthe consolidation reserves contributed by subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates and of the related translation differences at 31 December 
2017 and 2016 was as follows (in thousand euros): 

2017 2016 

IiMOÍ lksm'6 TnaslatieD Rnnvrs Tr:aasbtioe 
busiaess Cousolidated Differeeces Coosolidated Differences 

Energy (512,153) (20,812) (386,399) 32,374 

e onslruction 39,486 (114,221) 28,418 (59,820) 

Water 21,330 (23,000) (29,785) (15,207) 

Sen ices 13,540 (2,327) 1,875 (841) 

Otber 
802,632 (27,304) 694,476 (17,382) 

Activi.ties 

Consoli:darion 
(37,738) (38,,325) 

adjustments 

Total 327,/A97 (187.,664) 27G,.260 (60,876) 

In addition to the Parent Company, at 31 December 2017, the Group company Mostostal 
Warszawa, S.A. was a listed company. The average market price of this company in the 
last quarter was PLN 6.68 and the market price at year-end was PLN 4.64. Similarly, the 
associate Nordex, S.E. is also a listed company and its average market price in the last 
quarter was EUR 8.59 and the market price at year-end was EUR 8.87. 
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e) Value adjustments 

• Available-for-sale financial assets 

This heading under "Retained Earnings" on the consolidated balance sheet includes the 
arnount, net of the related tax effect, of changes in the fair value of assets classified as 
available for sale. These changes are recognised in the consolidated income statement 
when the assets that give rise to them are sold. 

The changes in the balance of"Value Adjustments" in 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 

Balance at 1 January 

lncreases in value in the year 

Decreases in value in the year 

Transfer to results in the year 

Changes in the seo pe of consolidation 

Balance at 31 December (note 20) 

• Cash flow hedges 

2017 2016 

351 

(237) 

114 

149 

202 

351 

This heading under "Retained Earnings" on the consolidated balance sheet reflects the 
amount net ofthe tax effect of changes in the fair value of financia] derivatives designated 
as cash flow hedging instruments (see Note 20). 

The changes in the balance of this item in 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 

Balance at 1 January 

• Changes in value in the year 

Cross 

Taxejfecl 

• Transfer to results for the year 

Cross 

Taxejfecl 

Balance at 31 December 

t) Non-controlling interests 

2017 

(213,372) 

46,540 

62,054 

( 15,514) 

31 , 109 

41 ,478 

(10,369) 

(135,723) 

2016 

(364,868) 

(80,472) 

( 107,296) 

26,824 

231 ,968 

309,291 

(77,323) 

(213,372) 

The balance of "Non-Controlling Interests" on the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheet reflects the equity of non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries. Also, "Non­
Controlling Interests" on the accompanying consolidated income statement reflects the 
share of non-controlling interests in the profit or loss for the year. 
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The movement in 2016 was as follows (in thousand euros): 

Cbaognm 

Balanttat 
scopr& Val"ac Yuc's 

8aJaJltt at Compaay 
l l/12!2015 

capital Dividrads adju.stmHts Profül 
3111212016 

roatrib./ .medio- (l.css) 
rdunicd 

Energy 233,273 750 (24.128) {4,127) 255 206,023 

Constrnrtíon 12,725 ( l,651} {l...284} 16,511 26,,301 

Water 32,009 (16,266) 16 207 15,966 

Services 743 (123} 58 263 94 1 

Ozher- scrvices 14, l 19 525 {3,850) l,ZITT 4,638 16,639 

Toül nolH'.Ontrolli.ag inknsts 260,BM 33,234 (46,818) (4,138) 21,874 265,870 

The movement in 201 7 was as follows (in thousand euros): 

Cbauiignis 

Bala11ttat 
scopr& Val e \'car's 

Babattat 
Company 

31/12f"...IH6 
capital Dividcnds adjostmcots Prolit/ 

3111212017 
ceatrib.I :uld odlcr (Loss) 
rd:armd 

Energy 206,023 (1,416) (24,790) (46,849) 23,467 156,435 

Construction 26,301 3,513 (3,842) (9,615) 3,520 19,877 

Water 15_%6 (11,790) 2,351 3.,239 9.766 

Serrices 941 (53) 106 99.:t 

Otlre.r sen-ices 16,639 {728) (424) 482 15,%9 

Total a~ imtrn:m 265,S7Q 1.369 ~) (54,591) 30.,814 293,0-tl 

As described in note 3.2Ji, on 8 Man;h 20 l 7 the Group acquired 82.4% of the sbares of 
the Australian construction group Geotech Holding, which, at the time of purchase, had 
a net worth of20 million euros. Rec-0gnition ofthe non-controlling interest of 17.6% at 
the date consolidated is shown under "'changes in scope & capital contributions/returned" 
in the previous table. 

During 2017, the rnain currencies that the Group operates with have experienced strong 
depreciation against the euro. This has resulted in a significant reduction in the non­
controlling interests in assets and businesses established abroa~ the effect of which is 
included under "value adjustments and other" in the previous table. The Energy Division 
was the rnost affected one, in which the US Dollar alone has caused a fall in the carrying 
amount of non-controlling interests of more than 30 million euros. 

In 2016 the Group acquired an additional 37 .. 05% of the shares in ATLL Concessionaria 
de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A.., through which the subsidiary is fully consolidated, 
recognising the non-controlling interest of 23. 95% in the Equity that to date amounts to 
32 million under "changes in scope & capital contributions/retumed" .. The same column 
records the change in non-controlling interest that took place as a result of the acquisition 
ofthe non-controlling interests of the Acciona Termosolar and Acciona Solar subgroups 
(15% and 25% respectively), with 100% being reached for both subgroups .. 
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Summarised financia! information for the subgroups or subsidiaries representing a 
material portion of the Grnup's assets, liabilities and transactions and for which no 
dominant stakeholdings are held is shown below. 

ATU 
Co11ttSSio-
niria dr la 

.JJ.12.ltl 7 Aa:il'lea GairrzlRat Su~p 
E11ergy dt Mmtostal C ía Sabgroap 

lntrmuiollal Catalaaya, W arsza"fll·a, Trasmtdi- Grotrtb 
Sabgrollp S.A. S.A. tr rriara Holdiag 

% Non-controlling interests 33.33% 23 .95% 49.91% 729% 17.60% 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 2,828,205 987,997 42,094 367,664 18,012 

Current assets 298,870 112,806 213 ,778 124, 196 49,213 

Total Assets 3,127,075 1,100,803 255,872 491,860 67,225 

LIABILITIES 

Equity 191 ,489 32,819 42, 118 225,028 14 ,360 

Attributed Equity 40,832 32,819 38,261 225,039 14,360 

Value adjustments and 
(39,428) (4,906) 3,409 (60) 

translation differences 

Remaining equity attributed to 
80,260 32,819 43,167 221 ,630 14,420 

the paren! Company 

Non-controlling interests 150,657 3,857 ( 11) 

Non-current liabilities 2,751 ,591 971 ,389 72,503 10,390 9,035 

Current liabilities 183,995 96,595 141,251 256,442 43,830 

Total Liabilities 3,127,075 1,100,803 255,872 491,860 67,225 

PROFIT/(LOSS) 

Revenue 437,061 156,010 259, 143 425,527 150,247 

Operating profit 148,545 64,853 6,238 15,688 3,043 

Profit/(loss) before tax 31 ,146 19,845 4,829 9,875 2,990 

Prolit/(loss) after tax 13,757 15,381 (4,502) 5,895 2,208 

Profit/(loss) attributed to non-
(26,016) 1, 198 ( 1) 

controlling interests 

Profit/(loss) attributed to the parent 
(12,259) 15,381 (3 ,304) 5,895 2,208 

Company 
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ATLL 
COllCCS.SÍO-
aaria de la 

l l .12.2016 Attiom ~· S bgroap 

~ (Ir MoW!istal Cía 
lnkrnacioul Calaluaya, Warszawa. Trasmedi· 

Snbgroap s.A. S.A. tcrráoea 

% Non-<0atrolling intensts 33.33% 23.95'% 49.91% 7.29% 

ASSETS 

Non-current assets 3,109,094 998,606 48,053 319, 125 

Current assets 332,756 113,793 238,863 127,682 

Total Assets 3,441,850 1,112,399 286,916 446,807 

LIABILITIES 

Equity 265,204 66,664 14,472 224,945 

Attributed Equity 78,079 66,664 9,658 224,957 

Value adjustments and 
(16,915) (11 ,413) 4,735 

translation di fferences 

Remaining eq uity attributed to 
94,994 66,664 21 ,071 220,222 

the paren! Company 

Non-controlling interests 187,125 4,814 (12) 

Non-current liabilities 2,979,267 952,061 75,445 13,757 

Total equity and liabilities 197,379 93,674 196,999 208,105 

Total Liabilities 3,441,850 1,112,399 286,916 446,807 

PROFIT/(LOSS) 

Revenue 463,100 148,395 320,579 430,758 

Operating profit 144,083 50,722 12,648 37,036 

Profit/(loss) before tax (36, 157) 5,801 11,148 32,394 

Profit/(loss) after tax (46,184) 865 7,607 18,211 

Profit/(loss) attributed to non-
( 16,352) 451 

controlling interests 

Profit/(loss) attributed to the parent 
(62,537) 865 8,058 18,210 

Company 

g) CaQital management 

The main objectives of the Group's capital management are to safeguard its capacity to 
continue operating as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns to 
shareholders and to benefit other stakeholders, and also to maintain an optimal financia! 
and equity structure to reduce the cost of capital. As a result of this policy, creating value 
for the shareholder is compatible with access to financial markets ata competitive cost in 
order to cover both debt refinancing and investment plan financing needs not covered by 
funds generated by the business. 
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In arder to maintain and adjust the capital structure, the Group may vary the amounts of 
the dividends payable to the shareholders, return capital, issue shares or sell assets to 
reduce debt. 

In line with other groups in the industries in which the Acciona Group operates, the capital 
structure is controIIed on the basis of the Jeverage ratio. This ratio is caJcuJated as the 
result of dividing net debt by equity. Net debt is caJculated as the sum of current and non­
current financial debt, excluding those relating to held-for-sa]e assets, less current 
financial assets and cash and cash equivalents. 

The leverage ratio at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is shown below. 

Nct financia! debt: 

Non-curren! financia! debt 

Curren! bank financia! debt 

Curren! financia! assets and cash and cash 
equivalents 

Equity: 

Of the Parent 

Of non-controll ing interests 

Leverage 

Lcvcrage 

Million euros 

2017 2016 

5,224 5,131 

5,272 5,602 

1,472 1, 169 

( 1,520) (1 ,640) 

3,963 4,097 

3,760 3,831 

203 266 

132% 125% 

h) Restriction on the distribution of funds by subsidiaries 

Certain Group companies have clauses in their financing contracts that have to be met in 
arder for profit to be distributed to the shareholders. Specifically, the clauses stipulate the 
maintenance of a senior debt coverage ratio in financing contracts. 

17. - Provisions aod litigation 

The movement in the section "Non-current provisions" of the liability side of the 
consolidated balance sheets at 31December2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

Opening balance 497,472 420,245 

Additions and allocations 97,262 92,937 

Removals (74,587) (32,729) 

Transfers 3,817 (5,775) 

Other changes 4,644 22,794 

Closing balance 528,608 497,472 

The rnain changes in financia! year 2017 related to allocations for several litigation cases, 
as well as periodic allocations to cover dismantling operations and the repairs and drought 
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provision. With regards to removals, the application of 17 million euros to the tax 
provision should be noted, after the inspection activities detailed in Note 22 were 
concluded. The movement in "other changes" corresponds to scope changes for the 
subsidiary Sociedad Concesionaria Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A which is now fully 
consolidated. The following sections detail the effects that this subsidiary has on the 
provisions of this nature. 

The Acciona Group operates in different businesses and in a great number of countries 
with very specific industry regulations. In the normal course of its business, the Group is 
exposed to litigation related to these business activities, including most notably: tax 
claims, claims related to defects in construction projects performed and claims related to 
differences regarding services rendered. Part of these risks are covered by insurance 
policies (third-party liability, construction defects, etc.) and for the other risks identified, 
the required provisions are recognised. The nature and amount of the main provisions are 
detailed below. 

a) Constructive obligations: Provisions are recognised for the constructive obligations of 
subsidiaries accounted for using the equity method when the Group' s investments in 
associates ha ve been reduced to zero. At 31 December 2017, the provision in this 
connection amounted to 59 million euros (71 million euros at 31 December 2016). The 
table below shows the detail, by division and in proportion to the Group's share 
percentage in the capital of each, of the assets, liabilities, revenue and profit/(loss) for 
2017 of the associates for which a provision was recognised. 

Energy Construction Water Services Total 2017 

Assets 

Non-current assets 22,097 321 ,625 44,476 156 388,354 

Current assets 10,941 51 ,387 2,808 413 65,549 

Total assets 33,038 373 ,012 47,284 569 453,903 

Liabilities 

Equity (2,697) (52,400) (4, 142) (202) (59,441) 

Non-current liabilities 29,082 240,027 48,320 362 317,791 

Current liabilities 6,653 185,385 3,106 409 195,553 

Total cquity aod liabilities 33,038 373,012 47,284 569 453,903 

Profit/(Loss) 

Net revenue 3,557 11 ,087 6,319 20,963 

Profit before tax from continuing 
435 ( 1,832) 1,024 (373) 

activities 

Profit/( Loss) befo re tax 435 (1 ,832) 1,024 (373) 

This section includes, in the infrastructure construction division, a prov1s10n in the 
amount of 29 million euros for the companies Infraestructuras y Radiales, S.A. and 
Henarsa, S.A., companies which were declared to be under voluntary creditors' meeting 
proceedings on 5 September 2013 at Business Court no. 10 in Madrid. The creditors' 
meeting took place in September 2017 and as sufficient creditors did not adhere to the 
proposed agreement, on 18 October 2017 the companies entered into liquidation pending 
determination of the liquidation value by the insolvency administration. Similarly, there 
is a provision in the amount of 3 million euros for Sociedad Concesionaria Puente del 
Ebro, S.A., which was also declared to be under voluntary creditors' meeting proceedings 
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on 4 November 2014 at Business Court no. 2 in Zaragoza. The creditors' agreement was 
not approved and hence on 9 November 2017 the company entered into liquidation phase. 

It should also be noticed that this heading has reduced by 8 million euros dueto the change 
in how Sociedad Concesionaria Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A. is consolidated after 
acquiring an additional 50% of the shares, which is now fully consolidated (see Note 3). 

b) Levies, taxes and local charges: these relate to provisions for regional, state or 
international levies, taxes and local charges arising from construction work and 
infrastructure development and taxes in general which, in view of the varying 
interpretations that can be made of the tax legislation, could give rise to contingent tax 
liabilities in the various countries in which the Acciona Group operates. At 31 December 
201 7 the provision in this connection amounted to 42 million euros, which in 2016 
amounted to 41 million euros. An addition of 17 million euros was made during 2017 
(see Note 22), as well as the application of 16.5 million euros after the last Corporate Tax 
inspection activities for financia! years 2010-2012 aimed at both Acciona, S.A. and other 
subsidiaries (see Note 22) were concluded in May 2017. 

c) So-called "drought" provision: recognised by the subsidiary A TLL Concessionaria de 
la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. under the concession contract, in order to deal with 
possible drought periods. The provision in this connection, at 31 December 2017, 
amounted to 30 million euros (25 mi Ilion euros at 31 December 2016). 

d) Repairs: these relate to provisions in connection to repairs agreed with the awarding 
entity in concessions from the infrastructure division. Each year they are systematically 
endowed by a charge against the operating profit/(loss). The provision in this connection, 
at 31 December 2017, amounted to 69 million euros (42 million euros at 31 December 
2016). The increase is mainly dueto the consolidation of Sociedad Concesionaria Autovía 
de los Viñedos, S.A. which in 2017 is now fully consolidated, incorporating a provision 
for this concept which amounts to 24 million euros. 

e) Pensions and similar: these relate to provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
arising mainly from the acquisition of assets from Endesa in 2009, which are detailed and 
quantified below. At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the provision in this connection 
amounted to 1 O million euros. 

f) Burdensome contracts: these relate to contracts for works and provision of services that 
represent a burden and lead to losses. The Group charges a provision against the income 
statement for losses expected from these contracts at the moment when it determines that 
the contract's costs which cannot be avoided in order to comply with the contract are 
likely to exceed the revenue therefrom. The provision in this connection, at 31 December 
2017, amounted to 54 million euros ( 51 million euros at 31 December 2016). 

g) Dismantling: these relate mainly to provisions stemming from the electricity 
generation facilities recently commissioned in the Energy division intemational area, 
after the Group concluded, upon analysis of the particularities of these contracts, that 
there is an obligation to dismantle said facilities. The provision in this connection, at 31 
December 2017, amounted to 85 million euros (7 5 million euros at 31 December 2016). 

CLAR1\ LOIS LCZN·.;ü 

Nº. 1 OC09 

·------------·---------



TRANSLATION 

h) Litigation: these related to provisions for lawsuits under way as a number of claims 
have been brought against the Group in various jurisdictions for various reasons. At 31 
December 2017 the Group maintained provisions amounting to 168 million euros (170 
million euros at 31December2016), ofwhich 87 and 81 million euros corresponded to 
the energy and infrastructure divisions respectively. 

As regards these cases, it is hard to predict how they will tum out, although the Group's 
Directors are of the opinion that there will be no short-term outflow of economic profits 
due to the status of these court cases at the present time. 

The best estimates of the risks and uncertainty inevitably surrounding most of the events 
and circumstances affecting these cases ha ve been considered for the recording of these 
provisions. In this respect, the negative downturn in recent years of the general market 
situation and the economic and financia! conditions in many ofthe countries in which the 
Group has operations has contributed to a general situation of extreme and very 
widespread instability, giving rise to very significant uncertainties. This situation has not 
only remained constant but has in fact even increased recently, with the result that the 
calibration of this uncertainty has been done with prudence, understood as the inclusion 
of a certain degree of caution when making the necessary assessments, but safeguarding 
in ali cases the true and fair view of the financia! statements. 

The Group's Management considers that no significant additional liabilities will occur 
that are not provisioned in the consolidated financia! statements at 31 December 2017. 

With regards to the court proceedings related to A TLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat 
de Catalunya, S.A., on 22 June 2015 the High Court of Justice of Catalonia (HCJC) issued 
judgement allowing in part the appeal for judicial review of the administrative decision 
lodged by the concession company A TLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, 
S.A. and Acciona Agua, S.A., overruling the resolution dated 2 January 2013 from the 
Contractual Resources Administrative Body of Catalonia in relation to exclusion of the 
bid made by the Acciona led consortium. The Court, however, considered that there were 
defects in the tender procedure that are not attributable to the bidders, which lead to the 
contracting procedure being rendered void as a whole because the bidders <lid not have 
full knowledge of the exact scope ofthe requirements related to the works schedule. 

On 21 February 2018, the company A TLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya 
S.A. became aware ofthe judgement handed down by the Supreme Court on the cassation 
appeal filed by the Generalitat de Catalunya against the HCJC rnling which invalidated 
the procedure to award said concession (appeal 2725/2015). This judgement dismisses 
the claims brought forward by the Generalitat and confirms the TSJC ruling. 

The judgement handed down by the Supreme Court <loes not negatively affect the 
compensation to which the concessionaire that would enter into liquidation phase would 
be entitled to, and without prejudice to claims that could be made for damages. 

The company is currently waiting for notification ofthe cassation appeal 2682/2015 filed 
by Gestió Catalana de Aigues, and appeal 2678/2015 filed by the Concessionaire and by 
Acciona Agua against the HCJC judgement which invalidated the procedure to award 
said concession. 
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In the event that the Supreme Court resol ves the outstanding appeals in the same way, 
and the award is rendered definitively void, the contract will be void and will go into the 
liquidation stage, with the effects established in the Government Procurement Act. The 
contract includes a contractual clause, 9 .12, which refers to early tennination of the 
concession contract. This clause establishes that if the concession contract is terminated 
before 50 years elapse, regardless ofthe grounds for termination, the Administration shall 
pay the concession company compensation that will cover: 

(a) the unamortised portion of the total concession fee. This amortisation is 
calculated according to what is established in this clause 9.12 of the contract in 
conformity with clause 22 of the Administrative Specifications Document; 
(b) the unamortised portion of the works, installations and other investments, in 
PPE and intangible assets, carried out by the concessionaire up to date; and, 
( c) related additional costs. 

In any event, as indicated in this contractual clause 9.12, all calculations needed to 
determine what is established in the paragraphs above must refer to amounts actually 
included in the tariffs, following the principle of recovery of all previous items through 
the tariffs and with the time where contract termination occurs and the months elapsed in 
which the concessionaire applied the annual tariff in question being taken into account, if 
appropriate. 

The compensation referred to in clause 9 .12 is applicable e ven if the Administration must 
enforce court resolutions that involve termination or cancellation of the concession 
contract according to reply by the Generalitat de Catalunya of 5 July 2013 to the enquiry 
made by the concessionaire A TLL. 

In any case, the principie of ensuring continuity of the service guarantees that the 
concessionaire shall still operate the concession until the Generalitat or other eventual 
successful bidder resulting from another bidding process can formally step in to replace 
the concessionaire. 

In conclusion, ifthe Supreme Court rules on the outstanding appeals in the same way as 
the judgement that has already been made public, then the contract would be cancelled 
and would enter into liquidation phase and the administration would need to pay the 
corresponding compensation. The compensation would include, inter alia, returning the 
portion of the unamortised fee, without prejudice to the claim for damages as might be 
appropriate. 

Therefore, the Directors are of the opinion that the final resolution of the proceedings 
described above will not involve an outflow of resources, for which reason no provision 
for risks and expenses in connection with this lawsuit was recorded at 31 December 201 7. 

Note that for informative purposes, note l 6.f) includes the main items that the company 
ATLL Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A contributed to the Acciona 
Group at 31 December 2017. 

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
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"Non-current provisions" section on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet 
includes mainly provisions for pensions and similar obligations due to the acquisition of 
assets and/or companies from the Endesa Group in 2009. 

The group of employees considered in 2017 and 2016 for measurement was 92 employees 
(1O1 at the el ose of 2016), 23 of whom ha ve already taken early retirement or are retired 
(24 at the close of 2016). Not all of them are in the same situation and under the same 
commitment. The main characteristics ofthe plans assumed are the following: 

i) Defined benefit pension plan with salary increase rate tied to the increase in the 
CPI. This plan is treated in exactly the same way as a defined benefit system. The 
assumptions used in calculating the actuaria} liability in respect of the uninsured 
defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 

2017 2016 

lnterest rate 1.72% 1.91% 

Mortality tables l'ERPM/F2000 PERPM/F2000 

Expected rate of return on plan 
1.70% 1.85% 

as sets 

Salary review 1.70% 2.0% 

Information is provided below on the changes in the actuaria} liabilities for the 
defined benefit obligations at 31 December 2017 and 2016: 

2017 2016 

lnitial actuaria! liability 4,044 3,995 

Cost incurred in the year 112 99 

Finance costs 77 107 

Benefits paid in thc year (190) 

Actuaria! gains and losses 21 (157) 

Final actuaria! liability 4,064 4,044 

Information is provided below on the changes in the actuaria} assets for the defined 
benefit obligations at 31 December 2017 and 2016: 

2017 2016 

lnitial actuaria! asset 2,312 2,757 

Return recogniscd in the year 43 72 

Contributions made in thc year 488 469 

Actuaria! gains and losscs (155) (986) 

Final actuaria! asset 2,688 2,312 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the total amount of the final actuaria} assets and 
liabilities related in full to defined benefit obligations in Spain. 

At 201 7 year-end, the amount recognised in the consolidated income statement 
for defined benefit pension obligations amounted to 146 thousand euros (134 
thousand euros in 2016) and related to the cost incurred during the year and the 
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return and finance cost of the assets and liabilities associated with these employee 
welfare benefits. 

ii) Obligations to provide certain employee welfare benefits during the retirement 
period, relating mainly to electricity supplies. These obligations were not 
externalised and are covered by the related in-house provisions totalling 2,981 
thousand euros (3,274 thousand euros at 31 December 2016). 

The actuaria! changes recognised, arising in this connection, amounted to a profit 
of 331 thousand euros in financia} year 2017 (profit of 542 thousand euros in 
2016). 

iii) Commitrnent undertaken by the company to supplement the public social security 
system benefits in the event of termination of the employment relationship as a 
result of an agreement between the parties. 

The movement in the provision for these obligations, recognised under caption 
"Provisions" on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet in 2017 and 2016, 
was as follows: 

Balance at 31/12/2015 

Additions and allocations 

Removals 

Balance at 31112/2016 

Additions and allocations 

Removals 

Balance at 31/12/2017 

Provision for other long­
tcrm employcc bcnefit 

obligations 

961 

7 

(461) 

507 

44 

(336) 

215 

These liabilities related in full to the collective redundancy procedures signed by 
Group companies in Spain. 

The Plan affects employees with at least 1 O years of acknowledged seniority. 
Employees aged 50 or more at 31 December 2005 were entitled to adhere to a pre­
retirement plan at the age of 60, of which they could avail themselves between the 
ages of 50 and 60, upon the mutual agreement between the employee and the 
company concemed. For tbe Plan to apply to employees younger than 50 at 31 
December 2005, a written request from the employee and the acceptance thereof 
by the Group were required. 

The conditions applicable to employees under 50 years of age affected by the 
Voluntary Redundancy Plan consisted in a termination benefit of 45 days' salary 
per year of service plus an additional amount of 1 or 2 months' salary based on 
the employee' s age at 31 December 2005. 

The impact of these plans on the consolidated income staternent is not material. 
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18. - Financial debt 

a) Bank borrowings 

At 31December2017 and 2016, detail of recourse and non-recourse borrowings, it being 
understood that non-recourse is the debt with no corporate guarantees, whose recourse is 
limited to the debtor's flows and assets, was as follows (in thousand euros): 

2017 2016 

Current Current Non-current Current Non-current 

Non-recourse bank borrowings 181,874 1,443,526 199,162 1,797,150 

Mortgage loans for non-curren! asset financing 13,127 11,206 26,300 128,965 

Mortgage loans for property developments 6,514 14,199 

Project finance 149,990 1,407,316 151,319 1,649,926 

Obligations under finance leases 10,991 25,004 5,861 17,268 

Other limited recourse debt 1,252 1,483 991 

Recourse bank borrowings 649,268 2,963,410 475,936 3,183,901 

Discounted notes and bills not yet due 522 

Other bank loans and credit facil íties 648,746 2,963,4!0 475,936 3, 183,901 

Total bank borrowings 831,142 4,406,936 675,098 4,981,051 

In 2017 and 2016, the Group's loans and credit facilities accrued interest mainly refer to 
Euribor for those financing in euros, although a portion of the Group's borrowings were 
also tied to other indices such as Libor for borrowings in US dollars, the CDOR for 
borrowings in Canadian dollars, the TIIE for financing in Mexican pesos, the WIBOR for 
financing in Polish zloty, the BBSY for financing in Australian dollars and the JIBAR for 
financing in South African rands; these are the main indices for the Group outside the 
euro zone. A significant portion of the Group's borrowings is hedged by financia! 
derivatives which seek to reduce the volatility in the interest rates paid by the Acciona 
Group (see Note 20). 

Through subsidiaries or associates, the Acciona Group undertakes investments mainly in 
transport infrastructure, energy, water supply and hospitals, and these are then operated 
by subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and associates and funded through "Project 
finance" (financing applied to projects). 

These finance structures are applied to projects capable of providing by themselves 
sufficient support for the participating financia! entities as to the repayment of the 
borrowings taken out to implement them. Thus, each one is normally executed through 
special purpose vehicles in which the project's assets are financed on the one hand by a 
contribution of funds by the project's sponsors, limited to a certain predefined amount, 
and, on the other hand, generally a larger sum through third-party funds in the form of 
long-term borrowing. The debt service on these loans or credits is fundamentally backed 
by the cash flows to be generated in future by the project itself, as well as by in rem 
guarantees over the project's assets and credit rights. 

The most significant changes in financia! year 201 7 were produced: 
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Under "mortgage loans for non-current asset financing" for the contribution of the 
company Compañía Urbanizadora El Coto, S.L. in exchange for a share in the capital 
of Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A., explaining the reduction in the debt by 111 
million euros with respect to the previous financia} year. 
Under "project finance" for the purchase of an additional 50% of the company 
Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A., which now consolidates following the global 
consolidation method after taking control (it was previously consolidated by applying 
the equity method), thereby incorporating bank borrowings at 31 December 2017 
amounting to 123 million euros. The reduction of "project finance" corresponds to 
the reclassification of 180 million euros of debt associated with certain energy assets 
under "non-current liabilities held for sale" as the Group is currently undergoing 
negotiations to dispose ofthese assets through a sale operation. Likewise, this heading 
is reduced due to the amortisations programmed for this type of loan, as well as the 
effect of the translation differences in the financia! year which are mainly related to 
projects in US dollars and South African rand. 
Under "other bank loans and credit facilities" caption, several "Green Loans" have 
been taken out during the financia} year: noticing one formally arranged in April 2017 
for 100 million euros with BBV A with due date in 3 years, and another three "Green 
Loans" formally arranged in May, July and November for 50 million euros each with 
due dates in 2019, 2022 and 2020 with Unicredit, Helaba Bank and ICBC. These 
"Green Loans" are intended to be used to finance renewable energy investment 
operations and investments in environmental sustainability projects. The decreases 
are caused dueto the scheduled expiry of the Joans at the due dates. 

For financial year 2016 mention should be made of the cancellation of four financing 
projects in US dollars for wind farms in operation and two financing projects in euros for 
thermal solar plants, as well as two financing arrangements in euros for a set of assets for 
wind and hydraulic generation located in Spain. These debt cancellations meant a charge 
of 301 million euros in the finance cost accounts for the transfer to the income statement 
of the hedge derivatives associated with these financing arrangements and for the early 
termination costs and the arrangement fees pending accrual. 

As indicated in Note 4.2 I), the adoption of IFRS 13 requires an adjustment in the 
measurement techniques applied by the Acciona Group to obtain the fair value of its 
derivatives in order to incorporate the bilateral credit risk adjustment so as to reflect both 
own risk and counterparty risk in the fair value of the derivatives. 

At 31 December 2017, the adjustment of credit risk represented a lower valuation of 
liability derivatives in the amount of 3,930 thousand euros, recognised on the one hand 
as a smaller debt with credit entities in the amount of 2,002 thousand euros by 
subsidiaries, 326 thousand euros as a minor liability held for sale for companies classified 
in this way at the end of the year, and as a higher value of the investment using the equity 
method in the amount of 1,602 thousand euros, without considering the tax effect, by the 
companies consolidated in accordance with this method. The effect, net of extemal and 
after-tax effects, that this modification had on the heading "Adjustments in equity for 
valuation of cash :flow hedges" was positive in the amount of 2,616 thousand euros. 

At 31 December 2017 the Group companies had been granted additional financing not 
drawn down in the amount of 1,827,389 thousand euros, of which ] ,807,389 thousand 
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euros related to credit lines for the financing of working capital, and the remaining amount, 
20,000 thousand euros, to lines to finance fees to enter water projects. 

The Group's Management is of the opinion that the amount of these credit lines and the 
ordinary generation of cash, together with the realisation of current assets, will 
sufficiently cover the short-term payment obligations. 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, neither Acciona, S.A. nor any of its significant 
subsidiaries were in breach of any of their financia! obligations or any other obligations 
in such a way as might lead to early maturity of their financia! obligations. Similarly, no 
default is expected for 2018. 

In addition, in 201 7 and 2016 there were no defaults or any other non-payments of 
principal, interest or repayments in respect of interest bearing borrowings. 

Borrowings by the real estate division are classified as current liabilities on the basis of 
the production cycle of the asset they finance, that is, inventories, even though the due 
date for sorne of these liabilities stands at over twelve months. 

Detail, by maturity, of bank borrowings for the years following the closing date of the 
balance sheet was as follows: 

2018 2019 2020 2021 

831,142 1,023,510 1, 104,294 920,553 

Obligations under finance leases 

2022 2023 

580, 142 130,025 

Years 

Subsequent 

648,412 

Total 

5,238,078 

Detail ofthe Group's finance leases at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Amounts to pay undcr finance leases 

Within one year 

Between one and two years 

Bctwecn two and five years 

After fivc years 

Total lease payments payable 

Lcss future finance charges 

Present val u e of lease obligations 

Less amount due for settlement within twelve months (curren! liability) 

Amount duc for settlement aftcr twelvc months 

Minimum leasc payments 

2017 2016 

13,743 

12,558 

12,351 

38,652 

2,657 

35,995 

10,991 

25,004 

6,775 

8,311 

10,023 

25,109 

1,980 

23,129 

5,861 

17,268 

It is the Group' s policy to lease certain of its facilities and equipment under finance leases. 
The average lease term is three to five years. In the year ended 31December2017, the 
average effective interest rate was the market rate. Interest rates are set at the lease 
contract date. All leases have fixed payments and no arrangements have been entered into 
for contingent rental payments. 
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b) Debentures, bonds and negotiable securities 

Breakdown at 31 December 2017 and 2016 of debentures, recourse and non-recourse 
bonds and negotiable securities, it being understood that non-recourse is the debt with no 
corporate guarantees, whose recourse is limited to the debtor' s flows and assets, was as 
follows (in thousand euros): 

Debentures, bonds ancl negotiable securilies withoul 
recourse 

Debentures, bonds and negotiable securities with 
recourse 

Total debentures, bonds and negotiable securities 
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Thousand euros 

2017 2016 

263,265 256,893 

1,242,821 857,716 

1,506,087 1,114,609 
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The movement in these accounts on the current and non-current liabilities side of the 
balance sheet for financia! years 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Opening balance 

Changes in the scope of consolidation 

lssues 

lnterest accrued pending payment 

Amortisations 

Other changcs 

Closing balance 

Thousand euros 

2017 2016 

1,114,609 1,175,879 

47,026 

866,953 646,591 

7,068 10,434 

(489,721) (727,548) 

(39,848) 9,253 

1,506,087 1,114,609 

The main variation in this heading in 2017, on the "Issues" line, related to the issue of 
EMTN and ECP (promissory notes) for a total of 469 and 398 million euros, respectively, 
under the Euro Medium Term Note (EMTN) and Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) 
programmes, all described further below. As for the line "Amortisations", mention must 
be made of the amortisation on maturity of the previous ECP programme (promissory 
notes) for 233 million euros, the amortisation of EMTN for 147 million euros, and the 
termination of the convertible bond issued by Acciona, S.A. The line "Other changes" 
related mainly to translation differences in the two issues of bonds in currencies other 
than the euro. 

The distribution of the maturity of these debentures for 2018 and for the next and 
subsequent years is as follows: 

2018 2019 2020 2021 

641,148 455,087 37,126 15,601 

2022 2023 

16,536 18,212 

Subsequent 
years 

322,376 

Total 

1,506,086 

At 31 December 2017, detail of the issues making up the balance for this heading was as 
follows: 

- Placement of a bonds issue on 1 O August 2012 with a credit rating of "BBB " given by 
the Standard & Poors and Fitch rating agencies for the Mexican subsidiaries CE Oaxaca 
Dos, S. de R.L. de C.V. and CE Oaxaca Cuatro, S. de R.L. de C.V., in a total amount of 
298.7 million US dollars. The purpose ofthis funding was the development, construction 
and operation oftwo wind power projects (102 MW each) for the final client, the Federal 
Electricity Commission (FEC). The issue accrues interest at 7.250% per annum, payable 
every six months on 30 June and 31 December each year until 31 Decernber 2031. The 
redernption ofthe debt began on 31December2012 and will continue with six-monthly 
debt write-downs until its total repayment on 31 December 2031 . At 31 December 2017, 
the balances recorded for this issue on the non-current and current bonds and debentures 
account amounted to 214 and 6.9 rnillion euros, respectively. 

Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) Programme formalised on 17 January 2013 by Acciona, 
S.A. andrenewed as frorn 2015, most recently on 13 July 2017, by the Group's subsidiary 
Acciona Financiación de Filiales, S.A., with the guarantee of Acciona, S.A., for another 
twelve rnonths anda rnaximum of 750 rnillion euros. Through this programme, which is 
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listed on the Irish Stock Exchange, notes are issued on the euro market with maturities 
between 15 and 364 days. In 2017, promissory notes were issued and amortised for 398 
and 233 million euros, respectively, and the outstanding balance stood at 378 million 
euros at 31 December 2017. 

Last 16 January 2017, the company reported its intention to buy back up to 108.4 million 
euros of the total face value of its bonds convertible to shares issued by Acciona, S.A. in 
2014, and which accounted for the total of bonds outstanding that the Company did not 
ha ve as part of its treasury stock after the buy backs made in the previous year. After this 
operation, Acciona holds 95.26% of the convertible bonds issued, equivalent to 409 
million euros. 

In addition, during February and May 2017, 39,050 shares were delivered to the 
bondholders who had exercised their right to convert their bonds under the terms and 
conditions of the issuance, resulting in the termination of 0.68% of the convertible bond 
(see Note 16.c)). 

On 20 June 2017, the partial termination of 95.26% ofthe convertible bond was formally 
arranged, and the total amount of the financial debt for convertible obligations that 
Acciona Group had was cancelled in accordance with IAS 32, recording an impact on 
reserves of 36 million euros, and on the income statement for the year for 4.3 million 
euros. 

On 1 August 2017, the "Clean Up Call" clause was exercised, which was contained in the 
contract to effectively convert an additional 4.01 % of the bond by delivering 240,915 
shares (see Note 16.c)), the remaining 0.06% ofthe bond was cancelled by bank transfer 
according to the terms contained in the contract. 

- Issue by Acciona, S.A. in April 2014 of simple bearer debentures through a private 
placement, in the amount of 62. 7 rnillion euros and maturing in 2024. The face value of 
each debenture is 100,000 euros and they accrue interest at 5.55% per annum with an 
annual coupon. At 31 December 2017, the balances recorded for these simple debentures 
on the accounts for non-current and current bonds and debentures, net of the transaction 
costs and considering the interest accrued, amounted to 61.8 and 2.4 million euros, 
respectively. 

- On 13 July 2017 Acciona Financiación Filiales, S.A. renewed, with the guarantee of 
Acciona, S.A., under the same terms and conditions as the previous one issued by 
Acciona, S.A., a fixed-interest securities issue programme - Euro Medium Term Note 
Programme (EMTN) for a maximum amount of up to 1,500 million euros. In relation to 
this programme, the Group prepared a base leaflet that was approved by the Central Bank 
of Ireland. These issues accrue annual interest ranging from 0.732% to 4.625%. The 
securities issued under this programme may: accrue fixed or variable interest, be issued 
in euros or in another currency and at par, below par and premium and have different 
maturity dates for the principal and the interest. At 31 December 2017 the balances 
registered against this EMTN programme in the non-current and current debentures and 
bonds accounts, net of transactions costs and considering interest accrued, amounted to 
551 and 250 million euros, respectively. The fair value of the bonds at the end of the 
financia! year amounts to 8] 7 million euros. 
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Issue by Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A. This issue took place on 28 October 2004 
in the amount of 64.100 thousand euros and accrues interest at 4. 79% per annum payable 
on 15 December each year throughout the life of the issue. The bonds began to be 
redeemed on 15 December 2009 and their total amortisation is scheduled for 15 December 
2027. In 2017, the company is now fully consolidated (see Note 3) and therefore at 31 
December 2017, the balances recorded for this issue on the non-current and current bonds 
and debentures account amounted to 38 and 4.2 million euros, respectively. 

At 31 December 2017, there were no issues convertible into shares, or issues granting 
rights or privileges that might, in the event of a contingency, make them convertible into 
shares of the Parent Company or of any of the Group companies .. 

In addition, two of the companies in the Acciona Group consolidated using the equity 
method have debentures and bonds issued with the following characteristics: 

Private issue of bonds with a credit rating of "A" given by the Standard & Poors rating 
agency by the Canadian company Chinook Roads Partnership in the amount of 
108,882 thousand euros attributed as part of the funding needed to undertake the 
construction, operation and maintenance project for the Southeast Stoney Trail 
motorway in the city of Calgary (Canada). This issue took place on 31March2010 
and accrues interest of 7.134% per annum payable monthly on the last working day 
of each month during the construction phase and quarterly during the operation phase. 
Debt amortisation began on 31 December 2013 and will continue with quarterly 
cancellations until its total amortisation on 31 March 2043 . 

Issue on 27 May 2015 by Sociedad Concesionaria Autovía de la Plata, S.A. in the 
amount of 184,500 thousand euros. The issue accrues a 3.169% annual coupon 
payable every six months. The bond principal must be amortised every six months 
and the total tem1 is 26.6 years, with final maturity on 31 December 2041 . The issue 
credit rating is BBB by the Standard & Poors rating agency. 

c) Other debt-related information 

At 31 December 201 7, the average interest rate of the debt, considering bank borrowings 
and the debt associated with debentures and other negotiable securities, stood at 3. 77%. 

In financia} year 2017, the debt percentage not subject to interest rate volatility stood at 
41.08%. 

The composition of debt in currencies other than the euro at 31 December 2017, classified 
by the main currencies in which the Acciona Group operates, was the following: 
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Financia! debt 

Currency 2017 2016 

Australian dollar 359,438 191 , 104 

Brazilian real 54,535 68,193 

Canadian dollar 79,974 54,583 

Mexican peso 31 ,611 18,856 

Polish zloty 41 ,038 40,255 

US dollar 890,793 973,191 

South African rand 254,229 261 ,765 

Others 69,749 64,586 

Total 1,781,367 1,672,533 

Reconciliation of the carrying amount of bank borrowings is included below, 
differentiating between the changes that generate cash flow and those that do not: 

Balance at 31112/2016 

Cash inflow 

Cash outflow 

Transfcrs to held for sale 

Change in value of derivatives 

Change in scope 

Translation differences and other 

Balance at 31/12/2017 

19. - Risk management policy 

6,770,758 

2,088, 175 

( 1,850,221) 

(269,002) 

(22,3 17) 

100,284 

-73 ,5 13 

6,744,164 

Due to its geographical and business diversification, the Acciona Group is exposed to 
certain risks, which are managed appropriately through the application of a Risk 
Management System. This System is designed to identify potential events that might 
affect the organisation; to manage its risks through the establishment of interna] treatment 
and control procedures that ensure the probabiJity of occurrence and impact of these 
events are kept witbin the established tolerance levels; and to provide reasonable 
assurance in relation to the achievement of strategic business objectives. 

This policy seeks to integrate risk management into Acciona' s strategy and to establish 
the framework and principles of the Risk Management System. 

This policy covers all the risks associated with the activities carried on by Acciona's 
business lines throughout the geographical areas in which it carries on its activity. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate fluctuations change the future flows of assets and liabilities that bear floating­
rate interest. 

This interest rate fluctuation risk is particularly material with regard to the funding of 
infrastructure projects, in concession contracts, in the construction of wind farms or solar 
plants and other projects where the variation in interest rates may have a strong impact 
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on their profitability. This risk is mitigated by hedging transactions through the 
engagement of derivatives (mainly interest rate swaps, IRS). 

Hedging transactions are carried out that mitigate these risks as a function of the Acciona 
Group's projections of the trend in interest rates and of debt structure targets. The level 
of debt hedged in each project depends on the type of project in question and the country 
in which the investment is made. 

The benchmark interest rate for the borrowings arranged by the ACCIONA Group 
companies is mainly Euribor for transactions denominated in euros, Libor for transactions 
denominated in US dollars, CDOR for transactions denominated in Canadian dollars, and 
BBSW for transactions denominated in Australian dollars. The borrowings arranged for 
projects in Latin America are normally tied to the local indices customarily used in the 
local banking industry, or also to the LIBOR rateas the projects in this geographic area 
are frequently financed in US dollars since the cash flows generated by the asset are also 
in the same currency (Exchange rate risk natural hedge). 

Sensitivity test on derivatives and debt 

The financia! instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk are basically borrowings 
arranged at floating interest rates and derivative financia! instruments. 

In order to be able to analyse the effect that a possible fluctuation in interest rates might 
have on the Group's financia! statements, a simulation was performed which assumed a 
50-basis point increase and decrease in interest rates at 31 December 2017. 

The analysis of sensitivity to upward or downward changes of 0.50% in floating interest 
rates (mainly Euribor and Libor) gave rise to a sensitivity in the Group's consolidated 
income statement arising from an increase or decrease in financia! results due to interest 
payments, without the effect of derivatives being considered of 19,782 thousand euros at 
31 December 2017. 

The analysis ofthe sensitivity to upward or downward changes in the long-term interest rate 
curve in relation to the fair value of interest rate derivatives included in cash flow hedges 
arranged by the Group at 31 December 2017 on the basis of share percentage, meant a 
decrease in debt for financia! derivatives vis-a-vis 0.5% increases in the interest rate curve 
of 45,852 thousand euros. Similarly, 0.5% decrease in the interest rate curve would lead to 
an increase of 45,852 thousand euros in liabilities for financia! derivatives. 

F oreign currency risk 

Acciona is developing a process of growing the intemationalisation of its business, which 
means it is exposed to foreign currency risk involving transactions in the currencies of 
the countries where it invests and operates. 

This risk is managed by the Group's Economic and Financia! Department, with non­
speculative hedge criteria being applied. 
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Foreign currency risks relate basically to the following transactions: 

Debt denominated in foreign currencies engaged by Group compames and 
associates. 
Payments to be made in international markets for procurements. 
Receivables tied mainly to the performance of currencies other than the euro. 
Investments made in foreign companies. 

In order to mitigate foreign currency risk, the Acciona Group uses currency derivatives 
(foreign currency hedges) to cover future transactions and cash tlows, within acceptable 
risk Iimits. At other times, non-current assets in currencies other than the euro are 
financed in the same currency as that in which the asset is denominated. 

Also, the net assets relating to net investments in foreign operations whose functional 
currency is not the euro are exposed to foreign currency risk in the translation of the 
financial statements of these foreign operations on consolidation. 

The composition of current and non-current assets and IiabiJities and equity at 31 
December 2017 is shown below in thousand euros for the main currencies in which the 
Acciona Group operates. 

Non-
C urrent 

Non-
C urrent Sensitivity 

C urrency curren! current Net Assets 
assets 

assets 
liabilities 

liabilities (10%) 

Australian dollar (AUD) 624,838 399,030 250,782 358,290 414,796 41 ,480 

Brazi lian real (BRL) 55,440 93,281 63, 109 51 ,635 33,977 3,398 

Canadian dollar (CAD) 208,416 178, 106 124,471 102,968 159,083 15,908 

Chilean Peso (CLP) 127,246 215,414 52,997 143,839 145,824 14,582 

Mexican Peso (MXN) 374,272 250,522 97,776 261 ,834 265,184 26,518 

Zloty (PLN) 171 ,340 266,052 45,950 177,951 2 13,491 21 ,349 

US dollar (USO) 2, 159,65 1 423,482 1,352,300 42 1,898 808,935 80,894 

Rand (ZAR) 287,708 145,420 266,928 94, 161 72,039 7,204 

The last column on the table above shows estímate ofthe negative impact on the Group ' s 
equity of 10% revaluation in the quotation of the euro in respect of these eight main 
currencies in which the Group operates and holds investments. 

Procurement price risk 

The Acciona Group is exposed to fluctuations in the price of procurements, mainly fuel 
for its sea transportation business when such fluctuations cannot be passed on to clients. 

Most fuel purchase transactions are carried out in intemational markets. 

Fluctuations in procurement prices are managed through systematic hedging transactions 
for a period of up to 18 months, which is considered to be the normal period for the 
implementation of the appropriate commercial policies. The systematic hedges applied 
provide monthly coverage for a set amount of expected fuel consumption in each of the 
next 18 months. In this way, the coverage is always for l 8 months, although the amounts 
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covered decreased proportionally from the period of one month up to 18 months. That is, 
the quantity of fuel covered for the next month is always greater than the following month, 
until the 18-month period is complete. 

The risk is managed by arranging specific hedges, generally in the form of derivatives 
(not deliverable), to maintain the economic balance of the procurements. 

In the short and medium term, fluctuations in procurement prices are managed through 
specific hedging transactions, generally using derivatives. 

The Group performed a sensitivity analysis in relation to the possible changes in fuel 
prices. Based on this analysis it was estimated that a 5% change in prices would have an 
effect of approximately 2 million euros on the profits in 2018. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty to a contract does not meet its obligations, 
giving rise to a financia! loss for the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only 
trading with solvent third parties and obtaining sufficient guarantees to mitigate the risk 
of financia! loss in the event of non-performance. The Group only trades with entities 
rated at the same investrnent level as the Group, or higher, and obtains information on its 
counterparties through independent company valuation agencies, other public sources of 
financia! information or the information it obtains from its own relations with clients. 

Bills receivable and trade receivables from clients relate to a large number of clients 
spread over different industries and geographical areas. Credit relations with clients and 
their solvency are assessed on an ongoing basis and credit guarantee insurance is arranged 
when it is considered necessary. 

As regards the default risk, basically in the infrastructure business, an assessment process 
is implemented before entering into contracts with public and prívate clients. This 
assessment includes both a solvency study and supervision of contractual requirements 
from a financia] and legal guarantee viewpoint. During the course of the projects, the 
correct performance of the debt is monitored constantly, and the related value adjustrnents 
are made using economic criteria. 

The Group does not have significant exposure to credit risk with any of its clients or 
groups of clients with similar characteristics. Similarly, credit risk concentration is not 
significant. 

The credit and liquidity risk of derivative instruments with a positive fair value is limited 
in the Acciona Group, since both cash placements and the arrangement of derivatives are 
made with highly solvent counterparties with high credit ratings and no counterparty has 
significant levels of total credit risk. 

Moreover, the definition given for the fair value of a liability in IFRS 13, based on the 
concept of transferring the liability in question to a market player, confirms that own 
credit risk must be considered in the fair value ofliabilities. Thus, Acciona adds a bilateral 
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credit risk adjustment in order to reflect both its own risk and the counterparty risk in the 
fair value of derivatives. 

Liguidity risk 

The Acciona Group manages liquidity risk prudently by ensuring that it has sufficient 
cash and negotiable securities (see Note 15) and by arranging committed credit facilities 
for amounts sufficient to cater for its projected requirements. As indicated in Note 18, at 
31 December 2017 the Group companies had been granted additional financing not drawn 
down in the amount of 1,827 ,3 89 thousand euros, of which 1,807 ,3 89 thousand related to 
credit lines for the financing of working capital, and the remaining amount, 20,000 
thousand euros, to lines to finance fees to enter water projects. The average term of these 
limits amounts to 4.13 years. 

Ultimate responsibility for liquiclity risk management lies with the Economic and 
Financia! Department, which prepares the appropriate framework to control the group's 
liquidity requirements in the short, medium and long term. The Group manages liquidity 
risk by holding adequate reserves, appropriate banking services, having available loans 
and credit facilities, monitoring projected and actual cash flows on an ongoing basis and 
pairing them against financia! asset and liability maturity profiles. 

Finally, attention should be drawn, in relation to this risk, to the fact that the Acciona 
Group has recognised, as part of its quest to diversify its funcling sources, a European 
Commercial Paper programme for the maximum amount of 750 million euros to issue 
commercial paper with maturities of not more than one year, a private placement of 
simple bearer bonds for 62.7 million euros anda Euro Medium Term Notes programme 
for a maximum of 1,500 million euros (see Note 18). 

Economic risk vs. budget variances 

The Group has an overa]] system of economic and budget control for each business, 
adapted to each activity, which provides those responsible for each business with the 
necessary information and allows them to control potential risks and make the most 
appropriate management decisions. The economic and financia} information generated 
within each division is periodically compared with the projected data and indicators, 
variances regarding business volume, profitability, cash flows and other relevant and 
reliable parameters are assessed and, where necessary, the appropriate corrective 
measures are taken. 

Price risk 

With regards to the price risk on the Spanish electricity market, Royal Decree­
Law 9/2013, wbereby urgent measures were adopted to guarantee the financia) stabifüy 
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ofthe electricity system, was published on 12 July 2013. This Royal Decree, which carne 
into force on 13 July 2013, repealed, among others, Royal Decree 66112007, of25 May, 
the decree goveming the remuneration framework supporting renewable energies for 
most of the Acciona Group's power generation facilities located in Spain. 

Royal Decree 413/2014, whereby the activities for electricity generation from renewable 
energy sources, co-generation and waste were regulated, was enacted on 6 June 2014 and 
published in the Central Govemment Gazette on 10 June 2014. In the development ofthis 
decree, final Ministerial Order IET 1045/2014 was signed on 20 June 2014 and published 
in the Central Govemment Gazette on 29 June 2014. The Order sets out the final 
remuneration parameters applicable to ali renewable facilities, whether already in 
existence or planned. These parameters were recently updated after approval of Order 
ETU/130/2017of17 February. The new model defines the remuneration for assets to be 
applied from 14 July 2013 onwards, pursuant to RDL 9/2013. 

This new regulation provides that, in addition to the remuneration for the sale of 
electricity generated valued at market prices, facilities can receive a specific remuneration 
comprising a term per unit of power installed, covering, where appropriate the investment 
costs for a standard facility that cannot be recovered through electricity sales and an 
operating term that covers, where applicable, the difference between operating costs and 
the revenue from the participation of that standard facility in the market. Furthermore, the 
terms for remunerating the investment and the transaction will be reviewed every 3 years, 
taking into consideration the revenue from energy sales at market rates by standard 
facilities, so that any upward or downward variations outside the range of the bands 
established in said Ministerial Order will be incorporated into the calculation of the 
specific remuneration. 

According to the regulation, the purpose of these remuneration terms is not to exceed the 
minimum level necessary to cover the costs enabling the facilities to compete on an equal 
footing with the rest of the technologies on the market and making it possible for them to 
achieve reasonable profitability. With regards to what constitutes reasonable profitability, 
the Royal Decree-Law indicates this will revolve around the mean pre-tax yield on the 
secondary market of ten-year Govemment Bonds by applying the appropriate differential. 
The first additional provision of Royal Decree-Law 9/2013 sets this appropriate 
differential at 300 basis points for facilities participating in the economic regime with a 
premium, ali without prejudice to possible review every six years. 

The new regulatory framework shows that a large part of the Group's renewable assets, 
especially wind power technology commissioned prior to 2004, as well as many of its 
mini-hydroelectric power stations, will cease to receive any additional remuneration other 
than the market price and will thus be fully exposed to price variations on the electricity 
market. On the domestic electricity market, approximately 59% of the Group's total 
production is subject to regulated remuneration whereas the other 41 % is remunerated 
solely at market prices. 

Finally, as regards the price risk on the intemational power markets where Acciona 
operates, it should be noted that approximately 65% of production is governed by a long­
term price contract (PPA) established with a third party, 15% under a regulatory feed-in 
tariff and the remainder through unrestricted sale on the market. 
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20. - Derivative financial instruments 

Interest rate hedges 

The Acciona Group regularly arranges interest rate derivatives, which are designated as 
hedges. These instruments are used to hedge possible changes in cash flows dueto interest 
payments on long-term floating rate financial liabilities. 

Detail of the derivative financial instruments arranged and outstanding at 31 December 
2017 and 2016, which are recognised at market value on the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheet, in assets or liabilities, depending on the market value of the derivative and 
the method of inclusion in the Acciona Group, was as follows: 

2017 2816 

Notional F"mal'lria 
Held for 

Finanria 
lanstmm 

NetionaJ F"m:mria Hddfor v-.. ...a.. lanst....., 
sal.e t Íll sal.e t iD 

(ttiousan 
-.t 1 

liabilffie ·- llSSBÓ:lllS - 1 
liabititie ·- assoriaks 

arranged liabilitm; (Rote ll) arranged lia.bilities (note 11) 
d euros) (*) s (*) 

Cashjl01&· IH!dges: 

lnterest 
1,746,48 2,236,8 1 

rate 
7 

105,464 25,268 7,089 (55,628) 
2 

127,719 33,479 10,052 (78 ,068) 
swaps 

Total 
1,746,48 

105,464 25,268 7,089 (SS,628) 
2,236,81 

127,719 33,479 10,052 (78,068) 
7 2 

(*) The indicated amount of investment in associates is nel of tax. 

The most commonly used interest rate derivatives are interest rate swaps, the purpose of 
which is to fix or limit fluctuations in the floating interest rates of hedged borrowings. 
The Group arranges these financia} derivatives mainly to hedge the cash flows on the debt 
arranged to finance wind farms or solar facilities, in the case of the Energy division, and 
to finance the infrastructure concessions operated mainly through jointly controlled 
entities and associates. 

At 31 December 2017, the fixed interest rates on the Euribor benchmarked financia! 
derivative instruments ranged from 5.074% to 2.060%, and at 31December2016 from 
5.085% to 2.060%. 

The amounts recognised by the Group are based on the market values of equivalent 
instruments at the balance sheet date. Substantially all the interest rate swaps are 
designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value thereof is deferred and 
recognised in equity. 

The tenns in which these cash flow hedges are expected to impact the income statement, 
in proportion to the share percentage, are shown below (in thousand euros). 

Group companies 
or jointly 

< 1 month 

10 

1 - 3 months 

1,347 

Fu tu re settlemeots 

3 mooths - 1 
year 

30,803 
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TRANSLA TION 

~ 
companies 

Associak:s (* ) 476 667 11,554 34,571 29,242 

Changes in the fair value of these instruments are recognised directly in equity (see Note 
16 e). The net deferred tax asset arising on recognition of these instruments amounted to 
21,470 thousand euros at 31 December 2017 and 29,702 thousand euros at 31 December 
2016; these were recognised in equity lines (see Note 22). 

The methods and criteria applied by the Group to measure the fair value of these financial 
instruments are described in Note 4.2.I. 

The notional amounts of the liabilities hedged by interest rate hedges were as follows: 

2017 2016 

Group companies or jointly controlled companies 1,191 ,829 1,594,998 

Associates 438,014 529,776 

Companies classified as held for sale 116,644 112,038 

Total uotional amount arranged 1,746,487 2,236,812 

The contractual notional amounts of the contracts entered into do not reflect the risk 
assumed by the Group, since these amounts merely represent the basis on which the 
derivative settlement calculations are made. The changes in the notional amounts of the 
financia} instruments arranged for the coming years, in proportion to the share percentage, 
are as follows: 

Group companies or jointly 
controlled cornpanies 

Associates 

Fue! hedges 

Change in notional amounts 

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

1,163,091 1,001,750 546,574 441,193 348,583 231 ,040 

454,851 474,733 442,296 367,627 345,283 276,0IO 

The Group uses financial derivatives to manage the risk of fuel purchase price fluctuations 
on intemational markets. The Group manages this risk by arranging financia! instruments 
to mitigate fuel price fluctuations. 

In 2017, through its subsidiary Compañía Trasmediterránea, S.A., the Group hedged fuel 
oil and diesel price fluctuations by arranging several derivatives which ensure a fixed 
purchase price for the tonne of these fuels for a total of 81,862 tonnes. The settlements of 
these derivatives in 201 7 were favourable to the Group and revenue of 4,238 thousand 
euros relating to the contracts that matured during the year was recognised on the 
consolidated income statement as a reduction to the cost of procurements. 
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In addition, the company has hedged the risk of fluctuations in the prices of fuel oil and 
gasoil for financia! year 2018 by engaging two derivatives that ensure a fixed purchase 
price per tonne of fuel oil and gasoil for a total of 126,584 tonnes (approxirnately 39% 
of the expected consumption in 2018). The arnount directly recognised at 31 December 
201 7 in equity as the effective part of the cash-flow hedging relations amounted to a profit 
of 3,285 thousand euros net of externa! and deferred tax. The company had designated 
the appropriate hedging relations at 31 December 2017 and they are fully effective. In 
these hedging relations, the risk covered is the fluctuation in the prices of fuel oil and gas 
oil. 

Foreign currency hedges 

The Group uses currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash 
flows. In 2017 and 2016 the Group hedged a portion of purchases and payments to 
suppliers in US dollars through exchange rate insurance. 

Detail of the transactions outstanding at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows (in 
thousand euros): 

2017 2816 

Efftttof ffitttof 

Curnacy E.J:pir)· date 
Am-0u11t measaremeat Amollllt mrasurement 
arranged at rnarket arranged at market 

''2hie valoe 

Foreign currency 
USD 31.05.2018 18,383 207 

purchase 

Foreign currency 
EUR 31.10.2018 9,534 113 

purchase 

Foreign currency 
AUD 03.04.2017 809 (63) 

purchase 

Total 27,917 320 809 (63) 

At 31 December 201 7, the market values of foreign currency hedges were recognised 
under "Short-term Financia! Assets" in the amount of 320 thousand euros (negative 63 
thousand euros at 31 December 2016) and which related mainly to the last insta]ments of 
the exchange rate insurance engaged for the construction of a photovoltaic plant in 
Australia. 

The amounts recognised by the Group are based on the market va]ues of equivalent 
instrurnents at the balance sheet date. SubstantialJy all the currency purchase transactions 
are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair value thereof is deferred and 
recognised in equity. 

Other derivative financia/ instruments 

In 2009, the Acciona Group prospectively discontinued the accounting of an interest rate 
derivative from a subsidiary consolidated by the equity method, as following the novation 
of the underlying loan it no longer qualified for hedge accounting. The portion of the fair 
va]ue that had been recognised as value adjustments in equity until the time hedge 
accounting was discontinued, and which amounted to 12.114 thousand euros net of the 
tax effect, was being transferred to profit or loss over the period to maturity of the 
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transaction based on the foreseeable reduction of the notional amount, and at 31 
December 2017 it has been entirely transferred to the income statement. 

Lastly, it should be mentioned that two Australian energy subsidiaries ha ve contracts in 
place which enable them to set the future electricity sale price for a specific volume of 
MW. These contracts are measured at market value and the changes in value are 
recognised in equity as value adjustments. At 31 December 2017, the balance in 
"Reserves" and in "Non-controlling interests", net of the tax effect, amounted 22,230 and 
11, 114 thousand euros receivable, respectively, with balancing entries in accounts 
payable in the amount of 4 7 ,634 thousand euros. 

The impacts on equity of the measurement of derivative financia! instruments at 31 
December 2017 can be summarised as follows : 
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Financia! liability dueto iruerest r.úe hedge 

Held-for-sale liability dueto interest rate hedge 

Financia! asset dueto interest rate hedge 

Negative impact on equity dueto interest rate hedge by associates, net oftax 

Net deferred tax payable dueto interest rate hedge 

Net deferred tax payable dueto interest rate hedge rrom held-for sale liabilities 

Recycling ofderivatives from purchasing in stages to income statement (note 3.2h)) 

1 mpact on reserves from purchasing in stages 

Other, mainly dueto non-controlling interests in interest rate hedging transactions 

Balance adjusted duc to changcs in val u e of intcrcst rate hcdging transactions 

Balance adjusted dueto changes in value offuel hedging transactions (net of non-controlling interests 
and tax) 

Balance adjusted dueto changes in value offoreign currency hedging transactions (net ofnon­
controlling interests and tax) 

Balance adjusted dueto changes in value of energy contrae! (net of non-controlling interests and tax) 

Balance adjusted dueto changes in value oftransactions with discontinued hedging (net oftax) 

Other, mainly due to translation differences on derivatives 

Total asset balance receivable for value adjustments at 31 Oeccmber (Note 16) 

21. - Other non-current and current liabilities 

ll.12.2117 

105,039 

25,268 

(7 ,089) 

55,759 

(21 ,470) 

(6,317) 

(15,892) 

(7 ,946) 

(10,394) 

116,958 

(3 ,285) 

(240) 

22,230 

o 
59 

135,722 

Other liabilitics Non-currcnt Curren! 

2017 

Obl igations under finance leases 15,334 

Grants 110,685 

Other deferred i neo me 83,273 

Remuneration payable 

Debt with non-controlling interests 350,668 

Other payables 1,226,311 

Closing balance 1,786,271 

2016 

16,907 

132,426 

111,404 

367, 145 

1,307,453 

1,935,335 

2017 

538 

129,023 

5,870 

609,159 

744,590 

2016 

547 

136,378 

3,763 

455,410 

596,098 

"Other Deferred Income" related mainly to certaín incentives established to promote the 
development of renewable energies in the US, which are similar in nature to grants for 
accounting purposes and which apply to two wind farms developed by the Energy 
division in the US. In addition, it included the amount of 42 million euros (53 million 
euros in 2016) related to the fair value of a non-finance derivative arranged by a Chilean 
subsidiary of the energy Division, for energy supply to a clientas :from 2017 ata fixed 
price for 13 anda half years (see Note 12). 

"Debt with non-controlling interests" included mainly the assumption by the 
infrastructure fund KKR, which became shareholder in the Acciona Group's subsidiary 
Acciona Energía Internacional, S.A. in June 2014, of one third of the subordinated debt 
of Acciona Energía Internacional, S.A. dated 25 February 2012 and with a balance of 
327.5 million euros at 31 December 2017 (342 million euros in 2016). This debt matured 
in 2017 and accrued 12-month Euribor interest rate +3.7% and was renewed for another 
5 years up to 31 December 2022, at the same interest rate. 

In addition, mention must be made of the debt with members in the wind and photovoltaic 
projects in South Africa, which amounted to 12 million euros (18 million euros in 2016). 

CU\R.l\ LOlS LOZAi~O 

"'".' n111".,.f\[', i:. 111r~ :i~icF JU~.~.J;1 DE !NGLt:, \t .. ""\U\./..1lVl\f'i~d1 1-1\, 1• .... , 

Nº. 10009 
,.....----·------



TRANSLATION 

The main movement in "Other Non-Current Payables" related to the balance pending 
payment of 799 mi Ilion euros (777 million euros at 31 December 2016) from the 
subsidiary A TLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. for the fee under the 
conditions established in the tender document, as described in Note 8. The same item 
records a loan from the Administration for 61 million euros as part of the financing for 
Sociedad Concesionaria A2 Tramo 2, S.A.U., as well as liabilities for long-term business 
transactions relating to the construction business for 50 million euros (251 million euros 
in 2016). This figure includes advances from clients, which will be discounted with future 
certifications in a period over one year in the new intemational projects of the 
construction division. 

The increase recorded in "Other current payables" related mainly to the balances pending 
payment for PPE goods for 200 million euros, mostly in the energy division for two wind 
facilities currently under construction in Australia and Mexico (see note 5). 

"Obligations under Finance Leases'', which related mainly to outstanding lease payments, 
includes the purchase option on certain facilities ofthe energy division in Australia. Detail 
was as follows: 

Amounts payable under leases 

Within one year 

Between one and two years 

Between two and five years 

After five years 

Total lcase payments payable 

Less future finance charges 

Present value oflease obligations 

Less: amount due for settlement within twelve months (current liability) 

Amount due for settlement aftcr twelve months 

Mínimum lcase payments 

2017 2016 

2,001 2,431 

1,902 2,028 

5,512 5,855 

25,531 26,612 

32,946 36,926 

17,074 19,472 

15,872 17,454 

538 547 

15,334 16,907 

The main change in the financia} year related to the payments made during the period. 

"Grants" related mostly to amounts awarded for the construction ofwind farms in United 
States. The changes in "Grants" in 2017 and 2016 were as follows: 

Grants 

Balance at 31/12/2015 148,174 

Additions 237 

Taken to profit/(loss) "Other lncome" (9,373) 

Others (6,612) 

Balance at 31/12/2016 132,426 

Additions 124 

Taken to profit/(loss) ·'Other lncome" (8,065) 

Others (13 ,800) 

Balance at31/12/2017 110,685 
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In 2017 there were no significant additions. The line "Other" reflects mainly a negative 
variation due to the exchange rate, as a result of the depreciation of the US do llar against 
the euro. 

In 2016 there were no significant additions. The Jine "Other" reflected mainly a positive 
variation dueto the exchange rate, as a result of the appreciation of the US do llar against 
the euro, and a negative variation due to the wind assets that the Group held in Greece 
leaving the scope. 

22.- Tax matters 

Tax Consolidation System: 

Pursuant to current legislation, consolidated tax groups include the parent together with 
certain subsidiaries that meet the requirements provided for in Spanish tax legislation. 
Since 2009, there has been a single tax group in Spain that avails itself of this special 
taxation system, the parent Company of which is Acciona, S.A. In addition to the Spanish 
tax group, the Group pays tax under the tax consolidation system in Australia (including 
all the Group' s divisions operating in said country), in Germany for the handling business 
and for the companies comprising the energy division in the US, Portugal and Italy. 

The other Acciona Group companies file separate tax returns in accordance with the 
applicable local or regional tax laws or those in force in each country. 

Effective from 1 January 2008, several Group companies availed themselves of the 
special system for Company Groups for V A T purposes, as set forth in Chapter IX of Title 
IX ofValue Added Tax Act 37/1992, of28 December. The parent ofthe VAT Group is 
Acciona, S.A. Various entities of the energy division also pay V A T under the Group V A T 
system, in accordance with local laws in Navarra, Italy, Australia and in the United Arab 
Emirates, which includes the Construction and Water project companies in Abu Dhabi 
and Dubai. 

Years open for review by the tax authorities: 

On 10 March 2012, tax audits were initiated in relation to Corporate Tax for 2007-2009 
by the inspection services from the Central Office for High-Income Taxpayers, against 
both the parent, Acciona, S.A., and other subsidiaries. In addition to the review of the Tax 
Group' s corporate tax for those years, the Company Group for V A T was under review 
for 2008 and 2009 and for other taxes for 2008 and 2009 ofthe Group companies subject 
to the tax review. 

During these actions and on the occasion of the review of the withholdings effected on 
payment of dividends, this partial review was extended to financia] years 201 O, 2011 and 
2012 and also included the reverse merger operation involving Grupo Entrecanales, S.A. 
and its subsidiaries taken over by Acciona, S.A. on 11 July 2011 . The tax inspectors 
accepted the existence of valid economic grounds for the merger operation and its 
inclusion within the special tax system for mergers, spin-offs, contributions of assets and 
securities swaps. 
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The inspectors, for their part, queried the fulfilment of the requirements for application 
of the exemption in the payment of dividends for one of the non-resident shareholders, in 
particular, the requirements of holding the status of effective beneficiary, and this led to 
the signing ofthe contested tax assessments. On 3 and 17 July 2014, the Company lodged 
economic and administrative appeals at the Central Economic Administrative Court. On 
29 May 2015 the Company reached an agreement with the shareholder that received the 
dividends so as to proceed to pay said amount, with settlement of the tax debt upon the 
shareholder's payment. 

The other inspection actions concluded on 12 June 2014 with the signing of uncontested 
assessments for Corporate Tax for 2007-2009 and without any tax due, uncontested 
conclusions for V AT with the regularisation of Acciona's differentiated activity sectors 
as a "mixed holding" ( without fine), with application of part of the provisions allocated 
in Acciona, S.A., as well as contested assessrnents for Personal Incorne Tax withholdings 
relating to compensation for disrnissal. The Group companies lodged economic and 
adrninistrative appeals at the Central Econornic Adrninistrative Court. On 19 October 
2015 this Court notified dismissal of the claims filed by Acciona Construcción, 
confirming settlement of the assessments for withholdings for the 2008 to 2011 periods, 
as well as the relevant fine proceedings. On 3 Decernber 2015 the cornpany filed appeal 
for judicial review at the National Appellate Court; this rnatter is still pending a vote and 
decision. It is estirnated that the risk that the proposed fines will be approved is possible. 

With regards to Value Added Tax, the company heading the V A T cornpany group 
(Acciona, S.A.) agreed to and signed the tax assessrnent dated 29 April 2014 for financia! 
years-periods 2008 to January 201 O, regularising the input V A T deductible due to the 
"rnixed holding" condition of the company. 

On 21 May 2015 the Central Office of High-Income Taxpayers notified the start of 
inspection actions in relation to Corporate Tax for financial years 2010-2012, targeting 
Acciona, S.A., as the parent of the Group, and several subsidiaries. In addition to review 
of Corporate Tax of the Tax Group for said years, it has included the V A T Company 
Group, years 2011, 2012 and 2013, and any other taxes for the years/periods frorn 04/2011 
to 12/2012 ofthe Group cornpanies under tax review. These inspections were concluded 
on 16 May 2017 with the signing of uncontested conclusions for V A T and uncontested 
assessments for Corporate Tax without any fines. No payrnents were to be rnade as a 
result, however the regularisation involved a reduction in the tax credits due to the 
application of the unused tax credits. The Group proceeded to partially apply the tax 
provision, recognising an amount of 16,560 thousand euros of Corporate Tax in the cost 
account. 

The actions related to the V A T Group for financia! year 2013 are partial and limited only 
to review of the deductible input V A T so as to regularise this V A T on the same terms as 
those agreed in previous tax audits that ended with assessrnents signed in agreernent and 
with no fines. On 29 September 2015 the tax assessments were signed in agreernent to 
regularise ali the outstanding years (periods O 1/201 O to 12/2013) 

On 10 January 2013, the company Guadalaviar Consorcio Eólico, S.A. was notified of 
the inception of tax inspection actions relating to Corporate Tax and Value Added Tax 
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for financia! years 2008 and 2009, in which the value ofthe wind-power rights transferred 
in 2009 was reviewed. These actions concluded with the signing of a contested 
assessment for the measurement made by the tax auditors of the said wind-power rights, 
which increased the value declared by the parties. The company received the proposed 
settlement from the technical services from the Central Office for High-Income 
Taxpayers on 23 December 2013 andan economic-administrative appeal was filed at the 
Central Economic and Administrative Court on 13 January 2014. On 16 February 2017, 
the Central Economic and Administrative Court issued resolution accepting the claim in 
part and ordering the Inspection to proceed to notify the entity of its right to have a 
counter-valuation by appraisal experts. The amount of the adjustment, including late­
payment interest up to the settlement date would come to 10,545 thousand euros and it is 
estimated that the possibility of these significant liabilities materialising is possible. 

In the month ofDecember 2014, the Mexican project companies Eurus SAPI de CV, CE 
Oaxaca llI and CE Oaxaca IV received notice of tax settlements from Juchitán Town 
Council for municipal levies related to the 2011 to 2014 financia! years. These companies 
lodged complaints or appeals (petitions for legal protection) before the District Court of 
Oaxaca and obtained the suspension of enforcement of the settlements. The extemal 
advisers engaged to carry out the process concluded that the likelibood that the appeals 
lodged would be upheld is high (75%), since there are solid arguments for the defence, 
constitutional principies had been breached and they are administrative acts contrary to 
law. AH this is supported by the fact that a Mexican court, at the first instance, allowed 
cancellation ofthe municipal regulations on these contributions for 2015. In addition, on 
28 January 2016 the Seventh District Court of Oaxaca issued a ruling favourable to the 
company Oaxaca IV, allowing the appeal filed against the settlement of municipal 
contributions ofthe Juchitán Town Council, although this ruling is not final as it has been 
appealed against by the Town Council through appeal for review. 

The Sixth District of Oaxaca also issued a ruling in favour of the appeal against the 
settlements of the company EURUS (years 2011-2014 ), the amount of whicb carne to 823 
million pesos and hence the Oaxaca Ill appeal is the only one pending resolution. 
Therefore, the risk that material liabilities will materialise from this process is remote. 

At 31 December 2017, the years that have not lapsed and that have not been reviewed 
were subject to review by the tax authorities, both for Corporate Tax and for the other 
main taxes applicable to the companies in the consolidated tax group. In general, the other 
Spanish consolidated companies have the last four years open for review by the tax 
authorities for the main taxes applicable thereto. 

As tax legislation can be interpreted in different ways, the outcome of the tax audits that 
could be conducted by the tax authorities in the future for the years subject to verification 
might give rise to tax liabilities which at present cannot be objectively quantified. 
However, the probability of material liabilities arising in this connection additional to 
those already recognised is remote, and the directors of Acciona S.A. Consider that the 
liabilities that might arise would not have a material effect on the equity of the Acciona 
Gro u p. 
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Receivables and payables with Public Administrations 

Breakdown of receivables and payables with Public Administrations at 31 December 
2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

Tax receivables 

VAT and other indirect taxation 

Corporate Tax 

O efe rred tax 

Other 

Total 

Tax payables 

Corporate Tax 

Personal income tax withholdings 

V A T and other indirect taxation 

Deferred tax 

Accrued social security charges 

Other local taxes 

Others 

Total 

2017 

Non-current 

805,369 

805,369 

490,506 

490,506 

Current 

131 ,092 

146,403 

15,038 

292,533 

77,385 

30,697 

99,214 

22, 144 

37,690 

46,805 

313,935 

2016 

Non-current 

997,393 

997,393 

804,282 

804,282 

Current 

133,328 

95,872 

13,723 

242,923 

57,927 

21 ,653 

87,551 

22,975 

39,674 

46,267 

276,047 

At 31 December 2017, of note is the in crease in tax payables for V A T and other indirect 
taxes, which corresponds to the pending payment for the V A T tax group for the month of 
December, of which Acciona, S.A. is the parent company. The change in personal income 
tax withholdings should also be noted, associated with the long-term delivery of shares 
to Executive Directors. 

The line "Other local taxes" for balances payable included the Tax on the Value of 
Electricity Generation and the fee for the use of continental waters for electricity 
production. These charges were introduced by Act 15/2012 of 27 December and carne 
into effect on 1January2013. The line "Others" at 31December2017 and 2016 included 
the Transfer Tax and Stamp Duty to which the A TLL concession is subjected to, for the 
amount of 30,853 and 33,350 thousand euros respectively; the settlement of this tax is 
suspended since the court ruling is still pending. 

The V A T refundable and V AT payable balances include the balances relating to the 
special V A T Company Groups system. 
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Reconciliation of accounting profit/(loss) and the tax result 

Reconciliation between the accounting result and the income tax expense, at 31 December 
2017 and 2016, was as fallows: 

Consolidated profit/(loss) before tax 

Profit/(loss) before tax From discontinued operations 

Permanent differences 

Adjusted accounting profit/(loss) 

Tax expense adjusted by tax rate 

Tax credits 

Offset oftaxable amounts not posted to the accounts 

Unrecogn ised tax credits 

Year's tax expense 

Tax rate change 

EfTect oftax adjustments from previous years and other 

Tax expense on the income statement 

Tax expense from discontinued operations 

2017 

356,286 

10,539 

366,825 

89,255 

(4,714) 

(3,919) 

13,759 

94,38 1 

4,202 

6,758 

105,341 

2016 

407,635 

(550,544) 

(142,909) 

(34,822) 

(5,811) 

(3,337) 

30,063 

( 13,907) 

253 

47,434 

33,780 

The "Permanent differences" item is made up of income and expenditure that are not 
eligible far inclusion in accordance with the applicable tax legislation. In addition, the 
heading also includes those results that are eliminated in the consolidation process but, 
nonetheless, are fully effective within the scope of the international tax returns of each 
entity in the Group, especially those that do not belong to the Tax Group. The most 
significant permanent differences include the depreciation of the share in Nordex, SE 
amounting to 145 million euros which generates a permanent positive difference (see 
Note 9). The main permanent negative difference corresponds to the adjustment of the 
positive result of 74 million euros that is generated by the contribution of assets to Testa 
Residencial SOCIMI, S.A (see Note 3.2h) and which is not subjected to taxation. Finally, 
there are permanent negative differences relating to losses that, being fully effective, are 
removed in the consolidation process; this includes the settlement of various subsidiaries, 
the shares of which had been fully provisioned in the corresponding individual financia! 
statements far an amount of 22 million euros. 

The most significant concept in 2016 related to the tax-exempt gains obtained from the 
Nordex-A WP operation. The tax result increases included the minimum reinvestment of 
the value impairment of the investments in Own Funds of entities at the clase of financia! 
year 2013 that were fiscally deductible, far the amount of 35,119 thousand euros, 
according to Royal Legislative Decree 3/2016 of 3 December, as well as sundry non­
deductible provisions and impairments. 

The "Tax expense adjusted by tax rate" is the result of applying the different tax rates 
applicable to the adjusted accounting result far each of the different jurisdictions where 
the Group operates. 

The line "Unrecognised tax credits" includes the tax credits derived from the negative 
results generated by sorne subsidiaries. 
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The reconciliation ofthe pre-tax accounting profit/(loss) and the tax base is shown below: 

2017 2016 

Consol idaled profü/ (loss) before tax 356,286 407,635 

Pemianent differences 10,539 (550,544) 

Temporary differences ( 115,804) 197,277 

Offsetting oftax loss carryforwards ( 125,404) (27,528) 

Taxable base 125,617 26,840 

The temporary differences for financial year 2017 included the deduction of the excess 
non-deductible net frnance costs in financia! year 2016 by the Spanish Tax Group, which 
meant a decrease in the taxable base of sorne 125 million euros, as well as the movement 
in non-deductible provisions and impairments and related reversions on application 
thereof, together with the remaining adjustments for the freedom of amortisation and the 
accelerated tax amortisation; they are detailed further below in the section about deferred 
taxes. 

Taxes recognised in equity 

Independently from the tax on profit recognised on the consol idated income statement, in 
2017 and 2016 the Group recognised the following amounts in consolidated equity: 

Deferred tax 

Fair value offinancial instruments 

Financia! assets wíth changes in equity 

Actuaria! losses and gains on pension plans 

Translation differences 

Total 

2017 

(27, 107) 

79 

(39) 

(27,067) 

2016 

(47,311) 

(67) 

226 

( 10,546) 

(57,698) 

In accordance with the tax legislation in force in the countries in which the consolidated 
companies are located, in 2017 and 2016 there were certain temporary differences arase 
that must be considered when quantifying the related income tax expense. 

The deferred taxes aro se in 2017 and 2016 as a result of the following: 

Oeferred tax liabilities with origin in: 2017 2016 

Tax loss carryforwards 279,504 254,831 

Tax credit carryforwards 151 ,329 182,373 

Derivalive financia! instruments 39,538 52,637 

Prov. over assets 34,270 34,108 

Relating to taxation under the pass-through regime (UTEs) 24,242 27,875 

Other 276,486 445,569 

Total deferred tax assets 805,369 997,393 
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Dcferred tax liabilities originating in: 

Remeasurement of financia! assets 

Allocation of first-time consolidation differences to assets 

Remeasurement of property, plant and equipment and investment 
property 

Derivative financia! instruments 

Relating to taxat ion under the pass-through regime ( UTEs) 

Other 

Total deferred tax liabilities 

2017 2016 

38 117 

131 ,560 129,004 

10 40,076 

7,696 6,070 

908 7,163 

350,294 621 ,852 

490,506 804,282 

Detail of the deferred tax assets and liabilities presented as net values for accounting 
purposes at the end of the financial year is as follows: 

Assets 2017 Liabilities 2017 

Tax loss carryforwards 61,305 Other 133,311 

Re lating to taxation under the 
Other 72,006 pass-through regime (UTEs) 5,447 

Early laxes relating to taxation under the 
pass-through regime (UTEs) 5,447 

Deferred tax assets 138,758 Deferred tax liabilities 138,758 

At 31 December 2017, the tax loss carryforwards, generated by the subsidiaries before 
their inclusion in the Tax Group ofwhich Acciona, S.A. is the parent, amounted to 130.1 
million euros. Of this amount, a total of 127.5 million euros related to tax loss 
carryforwards not capitalised on the consolidated balance sheet, corresponding to the Tax 
Group of which Acciona, S.A. is the parent company, as there was no assurance of the 
achievement of sufficient future profits or because the tax regulations establish limits and 
requirements for them to be offset. Of this balance, the subsidiaries of the Compañía 
Trasmediterránea Subgroup, which joined the Tax Group in 2010, contributed most of 
the previous tax loss carryforwards. 

In addition, sorne Energy Division subsidiaries in Mexico, South Africa, Australia and 
the US, as well as Mostostal Warszawa and various subsidiaries in Chile also recognised 
tax credits for negative taxable bases pending offsetting. There are also taxable bases that 
have not been recorded totalling 503 million euros, mainly generated in the US and Chile. 

"Revaluation of property, plant and equipment and real property" reflected the difference 
between the carrying amount and the tax amount for the assets of the company Compañía 
Urbanizadora el Coto, which after its disposal has been de-recognised. 

Regarding the interim settlement of Corporate Tax of the Tax Group for 2017, the Tax 
Group hada negative taxable base of236 million euros, which, together with the balance 
for 2014 and 2016, means a deferred tax asset of 59 million euros. 

At 2017 year-end, the deadlines for the tax credits recognised for negative taxable bases 
pending application were (in thousand euros): 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 

Acciona, S.A. tax group -
previous capitalised 

Amount Lapse period 

59,018 No lapsing date 

2,61 1 No lapsing date 
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Spanish companies outside the 
TaxGroup 

lnlernational - limited 

lnternational - limited 

lnternational - limited 

lnternational - limited 

lnternational - limited 

lnternational - limited 

lnlemational - limited 

lnternational - limited 

lnternational - limited 

lntemational - unlimited 

Total 

3,275 

5,413 

3,609 

25 

1,232 

8,851 

27,927 

48,024 

45,387 

41,358 

94,079 

340,809 

No lapsing date 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

2023 

2024 

2025 

2026 

2027 

No lapsing date 

The Corporate Tax Act (Act 27/2014, of27 November) eliminated with effective date on 
1 January 2015, the deadline for offsetting negative taxable bases, which was set at 18 
years, so this is now unlimited. 

The unused tax credits, totalling 145,008 thousand euros, related main1y to those eamed 
by the tax Group ofwhich Acciona, S.A. is the parent company. At 31December2017, 
the most significant unused tax credits were: R&D+I tax credits amounting to 85,643 
thousand euros; tax credits for the reinvestment of extraordinary income amounting to 
25 ,302 thousand euros; and environmental tax credits amounting to 15, 722 thousand 
euros. 

At the el ose of 2017, the deadlines for deduction of the unused tax credits recognised on 
the consolidated balance sheet ofthe Acciona Group were as follows (in thousand euros): 

1 
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Amount Lapse period 

Acciona, S.A. Tax Group - deductions 
2,557 No lapsing date 

for double taxation 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 9,762 2023 

Acc iona, S.A. tax group 11 , 187 2024 

Acc iona, S.A. tax group 8,890 2025 

Acc iona, S.A. tax group 16, 137 2026 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 19,043 2027 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 23,745 2028 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 27,942 2029 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 7,076 2030 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 6,751 2031 

Acc iona, S.A. tax group 7,950 2032 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 860 2033 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 1,556 2034 

Acciona, S.A. tax group 1,553 2035 

Spanish companies outside the Tax 
1,143 No lapsing date 

Group 

Non-residen! companies 5,178 No lapsing date 

Total 151,539 

Act 27/2014, of 27 November, on Corporate Tax, eliminated, on effective date 1 January 
2015, the deadline for offsetting double-taxation deductions pending application from 
previous financia! years, so the period is unlimited, as provided for in section 39 of 
Act 27/2014, and extended the general period to offset other deductions to 15 years, 
except for R&D+I which was extended to 18 years. 

At year-end there are no material unused tax credits that had not been recognised. 

The Acciona Group expects to recover the tax loss and tax credit carryforwards 
recognised in the books, through the companies' ordinary activities and without any 
equity risk of losses. 

Most of the deferred tax assets included in the line "Other" related to provisions for 
liabilities, risks, insolvency, and other non-deductible items amounting to 112,234 
thousand euros, to a provision associated with contractual non-compliance, to the 
adjustment for non-deductible accounting amortisation of 30% of the Spanish companies 
introduced on a temporary basis for the years 2013 and 2014 and which began to reverse 
in 2015, the amount of which is 36,810 thousand euros, as well as the homogenisations 
made as part of the consolidation process and the elimination of interna! margins that 
reverse as the assets are amortised. Finally, this heading includes adjustments to the tax 
base through the application of other countries' specific regulations whereby certain 
expenses are not deductible until payment or do not follow the accounting accrual 
criterion for their deductibility, as is the case with Mexico, Australia and the United 
States, or because a billing-based criterion is applied instead of accounting accrual by 
stage of progress, as happens in Chile. 

The line "Other" under the deferred tax liability heading includes the tax adjustments 
under the freedom to amortise established in the Eleventh Additional Provision included 
in RDL 4/2004 ( consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act) by Act 4/2008. This line 

- Pagel24 -



TRANSLATION 

retlects the reversion of the adjustment from previous years for the amount of the 
accounting amortisation recognised and for de-recognised assets. The accumulated 
amount of this adjustment at 31 December 2017 for the Spanish Tax Group companies 
amounted to 152,052 million euros for tax Iiability. It also included the amortisation effect 
for tax purposes of Mexico, South Africa and the US for approximately 138, 64 and 50 
million euros for tax liability, respectively, as well as adjustments for application of the 
specific regulations of countries where accounting income is not recognised for tax 
purposes until the bill is issued or collected, instead of the principle of accounting accrual 
or stage of progress, mainly in Chile and Mexico. This line also includes deferment of 
income from uncertified works and advances to suppliers of several Mexican companies. 

Based on the enactment of Royal Decree-Law 3/2016, of2 December, which establishes 
measures in the taxation area aimed at the consolidation of public finances, and urgent 
measures in social matters, the total amount of the deferred tax liability related to the 
impairment of portfolio pending reversion in the taxable base for 45,456 thousand euros. 
This Royal Decree established the incorporation of value impairments of investments that 
were fiscally deductible in periods prior to 2013, for a maximum period of five years from 
the tax periods starting on 01/01/2016, regardless of whether their value has been 
recovered or not. For quantification of this tax liability, the specific situations of each 
value impairment of the shareholding in capital or in capital and reserves of the investees 
that were fiscally deductible were considered, as well as potential legal or contractual 
restrictions or otherwise in connection to possible transferability of such shareholdings. 

Reporting obligations 

Current Corporate tax legislation provides tax incentives to encourage certain 
investments. The companies in the Tax Group have availed themselves of the benefits 
provided for under this legislation. 

The Tax Group, through its Parent and certain of its subsidiaries, is required to fulfil the 
obligations assumed in connection with the tax incentives applied and, in particular, it 
must hold, for the stipulated period, the assets for which the investment or reinvestment 
tax credits were taken. 

In financial years 2010, 2011 , 2012, 2013 and 2014, the Parent and certain companies in 
the Tax Group availed themselves of the tax credit for reinvestment of extraordinary 
income provided for by Article 42 ofRoyal Legislative Decree 4/2004 (consolidated text 
of the Corporate Tax Act)1• The income qualifying for this tax credit in these years 
amounted to 86,550, 160,251, 8,640, 9,598 and 34,516 thousand euros, respectively. The 
income relating to 2009 and 201 O was reinvested in 201 O, the income relating to 2011 
was reinvested in 2011, the incorne relating to 2012 and 2013 was reinvested in 2013, and 
the income relating to 2014 in 2014. The assets in which the income was reinvested were 
as listed in Article 42 of Royal Legislative Decree 4/2004, i.e. property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets, investment property and securities representing 
stakeholdings of no less than 5% in the share capital or equity of ali manner of cornpanies. 
The income was reinvested by the cornpanies belonging to Tax Group 30/96. 

1 Regulated in the Twenty-Fourth Temporary Provision of Act 27/2014 ---·--------·---
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Pursuant to section 1 O of the article 42 of the consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act, 
this information must be disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financia! statements as 
long as the period for which the assets must be held, as established in section 8 of that 
article, is not complied with. 

In accordance with the provisions contained in section 86 of Corporate Tax Act 27/2014, 
certain Group companies engaged in 2017 in the transactions listed below, to which the 
Special System for mergers, spin-offs, contribution of assets and securities swaps was 
applied: 

- Merger ofthe companies Acciona Energía Solar, S.L. and Acciona Solar Canarias, S.A. 
(merged companies) and the company Acciona Solar, S.A. (merging company) 
documented in <leed dated 27 July 2017 and with backdated effect of 1 January 2017. 

- Special non-cash contribution by Acciona Service, S.L. to Acciona Aeropuertos, S.L. 
ofthe stakeholding in the company Acciona Airport Services, S.A, documented in public 
<leed dated 28 July 2017. 

- Special non-cash contribution by Acciona, S.A. to Acciona Concesiones, S.L. of the 
stakeholdings in the companies Sociedad Concesionaria Novo Hospital de Vigo, S.A., 
Acciona Servicios Concesionales, S.L., Sociedad Concesionaria Hospital del Norte, S.A., 
Nova Dársena Esportiva de Bara, S.A., Autovía de los Viñedos, S.A., Sociedad Anónima 
Concesionaria de la Junta de Comunidades de Castilla La Mancha, Gran Hospital Can 
Misses, S.A. and Sociedad Concesionaria de la Zona Regable del Canal de Navarra, S.A., 
documented in public <leed dated 21 December 2017. 

Pursuant to section 3 of article 86 of Act 27/2014 on the consolidated text ofthe Corporate 
Tax Act, the information required for operations carried out in previous years appears in 
the relevant separate notes to financia! statements as approved. 

In 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011and2012, severa! companies in the tax group deducted the tax 
credit for impairment losses on ownership interests in Group companies, jointly 
controlled entities and associates, as provided for in Article 12.3 of Royal Legislative 
Decree 4/2004 (consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act), regulated in Temporary 
Provision Sixteen of Act 27/2014. 

Act 16/2013, of 29 October, repealed, with effect from 1 January 2013, section 12.3 of 
the consolidated text of the Corporate Tax Act in relation to deduction of impairment 
losses on such equity interests and established a transitional system for the inclusion of 
losses pending incorporation at 31/12/2012 in the taxable base. 

Royal Decree-Law 3/2016, of 2 December, which establishes measures aimed at the 
consolidation of public ti.nances and urgent measures in social matters, provided for 
mandatory mínimum reversion of deductible portfolio reversions, in a maximum period 
of five years, effective financia! year 2016. 

The notes to the separate financia! statements of these companies include the disclosures 
required by tax legislation conceming the change in the year in the investees' equity, the 
amounts included in the taxable base and the amounts yet to be included. 
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23.- Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 

Detail of "Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale" on the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

As sets from the energy dívision ( eneJID' assets) 

Assets from the other activities division (Trasmediteminea) 

Assets from the other act:n·ities division ( investment property) 

Assets from the construction division (concessioo asset) 

Total ao11-canYnt ti!!etll dassifird as bdd for sale 

Balaaee at 
3J/12fltl7 

965,952 

466,169 

1,432,121 

Balaoee at 
3Jn2/21H6 

26,691 

300,470 

327,161 

At 31 December 2017, detail, by division, of the main asset headings prior to their 
classification as "Assets Held for Sale" was as follows: 

Otber 
Energy Artivitirs 
DimiM o¡,,·ñm. 

Property, plant and equipment & intangible assets 919,572 345,039 

Non-curren! financia! assets 2 3,535 

Deferred tax assets 18,277 5,049 

Other non-curren! assets 1,012 116 

1 nventories 5,970 

Trade and other accounts receivable 16,697 100,499 

Other curren! financia! assets 8,089 1,641 

Cash and cash equivalents 2,303 4,320 

Assets classilied as held for sale 965,952 466,169 

In addition, detail at 31 December 2017 and 2016 of "Non-current liabilities Classified 
as Held for Sale" on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet was as follows: 

Liabilities from the energy division (energy assets) 

Liabilities from the other activities division (Trasmediterránea) 

Liabilities from the other activities division (investment property) 

Liabilities from the construction division (concession asset) 

Total non-current liabilities classilied as held for sale 
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At 31 December 2017, detail of the main liability items prior to their classification as held 
for sale was as follows: 

Otilrr 
Earrgy Activities 
Dhision Division 

Non-current bank borrowings 170,210 90,473 

Deferred tax liabífities 103,039 6,027 

Olher noo-cnrrent liabilities 79 1,622 

Current bank borrowings 9,386 2,419 

Trade and otber payables 4,454 74,125 

Other cwreJJt liabilities 6,444 5,262 

Liabi.littts lldd for saJr 293,612 179,928 

Accumulated income and expenses recognised directly in equity at 31 December 201 7 in 
relation to assets classified as held for sale were as follows: 

Translation dilferences 

Adjustrnents for change in value 

Total rccogoiscd incomc and 
expense 

E nergy 
Division 

(2,065) 

(2,065) 

Other 
Activities 
Division 

(5 1) 

( 1, 177) 

(1,228) 

On 25 October 2017, Acciona, S.A. signed a purchase agreement with Anarafe, S.L.U., a 
company belonging to the Naviera Armas Group, for all the stakeholdings that the Group 
holds in the Compañía Trasmediterránea subgroup, which amounts to 92.71 % of its share 
capital. This agreement involves recognising an enterprise value for 100% of the 
Compañía Trasmediterránea subgroup of between 419 and 436 million euros, based on 
the leve! of achievement of an earn out agreed with the purchaser which is linked to the 
achievement of EBITDA objectives. This operation is subject to a single condition 
precedent regarding achieving authorisation from Spanish competition authorities. The 
Group hopes to achieve this authorisation in the short term. Therefore, all the assets and 
liabilities associated with the Trasmediterránea Subgroup at 31December2017 have been 
classified as held for sale. 

In addition, at the close of financia! year 2017, a series of energy assets located in Spain 
have been transferred to these headings after advanced negotiations have taken place with 
potential buyers. 

Likewise, the sale of two assets that had been classified under this heading in the previous 
financia! year has been formalised in 2017. A property as set was sold on 1 O J anuary 2017 
and on 24 October 2017 authorisation was given by Chilean competition authorities to 
formalise the sale of Concessionaire Acciona Concesiones Ruta 160, S.A. (see Note 
3.2.h). 

- Pagel28 -



TRANSLATION 

At the date when control was lost over the abovementioned Chilean concessionaire, the 
breakdown of assets and liabilities in thousand euros was as follows: 

ASSETS 

Properly, planl and equipment & intangible assels 

Concessions under LIT financia! model 

Othcr non-curren! assels 

Concessions under srr financia! model 

Trade and other accounts receivable 

Other curren! financia! assets 

Cash and cash equivalenls 

Total non-currcnt asscts classificd as held for sale 

LIABILITIES 

Non-curren! bank borrowings 

Other non-curren! liabilities 

Curren! bank borrowings 

Trade and other payables 

Other current liabilities 

Total liabilitics classified as held for sale 

24. - Guarantee commitments to third parties 

770 

242,025 

15,913 

4,249 

10,072 

7,726 

8,046 

288,801 

149,027 

7,360 

8,704 

1,756 

298 

167,145 

The companies had provided third-party bonds before clients, public agencies and 
financia! institutions, for 3,677,415 thousand euros and 3,580,304 thousand euros at 31 
December 2017 and 2016, respectively. The increase was mainly dueto bonds delivered 
for new tenders within the construction division. 

The pu:rpose of most of the bonds provided was to guarantee good performance in the 
development of the works engaged by the infrastructure division. 

In addition, collateral provided to cover future capital and reserves contributions in the 
concession company NX2, L.P. (Puhoi - Warkworth motorway (New Zeeland)) was 
included, for the amount of 6 million euros within the infrastructure division. 

The companies estimate that any liabilities as could arise frorn the guarantees provided 
would not be significant. 
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25. - Revenue 

Breakdown ofthe Group's revenue was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Energy 1,737, 187 1 ,795,829 

Construction 3,544,709 2,266,967 

Water 681 ,576 708,054 

Services 752,531 676,816 

Other activ ities 689,838 668,274 

Consolidation adjustments ( 151 ,867) (J 38,521) 

Total revenue 7,253,974 5,977,419 

Breakdown, by geographical area, of the Group companies' total production was as 
follows (in thousands of euros): 

Sp:aio 
11.lll"Opcu:i Ot:CD Otlltr 

Total 
Uaioo couatrirs couutries 

2017 

Energy t,235,264 90,196 317,082 94,645 1,737,1 87 

Construction 577,230 284,132 l,645,l50 l,038,197 3,544,709 

Water 314.,152 62,010 82,686 222,628 6&1,576 

Services 537,210 !2&,275 61.,251 25,795 752,531 

Otber activities 609,597 65,256 7,023 7,%2 689,838 

lntm-Group transactrons (lOl,482) (4,538) (39,536) (6,311) { 151,867) 

Totzl 2017 pndutfoil .J.171..,e? I 625,DI ~ l.,lfi2,916 7.)53.,974 

2016 

Encrgy 1,145,017 94,869 385,153 170,790 1,795,829 

C011struction 626,676 322,648 966,432 351,21 l 2,266,967 

Water 312,794 54,550 34,830 305,880 708,054 

Services 499,1 5 1 !07,370 56,762 13,533 676,81 6 

Othcr activities 600,153 15,150 45,350 7,621 668,274 

Intra-Group transactions (%,471) (3) (41,716) (331) ( 138,521) 

Twl 2016 prudnctioo J,987,320 594..584 1.,446,811 848,704 5,977,419 

Revenue from the Construction activity 

Concessions 

At 31 December 2017, the Acciona Group maintained its main service concession 
contracts in force in the construction and water divisions. The net amount of revenue at 
the close of the financial year for each category of concession agreement, including those 
within the scope of IFRI C 12, carne to 192 and 140 million euros, respectively. Appendix 
V details the main concessions. 

As indicated in Note 4.2 g), following the adoption of IFRIC 12, the Acciona Group 
recognises under "Non-Current Receivables and Other Non-Current Assets" concession 
business assets whose recovery is guaranteed under the concession contract by the grantor 
through the payment of a fixed or quantifiable amount and, accordingly, no demand risk 
is borne by the operator. 
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In relation to these concession assets, even during the construction phase the Group 
recognises income eamed on interest, based on the effective interest rate of the financia! 
asset. This interest income is recognised under "Revenue", and at 31 December 2017 and 
2016 it amounted to 15,547 and 16,377 thousand euros, respectively. 

Construction 

The Group obtains substantially all its construction revenue m its capacity as prime 
contractor. 

Detail of infrastructure construction revenue by type of project was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Civil engineering 3,052,575 1,549,529 

Residential building construction 64,274 55, 138 

Non-residential building constrnction 212,302 292, 162 

Other activities 75,255 260,297 

Total constructiou revenue 3,404,406 2,157,126 

Detail of infrastructure construction revenue by type of client was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Central Government 174, 159 215,557 

Regional Govemments 63 ,127 53,901 

Local councils 12,713 13,843 

Regional Agencies and Government-owned 
118,351 126,267 

corporations 

Public sector 368,350 409,568 

Private sector 148,155 169,652 

Total Spanish clients 516,505 579,220 

Total clients abroad 2,887,901 1,577,906 

Total construction revenue 3,404,406 2,157,126 

The accumulated data on the contracts in progress in the construction activity, including 
the part corresponding to the water division, at the close of financial years 2017 and 2016 
were as follows: 

2017 2016 

Accumulated revenue from contracts in 
8, 155,683 7,069,519 

progress 

Accumulated amount of costs incurred 7,649,152 6,602,764 

Total accumulated earnings 506,531 466,755 

Advances from clients (Note 14) 584,441 854,219 

Withholdings 63 ,527 56,577 

The geographical distribution of the infrastructure construction backlog at the close of 
2017 and 2016 was as follows: 
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2017 

Civil cngineering 

Residential building construction 

Non-residential building construction 

Other activities 

Total construction backlog 

2016 

Civil engineering 

Residential building construction 

Non-residential building construction 

Other activities 

Total construction backlog 

26.- Expenses 

Spain 

744,944 

62,254 

233,804 

205,719 

1,246,721 

Spain 

1,001 ,133 

28,414 

201,893 

185,624 

1,417,064 

Breakdown ofthe Group's expenses was as follows: 

Employees: 

Cost of good sold 

Pcrsonnel expenses 

Wages, salaries and similar 

Social security costs 

Other stafT costs 

Other externa! expenses 

Taxes other than income tax 

Other current operating expenses 

Subtotal 

Change in provisions 

Depreciation and amortisation charge 

Total 

2017 

1,975,668 

1,497,031 

1,216,304 

254,153 

26,574 

2,930,698 

198,470 

19,400 

6,621,267 

29,833 

633, 156 

7,284,256 

Abroad 

5,033,026 

61 ,985 

398,817 

27,477 

5,521,305 

Abroad 

5,918,390 

75,006 

105,058 

624,287 

6,722,741 

2016 

1,595,057 

1,287,557 

1,029,545 

234,526 

23,486 

2,252,269 

180,027 

34,082 

5,348,992 

231 ,234 

547, 147 

6,127,373 

The average number of employees in 2017 and 2016, by professional category, was as 
follows: 

Management and supervisors 

Qualified line personnel 

Clerical and support staff 

Other employees 

Total average number of employees 
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27,482 
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The classification above broken down by gender in 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Men Women Total Men Women Total 

Management and supervisors l ,7IO 385 2,095 1,435 341 1,776 

Qualified line personnel 4,238 1,724 5,962 3,715 1,703 5,418 

Clerical and support staff 720 1, 144 1,864 744 1,139 1,883 

Other employees 20,563 6,919 27,482 17,660 6,098 23,758 

Total average oumber ofemployees 27,231 I0,172 37,403 23,554 9,281 32,835 

Breakdown of the Group's employees by line of business was as follows: 

2017 2016 Change 

Energy 1,631 1,909 (279) 

Construction 12,335 9,662 2,673 

Water 3,624 3,345 279 

Services 17,750 15,873 1,878 

Other Aclivities 2,063 2,046 17 

Total average number of employecs 37,403 32,835 4,568 

The classification above broken down by gender in 2017 and 2016 was as follows: 

2017 2016 

Men Women Total Meo Women Total 

Energy 1,210 421 1,631 1,337 572 1,909 

Construction I0,441 1,894 12,335 7,888 1,774 9,662 

Water 3,142 482 3,624 2,788 557 3,345 

Services 11 ,240 6,510 17,750 I0,184 5,689 15,873 

Other Activities 1,198 865 2,063 1,357 689 2,046 

Total average number of employees 27,231 10,172 37,403 23,554 9,281 32,835 

In 2017 and 2016, respectively, 313 and 288 employees of the total headcount were 
employees of the Parent and the remainder were employed by the Group subsidiaries. 

At 31December2017, the average number of employees with a disability level of 33% 
or over employed by the consolidated companies amounted to 897 ( direct and indirect 
employment), and to 793 at 31 December 2016. The percentage of compliance with 
Act 13/1982, of 7 April, on Social Integration of Persons with Disabilities, which 
establishes a minimum quota of 2% for the recruitment of disabled persons in cornpanies 
with more than 50 employees, was 3.52% (3.51% at 31December2016). 

Operating leases: 

The "Leases" account under "Other Externa! Expenses - Leases" on the accompanying 
consolidated income statement includes notably the costs incurred by the Compañía 

1 
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TRANSLATION 

Trasmediterránea Subgroup for the charter of other shipping companies' vessels and 
cargo decks totalling 32 million euros in 2017 and 2016. 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the lease terms and conditions and minimum payments 
(without considering inflation or possible updates) under the main vessel charter contracts 
entered into by the Compañía Trasmediterránea Subgroup were as follows: 

Vessel 
Arrangement 

date 

W isteria/V ronskiy 29/02/2012 

Tenacia 07/ 12/2011 

Forza 12/01 /2016 

Volcán de Teneguía 04/02/2013 

Nura Nova 28/02/2017 

Romy 26/10/2017 

Surprise 08/01 /2018 

Maestro Sea 1311012017 

Vessel 
Arrangement 

date 

Wisteria/Vronskiy 29/02/2012 

Tenacia 07/12/2011 

Forza 12/01 /2016 

Volcán de Teneguía 04/02/2013 

Snav Adriático 07/05/2015 

Change in provisions: 

2017 (thousand euros) 

Expiry date Type 

15/ 11 /2018 Time Charter 

31112/2018 Time Charter 

22/02/2020 Time Charter 

31 /05/2017 Time Charter 

28/02/2019 Time Charter 

06/ 1112017 Time Charter 

07/01 /2019 Time Charter 

13/l 112017 Time Charter 

2016 (thousaod euros) 

Expiry date 

1511112018 

31/12/2018 

22/02/2020 

31/05/2017 

07/05/2017 

Type 

Time Charter 

Time Charter 

Time Charter 

Time Charter 

Time Charter 

2018 

2017 

5,268 

7,020 

6,660 

1,465 

2,244 

50 

3,726 

323 

5,873 

7,1 17 

7,608 

1,291 

2,698 

2019-2020 

8,820 

362 

2018-2020 

5,332 

8,577 

18,794 

Breakdown of the balance of "Change in Provisions" on the consolidated mcome 
statement was as follows (in thousand euros): 

Change in provision for uncollectable receivables 

Change in provision for inventories 

Other provisions 

Total 

2017 2016 

16,296 

7,508 

6,030 

29,833 

33,370 

106,425 

91,439 

231,234 

At 31 December 2017, "Change in prov1s10ns for inventories" included mainly the 
impairments of inventories for 5.4 million euros for a plot of land located in Italy. The 
"Change in provisions for inventories" in 2016 included mainly the impairments of 
inventories in the property division for 99 .3 million euros, on the basis of appraisals by 
independent experts unrelated to the Acciona Group (see note 4.2.j). 

"Other provisions" related mainly to additions made for burdensome contracts and 
provision for litigation and provision for future replacement or large repairs in 
concessions recognised under the intangible model. 
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TRANSLA TION 

Impairment and profit/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets 

Breakdown for this heading on the income statement for financial years 2017 and 2016 
was as follows: 

lmpairment and profit/(loss) on disposal of plant, property 
and cquipmcnt 

Profit/ (loss) from plant, property and equipment 

1 mpairment of other assets (Notes 5 and 8) 

Tota l 

2017 

111 , 118 

(6,795) 

104,323 

2016 

639,586 

( 107,392) 

532,194 

At 31 December 2017, "Profit/(loss) from plant, property and equipment" included profit 
of 74 million euros from a share swap operation with Testa Residencial Socimi, S.A., as 
well as 34 million euros from the sale of the Sociedad Concesionaria Acciona 
Concesiones Ruta 160, S.A. (see note 3.2.h). 

In the previous financia} year this heading reflected the gains recognised from the sale of 
the shares that the Group held in Corporación Acciona Windpower, S.A. under the 
agreement signed with Nordex S.E., for 650.8 million euros, and the remaining gains, for 
6.7 million euros, were recorded in the translation differences account (see note 3.2.h). 
"Profit/(loss) from property, plant and equipment" also included the loss of 21 million 
euros related to the resolution of a litigation case in Greece, among others. 

At the end of the financia! year, "Impairment of other assets" included impairment for 13 
rnillion euros in intangible assets frorn the Brazilian concessionaire Rodovía do Ayo, 
S.A., as well as the reversals of investrnent property irnpairments for 6.8 million euros 
frorn the Real Estate division. 

This same heading at 31 December 2016 included impairment of PPE for 73 mrnion euros 
mostly frorn the energy division, as well as impairment for 30 million euros in intangible 
assets from the Brazilian concessionaire Rodovía do Ayo, S.A. 

Other gains and losses 

In 2017, the capital gain of 5 million euros was recorded under this heading as a result of 
the purchase of an additional 50% stake in Sociedad Concesionaria Autovía de los 
Viñedos, S.A. (See note 3.2.h). 

In 2016, the capital gain of 30 million euros was recorded under this heading mainly as a 
result of the purchase of 37.05% stake in ATLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de 
Catalunya, S.A. ( see note 27) and a reversion for 12 million euros of the provision for the 
third and final fine imposed by the National Market and Competition Commission to 
Compañía Trasmediterránea and resolved by the Supreme Court in a favourable manner 
(see note 27). 

Profit/(loss) from changes in value of financial instrwnents at fair value 
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TRANSLA TLON 

At 31 December 2017 this heading reflected mainly revenue of 37,370 thousand euros 
related to the change in fair value of two energy sales contracts concluded in December 
2015 and 2016 by subsidiaries in the US and Chile respectively, to supply a specific 
amount of energy in the long term at a fixed price. 

At 31 December 2016, this heading reflected mainly an expense of 7 ,270 thousand euros 
related to the change in fair value ofthe energy contract concluded in December 2015 by 
a subsidiary in the United States to supply a specific amount of energy in the long term. 

27. - Segment reporting 

Basis of segmentation: 

Segment reporting is done on the one hand by business segment, and on the other hand 
by geographical segment. This structure is in line with the information intemally used 
by Acciona Group Management to assess the performance of the segments and to 
allocate resources among them. 

The business lines described below are established by the Board of Directors on the 
basis of the Acciona Group's organisational structure, considering the nature of the 
goods and services offered. 

The structure of the information disclosed in this Note has been designed as if each line 
ofbusiness were a separate business. Costs incurred by the Corporate Unit are distributed 
pro rata, using an interna! cost distribution system, among the different lines of business. 

Inter-segment sales are made at market prices. 

In addition to the segment information, in order to help understand the results and in line 
with how the Acciona Group Directors manage this information, certain exceptional 
amounts that facilitate a better understanding of the ordinary course of business are 
presented as an additional column. Nonetheless, where these effects are material m 
respect of the Group's results, details are given as to how they affect each segment. 

Segment information about these activities and extraordinaries for 2017 and 2016 is 
shown below: 

Mgmmls 

Bala nces at 31/1212017 
facq>lioaal Tolll l 

Constnldi Otber lntra-Group Effocts Group 
Ecrrgy \Vatn- Sftvitts cm adiritirs tr.ansadiens 

ASSETS 

Property, plant and 
equipment, inlangible assets 6,374,296 618,778 1,122,447 65,963 222,641 (11,017) 8,393,108 
3D<l i>m:stment pmperty 

Goo<h>iU Hl6,7l2 27,'176 50,%2 185,650 

Non-crirratt fimncial ~ 20,440 39,648 17,956 7,58ó 43,270 3,023 131,923 

Jnvestments accounted for 
903,423 74,140 75.,537 809 337,422 1,391,33 1 

using tire equity mcibod 

Oth.,.- a<sels 465,679 302.,573 53,6'11 l,100 258,753 867 l,082,61 9 

Non-carrmtassds 7,7&1,B38 1,141.,851 1.).97.563 126,420 862.,ll86 (7,127) 11,184,631 

Inventaries 119,922 192,190 24,236 1,784 499,960 (17,127) 820,965 
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TRANSLA TION 

Balanas at 31fl?l'Nl7 

T rade and other nxcivables 

Other currc11t financia! 
as sets 

Other asscts 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Non-current assets classificd 
as held for sale 

C urren! assets 

Tota l assets 

EQ UITY AND 
LIA BILITIES 

Consolidakd eqllity 

Bank boo-owings and odle1-
financial l:iabilitÍ<s 

Other liabilities 

Non-auTn1tliabilities 

Bank bamJ,.iDgs aed W...­
financial liabilities 

Trade and othcr payables 

Othe:r lW:.oiliri<s 

Liabiliries directly 
associated with 1lOIHllm:u1 
assets c.las.<ffied as bcld foc 
sale 

Conmt fialmilies 

Total equity ..S ~ 

lhlancc. lit 3lll21.?0l7 

Total revenue 

Revenue 

Revenue to other 
segments 

Other revenue and operating 
expenses 

G ross operaring rcsult 

Prov. amorti ./depreciation 

lmpainn ent and profit/(loss) 
from disposal of plant, 
property and equipment 

Other gains and losses 

Profit/((loss) from 
operations 

Financia! profi t/(loss) 

Profit/(loss) due to changes 
in value 

Profit/(loss) from entities 
accounted fo r by the equ ity 
method 

Profit /(loss) befo re tax 

Expense for Corporatc Tax 

702,096 

163,131 

195,665 

(97,482) 

979,987 

2,063,3 19 

9,827, 157 

3.,l46,376 

4.,14fi,ó66 

1,248,982 

5,389,648 

145,216 

271,923 

380,382 

293,612 

1,991,133 

9.,8?7,157 

Enttgy 

1,737, 187 

1,706, 172 

3 1,01 5 

( 1,011,583) 

725,604 

(406,287) 

( 1,836) 

479 

317,960 

(269,957) 

35,235 

5 1, 129 

134,367 

(46,426) 

C-....:0 -
1.,270,657 

66,653 

89,470 

1,210,20 1 

2,829,171 

3,971 ,022 

1,132,922 

507,408 

1,646,330 

1,551 ,854 

356,&1!6 

J,'60,145 

3,971,1122 

D 

3,544, 709 

3,488,055 

56,654 

(3,282,602) 

262,107 

(172,026) 

1,75 1 

2,246 

94,078 

(36,54 1) 

9,994 

67,531 

(31,026) 

271 ,864 

4,45 1 

21,09 1 

2 19,678 

541,320 

1,838,883 

312,ru 

2lú,901 

898,632 

J,119,533 

l7/J72 

266,174 

123,382 

Watrr 

681 ,576 

68 1,566 

10 

(551,629) 

129,947 

(42,52 1) 

(219) 

879 

88,086 

(64,500) 

14,854 

38,440 

( 13,278) 

211,597 

3,465 

6,295 

18,018 

241,159 

367,579 

168.136 

41.,057 

4,171 

46,228 

I05,881 

43,830 

153,215 

367$19 

752,531 

692,527 

60,004 

(7 18,246) 

34,285 

(15,378) 

(28) 

286 

19,165 

(6,38 1) 

932 

13,716 

(4,387) 

ú~ 
Odia" latra-G.--p E.lfttts 

ac:lirilies 11 aasxDeas 

121,516 

8,775 

1, 139 

(74,098) 

466, 168 

1,023,460 

1,885,546 

(I~ 

(264,672} 

152,J(iO 

(112,312) 

l,255,013 

146,025 

600,582 

179,928 

2.,llll,543 

l,sss,s.16 

(685,837) 

513 

(2,625) 

(3,536) 

( 14,034) 

(722,646) 

(729,773) 

{37,767) 

(6,169) 

(6,169) 

(142,640) 

(543,l97} 

(72.'),nJ) 

(13,056) 

(1 3,056) 

(13,056) 

(Ll,&56) 

(13,(ISfJ) 

EllapU.nl 
Odirr hltn-(;.--p E&ds 

aclivitirs tr.aa.sactioas 

689,838 

685,654 

4, 184 

(565,595) 

124,243 

(45,989) 

6,906 

( 116) 

85,044 

42,7 15 

836 

( 1,4 15) 

127, 180 

(12,786) 

(15 1,867) 

( 15 1,867) 

150,900 

(967) 

1,53 1 

564 

564 

(14 1) 

17,681 

97,749 

115,430 

1,647 

2,4 11 

( 145,000) 

(25,512) 

2,703 

T..aat 
Group 

1,891,893 

246,988 

297,979 

1,272,78 1 

1,432 , 121 

5,962,727 

17, 147,358 

3,.963,268 

5,171 ,874 

2,805,384 

8,077,258 

!,472,290 

2,1 99,117 

961,785 

473,540 

S,106,83? 

17,147,358 

Tobl 
G.-p 

7,253 ,974 

7,253,974 

(5,978,755) 

1,275,219 

(662,989) 

104,323 

3,774 

720,327 

(333,0 17) 

38,482 

(69,506) 

356,286 

(105,341) 
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TRANSLA TION 

~ 

Balantts :lt 31/12/2017 
fattpticmal Total 

e~ OtbB Inm.-G ..... p Effttts Group 
~· W:atrr Senia5 

B acfuiúes tr.aasadions 

CllBSllÜdZtfd pmfit/{iut!s) 
37.,9tl 16,595 2..';,162 9,329 114,394 4?3 (22,309) 2S0,945 

iu they'""r 

Pmfit/( loss) after tm from 
disc.oatim!ed a:dirities 

Pmfit /{Jess) i::I dar Yf21' 87,941 36,..'\!15 ZS,,162 9,329 114,39.t 423 (22,809) 250,945 

~~ (33,21?) (3,075) (J¡;st) (Hl6} (t52) (3-0) 9,752 (30,814) 

Pmfitt{i....s)~m 
54,722 33,4.JO 21,4711 9,223 113,~ 393 (13,fl57) 220,131 ttae P:IRJJt Cemp:my 

Srgmmts 

Balances at 31/1212616 ~I Total 
C.....an:di ou.n- h>mt-Gmap Effttts Group 

~ Wma- s..nms 
llD actmbcs tnmsadillns 

ASSIITS 

Pm:pertj, ~ 2'Jti 
equipment, inrangible assds 7,498,.359 458,27! 1,128,287 57,682 863,215 (31,.389) 9,974,425 
and ím:estment property 

~ill 3ff> 27,976 50,962 79,284 

Nao-omm1 fi=cial. as5G'f5 19,Cff!_ 20,493 11,.ns 13,935 M,17'J 19,()26 179,080 

Jnvestments accounted for 
1,021,769 66)07 68,882 449 3,614 1,160,821 usmg the eqtlÍt}' mdhod 

Otm~ 57l,Ob2 3~ 1.,318 61.JY:'6 :v.w 29l,6M 954 I,290,794 

~- 9,121,162 9@6,535 r ,.29S.,656 126,768 l,242,692 (11,409) 12.,684,404 

lrn=taries 128,720 225,6$4 17,621 1,153 419,078 ( 19,531} 7f>l.,725 

Trade aul mbu ...,.,.,¡,ab!;:s 68.'i,ól8 1,037,l!SS 266,316 199,453 185,lfi3 (650,ct87) I,723,658 

Otha' currenl fi11311cial 
175,077 17,869 4,245 2,813 10,675 544 211,223 

as.sets 

Olt= l!ISOds 239,754 215,1115 (U,ZM) 15,112 (412593) (2,625) 2116,075 25-0,274 

Cash ""d i::astI e>:¡:Jf\-a!= (39,422) 1,219,750 2!7,945 l0,966 38,656 (!9,57G) 1,428,319 

NOll-Cl!IIl2ll assás cl.assificd 
300,47ll 26,691 327,161 

as held for sale 

c .. .....,, • ..- l,l s&,747 3.flfi.47]'. ~ 229.,-l'ill ~ (&91.,60) ~ 4,723,360 

Tetal:assds lo.,30'},909 l,924,008 l,793,519 356,259 1,521,072 (703,078) W6,075 17,407,764 

EOUJTY A.''D 
LlABILITIES 

Conso5dakd n;nity 3.,.SM,009 41\1,88Z 276.;1.92 160,651 (519,748} («!.,SJ.t) 'JRJf.,iYI5 4.f197,346 

B;mk bmrowmgs ..,,¡J cm.,.-
4,541,567 722,143 227,469 48,182 62,891 5,602,252 

línanrial fi.mliti;:s 

Odier liabifilies l,5!1,052 597,444 865,912 2,824 271,633 (l I,776) 3,237,089 

NDB-Olrrmt liabi!ities 6,852,619 1,319,587 1,1193,381 51.,1196 334,..'124 (Jl,776) 8,839,341 

Bank borrowings and other 
137,782 42,804 16,025 2,981 968,914 1, 168,506 

financia] liabilities 

Trade and other payables 297,998 1,618,649 290,419 91,294 152,643 (153,574) 2,297,429 

Other~ 257,510 300,31'l9 I17,402 50,327 59íl,278 (496,914) 818.,992 

Lió?l:ñliries rlim:tl)-
associaled --.ith oon-cmn:nt 

171,697 l.f.,453 186,150 
as<ds d;ssimi! as 1dd für 
sale 

CBCRDt li:abilitHs 693,290 2,133,539 4ll)l46 144,662 1,726,288 (6:50,488) 4,471,077 
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~ 

Babeas at 31 /UJ2016 
Eimptieul T.W 

C....stnacti Ou.tt laka-Gl'llllp EIJeds Group 
~· w.,.. Sc:nins .... ~ ~ 

Total rquily ad liabilliies lo.,309.909 3,924,008 l,7"3,.519 356,259 1,521,1.172 (703,o78) 206,975 17,407,764 

Sqmmts 

Balaaas at 31/U/20" E.Ji~ T.ul 
Coastnctio Otlaer llltra-GnMlp Effttts Group 

~ Wattt Senns .. xtirilies tr.utsoome-

Total revenue 1,795,829 2;lff6,967 708,053 676,816 668,274 (138,520) 5,977,419 

Reveuoe l,76t, 112 2,216,200 101,m 625,278 663,890 5,977,419 

Revome lo otho-
31,717 50,707 

segments 
175 51,538 4,384 (138,521) 

Other re1;enue and operllting 
(1,056,liD) (2,093,352) (589,065) (MS,342) (537,246) 138,783 (4,785,8'12) 

expenses 

Gross operatiog resalt 739,659 173,615 118,988 27,'T14 131,028 263 1,191,527 

Prov. amOfti.Jdeprecii!lioo (3CJ0,874) (96,211) (46,.518) (12,648) {45,t>72) 3,413 (189,&51) {778,38 1) 

Impainnent and profit/(los.s) 
from disposal of plan1, 375 6,433 308 416 (3,413) (6.342) 534,427 532,194 
property and equiprnent 

üalia" gaiRs i!lld lcsses 417 (68) (112) 523 (96) 41,173 42.,837 

Profü/((loss) frum 
349~"'77 &J,759 n,w, l~ 81,837 (2,666) 386,7~ 988,177 

DpttaUenS 

Fiaaorial pmfltt'(loss) (282, 199) (22,065) (4&,689) {l,537) 2,753 (291,31)6) (643,<»3) 

Profitf(Joss) dar to d>Bages 
(6.545) (524) (7,069) 

in value 

Profit/(loss) from enrities 
accounted foc by tloe a¡uity 46,.533 7,347 14,057 25S J.375 69,570 
method 

Profrt /(loss) beforc llll 107,366 69,o.tl 38,024 14,986 85,441 (2,666) 95,443 407,635 

Expense for Corporate Tax (39,590) (22,576) (15,937) (1,253) (38,329) M7 83,238 (33,780) 

e~ JIR&f(lms> 67,776 46,465 ll,IJS7 13,733 47,112 (l,'99) 178,631 373,855 
in theyear 

Profit/( loss) after tax from 
di sconti&ued a:tivities 

Pnlitl(litss~iadir~ 67,776 4't,-t65 Z1.JllP U,733 47,112 (1..9"') l18,611 37.J,SS5 

Non-controlling inlerests (26,939) (16,5ll) (932) (263) (4,586) (37) 27,394 (11,874) 

Profit l(loss) attributable to 
40,837 29.954 21,155 13,470 42,526 (2,036) 206,075 351.981 

thr Panwt c-paay 

In financial year 2017, the "Exceptional Effects" columnreflected tbe accounting impacts 
of unusual events. The most significant of these are detailed below: 

Sale of the shares held by the Group in Compañía Urbanizadora del Coto, S.L., 
V algrand, S.A. and the sale of certain real estate assets owned by Acciona Real Estate, 
S.A. to the company Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A., with capital gains of74million 
euros linked to the "other businesses" division (see Note 3.2.h). 

Following authorisation from the Chilean Competition Authorities, sale of 100% of 
the shares held by the Group in Sociedad Concesionaria Acciona Concesiones Ruta 
160, S.A. for 34 million euros, linked to the "Construction" division (see Note 3.2.h). 
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Impairment of 145 million euros linked to the "Energy" division related to the share 
held by the Acciona Group in Nordex, S.E. which is accounted for using the equity 
method after an impairment test was carried out following the methodology and 
hypothesis detailed in Note 9. 

In financia! year 2016, the "Exceptional Effects" column reflected the accounting impacts 
of unusual events. The most significant of these are detailed below: 

Sale of the shares held by the group in Corporación Acciona Windpower, S.A. as 
part ofthe agreement subscribed with the German listed company Nordex S.E., with 
capital gains of 657 mi Ilion euros (see note 3 .2.h). 

Capital gains of 30 million euros from the purchase of 37.05% in ATLL 
Concessionaria de la Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. from Aigües de Catalunya, Ltd 
in 2016 (see note 3.2.h). 

Finance costs from cancellation ofthe debt from the energy division, which meant a 
charge of 301 million euros, mainly because of the rupture of derivatives (see Note 
18). 

Impairment losses for PPE and intangible assets, for 102 million euros, mostly from 
certain wind facilities from the energy division, for the impairment of a motorway 
concession company in Brazil and for the impairment in the property division for 1O1 
million euros on the basis of appraisals by independent valuers and affecting mainly 
"Inventaries" (see Note 26). 

The table below shows disclosure of certain of the Group's consolidated balances based 
on the geographical location of the companies that gave rise to them. 

In come Total assets Non-current assets Current assets 

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 

3,172,071 3,087,320 10,284,816 10,070,966 5,955,110 7,436,472 4,329,706 2,634,494 

European Union 625,331 594,584 1,525,381 1,743,308 1,203 ,241 1,390,619 322,140 352,689 

OECD countries 2,073,656 1,446,812 4,042,225 4,410,442 3,274,307 3,149,363 767,918 1,261 ,079 

Other countries 1,382,916 848,703 1,294,936 1, 183,048 751 ,973 707,950 542,963 475,098 

Total 7,253,974 5,977,419 17,147,358 17,407,764 11,184,631 12,684,404 5,962,727 4,723,360 

Income and non-current assets from certain significant countries are disclosed below, 
understanding "significant" to refer to those where the values are greater than 10% of the 
income from extemal clients or from non-current assets according to IFRS 8. 

Australia 

Mexico 

lncome 

2017 

892,862 

297,963 

2016(*) 

373,818 

511,815 

Non-current assets 

2017 

616,248 

1, 150,112 

2016(*) 

417,591 

1,099,399 

(*) Non-significant values in 2016. Shown for comparative purposes only. 

28.- Finance income and costs and other profit/(loss) for the year 
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TRANSLA TION 

Detail of the Group's finance income and costs was as follows: 

Financia! income 

From equity investments 

From other financia! instruments in Assoc iates 

Other finance income 

Finance costs 

On payables to third parties 

On ineffectiveness of derivativcs (see Note 20) 

Capitalisation ofborrowing costs (note 5) 

Change in financia! provis ions 

Other finance income and costs: 

2017 2016 

45,628 

226 

4,347 

41 ,055 

(368,747) 

(372, 193) 

5, 197 

(1,751) 

61,921 

267 

9,013 

52,641 

(732,653) 

(738,330) 

6,439 

(762) 

The Group had capitalised borrowing costs amounting to 5.2 million euros at 31 
December 2017 and 6.4 million euros at 31 December 2016, all of them practically 
capitalised in property, plant and equipment ( see note 5). Borrowing costs capitalisation 
in inventories amounted to 0.7 million euros in 2017 and was not material in 2016 (see 
note 4.2.j). 

Finance costs: 

In 2017 payables to third parties subtracted from equity and included in "Finance Costs" 
relating to the periodic settlements of hedging derivatives and corresponding to fully 
consolidated Group companies amounted to 36,849 thousand euros (299,303 thousand 
euros in 2016). In 2016, 23 1,640 thousand euros were recorded in relation to the 
cancellation of hedging instruments within the framework of refinancing operations for 
certain assets in the energy division (see Note 27). 

In addition, 14,938 thousand euros (20,291 thousand euros in 2016) relating to these 
periodic settlements were recognised as a decrease in the results of companies accounted 
for using the equity method. 

29.- Proposed application of profit/(loss) 

Proposed application of the profit in financia! years 2017 and 2016 of Acciona, S.A., as 
approved by the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting, in the case of2016, and that the 
Board ofDirectors will submit to approval by the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting, 
in the case of 2017, is as follows (in euros): 
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Distribution basis: 

Acciona, S.A. profit or loss 

Application: 

To legal reserve 

To statutory reserve 

To capitalisation reserves 

To voluntary reserves 

Dividends 

Total 

2017 2016 

209,202,462.05 386,601, 903 .4 7 

20, 920,246.21 3 8,660, 190.34 

4,667,230. 18 

11,836,335.66 183,320,506.88 

171,778,650.00 164,621,206.25 

209,202,462.05 386,601,903.47 

The proposed allocation contemplates the distribution of dividends of 3.00 euros per 
share. 

The Board of Directors propases to allocate the capitalisation reserve against the 201 7 
results in accordance with Article 25 of Act 27/2014, of 27 November on Corporate Tax, 
amounting to 4,667,230.18 euros and equivalent to 10% of the increase in own funds 
associated with the companies that form part of the tax group with Acciona, S.A. as the 
parent. This reduction is limited to 10% of the tax base for the tax period obtained for the 
tax group, and the excess over this limit can be transferred to the next two tax periods. 

Under its Articles of Association, Acciona, S.A. must, in any event, allocate 10% of net 
profit to legal and statutory reserves in such a manner that, when the former is covered 
(20% of the share capital), any remaining portien of the 10% of net profit must be 
transferred to the statutory reserve. This reserve is unrestricted. 

30.- Environmental matters 

ACCIONA backs the development of environmentally sustainable businesses: it 
generates electricity from renewable sources; it desalinates water, makes it drinkable and 
also cleans it; and it builds infrastructures and services where the environmental variable 
is relevant when it comes to decision making. 

In 2017, 34% ofthe Group's global sales and 67% ofEBITDA were based on businesses 
included in what the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) defines as the 
Green Economy. 
http://web.unep.org/ greeneconomy/resources/green-economy-report. 

In 2017 environmental expenses accounted for 2,430 million euros and environmental 
investments 509 million euros, which placed the company's global environmental activity 
at 2,939 million euros. 

Out of that total figure, 69 million euros arose from management (prevention, mitigation 
or correction) of the environmental impacts generated by the Company's activity (65 
million euros in expenses and 4 million euros in investments) and 2,870 million euros 
carne from development of the businesses with a mainly environmental component (2,365 
million euros in expenses and 505 million euros in investments); they are relevant because 
of the actual strategic orientation of the business, such as renewable energy generation 
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and integral water cycle management, which centre on dealing with environmental 
impacts produced by other players and whose management is part of ACCIONA's 
business. 

This economic figure for ACCIONA's environment-related activities can be broken down 
as follows: 

• Measures to minimise em-ironmenlaJ irnpact 

• Environmental research, development & innovation 

• Personnel involved in the environmental activity 

• lnvestments in plan!, property and equipment to preven! 
environmental impacts and protect thc environment 

• Environmental consultancy and advisory services 

Other* 

Subtotal 1: Management of environmental impacts caused by the 
Company's activity 

• Renewable energy generation 

• Waste water treatment, Puriñcation and Desalination 

Subtofal2: Development of busincsses with a mainly environmental 
component, relevant beca use of actual strategic orientation 

TOTAL (Subtotal, + Subtotal,) 

Amoa•t 
CMilliem 

€) 

36.09 

13.00 

11.01 

3.82 

2.61 

2.70 

69.23 

2,245.20 

624.88 

2,870.08 

2,939.31 

(*) This category includes o/her environmenlal expenses, including Training, Environmenlal Managemenl Systems, 
Environmenta/ communication and awareness, lnsurance and laxes. 

It must also be noted that ACCIONA obtained bonuses for the actions it carried out in 
2017 to promote environmental respect and protection, for the amount of 1. 7 mili ion 
euros. 

31.- Earnings per share 

Basic: 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit distributable to the 
Company's shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year. 

The amounts for the periods el o sed at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are given below: 

Net profit attributable to the 
Paren! (thousand euros) 

Weighted average number ofshares outstanding 

Basic eamings per share (euros) 

2017 

220,131 

57, 117,274 

3.85 

2016 

351 ,981 

57,010,458 

6.17 
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Diluted: 

To calculate the diluted eamings per share, the entity adjusts the result of the financia! 
year attributable to the holders of ordinary equity instruments and the mean weighted 
average of the number of outstanding shares for all diluting effects attached to the 
potential ordinary shares. 

In January 2014, Acciona S.A. issued convertible bonds. In 2017, conversions were made 
and this financia! instrument has been cancelled early (see Note 18), events which have 
been considered in this calculation. The issuance of convertible bonds is the only diluting 
effect that explains the difference between the weighted average number of treasury 
shares outstanding considered in the basic eamings per share calculation and the diluted 
earnings per share. The finance costs recorded in the income statement for the financia! 
year 201 7 before Corporate Tax amount to 5,148 thousand euros. 

The amount for the period closed on 31 December 2017 and 2016 is given below: 

Adjusted net profit attributable to 
the parent (thousand euros) 

Diluted weighted average number of shares outstanding 

Diluted eamings per share (euros) 

32.- Events after the reporting period 

2017 2016 

225,279 

59,447,633 

3.79 

370,794 

58,851 ,022 

6.22 

On 21 February 2018, Acciona Group and the company ATLL Concessionaria de la 
Generalitat de Catalunya S.A. became aware of the judgement handed down by the 
Supreme Court on the cassation appeal filed by the Generalitat de Catalunya against the 
High Court of Justice of Catalonia (TSJC) ruling which invalidated the procedure to 
award said concession (appeal 2725/2015). Thisjudgement dismisses the claims brought 
forward by the Generalitat and confirms the TSJC ruling. 

The Acciona Group is currently waiting for notification of the cassation appeal 2682/2015 
filed by Gestió Catalana de Aigues, and appeal 2678/2015 filed by the Concessionaire 
and by Acciona Agua against the TSJC judgement which invalidated the procedure to 
award said concession. 

On 26 February 2018, an agreement has been reached for the sale of the thermal solar 
business in Spain to subsidiaries ofthe company Contour Global, consisting offive plants 
with a total capacity of 250 MW for an amount of 1,093 million euros (including debt). 
In addition, the parties have agreed to the payment of an eam out of up to 27 million 
euros. The effectiveness of the operation is conditional upon compliance with several 
conditions precedent (see Note 23 in the financia! statements). 
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33.- Related party transactions 

As indicated in these notes to the consolidated financia! statements, transactions 
performed by the Company with its subsidiaries (related parties) as part of its normal 
business activities, as regards their purpose and terms and conditions, were eliminated on 
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its 
associates are disclosed below. 

Transactions with associates 

At 31December2017 and 2016, detail of the balances receivable from and payable to 
associates was as follows (in thousand euros): 

Receivablcs I Expenses Paya bles/ lncome 

2017 2016 2017 2016 

Trade and other receivables 58,216 92,027 

Trade and other payables 278,047 66, 193 

Loans to assocíates 112,019 118,579 8,649 5,334 

1 ncome and expenses 184,929 17,234 106,996 114,902 

The Income column basically reflects billings by Acciona Infrastructure to vanous 
concession holders, for the construction of their assets. 

The balances of "Expenses" and "Payables" mainly include transactions carried out by 
companies in the Energy Division with the company NORDEX, SE for the construction 
of new projects for the division. 

The balances receivables related to the line "Loans to associates" were mainly made up 
of loans made by Acciona, S.A., Acciona Concesiones, S.A and Acciona Energía, S.A. 
to associates. 

These transactions were perf ormed on an arm' s length basis. 

Transactions with other related parties 

At 31 December 2014, following the arrival of the KKR Fund in the shareholding 
structure of the Acciona Group subsidiary, Acciona Energy Internacional, S.A., this fund 
became a "related party" for the Group as the term is defined in IAS 24. The only 
transaction of note with the KKR Fund in financia} year 2016 was the subordinated debt 
described in Note 21. 

In addition, the contract signed between Acciona Energy, S.A. and said fund incorporates 
long-term collaboration agreements between the Acciona Group and KKR in certain 
affected countries, through certain rights of refusal that in no case represent a firm 
commitrnent. 

Transactions with shareholders 

Nº. '10009 
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In 2017 there were no significant transactions involving a transfer of resources or 
obligations between the Parent or its Group compames and the Company's main 
shareholders. 
Transactions with directors or executives 

The Group' s "related parties" are deemed to be, in addition to the subsidiaries, associates 
and jointly-controlled entities, the Company Management's "key personnel" (members 
of its Board of Directors and of senior management, and their close relatives) and the 
entities over which key management personnel may exercise control or significant 
influence. The transactions performed by the Group in 2017 and 2016 with its related 
parties are listed below, differentiating between the Company's significant shareholders, 
members of the Board of Directors and Managers, and other related parties. Related party 
transactions are made on terms equivalent to those in arm's length transactions that 
usually take place in a normal business relationship with Acciona, S.A. or the Group 
companies within the scope of the ordinary course of trade of these entities and under 
market conditions. These transactions consisted basically of: 

ExprastS aoo il!l<OIDt 

Expnsts: 

Finance C0!.1s 

Management or cooperation agrecmenls 

R&D transfers arn:l liccrrsirrg agreements 

Lea.ses 

Services received 

Purchase of goods (fínishe-0 goods and work in 
progress) 

V alue adjustmeuts dueto uncolleciabre or doubtful 
debl.s 

Losses on de-recognitioo c:r disposa! of assets 

Other expenses 

l ncome: 

Financia! income 

Management o r cooperation agreements 

R&D transfers and licensing agreements 

Div idends recei ved 

Leases 

Rendering of services 

Sale of goods (finished goods or work in progress) 

Gains on de-recognition or disposa l of assets 

Other income 

Other transactions 

Sigeitkaltt 
sh:areholders 

Significan! 
shareholders 
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Directors 
ami 

exeaitivrs 

Directors 
and 

executives 

31.12.2017 

Group 
employers, 
companies 
oreutitirs 

31.12.2017 

Group 
employees, 
companies 
or entities 

Otbrr 
matftt 
parties 

105 

228 

Other 
related 
parties 

Total 

105 

228 

Total 
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Purchases of property, plan! and equipmen!, 
intangible assets or other assets 

Financing agreemen!s: loans and capital 
contributions (lender) 

Finance leases (lessor) 

Repayment or cancellation ofloans and leases 
(lessor) 

Sales ofproperty, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets or other assets 

Financing agreements: loans and capital 
contributions (borrower) 

Finance leases (lessee) 

Repayment or cancellation of loans and leases 
(lessee) 

Guarantees provided 

Guarantees received 

Obligations acquired 

Obligations/guarantees discharged 

Dividends and other profíts distributed 

Other transactions 

Expenses and incomc 

Expenses: 

Finance costs 

Management or cooperation agreemenls 

R&D transfers and licensing agreements 

Leases 

Services received 

Purchase ofgoods (tinished goods and work in 
progress) 

Value adjustments dueto uncollectable or doubtful 
debts 

Losses on de-recognition or disposal of assets 

Other expenses 

lncomc: 

Financia! income 

Management or cooperation agreements 

R&D transfers and 1 icensing agreements 

Dividends received 

Lea ses 

Rendering ofservices 

Sale of goods (tinished goods or work in progress) 

Gains on de-recognition or disposal of assets 

Other income 

Significant 
shareholders 

Directors 
anti 

exccutivcs 

31.12.2016 

Group 
cmployccs, 
companics 
or entitics 

31.12.2016 

Other 
related 
partics 

88 

87 

Total 

88 

87 
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Other transactions 

Purchases of property, plan! and equipment, 
intangible assets or other assets 

Financing agreements: loans and capital 
contributions (lender) 

Finance leases (lessor) 

Repayment or cancellation of loa ns and leases 
(lessor) 

Sales of property, plan! and equipment, intangible 
assets or other assets 

Financing agreements: loans and capital 
contributions (borrower) 

Finance leases (lessee) 

Repayment or cancellation of loans and leases 
(lessee) 

Guarantees provided 

Guarantees received 

Obligations acquired 

Obligations/guarantees discharged 

Dividends and other profits distributed 

Other transactions 

Significant 
shareholders 

34.- Remuneration and other benefits 

A. Board of Directors 

Directors 
and 

execntives 

Group 
employees, 
companies 
or entities 

Other 
related 
parties 

Total 

In 2017 the remuneration accrued by the members ofthe Company's Board of Directors, 
and taking into account that this remuneration is taken from the perspective of the Parent 
and its subsidiaries, totalled, in euros, the sum indicated in this Note. 

According to article 31 of Articles of Association, the remuneration for Directors will 
consist in a fixed annual allocation determined for their membership of the Board of 
Directors and any Committees on which each Director may sit. The amount of the 
remuneration to be paid by the Company to the Directors as a whole for belonging to the 
Board of Directors and its Committees will be that determined for this purpose by the 
General Meeting of Shareholders. Once established, this amount shall remain in force 
until such time as it may be amended, and the Board of Directors may reduce the amount 
in the financia} years where this is considered convenient. 

The Board of Directors determines the exact amount to be paid within that limit and its 
distribution among the different Directors, with consideration being given to the functions 
and responsibilities of each member, sitting on the Board's committees and any other 
unbiased circumstances considered relevant by the Board. 

Regardless of the provisions contained in section above, the remuneration deriving from 
membership of the Board of Directors shall be compatible with any other remuneration 
(fixed salary; variable bonuses depending on the attainment ofbusiness, corporate and/or 
performance goals; compensation for removal of the Director for reasons other than the 
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failure to perform his or her duties; welfare systems; deferred remuneration items) that, 
following a proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee and by 
resolution passed by the Board of Directors, could correspond to the Director for the 
performance of other :functions in the Company, be they senior management executive 
:functions or otherwise, apart from those of joint supervision and decision-taking carried 
out as mere members of the Board. 

Following a resolution adopted by the General Shareholders' Meeting with the legally 
required scope, Executive Directors may also be remunerated through the delivery of 
shares or share option rights, or by means of any other remuneration referenced to the 
value of the shares. Furthermore, art. 55 of the Regulations for the Board of Directors 
establishes that the Board determines the system for distributing the remuneration for 
Directors within the framework established in the Articles of Association. 

The decision must take into account the report issued for the purpose by the Appointments 
and Remuneration Committee. 

The Board ofDirectors shall strive to ensure that the Directors' remuneration is moderate 
and in line with that paid on the market in companies of a similar size and business 
activity, with preference for those formats relating a significant portion of the 
remuneration to their dedication to Acciona. 

The system for remuneration of independent directors will strive to serve as a sufficient 
incentive for their dedication without compromising their independence. 

The remuneration of extemal directors representing substantial shareholders for their 
performance as Directors must be proportional to that of other Directors and shall not 
represent any favoured treatment in the form of remuneration of the shareholder(s) 
designating them. The remuneration system will establish similar remuneration for 
comparable functions and dedication. 

As regards remuneration of executive directors, article 55 bis of the Regulations 
establishes that the Board of Directors must try and ensure that the remuneration policies 
in force at each time include for variable remuneration necessary technical safeguards to 
make sure that such remuneration is in line with the professional performance of its 
beneficiaries and does not arise simpJy from the general trend of markets or of the 
company's business sector or from other similar circumstances. The remuneration of 
directors must be transparent. 

On 18 May 2017, the General Shareholders' Meeting approved the Directors 
Remuneration Policy for the years 2018-2020, without prejudice to the fact that 
amendments introduced by the Policy shall apply to remuneration accrued from the date 
the Policy was approved. 

At its meeting on 28 F ebruary 2013, the Board of Directors resolved, at the proposal of 
the Appointments and Remuneration Cornmittee, to reduce the amounts for membership 
of the Board of Directors and its Committees by 10%, and these were therefore set as 
follows: 
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a) For each director belonging to the Board of Directors 67,500 euros. 
b) For each director belonging to the Executive Committee 45,000 euros. 
c) For each director belonging to the Audit Committee 45,000 euros. 
d) For each director belonging to the Appointments Cornrnittee 36,000 euros. 
e) For each director belonging to the Sustainability Cornrnittee 36,000 euros. 

At the meeting held by the Board of Directors on 11 June 2015 additional remuneration 
was established: l 0,000 euros for the directors holding the chair on the Cornrnittees, 
except in the case of the executive cornrnittee. 

Executive directors who are members of the Executive Cornrnittee do not receive any 
remuneration specifically for belonging to that committee. 

After a detailed analysis of the remuneration received at intemational companies and 
those included on the IBEX 35 index, the Appointments and Remuneration Cornrnittee 
considered the remuneration to be in line with what was paid on the market in companies 
of a similar size in the same business area, that similar remuneration was paid for 
comparable functions and dedication and, without compromising independence, 
remuneration is an adequate incentive to achieve, if possible, a greater engagement by 
directors in the different cornrnittees. 

Furthermore, the General Shareholders' Meeting held on 6 June 2013 resolved to set, for 
the purposes established in new section 2 of article 31 of the Articles of Association, the 
amount of remuneration that may be paid by the Company to its Directors as a whole, for 
their membership of the Board of Directors and its Committees, at a maximum of 
1,503,000 euros. This amount shall remain in force until such time as the General 
Shareholders' Meeting decides to change it, but it may be reduced by the Board of 
Directors on the terms contained in the aforesaid section. This amount has been set at 
1,700,000 euros by the RemunerationPolicy 2018-2020. 

The total remuneration paid to the members of the Board for discharging their duties as 
Company directors in 2017 amounted to 1,308,24 7 euros. This amount is broken down in 
thousand euros, by member ofthe Board ofDirectors, in the following way: 

Fixed 
remuneration 

Remuneration 
for membership 

of Board 
Committees 

Total 2017 Total 2016 

Mr. Daniel Entrecanales Domecq 

Mr. Jerónimo Marcos Gerard Rivero 

Mr. Jaime Castellanos Borrego 

Mr. Fernando Rodés Vila 

Mr. José Manuel Entrecanales Domecq 

Mr. Juan Ignacio Entrecanales Franco 

Mr. Juan Carlos Garay lbargaray 

Ms. Belén Villalonga Morenés 

Mr. Javier Entrecanales Franco 

(*) Ms. Maria del Carmen Becerril Martinez 

Ms. Ana Sainz de Vicuña Bemberg 
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67.5 

67.5 

67.5 

67.5 

67.5 

67.5 

67.5 

67.5 

67.5 

25.8 

67.5 

82 

136 

72 

136 

81 

13.7 

45 

149.5 149.5 

67.5 67.5 

203.5 203.5 

139.5 139.5 

67.5 67.5 

67.5 67.5 

203.5 203.5 

67.5 67.5 

148.5 148.5 

39.5 103.5 

112.5 112.5 
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(**) Ms. Karen Christiana Figueres Olsen 

TOTAL 

(*) Directors leaving the Board in 2017 

(**) Directorsjoining the Board in 2017 

41.7 

742.5 565.7 

41.7 

1308.2 

The remuneration paid to Directors for the performance of senior management executive 
functions and for being members of the Board was 16,027 and 3,277 thousand euros in 
2017 and 2016, respectively. 

With regards to long term variable remuneration linked to Company shares following 
what was established in the Plan 2014 regulations and based on an evaluation of the 
results obtained during the three year period from 2014 to 2016, following a proposal by 
the Appointments and Remuneration Committee the Board of Directors approved to 
deliver a total of 104,096 shares to Executive Directors in 2017, with a fair value of 7,277 
thousand euros. 

In addition, a non-executive director that left her position on 18 May 2017 had a 
professional services contract signed with the Acciona Group for which she received 63 
thousand euros in 201 7. 

In 2014, the Company implemented a savings plan related to a term life assurance, 
permanent disability in the degrees of total, absolute and grand invalidity, and death 
("Savings Plan") aimed solely and exclusively at the Company's Executive Directors. 
The basic characteristics of the plan are as follows: 

a) It is a social welfare system based on a defined contribution. 

b) It is a system endowed extemally through the payment by the Company of annual 
premiums to an insurance company in favour of the Participant for the coverage of 
survival and the risk contingencies, i.e., (i) death and (ii) permanent disability in the 
degrees established in the Regulations. 

e) Should the Participants cease to occupy positions as Executive Directors of Acciona 
for any reason, the Company shall cease to pay the premiums to the Savings Plan 
on the date on which they indisputably cease to hold their position, without 
prejudice to any economic rights recognised to Participants. 

d) The payment ofthe Benefit arising out of the Savings Plan will be made directly by 
the insurance entity to the Participants, net of any corresponding withholdings or 
payments on account of personal Income Tax that may be applicable in each case 
and payable by the beneficiary of the Bene:fit. For the rest of the contingencies, the 
payment of the Benefit will also be made directly by the insurance entity to any 
entitled parties. 

e) The status of Participant in the Savings Plan will be lost should any ofthe following 
circumstances arise: i) occurrence of any of the risk contingencies covered and 
collection of the Benefit; ii) attainment of the age of 65 years; iii) removal from the 
position of Executive Director of Acciona for any reason other than those indicated 
abo ve. 
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The contributions to the Savings Plan in 2017 in favour of the Executive Directors carne 
to 5,125 thousand euros. These contributions included 75% ofthe fixed annual salary and 
an additional amount arising from extraordinary contributions to the Savings Plan related 
to part of the variable remuneration in 2017. 

The global remuneration related to rights accumulated by the Directors in this respect 
amounts to 12,768 thousand euros. 

No obligations have been entered into in connection with pensions with respect to former 
and current members of the Board of Directors. Nor have any advances, credits or 
guarantees been given in favour of the members of the Board of Directors, except as 
indicated in this note. 

In financial years 2017 and 2016 the directors of the Parent did not receive any 
remuneration for being members of other boards and/or senior management of Group 
Companies. 

The remuneration of members ofthe board of directors of Acciona, S.A. was, in thousand 
euros, 17,263 and 4,623 in financia! years 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

The Board of Directors of Acciona, S.A. approved on 26 February 2015, upon proposal 
by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, amendment to the "Plan for Delivery 
of Shares and options to Senior Management of Acciona and its group" Regulations, 
preparing new regulations that affect the executive directors and the Group's executives. 
The main characteristics are described below. 

B. Senior Management 

Senior Management includes those people forming the top two levels of the Acciona 
group's management and the Corporate Interna! Audit Director. This classification is for 
information purposes only and without prejudice to their specific employment 
relationship. 

The remuneration of the Company's General Managers and people discharging similar 
duties, excluding those who are simultaneously members of the Board of Directors 
(whose remuneration is disclosed above), and bearing in mind that this remuneration is 
taken from the perspective of Parent and subsidiaries, in 2017 and 2016 is summarised as 
follows: 

Type of remuneration 

Number ofpeople 

Remuneration (thousand euros) 

2017 

35 

21,551 

2016 

39 

24,672 

The figures for 2016 appearing as remuneration (thousand euros) included the amounts 
related to compensation paid to the executives that left the company every year, for 
termination of their employment relationship, as well as the money settlement for 
differences in the options exercised during the year. In 201 7 no settlements were paid to 
Senior Management. 
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The civil liability premiwn for directors and executives as paid in 2017 amounted to 1,211 
thousand euros. 

Plan for delive1y of shares and performance shares 

The General Shareholders' Meeting held on 24 June 2014 approved the following 
agreement: 

A) To extend the term of validity of the Shares and Options Delivery Plan to Acciona 
group 's management, including Executive Directors, as was approved by the General 
Shareholders 'Meeting of Acciona, S.A. on 4 June 2009, for application in financia/ years 
2014 to 2020, and to increase the maximum number of shares available by 200, 000 
shares. 

B) To authorise the Board of Directors of the Company so that it may, to al! the extend 
required by law and upan propasa/ by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, 
amend the Plan Regulations under the terms and conditions that the Board considers 
convenient, establishing delivery conditions and times, accrual periods, allocation 
criteria and limits and any other aspect that the Board considers relevant, in order to 
align further Lhe long-term inlerests of the Company 's Executive Directors and other 
executives ofthe Acciona Group with those ofthe shareholders of Acciona, S.A., and thus 
boost their motiva/ion in the attainment of higher value and long-term stability for the 
group, and consolidate their loyalty and permanence in the Group. 

Pursuant to that authority, on 26 F ebruary 2015 the Board of Directors approved, u pon 
proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, to amend the Plan 
Regulations, drawing up a new one whose term of validity covers the six-year period from 
2014 to 2019, both inclusive. In addition, and making use of the approval of the General 
Shareholders' Meeting on 18 May 2017, following a proposal from the Appointments and 
Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors approved an additional amendment to 
the Plan Regulations at their meeting held on 14 December 2017 with the aim of adapting 
it to corporate governance best practices regarding deferral, malus and clawback on the 
variable remuneration of executive directors, and to the principies and guidelines 
contained in the Directors Remuneration Policy approved by the General Shareholders' 
Meeting. 

The main characteristics are as follows: 

A) Purpose of the Plan: 

The purpose of the 2014 Plan for Delivery of Shares and "Performance Shares" is to 
remunerate management, including the Executive Directors of Acciona in such a manner 
as to boost the attainment of strategic business objectives to the benefit ofthe Company's 
shareholders, and the loyalty and permanence of executives. 

B) Strategic indicators and objectives to achieve 

Achievement of objectives will be based on business strategic indicators, which have been 
defined by the Board of Directors for financial years ranging from 2014 to 2019. 

¡ 
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C) Plan beneficiaries 

C.1. - Executive Directors 

For Executive Directors, it is contemplated for the first time that they may have 
"performance shares" annually allocated by the Board of Directors. This does not give 
them the right to acquire the related shares ( except where so provided by the Regulations) 
but it is an indication by the Board of Directors of the number of shares that the Board 
forecasts that can be allocated to these Executive Directors ata later date if two conditions 
are fulfilled: their permanence and the attainment of Acciona Group's long-term strategic 
goals as established by the Board as a requisite for the Executive Directors to receive 
shares. 

Reference period: The reference period of the business strategic indicators will be the 
2014-2019 six-year period, although, for allocation of "performance shares", the whole 
period from the start of the 2014 Plan application period to the end of the previous 
financial year will be considered. 

"Performance shares" allocation: Upon completion of each financia! year, the Board of 
Directors may assess the extent to which the long-term strategic objectives have been 
achieved up to that point. 

The final allocation of treasury shares to Executive Directors will take place (a) at the end 
ofthe whole 2014 Plan period (in 2020) upon consideration of the assessment made for 
the whole 2014-2019 period and (b) at a midpoint milestone, in 2017, upon completion 
of the first three 2014-2016 financia! years, upon consideration of the assessment made 
on the first 2014-2016 three-year period. 

Based on the interest of the company and if circumstances so advise for Acciona and its 
group in the opinion ofthe Board ofDirectors, upon consideration ofthe recommendation 
from the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors may put 
off to 2020 the delivery to the Executive Directors of the final shares allocated in 2017 
(in relation to financia! years 2014, 2015 and 2016), making the delivery ofthese shares 
coincide with the delivery of the shares that, if appropriate, should be delivered to the 
executive Directors at the end of the whole 2014 Plan period (in 2020). 

Permanence condition: Delive1y of the shares finally allocated to Executive Directors is 
dependent on the fact that, up to 31 March of the year when the shares are to be delivered, 
the Executive Director has not ceased to perform his/her senior management duties in 
Acciona or its Group for reasons attributable to the Director in question. 
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In no event may the number of allocated shares thus quantified exceed, together with 
those allocated under the 2014 Plan, the maximum number available approved by the 
GM. 

The actual share delivery date in accordance with the provisions in the preceding sections 
shall be determined by the Board of Directors or their delegates, and in any case, it shall 
be done after the General Shareholders' Meeting ofthe year in which the shares are to be 
delivered has taken place. Delivery of20% of the shares that the Executive Directors have 
a right to receive shall be subjected to a mínimum deferral period of one (1) year, and its 
accrual shall be subject to their permanence as an Executive Director as detailed in the 
Regulations, and on there not being any causes that in the opinion ofthe externa! auditors 
could lead to a material restatement of the Acciona Group's consolidated financia} 
statements, as determined by the Board of Directors following a proposal by the 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee, except when this arising from an 
amendment to accounting standards. 

Shares delivered in 2017 are subject toan option for Acciona to buy them back: Treasury 
shares transferred to Executive Directors in 2017 (in relation to financia} years 2014, 2015 
and 2016) have been subjected to Acciona's right to buy them back, a right that can be 
exercised if the Executive Director acquiring the shares ceases to perform his/her senior 
management duties in Acciona or its group before 31 March 2020 for breach of his/her 
contractual obligations or resignation of his/her own free will. 

C.2. -Group's Executives 

For the other beneficiaries that are not executive directors, the Board of Directors will 
approve, upon considering proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, 
the amount for separate variable remuneration to be paid through delivery of the 
Acciona's treasury shares allocated for each financia} year to each executive that benefits 
from the 2014 Plan other than Executive Directors. 

The allocation may be implemented through a number of treasury shares or in a cash 
amount. In the latter case, the equivalent number of shares will be based on the closing 
price on the last day of trading of March of the year when the Board of Directors 
determines the allocation. In no event will the number of allocated shares thus quantified 
exceed, together with the other shares allocated under the 2014 Plan, the maximum 
number approved by the GM. 

Treasury shares transferred to these Beneficiaries are subject to Acciona's right to buy 
them back, a right that can be exercised if the beneficiary acquiring the shares ceases 
his/her professional engagement with Acciona or its Group before 31 March of the third 
year following the year when delivery takes place, for reasons attributable to the 
Beneficiary. The Board of Directors may extend to a reduced group of executives the 
"performance share" and/or shares allocation system established for executive directors, 
with the changes as can be proposed by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee 
regarding interim allocation, tax system, objectives, midpoint milestones and delivery 
times, with the purpose of increasing their motivation in the attainment of higher value 
and long-term stability for the group, as well as consolidating their loyalty and 
permanence in the Group. 
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The 2014 Plan <loes not provide for the possible sale of shares delivered in order to pay 
the tax incurred by the Beneficiary as a result of such delivery. The cost of the payment 
on account of the 2014 Plan performance shall not be passed on to the beneficiaries, and 
the Company shall assume the tax cost that this payment may have on the personal income 
tax of the beneficiaries with the established limits. 

D) Number of shares available for the Plan 

Initially, the maximum number of shares that could be allocated to the Beneficiaries in 
application of the 2014 Plan was fixed at 258,035, although it could be increased by 
resolution of the General Shareholders' Meeting. 

In this respect, the General Shareholders' Meeting held on 11 June 2015, 10 May 2016 
and 18 May 201 7 agreed to increase the maximum number of shares available for the 
"2014-2019 Plan for Delivery of Shares and Performance Shares" by 100,000 for each 
year, without affecting later increases if so proposed by the Board of Directors and 
approved by the General Shareholders' Meeting. 

At the close of201 7 the maximum number of shares that could be delivered to implement 
the Plan, was 353,240, after 35,917 were used in 2017 for delivery to executives other 
than Executive Directors, and 104,096 shares were used for delivery to Executive 
Directors. Without prejudice to the foregoing, in 2017, 26,025 shares have been assigned 
to have a delivery deferred for a period of three years on a straight-line basis in 
implementation of the Plan. 

E) Recipients 

The annual number ofRecipients shall not exceed 100. 

Plan to replace variable remuneration for shares 

Upon proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee, given the limited 
number of Beneficiaries of the former Plan, with the purpose of furthering and extending 
the objectives for building loyalty and retaining executives to the Group's executives, on 
26 March 2015 the Board of Directors approved the "Plan to Replace Variable 
Remuneration for Acciona shares, aimed to Acciona and its group's management" (the 
Replacement Plan), excluding executive directors; the main characteristics of the plan are 
the following: 

Aim: To retain and motivate the management team effectively and achieve higher 
alignment of their interests with those of the Company and its Group. 

Initial duration: Six years (2014 to 2019). 

Purpose: To offer discretionally the option of replacing or swapping, in whole or in part, 
variable remuneration in cash for Company shares to certain Acciona and its group's 
executives, according to a swap equation to be determined each year. In 2015, 2016, and 
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2017, the swap equation approved carried an incentive of 25% over the variable 
remuneration replaced. 

Beneficiaries: The executives that the Board ofDirectors determines of its own free will. 
Executive Directors are excluded from this Plan. 

Restrictions on the shares delivered: In general terms, the shares delivered cannot be 
(a) disposed of, encumbered or used under any title (except for mortis causa), and (b) no 
option right can be set up over them, or any other right limiting ownership or as security, 
until a:fter 31 March of the third year following the year in which the shares in question 
were delivered to the Beneficiary. 

Treasury shares transferred to these Beneficiaries, corresponding to the incentive and not 
to the portien of the shares related to the replaced remuneration as per the amendment 
approved on 29 February 2016 by the Board of Directors, are subject to Acciona's right 
to buy them back, a right that can be exercised if the Beneficiary acquiring the shares 
ceases his/her professional engagement with Acciona or its Group before 31 March of the 
third year following the year when delivery takes place, for reasons attributable to the 
Beneficiary. 

The Acciona share price to be taken as benchmark to determine the swap equation will 
be the closing price on the last <lay of trading of March of the year when the Board of 
Directors determines the allocation of the replacement option. 

SHAREHOLDERS'PLAN 

The Board of Directors, following proposal by the Appointments and Remuneration 
Committee, with the purpose of facilitating participation in the company's shareholdings, 
approved on 28 February 2017 a new Plan that makes it possible to redistribute part of 
the variable and/or fixed money remuneration with the limit of 12,000 euros per year 
through delivery of shares in the Company in accordance with the current regulatory 
framework, which is favourable in terms of the fiscal treatment of this type of plan. 

The plan is voluntary, and it offers all employees with fiscal residence in Spain the 
opportunity of participating in the company' s results by becoming shareholders. This Plan 
<loes not affect executive directors as their relationship is mercantile and not based on an 
employment contract. The shares were measured at the closing quotation price on 13 
April 2017. 

Finally, the number of shares delivered to Beneficiaries other than executive directors ( 47 
Beneficiaries), under the Plan for Delivery of Shares /Performance Shares, in 
consideration of their dedication and performance in financia} year 2017, was 35,917 
shares at the fair value of 2,678 thousand euros. 

Given that this plan accrues on a three-year basis, one third of the fair values mentioned 
above is reflected in "Staff costs" on the accompanying income statement at 31 
December. The other two thirds will be recognised on the income statements for financ ia} 
years 2018 and 2019. 
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As regards Executive Directors, one allocation and delivery of shares took place in 2017; 
104,096 shares were delivered to Executive Directors and 26,025 shares have been 
assigned with a deferred delivery on a straight-line basis overa three-year period. 

Finally, in application of the Replacement Plan, 22,086 shares in the Company were 
delivered in 2017, at the fair value of 1,651 thousand euros, to 37 executives of Acciona 
and its Group, in payment of part of their variable remuneration in cash in 2016. 

The Company determined the fair value of the goods and services received by reference 
to the fair value of the equity instruments assigned. 

The "Plan for delivery to Senior Management" replaced by the plan described in the 
paragraphs above established the replacement of shares with stock option rights for 
Acciona, S.A. ordinary shares. The options granted one year as part of the Plan could be 
exercised, in whole or in part, in one go or more, within the three-year period from (a) 31 
March of the third calendar year following the year when they were allocated and (b) 31 
March of the third year following the start of the period (the "Exercising Period"). The 
movement in 2017 in the number of options and weighted average of the prices to exercise 
the stock options was the following: 

2017 

Existing at the start ofthe financia! year 

Awarded during the period 

Cancelled during the period 

Excrcised during the period 

Lapsed during thc period 

Existing at tbe end of the pcriod 

Susceptible ofbeing exercised at the end ofthe 
period 

Strikc Pricc 
Nº of - Weightcd 

options Average 
(in euros) 

68,872 60.31 

(45,150) 46.15 

23,721 63.25 

23,721 63.25 

As regards the options existing at the end of the financia} year, it should be indicated that 
the strike price ranged between 56.21 and 66. 73 euros and that the weighted average of 
the remaining life of the contract was 0.8 years. 

The valuation methodology applied is based on the Enhanced F ASB 123 method 
(Accounting for Stock Based Compensation), which is in turn based on standard "fair 
value" methods of the CRR binomial type with certain modifications. The model consists 
in estimating the value of the option by trinomial tree methods and then adjusting this 
value by considering that the executive in question may leave the company during the 
maturity period or may exercise the option when the share reaches a multiple of the strike 
value. The market inputs applied for valuation purposes are the closing price of the 
reference share on the date of issue of the plan and the strike price established for the 
exercise of the option, the track record of the reference share in terms of volatility 
calculated as the standard deviation from the quotation yields for a period equal to the 
duration of the plan and the risk-free interest rate. 

Detail ofthe individuals who held Senior Management positions in the Group (taking the 
Parent and subsidiaries into account as Senior Management) in 2017 was as follows: 
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Namc or registcred name 

Alcázar Viela, Jesús 

Ancín Viguiristi, Joaquín 

Antúnez Cid, Isabel 

Arilla de Juana, Carlos María 

Beltrán Núñez, Raúl 

Calle jo Martínez, Al fon so 

Carrión López de la Garma, Macarena 

Castilla Cámara, Luis 

Castillo García, Joaquín 

Claudio Vázquez, Adalberto 

Corella Hurtado, Oiga 

Cruz Palacios, Juan Manuel 

Díaz-Caneja Rodríguez, José Luis 

Ezpeleta Puras, Arantza 

Fajardo Gerez, Fernando 

Farto Paz, José María 

Fernández López, Roberto 

Figueroa Górnez de Salazar, José Julio 

Gutierrez Abarquero, David 

Jiménez Serrano, Ramón 

Mateo Alcalá, Rafael 

Mollinedo Chocano, José Joaquín 

Moreno Lorente, Huberto José 

Muro-Lara Girod, Juan 

Otazu Aguerri, Juan 

Quero Gil , Mario 

Rego Prieto, Osear Luis 

Rodríguez Hemández, José Luis 

Santamaría-Paredes Castillo, Vicente 

Silva Ferrada, Juan Ramón 

Soto Conde, Antonio 

Tejero Santos, José Ángel 

Terceiro Mateos, José Manuel 

Vega-Penichet Lopez, Jorge 

Vicente Pelegrini, Justo 

Position(s) held 

General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Latin America 

General Manager - Acciona Energy - Engineering & Construction 

General Manager - Acciona Property 

General Manager - Economic and Financia! Area 

lntemal Audit Manager 

Genera l Manager - Corporate Resources 

General Manager- Offíce ofthe Chairman 

CEO- Acciona lnfrastructure 

Arca General Manager - Acciona Energy Development 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrnstructure Contrae! Management and Studies 

General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Economic Control Area 

General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Labour Relations, OHS and 
Sustainability 

Area General Manager - Acciona Water 

General Manager - Technology & lnnovation 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastrncture - Australia and South-East Asia 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Galicia 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Corporate Resources 

Area General Manager - Lega l Services 

Area General Manager - Fiscal 

Area General Manager - Acciona Industrial and Acciona Service 

CEO - Acciona Encrgy 

General Manager - lnstitutional Relations, Sustainability and Brand 

General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Construction Area 

General Manager - Corporate Development and Relations with lnvestors 

Production Area General Manager - Acciona Energy 

Area General Manager- Trasrnediterránea 

Procurement A rea General Manager - Acciona 1 nfrestructure 

A rea General Manager - Other Businesses and 1 nvestccs 

Area General Manager - Compliance 

Area General Manager - Sustainability 

Area General manager - Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894 

Area Genera l Manager - Economic Oversight and Finance 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Economics and Finance 

General Secretary 

Area General Manager - Acciona Construction - Spain, Portugal and Africa 

Detail ofthe individuals who held Senior Management positions in the Group (taking the 
Parent and subsidiaries into account as Senior Management) in 2016 was as follows: 

Name or registered name 

Alcázar Viela, Jesús 

Ancín Viguiristi, Joaquín 

Antúnez Cid, Isabel 

Arilla de Juana, Carlos María 

Beltrán Núñez, Raúl 

Blanco Diégucz, José Luis 

Position(s) held 

General Manager - Acciona lnfrastruclure - Latín America 

General Manager - Acciona Energy - Engineering & Construction 

General Manager - Acciona Property 

General Manager - Economic and Financia! Area 

Interna! Audit Manager 

General Manager - Acciona Windpower 
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Name or registered name 

Cabanillas Alonso, Pío 

Callejo Martínez, Alfonso 

Carrión López de la Garma, Macarena 

Castilla Cámara, Luis 

Castillo García, Joaquín 

Claudio Vázquez, Adalberto 

Corella Hurtado, Oiga 

Cruz Palacios, Juan Manuel 

Díaz-Caneja Rodríguez, José Luis 

Ezpeleta Puras, Arantza 

Fajardo Gerez, Femando 

Farto Paz, José María 

Femández López, Roberto 

Fígueroa Gómez de Salazar, José Julio 

Gutierrez Abarquero, David 

Jiménez Serrano, Ramón 

Luna Butz, Walter 

Mateo Alcalá, Rafael 

Mollinedo Chocano, José Joaquín 

Moreno Lorente, Huberto José 

Muro-Lara Girod, Juan 

Otazu Aguerrí, Juan 

Quero Gil, Mario 

Rego Prieto, Osear Luis 

Rivas Anoro, Félix 

Rodríguez Hemández, José Luis 

Santamaría-Paredes Castillo, Vicente 

Silva Ferrada, Juan Ramón 

Soto Conde, Antonio 

Tejero Santos, José Ángel 

Terceiro Mateos, José Manuel 

Vega-Penichet Lopez, Jorge 

Vicente Pelegrini, Justo 

C. Auditor 

Positioo(s) held 

General Manager - Corporate lmage and Global Marketing 

General Manager - Corporate Resources 

General Manager - Office of thc Chairman 

CEO - Acciona lnfrastructure 

Area General Manager - Acciona Energy Development 

General Manager Civil Works - Acciona lnfrastructure 

General Manager - Acciona 1 nfrastructure - Economíc Control Area 

General Manager - Acciona lnrrastructure - Labour Relations, Environment Quality 
Plan and Sustainability 

Area General Manager - Acciona Water 

General Manager - Technology & lnnovation 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Australia and South-East Asia 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Galicia 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Corporate Resources 

Area General Manager - Legal Services 

A rea General Manager - Fiscal 

Area General Manager - Acciona Industrial and Acciona Service 

CEO - Acciona Energy 

CEO - Acciona Energy 

General Manager - lnstitutional Rclations, Sustainability and Brand 

Area General Manager- Railway & Tunnels, Acciona lnfrastructures 

General Manager - Corporate Development and Relations with lnvestors 

Production Area General Manager - Acciona Energy 

Area General Manager - Trasmediterránea 

Procurement Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrestructure 

Area General Manager - Procurement, lnnovation, Quality and the Environment 

Area General Manager - Other Businesses and lnvestees 

Area General Manager - Compliance 

Area General Manager - Sustainability 

Area General manager - Grupo Bodegas Palacio 1894 

Area General Manager - Economic Oversight and Finance 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure - Economics and Finance 

General Secretary 

Area General Manager - Acciona lnfrastructure Spain and Construction Africa, 
Sweden and Emirates 

In 201 7, the fees for financia! audit and other services provided by the new auditor of the 
Group's consolidated financia! statements, KPMG Auditores, S.L., or by firms in the 
KPMG organisation (Deloitte, S.L. in 2016), and the fees billed by the auditors of the 
financia! statements of the consolidated companies, and by companies related to these 
auditors as a result of a relationship of control, common ownership or common 
management, were as follows: 

Auditing services 

Othcr assurance services 

Services provided by the 
main auditor 

2017 

3,694 

961 
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2016 (*) 

3,282 

383 

Services provided by other 
audit firms 

2017 

752 

560 

2016 

1,654 

1,037 
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Total audit and rclatcd scrvices 

Tax advisory services 

Other services 

Total professional scrviccs 
(*)Deloil/e, S.l. was the main Auditor during 2016. 

4,655 

153 

2,059 

2,212 

3,665 

807 

3,537 

4,344 

1,312 

1,235 

5,019 

6,254 

2,691 

790 

3,998 

4,788 

With regards to the main auditor, "other assurance services" includes mainly advisory 
services in the scope of sustainability and corporate social responsibility, financia] due 
diligence services, services to issue "comfort letters", and reports on agreed procedures. 
The concept of "tax advisory services" includes mainly fees for advisory services on 
transfcr pricing, corporate tax and indirect taxation documentation. Finally, "other 
services" mainly includes advisory services the Group's management of expatriate staff, 
valuation services, advice regarding information security and information technology and 
business consultancy services. 

35.- Other disclosures concerning the Board of Directors 

Pursuant to Article 229 of Royal Legislative Decree 112010, of 2 July, whereby the 
consolidated text of the Capital Companies Act was approved, at 31 December 2017, 
according to the information available to the Company and notified by Directors and their 
related parties, they were not involved in any situations of conflict, whether direct or 
indirect, with the Company's interests. 

36. - Trade and other accounts payable 

At 31 December 2017, the balance of trade and other payables carne to 2, 199 mili ion 
euros, and to 2,297 rnillion euros in 2016; as a significant variation under this heading it 
should be noticed the transfer of the Subgroup Trasrnediterránea to "held for sale" for the 
arnount of 74 million euros. 

As detailed in Note 14, the amount corresponding to custorner advances recorded at the 
close of the financia! year 2017 and 2016 under this heading amount to 658 and 944 
million euros, respectively, mainly frorn the infrastructure division. 

Average period for payment to suppliers 

The table below details the information required by Final Provision Two of Act 31/2014, 
of 3 December, as prepared following application of Resolution dated 29 January 2016 
by the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute. This information refers only to Spain, 
where this regulation is applicable: 

Average payment period and payments 
made and payments outstanding at the 
balance sheet date in Spain 

Average period ofpayment to suppliers 

Paid operations ratio 

Unpaid operations ratio 
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2017 

Days 

38 

34 

60 

2016 

Days 

42 

40 

55 
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(thousand euros) 

Total payments made 

Total payments outstanding (*) 

Amount 

2,655,262 

448,834 

Amount 

2,344,181 

411,792 

(*) There are "outstanding payments" at 31 December 2017 recorded under "liabilities associated with 
assets heldfor sale" for the amount of 56,205 thousand euros. 

The "Average period of payment to suppliers" refers to the time that elapses from delivery 
of goods or provision of services by a supplier to payment of the operation. 

The "Average period of payment to suppliers" is calculated as the quotient whose 
numerator is the result of adding the paid operations ratio by the total amount of payments 
made to suppliers plus the operations outstanding ratio by the total amount of payments 
outstanding and whose denominator is the total amount of payments made and payments 
outstanding. 

The "Paid operations ratio" is calculated as the quotient whose numerator is the sum of 
the products related to the amounts paid, by the number of payment days (calendar days 
elapsed as from the time when the period begins to run up to actual payment of the 
operation) and whose denominator is the total amount of payments made. 

And the "Unpaid operations ratio" refers to the quotient whose numerator is the sum of 
the products related to the amounts outstanding, by the number of payment outstanding 
days (calendar days elapsed as from the time when the period begins to run up to the 
closing of annual accounts) and whose denominator is the total amount of payments 
outstanding. 
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APPENDIXI 

GROUP COMP ANIES 

The subsidiaries of ACCIONA, S.A. considered to be Group companies were treated as 
such in accordance with IFRS. The companies fu11y consolidated in 20] 7, and the 
information thereon at 31 December 2017, were the following (amounts in thousand 
euros): 

Compaoy Andit Lontioa Maio adnity 
Efftttin 

Holdrr of intenst 
Can-}iag 

S•arr% am-•t 

3240934 Nm·a Sootia Compimy Camda Ene7gy 100.011"8 
Sn.bgmup Acciona 

292 
Rene\"\'3ble Canadá 
Subgmup Acciona 

Acciona Wind EoeTID' Canada loe. C<mada Eocrgy 66.67",4 Esagf.a 52,446 
¡~ 

Acciona & Sogex Facility 
A Ornan U:rhm Setvices 70.00"/e 

SubvcRlfJP Acciona 
248 

Serviccs LLC Facility Services 

Acciona Agua Adclaide l"ly Ltd A Aesrra!Ri Wan:r-Tre.111mmt J00.00'% 
Subgroup Acciona 

7 
Agua Aus1Jalia 

Acciona Agua Australia 
A Austr.tlia Water T reatment 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
5 

Propríetary, Lid Agua 

Acciona Agua Brasi.1- Tllllamento 
Br.u:il Water T reatmeut 100.00% 

Sabgroap Acciooa 
2,544 

De Agua Ltd Agua 

Accionzt Agua Camda Inc. B Canadii Water" Trezttxnem 100.00"Y. 
SulJgrovp AJ:ciooa 

7 
Agua 

Acciona Agua India Private 
E India Water Treatment HJOJ}4}% 

Subgroup Acciona 
1,257 

Lirnited Agua 

Acciona Agua Internacional e Australia Water Treatment 100.00% 
Subgmup Acciona 

Australia Pty, Lid Agua Internacional 

Acciooa Agua I~ lac. C3B:aibl WarerTrea1mmt I00.00% 
Subgroup AccMma 

7 
Agua Internacional 

Acciona Agua lntema...-iorud, S.L Madrid Water Treatment 100.00% 
Subgroop Acciona 

4 
Agua 

Acciona Agua México, S.R.L De 
Mexico Water Treatmem 100.009!. 

Snbgmup Acciona 
6,061 

C.V. Agua 

Acciona Agua Sen-irios S.L A Madrid Watfr Treatmem IOOJ)()% 
SabgJoup AJ:'ciom 

51,BO 
Agua 

Subgroup 

Acciona Agua, S.A. A Madrid \Vate,- Trealmeot 100.00% 
Corporación 

284,285 
Acciona 
Infraestructuras 

Acciona Airport Sen-ices 
Subgmup Acciona 

A Gerrnany Logistics Senices 100.00% Airport Senices 25 
DüsseldoñGmbh 

Frankfim 

Acciona Airport Services 
Madrid Logistics Services 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
3 

Barcelona, S.L Airport Services 

Acciona Airport Scnires 
Madrid Logistics Senices 100.~4 

~Acciona 3 
Canarias, S .L Airpon Services 

Acciona Ai:rport Sawces Cfnle, 
Subgroup Acciona 

Chile Logislics Seivices 100.00% Servicios Urbanos 774 
Spa 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona A irport ServH.= Este, 
Madrid Logistics Services 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
3 

S.L Aiipoo Savices 

Acciona Airport Scrvices 
A Gennany Logistics Services 100.0ffl{, Acciona 5,637 

Frankfurt, Gmbh 

Acciona Airport Services Mlllfrid, 
Madrid ~Sen>ices UJO.~" Subgroup Acciona Z ~·O 

S.L 1 
ADJll@L~M-C\3 LO ,·, ¡ 

\ 
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TRANSLA TION 

Ü<mpmiy AGlfit LcaÓIJ;;J Mmizrtñ'ity 
Efrtttin 

Holdrrofmttnst 
Carryieg 

Shan% amount 

Acciona Aiqiort Seivices Nmte, 
Snbgroup Acciona 

Madrid Logistics Services 100J}{)% Savicios Urbanos 25,726 
S.L y Memo Amb:ente 

Acciona Airport Scrvices Sm, S.L Madrid Logistics Services IOIJ. 00"/o 
Subgroup Acciona 

3 
Airport Service<; 

Subgroup Acciona 
Acciona Airport Services, S.A. A Madrid Logislics Senic:es 100.00% Servicios Urbanos 25,724 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona Biocombust:IDles., SA Nai.<mr.! Energy 100.00% 
Sebgroap Acciona 

12,871 
Enau,,.ía 

Acciona Biomasa Navarra Energy 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

20,003 
Energía 

Acciona Cerro Ne¡~m, S.A. Chile 
w:m:r 

l00.00% 
Subgnmp Acciona 

4 
treatmenUConstruction Construcción 

Acciona Concesiones Australia 
A Auslralia Coocession Operation IOOJ)()",4, 

Subgroup Acciona 
Ply Limita.! Cmu:eslnm:s 

Acciona Concesiones Chile, S.A. Chile Holding Company 100.00% 
Snbgroup Acciona 

8,419 
Coostmcción 

Acciona Concesiones, S.L. A Madrid Hoklíng Company 100.00% Acciona 59,060 

Acciona Cona:ssicns 
A Ornada Holding Company 100.(}{)%. Snbgroup Acciona 4,142 

Managemt:nt me. Coeiccsim1es 

Acciona Coostruccwn Australia, 
Australia Construction 82.40% 

Subgmup Georech 
pty Ltd. Holding 

Subo.,roup 

Acciona Construcción, SA B Madrid Construction 100.00"/o 
Colporación 

332,227 
Acciona 
Infraestructuras 

Acciona Constmction Holdings 
A Australia e~ 82.~·i. 

Subgroup Geotech 
127,442 

Pty Ltd Holding 

Acciona Coru.1mction Mame., 
Morocco Construction 100.ClOo/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
SARL Construcción 

Acciona Conslructíon Philippiru:s f'iilliw'..= Cc::1sttm:tiL~ Hllfl.00'%. 
Subgnmp Acciona 

1,534 
lnc. Construcción 

Acciona Constmction USA Corp. USA Construction 100.00% 
Subgmup Acciona 

4 
Canstmcción 

Acciona Copiapó, SA Chile 
Water 

100.00'%. 
Subgroup Acciona 

4 
treatmentíConstruction Construcción 

ACCIONA CORPORACION. 
l\.~ ~ HJO.t~J% 

Subgroap Finanzas 
60 

S.A. y Cartern2 

Acciona Dcsarmllo Corporativo, 
Madrid Instrumental 100.00% 

Subgroup Finanz.as 
60 

S.A. y Cmcra2 

Acciona Do Brasil, ltda. Brazil Hl>lding Con:ipall)' 100.00% 
ScirgIDtl¡I Accimli3 

18,927 
COflStraccíón 

Subgroop Acciona 
Acciona Energía Atlanta I, S.L l\.iadrid Energy 66.67'% Energía 2 

!memaciooal 

Subgronp Acciona 
Acciona Enctgia Atianla H, S.L Madrid Ern:rgy 66.67% Ener"gía 2 

Intemacioo.al 

Snbgmup ,\cciona 
Acciona Energía Atianla lll, S.L Madrid Eneim' 66.67% Energía 2 

Intem:u:iooal 

Accimm F.na-..,,ia Chik A Olli:te fr..crgy H!0.00'7ó 
Subgroup Acciona 

37 
Energía Global 

Acciona Energía Chile Holdings, 
A Chile Energy 100.00"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
136 

SA Encrgia GlfJbal 

hrilma E~ Costa R~ SA. Cosm Rii:a Enagy IOIHJ<3% 
Sufigroop Acciom 

479 
Energía Global 

Acciona Energía Global Italia, 
A Ital)' Energy 100.(](}'% 

Subgmup Acciona 
3,347 

S.R.L. Energía Global 
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TRANSLA TION 

C-pamy AIKfit Leatieli :\lailiadñitl 
Ef~in 

Heldn- ef illknst 
Carryiag 

Sllare% amouet 

Acciona Energía Global, S.L A Navarra Ene:rgy 100.00"/o 
Snbgroup Acciona 

92,307 
Energía 

Acciori.aE~I~ 
A NavlllTll Energy 66.67"/o ~Acriooa 324,000 

S.A Eoetgía 

Acciona Energía México Global 
A Mexico E!lelfil' 100.0ffl• 

Subgroup Acciona 
7,632 

LLC Energía Global 

S~Acciona 
Acciona Energía Mé.Uco, Sd A Me:rico Enelg}· 66.67"/o Enetgía 3,300 

Internacional 

Acciona Eaergía Sem.cios MéU:o 
Snbgroop Acciona 

S De RI DeC.V. 
A Mexioo Energy Hl0.00"/o ~Mcxioo 3,916 

Global 

Subgroup Corp. 
Acciona Energia, S.A. A Navarra Energy 100.0tr/o Acciona Energías 1,146,380 

Rmm'abks 

Acciona E~ja O.O.O. Croatia Enetgy 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciooa 
Ene¡gia Global 

Acciona EnfrID· North América 
Subgroup Acciona 

Corp. 
A USA EneTgy 66.67% Enagía 224,438 

lfltemaciooal 

Acciona Energy Australia Global, 
A Allstnilia Eoergy lOIHJO!'o 

Sub<>.,roup Acciona 
Pty. Lid Eneigía Global 

Acciona Energy Canadá Global 
Canada Energy IOOJlO"/o 

Subgrou.p Acciona 
2,267 

Corp Energía Global 

Acciona Encrgy Development 
Subgroup AJ:ciooa 

Canadá !ne 
Canada Energy 100.üm' Eoe.rgía Global 

Canada 

Acciona Encrgy Global Pol.aud 
A Poland Energy 100.00% 

Subgroup Accioua 
716 

Sp. Z.0 .0. Energía G loba! 

Acciona Encrgy Jadia Priv:atc 
A ludia Enagy UJl}.00% 

Subgioup Ai:ciona 
15,555 

Limited Energía Global 

Acciona Energy Korea, loe 
South 

Eoergy 100.00"/o 
Subgroup Acciona 

Korea Enttgia Global 

Acciona Enagy Oceanía 
Subgroup Acciom 

Con.s1ruction Pty Ltrl 
Australia Encrgy Hl0.00".4 Energía Global 1,087 

Australia 

Acciona Energy Oceanía financia] 
Su.bgrolap Acciosa 

Services Ply, lid 
A Aestralia Enagy 100.06'• &ielgía Globzl J4 

Australia 

Subgroup Acciona 
Acciooa Energy Oceanía Ply. Ud A Australia Energy 66.67ª"- Energía 102,736 

lmemaciom.J 

Acdooa Enecgy Poland 
Subgrnup Acciona 

Maintenance Services Sp. Z O.O 
A Poland Energy l00J)0% Energía Global 25 

Polmd 

Subo.,roap An.--iom 
Acciona Eoagy Pol:md Sp. LO.O A Poland Energy 66_6.,../e Energía 46,968 

lntemacioual 

Acciona Energy South Africa Sooth 
Subgroup Acciona 

(Proprietary) Limiled 
A 

A frica 
~- 66.67% E~ 34,&52 

Iotemaciooal 

Acciona Energy South Afiica 
A 

South 
Enesgy 100.00"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
l0,823 

Global (Pty) Ltd Africa Energía Gl-0ba1 

Acciona Energy USA Global LLC A USA Eoergy 100.00"/o 
Subgroap Acciona 

128,715 
Encrgía GlobaJ 

Acciona Engineering Qatar A Qat;n- Enginecriug 100_00"/e Subgroup Acciona 
47 

lngenieria 

Subgrosp Acciona 
Acciona Eólica Calabria, Srl ltaly Enetg}· 100.(10% Enesgia Global 2,723 

Italia 

Subgroup Acciona 
Acciona Eólica Cesa Italia, S _R_L A ltaly "Eoelfil' 66.67% Energía 20,572 

Int.emacioual 

Acciona Eólica Cesa, S.L Madrid Eoergy IOIHJO~'.. 
Subgroup 

93,938 
Ceatesalas 

Acciona Eólica De Castilla la 
A Madrid Energy lOOJ)()"/o Subgroup Alabe 100 

Mancha,S.L 

Subgwup Cmp. 
Acciona Eólica De Galicia, S .A A Lago Acc=-~~"'~'"' tof16 t\'Q Reno r\i V1·) _r\I J 
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TRANSLATION 

C.-pm!Jy Ac:dit Lor:atim Mm lldñ'ity 
E.fftttivt 

H6Mtr of mtrnst Carqiog 
Sbano/e amouot 

Acciona Eólica Levante. S_L. A Valencia Eoeigy 100.00"/a Subgroup Alabe 19,314 

Acciona Eólica Pmtngal 
Sclrgrmzp Acciooa 

Unfpersornd, Lda. 
A Portugal Energy 66.67'11,, Energía 24,457 

Internacional 

Subgroup Acciona 
Accioea EPC Nortb América Ll.C LIS.A E~ 10f.t00% Ei=gía GlohW 8 

USA 

Acciona Facility Senices 
Madrid Urb:m Services 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
3 

Automoción Catahmya, S.L Facility Services 

Acciona Facility Sen-ices C,;madá 
Canada Urban Serviccs 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Ltd F acility Serviccs 

Acciona F acilily Service:s Esle, 
Mamd Urti=Senic:s HKH.10% 

Subgroup Acciona 
3 

S.L. Facllity Sen•iccs 

Acciona Facility Seni= 
Subgroup Acciona 

Gennany Gmbb 
Gt:mlll'lly Logistics Scrvices 100.00% Servicios Ulbanos 5,044 

yMalioA~ 

Acciona Facifüy Senices HoUimd 
Holland Urban Services 100.00"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
18 

B.V. F acility Scnrices 

Acciona falcifü:y &.nb:es hafu, 
Jtaly Umm Sen·ioes IOOJXJ"k 

S~ Ai::ciooa 
12 

Srl Facility Set-vices 

Acciona facility .Senia:s Pulmd 
Poland Facility Sen-ices 100JJ0% 

Sabgroop Acciona 
Spólka Z.Oü Facility Services 

Acciona Facil ity Scr\-ires Portugal E Portugal Urban Services 100.00% 
Snbgroup Acciona 

l,048 
Facility Services 

Subgroup 
Acciona facllity Services Sur, 

Toledo Urban Senrices Hl0.00% 
Multiservicios 

262 
S.A. Acciona Facility 

Services 

Subgroup Acciona 
Acciona Facility Serviccs, S.A. A Baroefona Urban Services 100.00% SerYicios Urbanos 101,518 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona F inanciacióu. De Filiales 
A Chile Firumcial 100.00% Acciona 70,873 

Chile Spa 

Ac.:iom Financmcioo filiales A M2!drid Fmaocial 100.00% Aa::iooa 4ll,826 

Acclima Fmmciacioo Filiah:s 
A Australia Fimmcial 100.00% Acciona 

Australia Pty Ltd 

Acciona fo.N;:udíng Arga:!tína, 
Argentina Logistics Services 100.1)0'% 

Subgroup Acciona 
673 

S.A. Fmwarding 

Acciom fmv;anling BG1isi1 A Brazi! Ll!.gi;ms Se!n'ID:s 98.7J% 
Snbgro4Jp Accio1111 

3,305 
forwardíng 

Acciona Forwaniing Canarias., 
A 

C.anaiy 
Logisrics Sen.ices 100.0ffl(, 

Subgroup Acci1ma 
389 

S.L lslands Fomarding 

Subgroup Acciona 
Acciona Forwanling., S.A. A Madrid Logistics Sen·ices 100.00% Servicios Urbanos 5,628 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona Gwtedi Gmup Servires 
A A~ e~ 82.-Wo/. 

Su!J.gmup Gootecli 
Pty Ltd Holding 

Acciona Geotech Holding Pty l..td A ADStralia Construction 82.40% 
Subgroup Acciona 

130,390 
Grotech 

Accmna Global R.elle1f>~ S.A. Mmrid En~y 66_6~·ó 
Subgrnt¡p A=iiooa 

40 
Ene¡gía 

Accinna Green Energy 
A Nm·nmi Encrgy !()()_{)()% 

Subgroup Acciona 
26,000 

I:h'efopmems, S.L Ent.Tgía 

Scll<>.,,rou;p Accic::m1 
Acciona Ground Savices, S_L Madrid Log.istics Sen-ices lOO.OOo/o Ser<'icios Urbanos 2 

y Medio Ambiente 

Subgroup Acciona 
Acero= Hamfimg S='Ílr.ó, SL V:u!=ia ~Sen.·ii= !00.00~(. Servicios Urtmms 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona Health Care Services., "Madrid Utba.n Ser-vices 100.00% 
Subg:ronp Accimia 

3 
S.L. Facility Services 
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TRANSLA TION 

Compny Alldit LGatiea l\12ii1 :actnity 
EIJtttin~ 

Hakkr uf ÍllftR5t 
C:arryillg 

Sil:arr % :amo•Dt 

Acciona Industrial Australia, Pty 
Auslralia Constractioo 100.00"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
6 

Ltd Constm::ción 

Acciona loduslrial, SA A SC"\'illa Constmctiou 100.00% 
SebgroHp Accioaa 

21 ,476 
Comtmcción 

Acciona Infraestructuras 
Colombia COBStrodion 100.00"Aa 

Sobgroup Acciona 
6 

Colombia SAS Constmcción 

Acciona lofraesnucturas 
A Mexico COOSlmcrioo 100.()()% Subgroup Acciona 

2 
Residenciales Mé.-..ico SA CoHStmcción 

Acciona lofiae.structllras-Elecnor, 
A Panama COl!Stnlciioo 75.00% 

Sobgroup Acciona 
6 Hospital David CoOSlruccióo 

Acciona Iofiaestrncto:re Asia 
Australia Consuuctioo 100.00% 

Sobgroop Acciona 
57,223 

Pacific Pty Lirni:tod ConsDncción 
Acciona lnfiasUuctllre New 

A 
New 

COllSIJ'tJCboo 106.(10% 
Subgroup Acci-00a 

19 
Ze.aland., Ud Zealand Coosttucción 
Acciona lnfiastructores Australia 

B Australia CrnNmcrion 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

16,133 
Pty. Ltd Coosttm.."'CiOO 
Acciona lngenieria Colombia, 

Colombia Engineering 100.00"/o S~Acciona 6 SAS. Ingenieria 

Acciona lnge.nieria Industrial S.A. 
A Mexioo EngiDeaisg 100.00% 

Subgmnp Acciona 
12,211 

DeC.V. Ingenieria 

Acciona Ingeniería S.A A Madrid Engineering l OOJ>O"/o 
Subgrotip Ao:iom. 

12.,4-09 
e~ 

Acciuna lmnob:ílizill S.L A Madrid Real estate 10011()% Acciooa 1,434,454 

Acciona lnstalaciooes MéxÍL"O, 
B Mexico Construction 100.00"/o 

Subgroop Acciooa 
122 

S.ADeC.V. !Bduslria.I 

Acciona Inversiones Corea, S.L. NavSJra Eoei-gy IOOJJO"-' 
Subgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 

Acci<ma Lcgistica, S.A .. Madrid HoldiegC~ 100.00'l~ Aa..-lomi 326,8S9 

Acciona Mantenimiento De 
A Madrid Construction 100.00% 

Subgroop Acciona 
278 

lnfiaeraucturas, S.A Consliucrión 

~Acciooa 
Acciona Medioambil:'llte, S.A. A Valencia Url!an Setvices 100.00% Servicios Urhmos 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona Multiscrvic.ios, S.A. A Madrid uroan Scrviccs 100.00"/. 
Subgroup Acci-Ooa 

700 
Farifuy· Sernrei 

Acciona Nierochomosci., Sp. 
Poland Real estate 100.00% 

Snbg1oop Acciona 
7,705 

Z.0.0 Inmobiliaria 

Acciowi Ope:ra¡::ilÍll y 
A Mex1co Utbm Sen ices f{l(l.OO"'A. ~Ac:ciooa 626 

Mantenimiento, S .. Rl.. De C.V. Facility Setvices 

Acciona Portugal 11 - Energía 
POltDgal EDClfil' 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Global, Lela Energía Global 

Acciona Producciones y Diseño 
Subgroup Acciona 

S.A. 
A Madrid Audio-visual serv.ices 100.00"-' Servicios Urhmos 7,805 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona Project Maaaganent 
A Mexico Urbaa Sernce.s UJO.~~ 

Subgroup Acciona 
l,CJTl 

Mexico, SA. de C.V Facility Services 

Subgroup Acciona 
Acciona Rail Senires, SA Madrid I.ogislics Sen'iü."S IOO_Offl(, ~Ulba.oos 256 

y Medio Ambiaife 

Acciona Real Estate., S~.\.. U. A l\.fadrid Real estate 100.00% 
Subgroup Accioml 

399,506 
Inmobiliaria 

Acciona Redes y Mantenimientos 
Madrid Umm Scvices l.01.HJ0% 

Subgroup Acciona 
3 

Especiafüados, S..L Factlíty Sen<Íces 

Acciona Rern:wabJe Energy 
Ca nada Eoergy 1 ()()J)()O/c, 

SnbooffiUP N<wa 
3,965 

Canadá Gp Holdings lnc Scot.ia 

Acciooa Renewable Energy 
Slilbgfoop A=ioBa 

Canadá Holdings LLC 
USA Energ}' 100 .00"'/o Energía Global 297 

USA 

Subgroup Cosp. 
Acciona Salios De A:,"1!111, S.LU. A Madrid ~ 100.00"A. Aa:iomt EJlagÍi!S 70,603 

Renovables 

Acciona Saudi Arabia For 
E 

Saudi 
Engineering 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
123 

Contracting Uc Arabia lndmtrial 

cu~,R,\ LOiS LOZA:~o 
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TRANSLA TION 

Cw::Jpm:ny Adt Leaticm Mmil lH°tñ'ity 
Efrtttivt 

HGMN ofmttnst 
Carryiug 

Sbano/o a mouot 

Subgroup Acciona 
Aa:il>na Serv. Hospitalarios, S.L Madrid Holding Company 100.00"/o Servicios Urbanos 629 

J ~kdin Ambiente 

Subgroup 

Acciona Sen•ice, S.L. A Mllifrid Uman SeI'"ices 100.00"/o 
Corporación 

143,538 
Acciona 
~ 

Acciona Sen:icil!ls 
A Me.xico Real estate 101).()()% Subgroup Acciona 

586 
Administrativos, SA de C.V. Facilily Sen·ices 

Acciona Sen•icios Cooresiooales, 
A .~~ e~~ W0.00%, Aa:imia 1,294 

S.L. 

Acciona Setvicios ferroviarios, 
A Madrid Logistics Servires IOOJJO"lo 

Subgroup Acciona 
21 

S.L. fat:ility Senrices 

Acciona Servicios Urbanos Medio 
A Merico Urban Sen-ices 100.00% 

Subgroop Acciona 
l,790 

Ambiente México, S.A. De C.V. Facilit:y Sen·ices 

Sobgroup Acciona 
Acciom Senil:ios lJ~, S.L. A .Madrid um::n :Senrres Hlfül0'%i Servicios UIÍla:lro'S 30,809 

y Medio Ambiente 

Acciona Sistemas De Seguridad, 
l\1adrid Constructiun 100.00% 

Subgmup Acciona 
4Jl 

S.A. Facility Senices 

Acciooa Sm.ut City Sen;f.ces, S.L Madrid Urban Sen•ices 100 OO'ltó 
Subgronp Acciona 

3 
Facility Sen•ices 

Subgronp Acciona 
Acci.nm ~ ~ I.LC USA ~· 66.67o/ .. Enagia.Nooh 27,664 

América 

Subgmup Acciona 
Acciona SoJ11r Pm.\·er Inc. USA Enagy 100.!)1}% Encrgia Global 6,055 

USA 

Acciona SoW:, SA Na"·:arra Encrgy 100.00°/Ó 
Subgmup Accwna 

3,360 
Energía 

Acciona Sumin5trndora México, 
Me.,ico Energy IOOJXl"/o 

SubgRl1!p Acciona 
S.R.L. de C.V. Eacrgia 

Acciona Termosolar A Navarra Energy 100.00"/o 
Subgroup Accirnla 

15,505 
Energía 

Acciona Water Snpplies 
E axrna WlUl'T~ mtHl0% 

Sobgroop Acciona 
319 

Technology Beijíng Ül. Ltd Agua 

Snbgmup Acciona 
Acciona Win:d Energy Pvt Ltd A India Ene¡gy 66.67% Ent:lgÍl.I 7,050 

lntt:macicnal 

Su!Jgmup Acciona 
Acciona Winrl Energy USA, LLC USA Energy 66.67% Energía Nortb 313,921 

América 

Accitmt:s Utb.&.sas., Senicios y 
Mmcia Utban Serv1ces 50J)()% 

Sungrn;:ip A:citma 
200 

Medio Ambiente. S.L Servicios Urbanos 

Aepo Gabón, SA. Ga!Joo Engineering lOIHJ0".4 
Snbgmup Acciona 

4 
Ingeniería 

Aepo Polsb s_p_ Z O.O Pcland Engineering 100.000:. 
Subgroup Acciona 18 
Ingeniería 

Aemsite Eoergy Private Límited A India Energy 100.00"/e 
Suhgroup Acciona 

3,020 
Eru:lgia G!OOal 

AFS Efficient Eneim· Uk Limited 
Unired 

UJban Services I0().()0% 
Subgroap Acciuna 

Kiugdom Facilily Services 

AFS Empleo Socm lhn:tluna, 
Bm=iom Urb:m Senii::es 100.00% 

Sobgmup Acciooa 
3 

Sl. F acility Services 

AFS Empleo Social, S.L Ban:tlona Urtian ScrvK= 100.00% 
Subgroap Accwna 

153 
F acil ity Sen ices 

Ageru:ia Marilima T~ 
Madrid Logistics Services 92.71% 

Subgroup Acóooa 
664 

SA Trasmeditt:rranea 

Agencia Se~ S_A. e M:!!dml Logisiics Sen?res 92.71% 
S~Acciuaa 14,808 
Trasmediterranea 

Agnas Píli;r De La Hamdad.a S.L M2!drid Wat« T reatment 100.00% 
Subg.nmp Accwna 

3 
Agua Servicios 
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TRANSLA TION 

Compay 

AlE Trafitlgar 

Alabe Mengibar, AJ.E. 

Alabe Sociedad De Cogeneración, 
S.A. 

AJmeydaSpa 

Amherst \Vind Constructioo Gp 
lnc 

Anchor Wind, LLC 

Antigua Bodega De Don Cosme 
Palacio, S.L. 

Apoderada Corporativa General , 
S.A. 

Arsogaz 2005, S.L. 

Asesores Turisticos Del Estrecho, 
S.A. 

ATLL Concesionaria de la 
Generalitat de Catalunya, S.A. 

Aulac Wind Power Lp 

Autovia De Los Viñedos 

Avenir El Romero Spa 

Bear Creek 

Bestinver Gestion S.C.1.1.C., S.A. 

Bestinver Pensiones G .F. P., S.A. 

Bestinver Sociedad De Valores, 
S.A. 

Bestinver, S.A. 

Biocarburants De Catalunya, S.A. 

Biodiesel Caparroso, S.L. 

Biodiesel Del Esla Campos 

Biodiesel Sagunt, S.L. 

Biomasa Alcazar, S.L. 

Biomasa Briviesca, S.L. 

Biomasa Miajadas, S.L . 

Biomasa Sangüesa, S.L. 

Bodegas Palacio, S.A. 

Capev Venezuela 

Ce Oaxaca Cuatro, S. De R.L. De 
C.V. 

Ce Oaxaca Dos, S. De R.L . De 
C.V. 

Audit 

Madrid 

Chile 

Canada 

USA 

AJ a va 

Madrid 

Madrid 

Málaga 

A Barcelona 

Canada 

A Toledo 

C hile 

USA 

A Madrid 

A Madrid 

A Madrid 

A Madrid 

Barcelona 

Navarra 

Navarra 

Navarra 

Madrid 

A Burgos 

A Madrid 

A Navarra 

A A lava 

E Venezuela 

A Mexico 

A Mexico 

Maia :u:fuity 

Energy 

Eoergy 

Energy 

Energy 

Wim:ry 

1 nstrumental 

Real estate 

Logistics Serv ices 

Water Treatment 

Energy 

Concessions 

Energy 

Energy 

Financia! 

Financia! 

Financia! 

Financia! 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Winery 

Conslruction 

Energy 

Efftttivr Holdrr ofiakrrst Carryiag 
Sbn% amoaat 

96..25% 

100.00% 

100.00"/ .. 

100.00"/e 

100.1)(}"/e 

SlilbglmJp Accioo:a 
EneJV.,,ía 
Subgrouploeuropa 
de cogmaación 

s~c-p_ 
Acciona Euergias 
Renovables 

Sobgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 

Snbgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 
CaJtada 

SBbgmap Acciom 
Encrgia GkJbal 
USA 

l00.00%. Subgmup Acciona 
Agua 

100 .00"/e Subgroup Palacio 

100.00% Acciona 

lOO.OO% Subgroup Acciona 
Inmobiliaria 

92.71% 

76.05% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Trasmed iterranea 

Subgroup Acciona 
Agua 

Subgroup Acciona 
100.00% Energia Global 

Ca nada 

100.00% Acciona 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 

Subgroup GWH 
Acciona Energy 

Subgroup 
Bestinver 

Subgroup 
Bestinver 

Subgroup 
Bestinver 

Acciona 

lOO.OO% Subgroup Acciona 
Energía 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

100.00% 

85.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Energía 

Subgroup 
Biocombustibles 

Subgroup 
Biocombustibles 

Subgroup Biomasa 
Nacional 

Subgroup Biomasa 
Nacional 

IOO.OO% Subgroup Biomasa 
Nacional 

lOO.OO% Subgroup Acciona 
Energía 

100.00% Subgroup Sileno 

100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 
Construcc ión 

1,693 

59 

3,948 

3,132 

4 

744 

60 

1,001 

186 

24,609 

1,396 

331 

1,203 

5,267 

6, 113 

1,947 

54,707 

5,611 

2,186 

303 

4,191 

20,003 

100 

1,526 

3,883 

66.67% 
Subgroup Acciona 

278 
Energ ía M.:.e::.x::.ic:.:º=------·-----

66.67% 
Subgr?up Acciona -3

35 
Ener@t~,e~JftC!.S L.CL1-\i1IO 

~Jº. 10009 



TRANSLA TION 

C-pimy ,\ Locatiaa :\bim xm'ity 
F~tivl" 

Hddn- of mkn5t Camiug 
Sbatt % amount 

Ce Oaxaca Tres, S. De R..L. De 
A M.cxico Encrgy 66.67°/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
C.V. Energía Mcx.ioo 

S!IboJmlP Ce>p. 
Ceatcsalas_ S.L. Madrid Energy IOOJJO"/o Acciona Energías 983,583 

Renovables 

Ceoargg España, S.L A Mahíd Logisrics Scrvio.:s 92.71% 
Subgroup Agencia 

7,080 
Schembri 

Centro De Servicios Compartidos 
l\.1adrid Instrumental 100.!10% Acciona 3 

De Acciona S.L. 

Ceólica Hispanin. S .L. J'.1rlrid EJmgy Hl0.00-,f, 
Subgmap Aa:icna 

49,404 
Eólica Cesa 

Cesa Eolo Sícilia Sri. ftaly Encrgy 66.67"/o 
Subgrnup Cesa 

lü,581 
Italia 

Ci110,·cr, S.L l\.b:dri;i IllSl.romellI:ll 100.00% Acciona 3 

Civerzba ITG, S.L Egypt Energy 100.00'% 
Subgroup Acciona 

4,307 
Energía Global 

Coefzsa, SA. Swi!znt.md Financia! HlfHill'Ya Acciona 711 

C.oleman Rail Pty Ltd A Australia Construction 82.40% 
Subgroup Gcotecb 

2,665 
Holding 

Combuslebor, S.L Murcia Logistics Services 100.00% ~ 
Olloquiegui 

Compañia de agua Caiten, S.A.PJ_ 
Mexico Water Treatment 68.60"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
29 

de C.V. Agua 

Compañia De Aguas Paguera, S.L. Mallorca W atCf' Treatment lOIJ.00% Subgroup Gesba 1,803 

Comp;mia fól.ici Grallwiina. S.L A ·Gramtd:a F.nergy 50Jlmi. Srrbgro:lp Ceólica 2,930 

Compañia Internacional De 
Panama Financia! 100.00% Acciona l,353 

Construu:iooes 

Compañía Tra5meditemínca. SA A Madrid Logistics SCITices 92.71% 
~Acánua 

260,540 
Logística 

Compañía Urhaniuda Dei Coto, e l\1adrid Real e:stll'tc 21.02% 
Subgroup Acciona 

S.L. Real Estate 

Coosrncio Acciooa Ossa., S.A Chile Construction 65.00% 
Subgrol1Jl Acciona 

5 
Construcción 

Consorcio Acciona_ Ossa Andina 
Chile Construction 65.00o/o 

Subgroop Acciona 
4 

SA Coostrucción 

Consorcio Construc1Dr Araucaria 
Chile Constructioo 60.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
3 

Ltd. Construcción 

Consorcio Eólico Chiripa, S.A. A Costa Rica Energy 65.00"/o 
Subgroup Acciona 
Enagía 

Constrnccioncs Residenciales 
A Me.,.ico Construction 100.00"~ 

Subgroup Acc.iona 
3,220 

Mcxico, C.B. Construcción 

Constructora El Paso S.P .A. Chile Construction IOOJJ0% 
Subgronp Acciona 

8 
Coostrua:ión 

Coostructora La Faifana, Spa Chile Construction 100.00"/o 
Subgroop Acciona 

8 
Constru<:ción 

Constrnctora Ruta 160, SA Chile Coo..'>lrUctÍCm 10CHXl% 
Subgroup Acciona 

87,429 
C~Chi!e 

Copane Valores, S.L. Madrid Instrumentlll 100.00% Acciona 55,779 

Corporación Acciona Energías 
A M2dlid Euergy 100.00% Acciona 2,917,224 

Renovables, S.L 

Subgro!IJ> COfJI. 
Corporación Acciona Eólica, S.A. A Madrid Energ_v 100.00% Acciona Energía.~ 343,503 

Rencwables 

Corporación Acciona Hidráulica, 
SatgroupCmp. 

SA 
A Madrid Energy 100.00% Acdooa &efgns 65,003 

Renovables 

Corpoacióo Acciona 
Madrid Ho&!i.ttg CC;;np2!-"'JY 100.00'l~ M.ciooa 760,052 

Infraestructuras S.L. 

Corpom:ión De Explotai:innes y 
Subgroup Al.'ciona 

Servicios, S.A 
Madrid Holding Comp:my IOOJJO% Scrvicíos Urbanos 3,829 

y Ma.lio AmbÍil:l:úe 
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TRANSLA TlON 

C0111puy A•dn Loatiea ~·- actiriq· 
Efkdivr 

Holdrr ofÜlkn:st 
Carryiag 

Sliarr% amoaat 

Corporación Eólica Catalana. S.L. Madrid Energy 100.00"/e Subgroup Ceólica 12 

C~ Eól:icaDe Vafdi,ia:_ 
Madrid ~- Hl0.00% Sobgmop Ceóüca 12,405 

S.L. 

Corporación Eó!ÍCll La Cañada. 
Madrid Energy 100.00% 

Subgmnp 
1,368 

S.L. CeatcsaJas 

Demsey R.idge Wmd Fann, LlC A USA Energy 66.67% 
SWgroap Acdoua 

125,m 
Wind Eoergy USA 

Depurar 7B, S.A. E Aragón \\'ata T reatment 100.00% 
Subgroup Ac.ciona 

4,892 
Agua 

Depurar 88, SA E Aragón Water Treatmeot 100.00",{, 
Subgroap Ac.ciooa 

5,939 
Agua 

Desarrolladora De 1Dfr.1estruct:11ra 
A l\.terioo COflStl'IJdioo 60.00'% ~Acciooa 

Hispano-Peninsular, S.A. De C.V. Construcción 

Desarrolladora De Infuiestructuras 
A Mexico Construdioo 100.00"/e 

Subgmup Acciona 
4 

Hispano-Mexicanas, S.A. De C.V. Consttucción 

Desarrollos Re,;olt Del 
Madrid Real estate lOOJXl"le 

Subgroup Ac.ciona 
32,46[ 

Llobregat,S .L. Inmobiliaria 

Desarrollos y Constmcriones, 
A Mexico Constructioo 100.00"/o 

Subgrou.p Acciooa 
7,828 

S.ADeC.V. Coostn&:.ciOO 

Oren, S.A. Madrid Holding Compmy 100.00% Acciona 1,335 

Eoogrove A USA ~· 66.67'".4 
Subgroup Acciona 

89,329 
Wmd Energy USA 

Ecovista Wind, LLC USA Energy 100.00% 
Subgroup 
fuit:uefgy 

Efrato ITG, S.L Egypt EDelfil' 100.~-
Snbgmup Acciooa 

4,,307 
Energía Global 

EHN Slovenia Slovenia Energy 100.00"/o 
SnbgToup Acciona 
Encrgía Global 

Emp.DiseOO ~.Coas.Janfules 
Málaga Construction 100.00"/e 

SiJihgroap Acciom 
546 

y Zonas Verdes, S.A. Construcción 

Emporda\'ent S.L.U. A Barcelona Energ}· 100.00% 
Subgmup Acciona 

14,206 
Enetgia 

Empreenclimienms Eólicos Do 
A Portugal Enagy 66.67'% 

Sobgmop Acciona 
5,248 

Verde Horizonte, S.A. Eólica Portugal 

Empreendimientos Eólicos 
A Portugal Eoergy 66.67"/e 

Subgroup Acciona 
3,662 

Ribadelide, S.A Eólica Portugal 

Empresa Operadora A TLL, SA. A Barceloo.a Water Treatment l 00.00"/,, 
Sub<>,,roup Acciona 

60 
~oa 

Enalia, Ltda. Colombia Winery l()(l_()(r,(, Subgmup Hijos de 
2,136 

Amonio Ban:dó 

Eacrgea Servicios y 
Subgmup 

Mantenimiento. Sl... 
A Barcelona Encrgy 100.00"/o Temmova Energy 3 

COípOf31ion 

Energía Renovable Dei Istmo 11 
Sll\IJgloop Acriom 

A Me.úco Energy 100.00% Energia Mexiro 14,154 
SAdeCv 

Global 

Energía Renovables De Bar.u.ar, 
Madrid Eoergy 100.00o/o 

Subgroup 
47,836 

S.L. Ceak:salas 

Energías Altematn~ De Terucl, 
Teruel Elll!l"gy 5UJO% 

Subgroup Acciona 
82 

S.A. Energía 

Energías Eólicas De Catalunya, 
A BaR:cloDa Ea:rgy HlOJlO'l{. 

Sabgronp Acciona 
6,000 

S.A. Energía 

Energías Renovables De 
Madrid Em:rgy 50.00'1l. Subgroup Ceólica 294 

Ricobayo. S.A. 

Energías Reoo~"llhks El Abra.. S..L Vizcaya Eoagy 100.00':.ft Sllhgmup C.eólica 5,798 

Subgroup 
Energías Renovables Operación y 

A Barcelona Uri>an Services 100.00'/o 
Multiservicios 

3 
Mantenimiento, S.L Acciona Facilily 

Semccs 
Energías Reoovables Peña 

A l\.ladrid EGefID• 100.00"/o Subgroup Ceólica 2,625 
Nebina. S.L. 

Entidad Efinen, S.A l\.tadrid lOO.~ 4,.508 

CLt-1R,\ LO\S LOZANO 
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TRANSLATION 

Compaay Aadit Loatioll Maio adivity 
Efftttive 

Holder of ialtrcst 
Carryiog 

Sbare % amouot 

Entorno Urbano y Medio 
Murcia Urbao Sen.jces 50_l)0% 

Subgroup Acciona 
2 

Ambiente, S.L. Serncios Urbanos 

Entrecanales y Tavora Gibraltar, 
Gibraltar Constroclion 1 Oo.<JOº/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
37,645 

Ltd Construcción 

Eólica De Rubió, S.A A Barcelona Energy JO(l.{)()% Subgroup Acciona 
6,000 

Energía 

Eólica De Zorraquin, S.L. A Madrid Eoergy 66.00"/o 
Subgroup Acciona 

603 
Energía 

Eólica V il!anueva, S.L. A Navarra Energy 66.66% 
Subgroop Acciona 

867 
Energía 

Eólicos Breogan. S.L. Ponreve-Ora Energy 100.00% Subgroup Ceólica 5,028 

ES Legarda, S.L. Navarra Energy 100.00% 
Subgronp 

8,424 
Biooomlrusuoles 

Estibadora Puerto Bahía, S.A. Cádiz Logístics Services 92.71% 
Subgtoop Ac.ci.ona 
Trasmediterranea 

Estudios y Construcciones De 
Mexire ('OBStnH:f:i¡m 54l00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Obras, S.A. De C.V. Constmcción 

Europa Fenys, SA A Cádiz Logistics Services 92.71% 
Subgroup Acciona 

18,494 
T r.ismediterranea 

Eurus S,A,P J De C.V. A Mexico Energy 62.67% 
Subgmup Aa:iuoa 

2 
Energía Mexico 

fÍnlllll2S Dos, SA Madrid Iostru.menta.I 100.00"A. Acciona 6,626 

Finanzas Nec, S.A. Madrid Financial 100.()()% 
SIIDgnmp Acciona 

61 
Inmobiliaria 

Finanzas y Cartera Dos, SA Madrid Holding Company !00.00% Acciona 160 

Finanzas y Cartera Uno, S.A Madrid l.nstrumental 100.00% Acci<>na 15 

Flughaíendienst A .. · Gmbh Cn:nmny Logjstics Services 100.00"/e 
Subgroup Acciona 

28 
Airpon Sen-ices 

Frigoriferi Di Tavazzano, S .P.A ltaly Logistics Services 100.00"/o 
Subgtoop Acciona 

3,188 
Logística 

Fujin Power Private Limited A India Energy IOOJIOº/o 
Suhgroup Acciona 

3,020 
Enagia rnobal 

Renewable encrgy generation SA Alava EllCfID' HJOJ)()"h Subgroap Ceólica 4,438 

Generica De CmlStml:c. Y Mro. 
Zaragoza Conslrnction 100.00% 

Subgnmp Aa:iooa 
107 

Industrial., SA CilllSlrU<X:ión 

Geog Services Pty Ltd A Aostral.ia Construction 82.40% 
Subgroup Goorecb 
Holding 

Geotech Holdro Pty Lid Australia Construction 82.40"/e 
Snbgronp Geotech 

!12,956 
Hotdco 

Geotech Pty Ltd A Australia C08!>1ruction &2.40'"A> 
Subgmup Geotecb 

5,369 
Holding 

Gestio Catalana D' Aigües, SA. Ban:elona Water T reatment 100.000¡, 
Subgroup Acciona 

60 
Agua 

Gestion De Recursos 
Navarra Energy 100.1}0"/e Acciona 3 

Corporativos., S.L 

Gestion De Servicios Urbanos 
Mallorca Wate.r T realJnent 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
7,234 

Baleares., SA Agua Servicios 

Gouda Wind Facilily (Propridmy} 
A 

Scntb 
fnerg)' 36.60% 

StWgroep Acd.ona 
6,376 

Limited A frica Energía Sud.áfrica 

Gsd Flughafen Gmbh Gemany Logislics Seniccs 100.00",,{, Subgroup Acciona 
25 

Airport Services 

Guadala~iar Consorcio Eólico 
l\-fadrid Energy 100.00% Subgroop Alabe 250 

Alabe Enerfin, S.A. 

Gtuming Wind Eih.'t"g}' 
A Australia Energy 66.67",í, 

Subgronp Gmming 
l,738 

Developments Pty Lid W ind En.eIID' 
Gunning Wind Enagy Holdings 

A Ausiralia Energy 66.67% 
Subgroup Acciona 

1,738 
PtyLtd Energía Oceanía 
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TRANSLA TION 

Comp:amy Andit Loatioa ~laüaadmty 
EtJtttin 

Holdrr of iatrnst 
Carryiag 

Sban% amouut 

Subgroup Acciona 
Gwb-Acciooa Encrgy LLC USA Euergy 100.00"-" Enetgia GIOO!I 

USA 
Subgroup Acciona 

HC3ltl:md Windpower, LLC USA Energy l(J() _00"/o Energía Global 
USA 

Hermes Logística, SA Ban:elona Logistics Services 9236% 
Subgroup Acciona 

3,855 
TJaSllillelfüern 

Hidroeléctrica Del Serradó, S.L. Barcelona Eoergy 100.00% Sl!bgrotip Acciona 
l,844 

Sahosde.Agm 

Hijos de Antonio Ban:cló, S.A. A Madrid Wmay 100.00"/o Acciona 31 ,710 

Hospital De Leon Bajio, S.A De 
A Mexico Concessions 100.~'o Acciona 2,960 

C.V. 

Iber Raíl France, S.L Francia Lugistics Setvices 92.71% 
Snbgmup Acciona 

!70 
Trasmediterranea 

lberica Arabim Co Ltd 
Saudi 
~ UJ0.00'%. 

Subgmup M:ciona 
l20 

Arabia JngeoieTia 

1 berinsa Do Brasil Engenbaria 
Brazil Engineering 100.00% 

Sobgrnup Aa:iooa 
1,624 

Ltda. lngenieria 

lnantic, S.A. l\bhid lnstnm:rmal 100.om:. 
Sub<>.,,rotlP Acciona 

5{,() 
Construcción 

Subgmnp Acciona 
lnetime, SA. Madrid Urilan Servires J00.00% Senícios Urllcmos 

y Medio Am.bie:ule 
Snbgroup Corp. 

lneuropa De Cogeneraeión, S.A. Madrid Energy 100.00% Acciooa Energías 18,462 
ReD()~-abks 

1 nfraestructuras A ~·-ura, S.L. Madrid Enagy M.71% 
Subgroop 

3 
GuadalaviaT 

Inmobiliaria Parque Reforma, 
A Mexico Real estate 100.00"/e 

Subgroup Acciona 
34,357 

S.ADeCV lmoobili.ma 

TNR Eólica, SA Sevilla Encrgy lOOJJO"/e 
Sabg<<Mlp A.cciooa 

613 
Energía 

lntcrlogistü:a Del Frío, S.A. A Ban:etcoa loglstics Sen'ices 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

16,319 
Logística 

Snbgmup Acciona 
Interurbano De Prensa, SA A Madrid Logistics Sen'1res 100_~.{, Senicios Urbanos 2,714 

y Medio Ambiente 

John Beeva PI)• Ltd A Australia Con.5ÚU\,""1ioo &2..40% 
Subgmup Geoo=ch 

B,233 
Holdíog 

Subgronp Corp. 
Kw Tarifa, S.A Madrid EDClfil• 100_{)(}!;,, Acciooa Ener>.,ias S,134 

RA:oo~abl.es 

Lambareoe Necso Gaboo A Gaboo Coastmction 100.00';{. 
Subgroup Acciona 

152 
Construcción 

Subgroup Acciooa 
Lamcque Wind PtHlíe!r Lp A Cariada Eue:rgy 66_67% WiudEnagy 12.060 

Canadá 

Lusonecso Portugal Real estate 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

5,173 
Inmobiliaria 

Malgarida 1 Spa Chile Energy HXHIO% 
Snhgranp AccWua 
Enetgía Glcbal 

Malgarida ll Spa Chile fnerg}' 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 

Maritime Global Operator, Ltd Malta Logistics Services 92_71% Subgroup Acciona 
172,510 

Trasmeditemmea 

Subgroop Acciona 
MDC AiqlOO C-ODSU!t Gmbh Gt:m!mr)· UJgistics Senires IOO.°"''- Savicios Ummos l,6&5 

y Medio Ambiente 

Meltemi South Sp. Z_o_o. Poland Energy 66_67% Snbgroup Acciona 
Energía Polonia 

Meltemi Sp. Z.0.0. A Po land Energy 66.67% 
Subgroup Acc iona 

38,290 
Energía Polonia 

Metrologia y Comunicaciones, 
Madrid Construction 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
150 

S.A. Construcción 

CLP,R,~ LO!S LOZANO 
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TRANSLA TION 

CmBpamy A.mt ~ lbül acm'itJ 
Efftttin 

Hekkrofmkn!.1 
C.anying 

Sbare% amouot 

Millatres 2003, S.L Tenerife Logistics Senices 92.71% 
Subgroup Agencia 

3 
Schembri 

Mos:tostal W<HS2a"a, S.A A Pofand Constructitm 50.09% .. 
Subgroup Acciona 

24,316 
C-0nstrucción 

Moma Fabrica Solar, Lda A Portugal Eoergy IOlHJO% 
Subgroup Accmna 

16,858 
Energía Global 

Mt Gellibrand Wind Farm 
Australia Ene¡-gy 100.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Holding Pty Ltd Energía Global 

Mt Gellibrand Wínd Farm Pty, 
Snbgroup Act.-iom 

Ud. 
Australill Eoagy 100.00'% Enagill Global 377 

Australia 

Multiserncios Grapo Ramel, S.A. Barccluna Umm Sen-ices 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

1,500 
Facility Servioes 

Necso Canada, Inc. B Canada CoostructicJn IOOJJO% 
Sobgroup Acciona 

218,730 
Construcción 

Necso Entr=miks Cubimas 
A Mexico Construction 100.00'-l{, 

Sobgroup Acciona 
553 

Mexiw, S.A. De CV Construcciim 

Necso Hosg K.oog.. Ltd. Hong Kong CrnisUnction 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

l,936 
Construcción 

Necso Triunfo Construi:oes Ltda Braztl Construction 50.00% 
Subgronp Acciona 

155 
Coastrua:Kí!J 

N~·ada Sola:rOne, LLC A USA Encrg)' 66.67",{, 
Subgroup NVS l 

11,559 
lnvestment Gronp 

Nonhv.inds Trading (Proprieuuy) South 
Engineering IOOJJO'Yo 

Subgronp Accrona 
Limited Afm:a Industrial 

Notos~ De Encrgia tda A Portugal Energy 46.67% Subgroup Sayago 200 

Nvsl Iovestment Group LLC USA Enagy 66.67"/e 
Subgroup Acciona 

ll,559 
Sohr&=gy 

Operadora De Setvicios 
Sub<>e«mp Acciona 

Hospilalarios, SA. De C.V. 
A Mexico Concession Operation 100.00"/o Servicios 3 

Hospitalarios 

P & S Logística Integral Peru A Pení Logistics Serv ices 89.54% 
Subgroup Acciona 

757 
Foruaniing 

P..icific Renewa.ble Encrgy 
Subgroup Acciona 

Generatioo u.e USA Encrg}• IOOJl0'%1 Energía Global 
USA 

Subgmup Acciona 
Packtnity, S.A. M!dtID Logistics Sen'ices 100.00% Servicms urn:mos 65 

y Medio Ambiente 

Subgroup Acciona 
Palmas W ind, Lle USA Energy 100.00"/o Eneigía Global 

USA 

P31CO Eóiioo Cocolio S.P A A l1ldy EEerm' 66.67% 
Subgroop Cesa 

i0,906 
Italia 

París Aquitaine Tram.spOOs, S.A. fr:mcra logisncs Senires IO!Hl0% 
S11bgroup 

l,236 
Olloquiegni 

Parque Eólico Da Costa Vicentina, 
A Portugal Eaergy 66.67'%1 

Subgroup Acciona 
5,403 

S.A. Eólica Pmtugal 

Parque Eólico Da Raill, S.A. A Ponngal EneTgy 66.67% 
Subgroap Acciuna 

1,843 
Eólica Portugal 

Parque Eólico De Mamil¡ue, S.A. A Pmtugal Enagy 66.67% 
Subgroup Acciona 

l,314 
Eólica Portugal 

Parque Eólico De Pracana., S_>\_ A Portugal Ellt:.rg)' 66.67% 
Subgronp Acciona 

1,139 
Eólica PmtugaJ 

Parqire Eólico Do Mar.ro, S.A. A Portugal Energ)' 66.67% 
Subgronp Acciona 

2.,551 
Eólica Portugal 

Parque Eólico Do Outcim, S.A. A Portugal Encrgy 66.67':'4. 
Subglmlp Ac.cioaa 

14,483 
Eólica furtngal 

Parque Eólioo Dos Fiéis, SA A Portugal Enerm' 66.67"/e 
Subgmup Acciona 

882 
Eólica Portugal 

Pmque Eólioo El Chapmm Navarna Ern!lgy 100.00% Subgroup AJ.abe 5 

Parque Eólico Escepar, S.A. A Toledo Energy 100.00% Subgroup Ceólic:a 1,539 

Parque Eólico La Esperanza. S.L. A Madrid Eoergy l{){J.(10"/o Subgroup Ceólica 2,644 
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c-p:a•y Alldit L«atiMI M:aiaadñity 
Effttm'r 

llflldrr of illkn5t 
úrryiag 

Sllan 'Yo amouet 

Parque Eólico Peralejo, SA A Toledo Eoergy 100.00% Subgroup Ceólica 1,020 

P:Bqne Eoliro S:m G.ibrid Spa Chile Energy 100.00% 
Saho,,roap Acciom 

4,133 
Energía Global 

Parque Eólico Villamayor, S .L. A Madrid Energy 100.00% Subgroup Ceólica 6, 127 

Parque Refumlll Sant& fe, S.A. DO! 
A Merico Rcllestate J00.00% 

Swligmep P.uqire 
13,326 

C.V. Refouna 

Parques Eólicos Celadas, S.L. A Madrid Energy !()()_()0% Subgroup Ceólica 4,599 

Parques Eólicos De Ciudad Real. 
A 

Ciudad Eoergy 100.00% Subgroup Ceólica 7,844 
S.L. Real 

Parques Eólicos Del Cerrato. SL. A Madrid Energy 100.00"/o Subgroup Ceólica 1,375 

PAT Cargo, SA E Chile Logisrics Ser\.ices 57-50% 
S!l!bgrol&p Acciooa 

687 
Focwanling 

PiaCos S.R.L. Italy Water Treatment 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

!O 
Agua 

Picbilingue Spa Chile Enei:gy 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 

PililinSpa Chile ~ 100_00%. 
Subgmnp Acciona 
&iagía Giohaf 

Pitagora Srl. A ltaly Energy 66.67% 
Subo,,roup Cesa 

5,854 
llalia 

Press Cargo Colombia, SA E Colombia Logis¡ics Sen'ices 99.34% 
Subo.,roup Aa:iooa 

632 
Fom'31"ding Perú 

Pridagua Tratamiento De Aguas y 
Portugal Water Treatment 100.00"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
Residuos, Lda. Agua 

Pridesa America Coqiora:tioo USA Wruer Treittment 100.()()% 
Subgroup Acciona 
Agua 

Subgmup Acciona 
Punta Palmeras, SA_ A Chile Energy 66.67°/o Enagía 24,866 

Intcrmciiooal 

Pyrenecs Wind Energy 
A Anstralia Energ,· 66_67"/e 

Subgroup Acciona 
8,076 

Developments Pty. Ltd Energía Oceanía 

Pyrenees Wiud Encrgy Holdings 
A Australia Energy 66.67% 

Subgroup Pyrenees 
5,398 

Pty. Lid Wiodfuagy 

Ramwork, S.A. Barcelona Url>an Services 99.~ .. 
Subgroup Acciona 

500 
F zcifüy Setvia::s 

Ra•'Í Urja Energy India P\1 L!rl A India EoetID' 10().()0% 
Subgmup Acciona 

3,115 
Energía Global 

Red Hills Fimnce., LLC A USA E~ 66 .. 67% 
Subgroup Acciona 

7,790 
Wmd Ellel"fil' USA 

Red Hills Hoiding, LLC USA Energy 66.67"/o 
Subgroup Red 

14,322 
HiUs Finance 

Reodos, S.A. M21drid Fimmcial lOO_OOo/,. Aoc.iom 18,720 

Renovables Del Penedés, S_A. U. Badajoz Energy 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciooa 

3,590 
Energía 

Riacho Novo Empreendimentos 
BRzil Rt:aJ est2t.e lOll.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
!0,584 

ln1110biliarios,Ltda Irunobiüaria 

Rio Paraiba Do Snl Servi<,:os Ltda Brazil Concessioo Operation 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

476 
do Brasil 

Subgmnp Acciooa 
Ripie)' Windfann N A Ornada Energy 66_67% Wind.Energy 21,045 

Canadá 

Rodovia do~, SA E Brazil Coaces.sioes UXHJW-'-
Snbgiuup Acciona 

89,067 
ConsllBcci<ín 

Rústicas Vegas Alms, S.L. A Badajoz Euergy 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

7,141 
Energía 

S.C. Al Tramo 2, SA A Gua.dalajaGI CODCeSSÍous 100.00% AccK:ma 14,876 

S.C. DLP, S.A. Madrid Constructioo 60.00'/Ó 
Subgroup Acciona 

571 
Constma:ión 

S.C. Hospilal del Norte, SA A Madrid C-0neessiioos ?5-<l0% ~ r1~ 7 ~ 9.?(J 

1 
CU\!\,\ L1J,'.J LOu\i\i 
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TRANSLA TION 

C-puy Amfü Loatioia ~lañi zdñ-ity 
Effttmt 

Haldn-ofimtttnt 
Carrying 

Sharr •/o amount 

Saltos Del Nansa, SA.U. Sanlandfr EneJgy 100.1)0% 
Subgmup Acciona 

73,038 
Saltos de Agua 

Saltos y Cemra.ks De Cmrltmya, 
A Barcclmra Energy 100.00% 

sm.gmup . .\a:rona 
38,238 

S.A. Saltos de Agua 

Subgroup Acciona 
San Roman Finance Lle USA Eoergy 100.00% Enet"gía Global 51,884 

USA 

Sub<>.,roup San 
San Roman Holding Lle USA Energy 100.00% Roman Holding 51 ,884 

Lle 

Snbci,,ro;;p Sa!1 
San Roman Wínd I, LlC A USA EDelfil· 100.00% Roman Hoküng 120,871 

Lle 

San Solar Encrgy facility S«tlh 
Subgroup Acciona 

(Prupietary) Limited 
A 

Afüca 
&1eJgy 100.00% Energía Glcllol 408 

Sudifrica 

&: Acciona Facility Senices 
Rumanía Urban Sen-ices lOOJJv<ro 

Subgroup Acciona 
Automotive Srl Facility Sen'ices 

Sedad .Empresarial De 
Madrid Financia! 100.00",{, Acciona 138 

Financiacion y Comercio, S.L 

Sierra De Selva, S.L A Na\'llml Energy 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

17,126 
E=gá 

Sileno,SA Alava WÍDely 100.00"/o 
Subgroup Hijos de 

7,615 
Antonio Barccló 

Sishen Solar Facility {Proprielary) 
A 

South 
Enagy 36.60% 

Subgroup Acciona 
1,584 Lmritw Afma EnagíaS~ 

Subgruup Acciona 
Sistemas Energéticos Sayago. S.L Madrid Energy 66.67% Energía 213 

Internacional 

Sistemas EGetgéth.--os Valle De 
A Madrid Energy 100.00% Subgroup Ceólica 20,837 

Sedano.S.A 

Socierlad E~ De 
A Portugal Energy 66.67% 

Subgmup Acciona 
4,818 

Recursos Eólicos, S.A. Eólica Portugal 

Sociedad Istmeña Desarrollo 
Subgroup Acciona 

Eólico, SRL De C.V. 
Mext..--o Energy 100.00"/o Energia Mexico 1,303 

Global 

Sociedad Le\''11ltim De Obras y 
Va!c:?ria COJlStmctioo I00.00% 

Suhgroup Acciona 
1,503 

Servicios, S.A. Construcción 

Sociedad San Rafael Hidráulica 
A Mexieo Engineering 100.00% 

Subgmup Acciona 
10,902 S.A. DeC.V. Ingeniería 

Soooofil, S.A. Madrid lnsm:m-emal 100.00% 
Subgroop Finanzas 

6-0 
y Cartera 2 

Solar Fields EllefID' Pboto Vohaic 
India En erg y 100.00°/o 

Subgmup Acciona 
2,298 

IndiaP\1 Ltd Energía Global 

Subgroup Ai..'ciom 
Solomon Forks Wind Fann, LLC USA Energy 100.()0% Eoecgía Global 

USA 

Starke Wind Golice Sp. Z.0.0. A Polaml EneJgy 66.67% 
Subgmup Aa:iona 

6,371 
EDeJgia Polooia 

Sun Photo Voltaic Em:tg;· ludía 
A India Energy lOllOO'll,, 

Suhgroup Acciona 
17,133 

Pvt Ltd Energía Global 
Sorya Energy Photo Vohaic India 

India Ene:s:gy 100J)(}% 
Subgroup Aa:iooa 

3,472 
P\1 Ltd ~mmw 

Subgroup Acciona 
Table Mountain Wind LLC USA Encrgy IOOJIO% Energía Global 6 

USA 

Tajm, Sp. Z.0.0. Poland Real estate 100.{!0% 
Snbg:rm.-p Aociona 

33,458 
Inmobiliaria 

Tatanka Fin.anee LLC USA Enet-gy 66.67% 
Subgrnup Acciona 

682 
Wind Ene1gy USA 

26,00%. 

Tatanka Holding, LLC USA Energy 
(100% 

Subgroup Ta.lanka },160 
acciones 
clase B) 

Teatiomnia EspaOO!a, S.L Ba.n:eklml Urtian Senices lOOJJO% 
Subgroop Acciona 

30 
Facility Serví.ces 

Terminal De C~ Rodada, SA A l\iz:drid Logistics Setvtces 92.71% 
Subgruup Acciona 

2,941 
Trasm~ 
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c-pa11y Alldif Leatiell ~laÍll adñity 
Efrmiwr 

Deldrr ef illtaat 
Canyiag 

Sliarc "• amou11t 

Tenni.nal Feny Ban:cl-Ona, S..R.L e Barcelona Logistics Senices 92.71o/e 
Subgroup Acciona 

25,330 
T~-meditemmea 

Termosolar Afv.uado Dos, S.L. Badajoz Eaergy IOOJJ(J"A. Subgroup Acciona 
193 

Enagía 
Subgroup 

Termosolar AtvandD, S.L A Badajoz Úlelfil' 100_~¡, Temiosolar l l,500 
Naciooal 

Snbgroup 
Termosolar .Majadas, S.L A Madrid Eoergy 100.~<. Termosol:tr 24,059 

Naciooal 

Subgroup 
Tennosolar Pahna Saetilla, S.L. A Madrid EllefID' 100.00% Tennosolar 49,164 

Naciooal 

Ternua Holdings.. B.V. Ha.\lmd Encrgy t00.00% Snbg¡oup T ecnsa 866 

Terranova Energy Corporation USA Energy 100.00"/o 
Subgroup Acciona 

52,289 
Eólica Cesa 

Terranova EDeJID' C~ 
Bm:dooa E11e1gy rno.<M~ Snbgroep Ceólica 15,933 

S.A. 

Tibest Cualro, S.A. Madrid lnstrnmental 100.00"/o Acciona 13,523 

Tictres., SA Madrid I~ 100.Elm" A.:ciaua 18,249 

Tlaui Aqua, S.A de C.V. Mexico Water Treatment 70.00% 
Snbgroup Acciona 

5,693 
Agua 

Tolchén Transmisión Spa Chile Energy 100.00"/o 
Subgroup Acciona 

270 
Eocrgía Global 

Tolpan Sur, Spa Chile Eoagy 100.()(r,'. 
Subgroup Acciona 

1,470 
Energía Global 

Torre Lugano S.L Valencia Real estate J00.00"/o 
Subgmnp Acciona 

6,097 
Real Esaate 

Tours And Incentives, S.A.U. Madrid Logistics Services 92.71% 
Subgroup Acciona 

464 
T~ 

Towarowa Park Spolka Z.0.0. Poland Real estate 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

15,338 
1 nmobiliaria 

Tnmspones ODoqmegm, S.A. Nan:rra il.~Scnia:s I00.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

44,063 
Loglstica 

Subgroup Acciona 
Transmme, S.A. Barcdooa Loo,,istics Sen-ices 100.00% SefVicios Urhmos 109 

y Memo~ 

Trasmedrtenánea Cargo, SA. Mlldrid Logistics Services 92.71% 
Subgmup Acciooa 

18,187 
Trasmediterranca 

Trasmeditenánea Shippmg Mzoc, 
Tánger Logistics Scrvioes 92.71% 

Subgrooip Acrioaa 
9 

S.A.R..L. Trasmeditemmea 

26,00% 

Ttanka Wind Pow« LLC A USA Enagy 
( 100"/o 

Sl.lbgroup T atanka 130, l38 
acciones 
clase B) 

Tucana, Sp. Z .0.0. A Poland Real estate 100.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

23,300 
Inmobiliaria 

Tuppadahalli Eoe¡gy lndia Prinle 
Subgroup Acciona 

A lmiia Eoergy 66.6'79/o Enagía 10,891 
Limited 

Internacional 

Turismo y Aventuras, SAU Madrid logistics Scnices <n...71% 
Subgroup Acciona 

464 
Trasmediterraoea 

Usya Spa Chile Energy 100.00"/. 
Subgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 

Valgrand 6, S.A Madrid Real estate 21.0Z-/o 
Snbgroup Acciona 
Real Eslate 

Velva Windfarm, LLC USA Eoergy 66.67"!. 
Subgroup Acciona 

7,052 
W"rnd Energy USA 

Viajes Eurotras, S.A. Cádiz Logistics Servires 92.71% 
Subgroup Acciona 

927 
Trasmeditcrnmea 

Vientos Bajo Hondo l, SA · 100 00"!. SutJgñ)Uj) Ac...-iooa _ 
; - • ~<t_labd . 'O ¡ , 1..1 .. _; Loz;,¡\, 
¡ 
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TRANSLATION 

CGlClplm}' Adt 1-200.m j\bi¡¡~ 
Efftttivt 

Hcllkr of iDRRst 
Carrying 

Shatt 'Yo amount 

Vientos Bajo Hooüo, SA Argi.:ntina Enetgy 100.<JO'Yo 
Subgroup Acciona 
Energía Global 

Viñedos Viña Mayor, S.L. Madrid Wincry 100.00% 
Sl!bgmap Hijos de 

4 
Antonio Ban:cló 

Vjctroclcktnma Cememñ:a D.0.0. Croa-tia Enagy 100.00% 
Sub<>,,roup Acciona 

415 
Energía Global 

SIIDgrosp. J\o..'Í!Ol'la 

Vjctroelektrana Jclinak Doo A CID3tia Energy 66.67% Encrgia 8,002 
lntemacional 

Vjelroekktrana Opoc O.O.O. Cro:Wa ~ l00.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

1,444 
Encrgí¡J ffiotnl 

Voltser Sen·i¡;-0s De Opera¡;ao E Subgrollp Acciona 

Mannten\:<lo De Centr 
Portugal Energy IOOJJO"/o Energía Global 79 

Portugal lI 

Sl:lbgro6p Acetona 
White ShJeld Wind Proyect u.e A USA Encrgy 66.67% Wind Enei-gy Usa, -l8,586 

Lle 
Subgrnup Accwna 

Wind Fann 66, LLC USA Em:r-gy 100.00% Energía Global 800 
USA 

Znricb Wind Po~er Lp lnc Catlada Enagy 100.00% 
Subgroop Acciona 

856 
Renewable Canadá 

(*) Companies whose financia! statements are audited by: (A) KPMG; (B) PricewaterhouseCoopers; (C) Deloitte; (D) Ernst & 
Young (E) Others 
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TRANSLATION 

APPENDIX II 

JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

The jointly controlled entities proportionately consolidated in the year ended 31 
December 2017, in accordance with IFRS, and the information related thereto are as 
follows (amounts in thousand euros): 

Compa•y Alldit Locati&ir 
Maia mtt.tn·r 

Uoldtr ofi•ttrnt 
Carryiog 

actility Sllan •;. amoant 

Aista--foms N (PTY) LID E 
Soulh 

CoostJuc1ios 66..67% 
Subgroup Acciona 

Afiica Construcción 

Bokpoort EPC Consortimn (Pty) c Soulh 
Engineering 30.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
Ltd Africa Ingeniería 

Chin Chute Windfium JV B C.mada Energy 22...m~ 
Subgr¡Jap Acciom Wil!d 

4,000 
Encrgy Canadá 

Consorcio Acciona Brotec Icafal c Chile Constructioo 60Jl0''/., 
Subgroup Acciona 

25,893 
S.A. Construcción 

Conson:io Hospital Egc, SA Chile Conslructioo 80.00"Ai S~Acciooa 5 
Constmcción 

Iniciativas Energéticas 
Pamplooa ~ 50.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
15 

Renovables, S.L. Energía 

Liciastar (PropielaIY) Limited 
Sooth 

Eogineering 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

Africa lngeuicria 

Magrath Windfunn Jv B Canada Energy 22..22:% 
Subgroup Acciooa Wind 

1,095 
f..ae.rgy Cmadá 

Ouarzazate Solar 1, Sarl Momero Engineering 37.50% 
Subgroup Acciona 
Ingeniería 

Proyecto F8 Troy Aym, S.A. de 
B Mexioo EngiDeaiDg 55.95'1{. 

Subgrnup Acciona 
c.v. Industrial 

Sistema Eléctrico De EYllCWICion 
Madrid Energy 31.90% 

Subgrou¡> Acciona Eólica 
10 

Eólica En Subestac Cesa 

(*) Companies whose fi nancia! statements are audited by: (A) KPMG; (B) PricewaterhouseCoopers; (C) Deloitte; (D) Emst & 
Young (E) O thers 
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TRANSLA TION 

APPENDIX 111 

COMPANIES ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 

The associates accounted for using the equity method in the year ended 31 December 
2017, in accordance with IFRS, and the infom1ation related thereto are as follows 
(amounts in thousand euros): 

Compaoy 

Antovill Del ,\Jmmzora SA_ 

Acciona & Ghanim Bin Saad 
Alsaad And Sons Group Ho 

Acciona Agua & Soge." Uc 

Acciona Agua Sardinia 
Infurestmcture S Jt_L_ 

Acciona Concesiones P2W 
investment lirnited 

Acciona Waste WaterTreatment 
Plant Limited 

Acciona Wastewatcr Solutions GP 
!ne. 

Acciona Wcp Holdings lnc_ 

Accirnres Urbanas, Serncios y 
Medio Ambiente, S_L 

Adelaideaqua Pty Ltd_ 

Aguas Tratadas Del Valle De 
MexicoS.A DeC.V. 

Alepb Solar 1 SA PI De CV 

Alepb Solarfield 1 SA PI De CV 

Aleph Solarfield U SA PI De CV 

Aleph Solarfield SA P1 De CV 

Aleph Solarfields Méxioo SA PI De 
cv 

Algerian Water In~·estment., S_L 

Alsnbh Solar Power, SA.E. 

Altrac Light Rail Holdings l Pty 
Límitcd 

Amper Central Solar Moma 

Ampliación Facultad Drct, S.A. 

Aprofitament D'Energies 
Renovables De L'Ebre S.L. 

Baja Califumia Pim'a", S.A. De 
c.v_ 

Audit 

A 

A 

e 

B 

Locatioo 

l~' 

New 
Zcaland 

Main activity 

Water 
Treatment 

Water 
Treatment 

Conc 
infillestructuras 

Trinidad y Water 
Tobago Trcatment 

ümada 

Mun:ia 

Australia 

Mexico 

Mexico 

Mexico 

Mexico 

Mexíco 

Mexioo 

Madrid 

Egypt 

Australia 

Barcelooa 

Barcelona 

Mex.ico 

Water 
Trcatment 

Coocessioo.s 

Urban Services 

Water 
T~ 

Water 
Trcatment 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Water 
Treatmem 

Energy 

Concessions 

Construction 

Energy 

Engineering 

- Pagel 80 -

Efftttivr 
Sban% 

Holder ofintcnst 

Su.bgroup Acciona 
23-75% Construcción 

49_00"/o Subgroup Acciona 
Facility Services 

50.00"A. Subgmup Acciona Ag1111 

IOJIO"lo SuboJOup Acciona 
Concesiones 

70.00% Subgroup At."Ciona Agua 

25.00% Sabgmup Accimm Agua 

3333
% Subgroup Acciona 

Concesiones 

50_00"/o Subgroup Acciona ~aua 
Adcla:irle 

24.26% Subgroup Acciona Agua 

50_00"/o Subgroq> Accimn 
Encrgia Mc.1'ÍJ:O Global 

50_00"/u Subgroup Acciona 
Encrgia Mexioo Global 

50_00"/o Subgroup Acciona 
Energia Mexico Global 

50.00o/o s~ :\ccimia 
Energía Mexíco Global 

50-<)0% Sobgronp Acciona 
Encrgia Merioo Global 

50.00% Subgroup Acciona Agua 

SBbgRRtp Aa:imJa 
5fü}(}'"lo Energía Global 

43.74% 

50Jl0"/o 

9_7611¡, 

65.00% 

Subgroop AccioDll 
Concesiones 

Subgronp Acciona 
Energía Internacional 

Subgroup Acciona 
Consúucción 

Subgroup Acciona 
Energía 

Snbo.,ruup Acciona 
Ingeniería 

Carrying 
amount 

l,635 

21 

3,074 

200 

25,494 

873 

529 

529 

529 

5,256 

6,825 

667 

8,614 

12,740 

1,038 

378 



TRANSLA TION 

c-puy Attdit Leutiom ~1.aia :adivity 
E:ffedin 

H8'1kr ef illknst CanJing 
SUJT% -t 

Bana H2 Szrleroow !'-.ft:gujulo 
E Hung¡uy Energy 49.25% 

Subgroup Enagy C'.orp 
Energia Hasznosito Kft Hung¡uy 

Bioetanol Eoagélioo Madrid EBergy 50.00% 
Sub.group 

804 Biooombustib!c:s 

Bioetanol Energético La Mancha Madrid Energy 50.00% 
Subgmup 

931 
Biocombuslibles 

Camarate Gol( S.A. Madrid ReaJesmse 2200% Subgroup Acciona 
2,455 

Inmobiliaria 

Camotaveoto. S.A. A Coruña Energy 24.50"!.. Subgmup Enrovento 

Cathedral Rocks COllStmec. And 
Aoslr.ilia Eoergy 50.00"/o 

Sflbgroup .ru:rioua 
Managernent, Pty Ud Energía Global Australia 

Cathedral Rocks Holdings 2, Pty. 
Australia Energy 33.34% 

Subgmup Cathedral 
8,256 

Ltd Rocks Holdings 

Cathedral Rocks Holdings, Pty. Ltd Australia Energy 3334% 
Subgronp Acciona 

9, 123 
En«gÍa Oceanía 

Cathedral Rocks Wind Farm, Pty. 
B Ausmtlia Energy 3334% 

Subgmup Cathedral 
8,256 

Ltd Rocks Holdings 2 

Chinook Highway OperatiORs loe. Cal13'1a 
Omcession 

50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

l,062 
Operation Concesiones 

Cogeneracióo Aimdas Uda Brazi1 
Water 

5fü)()'J~ Sabgmvp Acciom Agua 55 
Treatment 

Concesionaria De Desalacion De 
E Ibiza 

Water 
50J)(J"A. Subgroup Acci-Ona Agua 1,082 

Ibiza, S.A. Treatment 

Concesionaria La Chira, S.A. B Peru 
Water 

50.00% Subgmup Acciona Agua 6,364 
T reann.,--m 

Consorcio Traza, S.A. Zaragoza Coocessioos 16..60".4 Acciona 12,074 

Constructora De Obras Civiles y 
Mexiro 

Watu 
24.50% 

S11bgroup Aguas Hispano 
Electromecanicas Trea.tment Mexicana 

Constructora Ne.::so S<M:yr Chie CJnle Coustmction 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

7 
Concesiones Chile 

Constructora Tennina.I Valle de 
Mexico Constructioa 14.28% 

Subgroup Acciona 
México, SA de C.V. Construcción 

DepurarPI, SA Zaragoza 
WafC'r 

50.00% Subgmup Acciona Agua 1,035 
Treatment 

Desarrollo De Energías Renovables 
Pamplona Energy 5<HJO"k 

Subgroup Acciona 
4,936 

De Navarra., S.A. Energía 

Divinopolis SaneamenlO, SA Br.ml 
Water 

15.00"/o Subgroup Acciooa Agua 185 
Treatment 

EMSERVA,SA A~ 
Watu 

49.00'"/ .. 
Subgroup Acciona Agua 

50 
Treatment Servicios 

Energías Renovables 
A Valencia Energy 50.00"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
79.500 

Meditemmeas, S.A. Energía 

Energy Corp Hungary Kfl E Hungary Energy 50.00% 
S ubgro up Acciona Eó lica 

1,475 
Cesa 

Eó licas Mare Nostrum S.L. Valencia Energy 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

4,515 
Energía 

Eólico Al ijar, S.A. A Cádiz Energy 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

2,791 
Energía 

Eurovento . S.L. A Coruña Energy 50.00% Subgroup Tripower 1,966 

Evacuacion Yillanueva Del Rey, 
Sevilla Energy 44.75% 

Subgroup Termosolar 
S.L. Palma Saetilla 

Explotaciones Eólicas Sierra De 
Madrid Energy 25.00% Subgroup Ceól ica 817 

Utrera. S.L. 

Ferrimaroc Agencias, S.L. Almería 
Logistics 

46.36% 
Subgroup Cenargo 

14 
Services España 

Ferrimaroc, S.A. Morocco 
Logistics 

46.36% 
Subgroup Cenargo 

20 
Services Es paña 

Firelly lnvestments 238 
A 

South 
Energy 45.00% 

Subgrou~ Acciona 
(Proprietary) Limited A frica Energ ía Global Sudáfrica 

' CLAR/\ LOiS LOZ,01i"J O 1 
1 

,-"~ l")WT' i:i · :q~-- -.~:y ,, .,, , " . O'"" irr:i r-
! , ~v 1..1 V1v1~.1't t..K~ ¡\ :.... ~Ju \,iur\ C • ¡vLL. .... 

Nº. 10009 



TRANSLA TION 

Cwopaay Amdit Loalism !\bm~-
Efftttin 

DeSdH- of iatrrr:st 
Canying 

Sbarc% amouut 

Gran Hospilal Can Misses, S. A. lbila Concessions 40.00°/o Acciona 2, 148 

Helena Watcr Finance Pty Ltd A Australia 
'11.'i;m-

25.0~'Ó 
Suilgroap Accimia Agua 

7,995 
TTeatment bm.:maciomil Australia 

lnfillestructuras Radiales, S.A. Madrid Concessions 25.00"/o Acciona 28,773 

Infraestrucluras Villanueva, S.L Madrid Energy 4053% Subgroup Guadalaviar 

Logislic:s 
Snbgronp Acciona 

Interboya Press, SA P.fadrid 
Savi= 

50.00",{, Servicios Urbanos y 30 
Medio~ 

Líneas Eléctricas Asturianas. S.L. Asturias Encrgy 50.00"/o Subgroup Eurovento 2 

Líneas Eléctricas Gallega.s IL S.L Galicia Enerro' 5fül0% Subgmup Eum,;ento 2 

Líneas Eléctricas Gallegas UI. S.L. Galicia Encrgy 50.00"/a Snbgroup Eurovento 2 

Líneas Eléctricas Gallegas. S.L ('..alicia Encrgy 35.00"Jó Snbgroup Eurovento 

Loc-ubsa E Andorra Constmction 48.89% 
Subgroup Acciona 

26 
Construcción 

Logiberica de Prensa y Servicios, Logistics 
Subgroup Acciona 

l\h!frid 5-0..oo% ~icms urk=is :!' 3-0 
S.L. ~ires 

Medio Ambiente 

Maple Conc=sioos Camda lnc. Canada 
Holding 

IOJMl% 
Subgroup Acciona 

179 
Company Concesiones 

Mov-R HJ Sn.:leromu Megajulo 
E Hungary Energy 49.25% 

Subgroup Ent:fID' Corp 
1,159 

Energi.a Hasznosito Kft HungaJY 

Myah T~-paza, Spa D Algeria 
Water 

255~-í. 
SuhgroupAlgerian Water 

6,858 
Treatment Im1estment 

Necsocgaz, S.L. Madrid Real esblíe 50.000."' 
Subgroup Acciona 

14 
Inmobiliaria 

Nexas lnfra.smt:ctme Hol&iiBgs Ufli! 
Anstralia Concessions 20.00% 

&iilgm:!p Acciuaa 
5,830 

Trust Concesiones 

NORDEXSE Gcrma:ny Encrgy 29.9-0% Accimia 753,942 

Nma Darsell2 Deportn·a Ik Rml, 
Madrid Concessions 50.0IJ'% Acciona S.A. 

Nu...-vo Hospital De Tokdo, S_t\.. Tolerlo e onces.siims 3333% 
Subgroup Acciona 

3,726 
Concesiones 

Oakleaflnvei.inrent Holdings 86 
A 

Somh 
Eneigy 50.00% 

Subgroup Acciona 
6,684 (Proprietary) Limit A frica Energía Global Sudáfrica 

Operadm- Del M=:ado Ibérico -
Madrid EneTgy 5.(JO"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
I,583 

Polo Español, SA Enesgía 

Operadora Can Misses S.L Ibiza 
Conression 

40.00"/o 
Snbgroup AccIDna 

28 1 
Operation Servicios Hospitalarios 

P2W Serviees l..imited 
New Ceoc 

50.00% 
Su.bgroop Acci:oGa 

Zealand infiaestructuras Concesiones 

Páramo De L<lS Angostillos, S.L e Palmcia Enelgy 50.fJffll> 
Subgmup Acciona 

I,920 
Encrgia 

Parque Eóli.co A Runa. S.L A A Coruña Energy 50.(10% Subgroup Ceólíca 7,068 

Parqn.e Eólico Ailmw. S.L A ACornña Enagy 50.00"/o Sliligmup Ceólica 7,429 

Parque Eóliw ~ 
A ACornña Ener:gy 50J}(J'J{, Subgrunp Ceótica 6,648 Filgueira. S.L 

Patque Eólico Cinscim. S.L. A Zamtml Encrg}- 5fül0% Silhgroup Ceólica 505 

Parque Eólico Corras. S.L A ACMnña Energy 50.00% Subgmup Ceólica 1,885 

Parque Eóliro De Abara. S.L A A Coruña Energ)· 5-0.()0°/o Subgrocp Ceólica 1,663 

Pa:rqm: Eólico De~- S .. L ACorum Energy 12~~ Si>bgroup Eillm<!ntO 450 

Parque Eólico De Bobia y San 
A Asturias Eoergy 50.00%. Subgroup Ceólica 548 Isidro. S.L 

Parque Eó!ioo De ila'l!l. S.L A ACcmm ¡:.~ 50.00'J'ó ~Ceófü:a 3,505 
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Comp.aoy Alldit Loa.tioa Maitt adivity 
Elltttin 

Hohkrofilltcnst 
Carryi111g 

Sbano/o amo1mt 

Pan¡ue Eólico De Tea. S.L A ACorma Em:rgy 50J}6'" SlIDgioop Ceólic:a 6,393 

Parque EóliCTJ Vicedo. S.L. A A Coruña Energy 50.00% Subgroup Ceól.ica 553 

Parque Eólico ViIXe Do Monte. 
A AComiia ~ .5<U)0% Subgroap Ca'Mica 5.147 

S.L. 

Parques Eólicos De Boio. S.L. A A Coruña Eaergy 50.00% Sobgroup Ceólíca 4,305 

Polígooo Romica. SA Albw:ek RealesUie so.ore~ 
Subgroup Acciona 

937 
lnmOOiliaria 

Port City Water Services !ne. Canada 
Water 

50.00"/o Subgroup Acciona Agua 
Treatment 

Reghion Agua S.CAR.L. ltaly 
WM1:7 

50.00% 
Sobgroup McÍoHó! Agua 

5 
Trea!meot Senicros 

Residencial Maranta Dos SA de 
Mexiro Real estate 10.00% 

Subgroup Parque 
807 

C.V. Refonna 

Rising Sun Enei-gy, S.A.E Egypt Energy 38.0081o 
Snbgmop Acciooa 

l ,091 
Encrgía Global 

S.C. Autovía De La Plata S.A. Madrid Concessions 25.00% 
Subgroup AccW!la 

11 ,531 
Coasúni:ción 

S.C. Autovia Gerediaga Elorrio 
Bilbao Concess:ioos 22.80"/o 

Subgroup Acciona 
7,017 

S.A. Construcción 

S.C. Del Canal De Navarra, S.A. Pamplona Concessioos 50.00"/o Acciona 

Novo HospitaJ De Vigo S.A. Pootevedra e once.ssions 4333% Acc iona 13,605 

S .C. Puente Del Ebro, S.A. Aragón Concessimis 50.00% Acciona 6,693 

Servicio De Tratllmiento De Aguas 
D Mexico 

Water 
48.98% Subgroup Acciona Agua 328 

Ptar Caracol, S.A Trea:tment 

Servicios Comuoitarios De Molina 
E Mmcia 

Water 
48.27% Subgroup Acciona Agua 

10.,267 
De Segura, SA Treat:ment Servicios 

Sistemcs EJectrics Espluga, S.A. Barcelona Energy 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

31 
Energía 

Sociedad De Aguas Hispano 
A Mexico 

Water 
50.00% Subgroup Acciona Agua 5,944 

Mexicana S.A De C.V. Treatment 

Sociedad Explotadora Aulovia 
Spain 

Concession 
28.70% 

Subgroup Acciona 
50 

Gerediaga - Elorrio S.L. Operation Concesiones 

Sociedad Mixta Del Agua- Jaen, 
A Jaén 

Water 
60.00% 

Subgroup Acciona Agua 
1,368 

S.A. Treatment Servicios 

Sociedad Operadora Novo Hospital 
Pontevedra 

Concession 
43.33% 

Subgroup Acciona 
26 

De Vigo S.A. Operation Servicios Hospitalarios 

Subgroup Acciona 
Solena Group USA Urban Services 25.00% Servicios Urbanos y 3,995 

Medio Ambiente 

Sunrise Energy, S.A.E. Egypt Energy 38.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

1,091 
Energía Global 

Testa Residencial Socimi SA Madrid Real estate 21.02% 
Subgroup Acciona Real 

335,824 
Estate 

Tranvias Urbanos De Zaragoza S.L. Zaragoza 
Concession 

15.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

9 
Operation Concesiones 

Tuto Energy 1, S.A.P.I. de C.V. Mexico Energy 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

213 
Energia Mexico Global 

Tuto Energy li, SAP.I. de C.V. Mexico Energy 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

1,888 
Energía Mexico Global 

Valdivia Energía Eólica, S.A. A Sevilla Energy 50.00% 
Subgroup Acciona 

3, 145 
Energía 

Vento Mareiro. S.L. A Coruña Energy 24.50% Subgroup Eurovento 

Ventos e Terras Galegas 11. S.L. Ga licia Energy 50.00% Subgroup Tripower 2 

Ventos e Terras Galegas. S.L. Galicia Subgroup-ttipower--- 90 

r. (\ 1 "'" L07 ~''O Clf\r<., _\.);.:=¡ ,_,...,¡ ,, 

.,. . f"'-1'\n •• -:-.--.r...,·-T:- 'I !") •,7' \ 1·.: 1p1rl:· 
¡il r\ll1.,i0; 1 ~.J11:1t,\·';íC.1CJv.1r.uriUL, .J ;_, 

iu<""l,!..- v . ',,¡. ' 
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Vertex Residencial Cuajimalpa, 
S.A. DeC.V. 

Aetfit 

A 

l.ocaÚ!lll ~laia adñity 

Mc:tico Real estate 

Effttün 
lleldH- oí iDRRst 

CaIT}ing 
Share% amouot 

10.00% 
Subgroup Parque 298 
Refürma 

(*) Compan.ies whose fmancial statcments are audited by: (A) KPMG; (B) PricewatemouseCoopers; (C) Dcloitte; (D) Emst & 
Y oung (E) Others 
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APPENDIX IV 

CHANGES IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION 

Changes in the consolidation scope in 2017 were as follows: 

Company 

Acciona Facility Sen-ices Pohmd Spólka z_o_o_ 

Accio1111 GeOO:ch Holding Pty Lid 

Geotech Holdco PTY L TD 

Acciona Constructíon Holdings Pty Ud 

Geotech Pty Ltd 

Coleman Raíl Pty ltd 

John Beever Pty Ud 

Geog Setviccs Pty Ud 

Acciona Geotech Group Servires Pty Ltd 

Acciona Concesiones P2W investment limited 

P2W Se1vices Limited 

Acciona Coostmctioo USA Cmp_ 

Alsubh SolaT Power, SA_E. 

Vientos Bajo Hondo, SA 

Vientos Bajo Hondo 1, S_A_ 

Aista-Trans JV (PTY) L TO 

Constructora. Tenn.inal Valle de México, S.A. de 
c.v. 

Acciona C onsttuc:cioR Austra.tia, Pty Ud. 

Acciona Financiacion Filiales Australia Pty Ud 

Acciona W lh"U:\ll<lla Solutions GP loe_ 

Acciona Con.struction Mame. SARL 

Palmas Wind, Lle 

Civerzba ITG, S.L. 

Efrato ITG, S.L. 

Testa Residencial Socimi SA 

Acc iona Suministradora México, S. R.L. de C. V. 

Acciona Industrial Australia, Pty Lid 

Ris ing Sun Energy, S.A .E. 

Sunrise Energy, S.A.E . 

Locatioa 

Pobnd 

Australia 

Australia 

Austtalia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

Australia 

New Zealand 

USA 

Egypt 

Argentina 

South Africa 

Mexico 

Australia 

ümada 

Morocco 

USA 

Egypt 

Egypl 

Spain 

Mexico 

Australia 

Egypt 

Egypt 

Main acfuity 

Cu RStructioo 

Constmction 

COflSlmction 

Constmction 

Constroction 

Constmction 

Constroction 

Concession 
Operation 

Concessioo 
Operation 

Encrgy 

Energy 

Engíneering 

Coostructioo 

Financia} 

WaB:r 
Treatment 

Construction 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Real estate 

Energy 

Engineering 

Energy 

Energy 

Cbange 
Consolidafion 

Mdllod 

Additioo Gronp 

Addilion Group 

Addilíon Grnup 

Addition Group 

Additioo Group 

Addítion Group 

Addition Group 

Additioo Group 

Addition Group 

Addiriun Associates 

Additioo Asso.."iates 

Adifitiou Gronp 

Addition Associates 

.Additioll Group 

Additiou Group 

Addition Multígroup 

Additioo Associates 

Additioo Groop 

Addition Group 

Addition Associates 

Addition Group 

Addition Group 

Addilion Group 

Addition Group 

Addition Group 

Addition Group 

Addition Group 

Addition Associates 

Nº. 10009 
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TRANSLA TION 

Compaay Loca tío o Main a.cfüity Change 
Con.sofidatioo 

l\ttthod 

Acciooa Agua Sam.i:iia I~ S.R_L Ita!y 
Water 

Additios Associates 
Tn:atment 

Tiaui Aqua, SA. de C.V. Mexi.."O 
Water 

Additiun Group 
Treatment 

CompañíadeaguaCahen, SAP.l. de C.V. Mexioo 
Water 

Addition Gmup 
Treatment 

Acciona Constmction Philippines lnc. Philippines Construct~m Addition Group 

Combuslebor, S.L. Murcia 
Logistics 

Removals Group 
Sewices 

Logística D.-:1 Transporte Slb, S.A. Murcia 
Logisli.cs 

Removals Group 
Services 

Muñrtrans, S.L. Mmcia 
Lcgistics 

Removals Group 
Services 

Transportes Frigorificos Murcianos, S.L Murcia 
Logistics 

Removals Group 
Seivices 

Grupo Transpmtes frigmiítcOS Murcianos, S.L Mun:ia 
Log.ist«;s 

Remo\lllfs Group 
Savices 

Frigorifíoos Car.waca, S.L. Mmcia 
Logistics 

Remo vals Group 
Senices 

Acciona Facility Sen-ices Belgique Sprl Belgiurn Urban Services Removals Group 

Ccmpañía Urbanizz.lh D:el Coro, S.L .Madrid IU::.!I estr..e Remcm·1ls Group 

Valgrand 6, S.A. Madrid Real estate Removals Group 

East West Cmmect Hokling 3 Pty Limital Amtra!ia Coocess.ioas Remo vals Associates 

Acciona Solar Canarias, SA. Canal)· lslands Energy Removals Group 

Tripower Wind. B.V. HoHand Energy Remo val Associates 

S.C. Acciona Concesiones Ruta l60 Chile Concessions Remm'3l Gmup 

Corporación Eólica Sora. S.A. Zaragoza Energy RemcJ\'al Group 

Ripie}· Windfarm JV Canada Energy 
Change in 

Group 
Melhod 

Aut1nia De Los Vmeoos To!edt:t Com:essrons 
Cbange in 

üroup 
Method 

Acciones Urbanas. Sen•ícios y Medio Ambiente, 
!\,furcia Urban Services 

Cbange in 
Group 

S.L. Melhod 

Changes in the consolidation scope in 2016 were as follows: 

Compa•y Loatio11 Maiaacmity Changt: 
COllSOlübtioa 

Mdbod 

Acciona Agua & Sogex Uc Omae Warer Treztment Addition Associates 

Accinm Agna C<rm:dai lnc. Cmi:dil \\' arer T re:ll1mmt AdditIDo Group 

Acciona Agua Internacional Inc. Canada Watcr Treatment Addítion Group 

Acciona Airpor Services Düs.seldorf Gmbh Gennany Logistics Services Addition Group 

Acciona Airport Services Chile.Spa Chile Logistics Servli:es Addition Grm1p 

Coocession 
Acciona Concesiones Australia Pty Limited Australia Operatioo Addilioo Group 

Acciona Financiación De Filiales Chile Spa Chile Financial Addition Gmup 

Acciona lnfrastructure New Zealand, Ltd NewZeaJand Constructíon Addition Group 
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Company 

Acciona Ingeniería Colombia, S.A.S. 

Acciona Saudi Arabia For Contracting Lle 

Divinopolis Saneamento, S.A. 

Energia Renovable Del Istmo 11 SA de Cv 

Liciastar (Propietary) Limited 

Mt Gellibrand Wind Farm Holding Pty Ltd 

NORDEX SE 

Northwinds Trading (Proprietary) Limited 

Parque Eolico San Gabriel Spa 

Port City Water Services lnc. 

Proyecto F8 Troy Aym, S.A. de C.V. 

Reghion Agua S.C.A.R.L. 

Residencial Maranta Dos S.A. de C.V. 

San Roman Finance Lle 

San Roman Holding Lle 

Sociedad Explotadora Autovia Gcrediaga -
Elorrio S.L. 

Tolchén Transmisión Spa 

Tolpan Sur, Spa 

Tuto Energy 1, S.A.P.1. de C.V . 

Tuto Energy li, S.A.P.1. de C.V. 

Alrneyda Spa 

Malgarida 1 Spa 

Malgarida 11 Spa 

Pichilingue Spa 

Pililin Spa 

Usya Spa 

Acciona - Vjetroelektrane O.O.O. 

Acciona Airport Services Berlin, S.A. 

Acciona Blades, S.A. 

Acciona Energiaki, S.A. 

Acciona Engineering Canada lnc 

Acciona Las Tablas, S.L. 

Acciona Towers, S.L. 

Acciona Windpower Brasil Ltda. 

Acciona Windpower Chile, S.A. 

Acciona Windpower Deutschland Grnbh 

Acciona Windpower India Private Lirnited 

Acciona Windpower Internacional, S.L. 

Acciona Windpower Korea, lnc 

Acciona Windpower México, Sri De C.V. 

Acc iona Windpower North Ameri ca L.L.C. 

Acciona Windpower Oceania, Pty, Ltd 

Loca tion 

Colombia 

Saudi Arabia 

Brazil 

Mexico 

South Africa 

Australia 

Germany 

South A frica 

Chile 

Canada 

Mexico 

Italy 

Mexico 

USA 

USA 

Spain 

Chile 

Chi le 

Mexico 

Mexico 

Ch il e 

Chi le 

Chile 

Chile 

Chile 

Chile 

Croatia 

Gem1any 

Navarra 

Greece 

Ca nada 

Madrid 

Madrid 

Brazi l 

Chile 

Gem1any 

India 

Navarra 

South Korea 

Mexico 

USA 

Austra lia 
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Main activity 

Engineering 

Engineering 

Water Treatment 

Energy 

Engineering 

Energy 

Energy 

Engineering 

Energy 

Wate r Treatment 

Engineering 

Water Treatment 

Real estate 

Energy 

Energy 

Concess ion 
Operation 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Encrgy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Logistics Services 

Energy 

Energy 

Engineering 

Real estate 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Energy 

Change 

Addit ion 

Addition 

Addition 

Add ition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addition 

Addit ion 

Addition 

Addition on 
Split 

Add ition on 
Spli t 

Addition 011 

Split 

Addition on 
Spli t 

Addition 011 

Split 

Addition on 
Split 

Removal 

Removal 

Remo val 

Removal 

Removal 

Remo val 

Removal 

Removal 

Removal 

Removal 

Rernoval 

Removal 

Removal 

Removal 

Consolidation 
Method 

Group 

Group 

Assoc iates 

Group 

Multigroup 

Group 

Associa tes 

Group 

Group 

Associates 

Multigroup 

Associates 

Associates 

Group 

Group 

Associates 

Group 

Group 

Associates 

Associates 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Grou p 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 

Group 
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TRANSLA TION 

Compaoy Location Main activity Cbange 
Consolidation 

Metbod 

Acciona Windpower Rüzgar Enerjisi Sistemleri Turkey Energy Remo val Group 

Acciona Windpower South A frica (Pty) Ltd. South Africa Energy Remo val Group 

Acciona Windpower, S.A. Navarra Energy Remo val Group 

Arturo So ria Plaza, A. l. E. Madrid Real estate Remo val Associates 

Constructora Sacyr Necso Chile, S.A. Chile Constructio11 Removal Associates 

Corporación Acciona Windpower, S.L. Madrid Energy Removal Group 

Energía Renovable De Teruel ,S.L. Teruel Energy Removal Group 

Eoliki Evripoy Cesa Hellas Epc Greece Energy Remo val Group 

Eoliki Panachaikou Sa Greece Energy Removal Group 

Eoliki Paralimnis Cesa Hellas Epe Greece Energy Remo val Group 

Gestion De Edificios Comerciales, S.A. Madrid Real estate Removal Associates 

Hsd Flughafen Gmbh Germany Logistics Services Remo val Group 

Industria Toledana De Energías Renovables, S.L. Toledo Energy Removal Group 

Secomsa Gestió, S.L Tarragona Urban Services Removal Associates 

Shanghai Acciona Windpower Technical Service 
Co.,Ltd China Energy Remo val Group 

Tratamiento De Residuos De La Rad, S.L. La Rioja Urban Services Remo val Group 

Vector-Cesa Hellas Likosterna Epe Greece Energy Removal Group 

Yeong Yang Windpower Corporation 11 South Korea Energy Removal Group 

Removal on 
Acciona Energía Solare Italia, S.R.L ltaly Energy Merger Group 

Removal on 
Acciona Eólica Basilicata, Sri ltaly Energy Merger Group 

Removal on 
Acciona Eólica Molise, Sri ltaly Energy Merger Group 

Removal on 
Acciona Rinnovabili Calabria, Sri ltaly Energy Merger Group 

Removal on 
Acciona Rinnovabili Italia, Sri ltaly Energy Merger Group 

Removal 011 
Corporación Eólica De Zamora. S.L. Madrid Energy Mergcr Group 

Removal 011 
Eólica De Sanabria. S.L. Madrid Energy Merger Group 

Removal on 
Eólicas Del Moncayo. S.L. So ria E11ergy Merger Group 

Removal on 
Parque Eólico Tortosa. S.L. Barcelona Energy Merger Group 

Removal on 
Sistemas Energéticos El Granado. S.A Sevilla Energy Merger Group 

A TLL Concesionaria de la Generalitat de Change in 
Catalunya, S.A. Barcelona Water Treatment Method Group 

Change in 
Parque Reforma Santa Fe, S.A. De C.V. Mexico Real estate Method Group 
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APPENDIXV 

BREAKDOWN OF THE MAIN CONCESSIONS 

Water division: 

EDAR BB 
Construction, operation and maintenance of the 

2008 - 2031 Spain 100% Operational Global integration Intangible asset wastewater treatment plant "08B Zone" of Aragon 

EDAR 7B 
Construction, operation and maintenance of the 

2011 - 2031 Spain 100% Operational Global integration Intangible asset wastewater treatment plant "07B Zone" of Aragon 

IDAM Alicante 
Construction , operation and maintenance of the sea 

2000 - 2018 Spain 50% Operational Proportional integration Financia! asset water desalination plant in Alicante 

IDAM Javea 
Construction, operation and maintenance of the sea 2001 - 2023 Spain 100% Operational Global integ ration Financia! asset water desalination plant in Javea 

IDAM Cartagena Construction, operation and maintenance of the sea 2001 - 2020 Spain 63% Operational Proportional integration Financia! asset 
water desalination plant in Cartagena 

IDAM Fouka 
Construction, operatiorl ilD!I maintenance af the sea 

2008 - 2036 Algéia 26% Operatiooal Equity method financia! asset WiltEr desalination plant in Tipa:za 

IDAM Ibiza -
Reconstruction, WO<tcs operation ami maintenance of 

Portmany !he sea - r1psaWebm ¡>lant in San IU>!JJnio 2009 - 2024 5;>airl smr. Opei!Wnal EQU4method Rnancíal as.set 
Portmanv arn1 Ibua 

PTAR Atotonilco 
Constructioo, operation and maintmance of the 

2010 - 2035 Me>Om 24% Construction Equity method Fínandal asset 
wastfwater treatment plant in Atotonilro / Operational 

WWTP Mundaring Consttuctian, operatiull "'1d mainte:>a11Ce et tbe 
2011 - 2048 Australia 25% Opeational Eqnity me:hod Hnancial asset 

wastewate" traatment plants in Mundaring 

PTAR La Cl>ira 
c.onst:ruc:tion, operatior1 and maintenance of the 

2011 - 2037 Pero 50% ()peralionel Equity methcd Financia! asset wastewater treatment plants in la Chira 

IDAM Arucas Moya 
Extension, apaation and maíntenance of the sea 2008 - 2024 S¡>ain 106% Operational ~al inlEgrilüan Intangible asset 
water desalination plant: in Arucas / Moya 

Red de 
Construc:tioo, OjleBlioR and matintmain<:e d the ÜlllSlrudiClO saneamiento en 2D09- 2U44 5paín 100"í> G1dJal i'ntEgraljol1 Intangíble asset 

Andratx 
seioage netwo<k in Andratx / Operational 

Design, Clll'lstructíOn, financing, operatioct and 
Port City Water mainterianre of a wate" treatment plant and storage 2016 - 2048 Canalla 40% Olnstruction E<¡uity method Flnancial asset 

reseJvoirs in Saint Jolm 

ATLL Upstream water supply service in Ter-Llobregat 2013 - 2062 Spain 76°/o Operational Global integration Intangible asset 

Sercomosa 
Public-private company whose principal activity is the 

1998 - 2040 Spain 48% Operational Equity method Intangible asset water supply to Malina de Segura 

Public-private company to manage integrated water 
Somajasa cycle of public services in sorne relevant 2007 - 2032 Spain 60°/o Operational Equity method Intangible asset 

Municipalities of Province of Jaen 

Gesba Water supply service in Andratx and Deiá (Mallorca) 1994 - 2044 Spain 100% Operational Global integration Intangible asset 

Paguera Water supply service in Calvia (Mallorca) 1969 - 2019 Spain 100% Operational Global integ ration Intangible asset 

Costa Tropical 
Integrated water cycle service in Costa Tropical 

1995 - 2045 Spain 49°/o Operational Proportional integration Intangible asset 
(Granada) 

Boca del Rio 
lntegrated water cycle of public services in Boca del 

2018 - 2047 Mexico 70°/o Operational Global integration Intangible asset 
Rio ( Veracruz ) 

CL/\R/\ LO!S LOZ,:1i'.O 
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Infrastructure division: 

Clmloo« roails !'ay for ..,..,.;i,o.~ ro¡¡¡¡¡ in!egmi!d in - CZ!l"'Y rin¡¡ matmuay 21110 - 2043 canada 5% ap,,raoonal Equityme!ñod* Financia! as.set 
(SEST) (25km) 

Autovia de los Con-.cnon, cperalion and mamtenance af n>ad CM-42 betweef1 
2003 - 2!133 Spa<n 100% Operaljuml G!cbal ína.gratiml Intangible asset 

V-diedos Consuegra a Torneiloso (74.51an). ShamM to!I 

Rec:IM!<y, apera00n ami ~=e af BR-393 (2II0.4lm1) m>d in 
BraDl 100% 

Con>l.rumc:l a 
Global mtEgration Intangible asset R-doAt;D 

Río de.laneim sa..te {be!Jueen llcl!i! -& Alél). Exp!jcittoll 
2008 - 2033 

()peraticmal 

Remodeling, restoralion, operaüon and mainrenance af a 76.51cm 
/1;2_--.2 strech of en existing road _....,.,. Ion 62 (A-2) and lcm 139 (ba<t!er 2llU7 - 2026 Spain 100% Operatimlal G'.abal inregration intangible asset 

ot province af Soria-Guadalajara). Shadow IDll 

Windso< Essex Design, conslruction ara! oper..-, af llkm !t;qmay amner:ting 
21}10 - 2044 CzJ>ada 33% ~l Eqtéty rnet'1a!! Financia! asset 

_,,,, 
-=-<~ -Ci?Da::la)"""' u.s. --{i:let=t-~) 

Nom>elle AuU!m!.ilE C"'1Slnlt:tion a><! oper¡o<.ton of m3 l<lB<!-+figtnray 30 in """1treal, 
2008 - 2043 Ca nada 5% Operational Equity metnod* Fínancial asset A-30 between C!ta!5!uguay ami Vaudreui!-Dorioo (74km). Explidt toll 

. . Constructinn, CDl1S<!nratíon ami cpeJation af N-636 roa<!, Gered"iaga-
8:¡!rly ,,_ NRa'S"...cial asset AtJ!Dyja Geraliaga - Elmriil stretm ""-" - "11!! c¡;er"i!tian d Variznt!> de Elomo 2ll12 - 2042 Spc'n 23% ~ 

Borrio ah""EBdy ~ ~ :=aatmty 
amstructioo, masenraliml ami ~ af Autovía de fa Plata (A-
66) road, l>etween Benavente ami Zamora. Stretdles: A6 

Autmña de la Pl;ot;a (Castrogmua!n) -~del Esl.a, Samaveni;o dá Esla - 2012- 2042 Spa<n 25% CJperaOOna! Eqlcty ..-rod Fmantial asse.t 
Ftmtimil!as de castro, Fantan<llas de castro -Zamma. Pay fur 
~tim.tv 

Toomiombo Semnd Desiqn, amstruction ami operatioo of411tm ofthe north ring road 

Range Crossiny in T~ (~). fru,-,, -id= Spa to Athol, througb 
2015 - 2043 Australia 20% Conslrudion Equity method Financia! asset 

CbarilDn. Avíalíability payment (25 year operalion from amstructíon (Nexus) 
eral) 

finarn:e. desig:n, amstruct a-n<t mainta±n the """" Piihoí to 
~~-"Tbe!'íl.tDmL~¡utj;D:-""'1Erul 

2016- 2C46 
Ne>< 

19% Corislructioo Eqwty~ financia! asset Puhot ID Warl<wcrth 
the four-lane Hnrthem Hot:Olway (SHl) 18.51cm from the Zealand 
Jalmstcne's Hi'il nmnes tD jus1: narth of waoo.orth. 

Üln50lti9 Traza C1ln5tnu:üon 8. ~ cS tne ~T tml: OU5se5 !he áty 2009 - Zll44 Spain 17% Operati:mal Equ:ty method Both methods 
(Tranvía Zaragoza) (12.Bkm) 

Design, CllllS!n!<ti= anti Cl!.f'I af 12ltm rai1 fine from Ci>t:ular Qlray 

Svtl""J' lt;!tt RaU 
Via Gemqe Sb2el: ID Central Stirti<m. crossmg 5"rry Hdls tn ~ 

2014 - 203'1 AustJaUa 5'% ~ E'<¡Wty mettrod Fínancial asset Parle, Kensin;¡ton, Kíngsfi:>Jtl and Randwid<. It indutles operation of 
Irmer West lilre. 

Ci!nal de ll2va<ra Construc!ioa a --of the 1" p1iase rá'- canal de 111avami 2!lil6 - 2ll36 S¡¡m 50% ~ Equ:'ty .-md Bothm-
~ ...... 

H1>wa Da>sena LilnstJudiDl1 & o¡>eatio<1 CI! the Roda de Sara marma. Re<enues 
2005 - 2035 Spain 50% Operational Equ\ly method n.m Esportiva de Bara fmm momings, sOOjJs & pasltings {191,771m'} 

Fart.Stl<ltt:i IJi!f0.14 f:::r" :a,,.,,. 55-bed ~ (¡;¡!:l5 123 ~ - µatjeras) 23!l9 - 2!142 Car..ea 5'i• CJ¡rera:licW ~mé!wd* Fi.........::ía) as.set 

Hospital de Lean Design, ronstrudion, equ;pment ami OllM ofthe has¡>ital (184 
2005 - 2030 HexK:o 100% Operational Babal int:egration Financia! asset 

Bajío beds) 

Hnspital del ""-ot" DSF0!4 at ll>e ~la! -. an """" at 9!1,00~' dMim in 4 h'-"Cks 2llil5 - 2035 5= 95"% Ül'~ G'n!til!~ P.nandal asset 
(Ma!!rid) (2B3be!sj 

Gran Hospital can DBfOM af the hospital with "" araa of 72,000m' & a - c:enter 2010- 2045 Spain 411% Opeatíonal Equity method Financia! asset Misses (lbinl} (241 beds) 

~ HD<;i>i!:al <le D6FOl4' cf 3 t:~ ,.;t!l..,,"""" i:f 3Dll,f!l!1:m2 (175,00llro2 
2fil1- :2l!35 ~ ""'3'h ~ ~Yy r.>e!blXI Rna=ial asset Vigo trosp-ítal y 125,!i"OOrn2 12< parl¡:). (2007 be<ls) 

Centro Hospitalario 
c.onstructioo ami o¡>aation of ~I ~de Tak!l!o, Mth 

2015 - 2D45 Si>am 3391. Canstru:íIDn Eq"''ty mBilod Ftnancial asset ~de 
To!edo 760beds 

*Jndirect shareholding through MAPLE Concessions Canada lnc., where 10% shareholding is held. 
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ACCIONA, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(CONSOLIDATED GROUP) 

DIRECTORS' REPORT - FINANCIAL YEAR 2017 

ACCIONA discloses its results in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) under a corporate structure, which comprises three divisions: 

• Energy comprises the electricity business, from construction of wind farms to the 
generation, distribution and marketing of different energy sources. 

• Infrastructure: 

- Construction includes mainly construction, industrial and engineering activities 
as well as transport and hospital concession activities. 

- Water includes the construction of desalination, water and wastewater treatment 
plants, as well as integral water services management from bulk water abstraction 
ali the way to discharging treated wastewater to the environment. ACCIONA 
Agua also operates water concessions across the entire water cycle. 

- Services include the activities of facility services, airport handling, waste 
collection and management and logistic services among others. 

• Other activities include the businesses of Trasmediterránea, Real Estate, Bestinver 
(fund manager), wineries and other businesses. 

The Alternative Performance Measures or APM' s used constanly in this half period 
report by ACCIONA Group are listed and defined below: 

EBITDA or Gross profit/(loss) from operations: is defined as operating income 
before depreciation and amortisation, that is, it shows the operating result ofthe Group. 
The Company presents the calculation ofEBITDA in the consolidated Profit & Losses 
account (see Consolidated Income Statement in point 2 of the Directors' Report). It is 
calculated by taking the following items of the consolidated income statement: "net 
revenue", "other revenues", "change in inventories of finished goods and work in 
progress", "cost of goods sold'', "personnel expenses" and "other operating expenses". 

Net debt: it shows the Group's debt, in net terms, deducting cash and cash equivalents. 
The detailed reconciliation is broken down in the Cash-flow and Net Financial Debt 
Variation section of the Directors' Report. It is calculated by taking the following items 
from the consolidated balance sheet: "non-current interest-bearing borrowings'', 
"current interest-bearing bonowings'', less "cash and cash equivalents" and "other 
current financia! assets". 

Non-recourse debt: as indicated in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, it 
corresponds to debt that does not have corporate guarantees, and therefore its recourse 
is limited to the debtor's assets and cash flows. 

Recourse debt: debt with a corporate guarantee. 

Financial gearing: ü shows the relation between the Group's financia! debt and its 
equity. It is calculated dividing "net debt" (calculated as explained above) by "equity". 

Backlog: is defined as the pending production, that is to say, c~ntract\Ul.l~ámO.ú'MsLóll,\~W 
customer orders after having deducted the amounts alrea y accm~.J!te.d !~.r~~ !1Ilf-C?.~~.º~\ r .... "r , :t' :'. 

~ 1 Pt10lJ1..1 I Gr,,~,\.J ~ ... 1"i::1 e Ju 11 l1.1t1 uc \11, ,,LL _ 
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TRANSLA TION 

the income statement. It is calculated on the basis of orders and contracts awarded to 
the Group, deducting the realised portion that is accounted on "net revenue" and adding 
or subtracting "other variations'', that corresponds to forex adjustments, modifications 
to the initial contracts and other changes to be made to the awarded backlog. 

Net Capex: is defined as the net change in the balance of property, plant & equipment, 
intangible, financia! and real estate assets during the period, corrected by: 

• Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of assets during the period 

• Results on disposal of non-current assets 

• Forex fluctuations 

When dealing with changes in the consolidation perimeter, net capex is defined as the 
net outflow/inflow ofused/sourced resources in the purchase/sale of net assets. 

Operating Cash-flow: it represents the ability of assets to generate resources in terms 
of net debt. It is obtained as follows: 

EBITDA plus/minus change in operating working capital rninus net financia! cost 
plus/minus cash inflow/outflow of capital gains plus income from associates 
plus/minus other cash inflow/outflow different from those included in the Net 
Investment Cash-flow and from those which constitute remuneration to shareholders. 

Net Investment Cash-flow: It is calculated as the Net capex plus/minus change in 
payable to capex providers. 

Ordinary EBT: it is defined as earnings before tax excluding those accounting 
impacts related to exceptional decisions made by the Group's management, which go 
beyond the usual course of business operative decisions made by the different 
division's top management and are detailed in segment information note. 

Management uses these APMs to take financia!, operational or planning decisions. 
They are also used to evaluate the performance of the Group and its subsidiaries. 

Management considers these APMs provide useful additional financia! information to 
evaluate the performance of the Group and its subsidiaries as well as for decision­
making by the users of the financia! information. 
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Executive Summary 

Key Highlights of the period: 

• ACCIONA generated an income of €7,254 mi Ilion, that represents an increase of 21.4% 
vs. FY20l6. 

• The EBLTDA reached €1,275 million during FY2017, 7.0% more than in FY2016. This 
year is characterised by a highercontribution from lnfrastructure division (+€106 mi Ilion) 
which largely offset the slight decrease in the Energy division (-€14 million) and the 
lower contribution from Other Activities (-€7 million). 

• The Energy division has delivered slightly lower EBITDA (-1.9%) vs FY2016, even 
though the Generation business improved its results (+2.5%). Mainly, dueto the lower 
contribution from third-party turnkey activity, now that the Energy division has decided 
to focus exclusively on the construction of assets for its own portfolio. 

• The Generation business in Spain increased its EBlTDA by 9.7% thanks to the higher 
leve! of wholesale electricity prices as well as higher regulated in comes over the periodic 
review, even these drivers were significantly mitigated by the regulatory banding 
mechanism, forward sales, and lower production. 

• The International Generation business suffered from lower generation volumes -partly 
dueto events of force majeure- which led to declining EBTTDA (-5.5%), despite the new 
capacity in operation. 

• The Infrastructure division EBITDA increased across ali its business lines and 
consolidated its margin levels. The volume in construction business is exceptionally high 
dueto the simultaneous execution of five big projects. 

• In Other Activities, the increased contribution of Bestinver (+18.9%) should be 
highlighted, with an EBlTDA approaching historical highs. 

• In terms of investment force, the gross capital expenditure in FY2017 reached €920 
million which compares to the €916 million invested in FY2016. The Group's core 
businesses attracted the majority of the capex, with €468 million in Energy and €359 
million across the lnfrastructure division, which included one-off investments. Net 
fnvestment Cash-tlow amounted to €609 mi Ilion. 

• Net Debt reached €5,224 mili ion, 1.8% higher than in FY2016, highlighting the 
improvement ofworking capital and the closing ofthe sale ofRuta 160 in Q4 2017. 

• On the other hand, ordinary financia! expenses have decreased by 23.0%, consolidating 
the Group's new funding modelas well as marginally improving financia! expenses. Cost 
of debt decreased to 3.77% in FY2017 vs. 4.74% in FY2016. 

• FY2017 has been ayear of intense M&A activity, notably divestment deals as the sell 
agreement of Trasmediterránea (expecting close for Hl 2018), the contribution of Real 
Estate assets to Testa Residencial and the sale of Ruta 160 concession that was liquidated 
in Q4 2017. 

""l"'l\r'\!ll'Tf\tl' \' r----1r-1- 'I lj 1'·' "E I'¡ ~1-
1¡'\AUV'..,11 vhri·.!\ t. 1 \~:"\L L. Ju,\, 1i .•• it\ J 1 \\.J1...L .. 

Nº. 10009 
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Income Statement Data 

(Million Euros) Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 16 Chg. % 

Revenues 

EBITDA 

EBIT 

Ordinary EBT 

EBT 

Net attributable profit 

Balance Sheet Data and Capital Expenditure 

(MiBism E-) Jl-Dtt-17 

Eqaity 3,963 

Nctdrbt 5,224 

(Mil/ion Euros) Jan-Dec 17 

Gross Capex 920 

Net Capex 719 

Net lnvestment Cashílow 609 

Operating Data 

Construction backlog (Million euros) 

Water backlog (Millioo euro)) 

Total wind installed capacity (MW) 

Total iostalled capacity (MW) 

Total production (GWh) (Jan-Dec) 

Average workforce 

- Pagel94 -

7,254 

1,275 

720 

382 

356 

220 

Jl-Dtt-16 

4,097 

5,Bl 

Jan-Dec 16 

916 

852 

719 

31-Dec-17 

6,768 

11,165 

7,382 

9,022 

20,431 

37,403 

5,977 21.4% 

1,192 7.0% 

988 -27.1% 

312 22.3% 

408 - 12.6% 

352 -37.5% 

Chg. % 

-3.3% 

L8% 

Chg.% 

0.4% 

-15.7% 

-15.3% 

31-Dec-16 Cbg. % 

8,140 -16.9% 

10,469 6.6% 

7,260 1.7% 

8,913 1.2% 

20,830 -1.9% 

32,835 13.9% 



TRANSLA TION 

Consolidated Income Statement 

(Millio11 Euros) Jan-Dcc 17 Jan-Dcc 16 Chg. (€m) Chg. % 

Rcvenues 7,254 5,977 1,277 21.4% 

Other revenues 613 555 59 10.6% 

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 29 8 21 247.4% 

Total Production Valuc 7,896 6,541 1,356 20.7% 

Cost of goods sold (1 ,976) (1 ,595) (381) 23.9% 

Personnel expenses ( 1,497) ( 1,288) (209) 16.3% 

Other expenses (3,149) (2,466) (682) 27.7% 

EBITDA 1,275 1,192 82 7.0% 

Depreciation and amortisation (633) (547) (86) 15.7% 

Provisions (30) (23 1) 201 87.1% 

lmpairment of assets value (7) ( 107) 101 93 .7% 

Profit/(loss) from plant, property and equipment 111 640 (528) -82.6% 

Other gains and losses 4 43 (39) -91.2% 

EBIT 720 988 (268) -27.1% 

Net financia! result (322) (671) 349 -52. 1% 

Translatioo diffecenoes (net) (IO) 28 (38) - 135.7% 

Var. provisions financia} ñm:stments (2) (1) ( 1) -129.8% 

Share in results of associates accounted for by the eqoity method (70) 70 (139) - 199.9"/o 

Variatioo in mr Vl!lue of fim.ocm i.nstromems 39 (6) 45 n.a 

EBT 356 488 (:51) -12.6% 

Tax on profit (I05) (34) (72) 21!.8% 

Profit/(loss) from Cootiooing Activittts 2:51 374 (123) -32.9% 

Non-controlling inlerests (JI) (22) (9) -20.9"/o 

Attribota.blc Nct Profit 220 3:52 (132) -37.5% 

CU-\FU\ LO!S LOZ/"'NO 
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TRANSLA TlON 

In order to facilitate the analysis of financia! results for the period, a simplified Income 
Statement separating ordinary from exceptional impacts is provided below. 

Jan-Oec 17 Jan-Oec 16 Chg. 
(Millio11 Euros) Excep. Excep. Ordinary 

Ordinary 
Jmpact 

Total Ordinary 
Jmpact 

Total º/o 

Revenues 7,254 7,254 5,977 5,977 21.4% 

Cost of goods sold, expenses and other 
(5 ,979) - (5,979) (4,786) - {4,786) 24.9% 

income 

E BJTDA 1,275 1,275 1,192 - (1,192) 7.0% 

Depreciation and amortisation (633) (633 ) (547) (547) 15.7% 

Provisions, impairments and other (37) 115 78 (43) 387 344 -14.5% 

EBIT 605 115 720 601 387 988 0.6% 

Net financ ia! result (322) o (322) (373) (298) (671 ) -13.7% 

Share in results of associates accounted for 
75 (145) (70) 70 o 70 8.5% 

by the equity method 

Other financia! results 23 4 27 13 7 20 66.5% 

EBT 382 -26 356 312 95 408 22.5% 

Tax on profit (108) 3 (105) -117 83 (34) -7.4% 

Profit/(loss) from Continuing Activities 274 (23) 251 195 179 374 40.4% 

Non-controlling interests (41) 10 (31) (49) 27 (22) -17.2% 

Attributable Net Profit 233 (13) 220 146 206 352 59.8% 

Reveno es 

(MiJlit;a Ea.ros) Jml-Drc 17 J.-..Dtt 16 Og;. (f"m) Og. % 

Energy 1,737 1,796 (59) -3.3% 

iuftastmcmre 4 .940 3.611 l .,329 36.8% 

Othcr Activities 690 668 22 3.2% 

Consolidation Adjustment (113) (98) (15) -15.7% 

TOTAL Rrn1111rs 7,254 5,977 l,277 21.4% 

Consolidated revenues increased by 21.4% to €7,254 million, mainly dueto the combined 
effect of: 

• The decline in Energy revenues (-3.3%) mainly dueto the AWP deconsolidation 
(wind turbine business) from lst April 2016, and despite of the higher revenues 
from generation (+4.6%) 

• Increase in revenues in ali Infrastructure business lines ( + 36.8%) 
• Revenues from Other Activities slightly increased by 3.2% 
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EBITDA 

(Millio11 E11ros) Jan-Dcc 17 
º/o 

Jan-Dcc 16 % C hg. (€m) Chg. % EBITDA EBITDA 

Energy 726 57% 740 62% ( 14 ) -1.9% 

lnfrastructure 426 33% 321 27% 106 33.0% 

Other Activities 124 10% 131 11 % (7) -5.2% 

Consolidation Adjustment ( 1) 1% o 0% ( 1) n.a. 

TOTAL EBITDA 1,275 100% 1,192 100.0% 84 7.0% 

Margin (%) 17.6% 19.9% -2,4pp 

Note: EBITDA contributions calculated be/ore consolida/ion adjustments. 

EBITDA increased by 7.0% to €1,275 million. This amount is reached dueto the higher 
contribution of Infrastructure ( + 33.0% ), which largely offset the slight decrease in Energy 
division (-1 .9%) and the lower contribution from Other Activities (-5.2%). 

EBIT 

EBIT amounted to €720 million, 27. l % ]ower than in FY2016. This was mainly dueto 
the accounting of exceptional impacts last year for a total amount of €375million (mainly 
related to capital gains derived from the A WP-Nordex deal). 

Earnings Before Tax (EBT) 

(Millio11 Euros) Jan-Dec 16 Jan-Dcc 17 Chg. (€m) Chg. % 

Energy 134 107 (27) 25. 1% 

lnfrastructure 120 122 (2) -1.9% 

Other Activities 127 85 42 48.9% 

Consolidation Adjustment -3 4 n.a. 

Onlinary EBT 382 312 70 22.3% 

Extraordinaries (26) 95 (121) -126.7% 

TOTAL EBT 356 408 (51) -12.6% 

Margi11 (%) 4.9% 6.8% -1.9 pp 

Ordinary EBT increased by 22.3% to €382 million boosted not only by the increase in 
EBITDA, but also by the lower financial expenses. 

Including the exceptional results derived from the contribution of Real Estate assets to 
Testa Residential, Ruta 160's capital gain and the impairment of the Group' s stake in 
Nordex total EBT reached €356 million, -12.6% vs. FY2016. 
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Attributable Net Profit 

Attributable net profit amounted to €220 million, 37.5% lower than in FY2016 mainly 
due to higher taxes, since in 2016 a large part of the exceptional impacts generated tax 
credits. However, ordinary attributable net profit reached €233 million, which means an 
annual growth of 59.5%. 

Consolidated Balance Sheet 

(Mil/ion Euros) 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-16 Chg. (€m) Chg.% 

Property, Plan! & Equipmenl and Intangible assels 8,393 9,974 (1 ,581) -15.9% 

Financia! assets 1,523 1,340 183 13.7% 

Goodwill 186 79 106 134.2% 

Other non-current assets 1,083 1,291 (208) -16.1% 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 11,184 12,684 (1,500) -11.8% 

1 nventories 821 783 38 4.9% 

Accounts receivable 1,892 1,724 168 9.8% 

Other current assets 298 250 48 19.1% 

Other current financia! assets 247 211 36 16.9% 

Cash and Cash equivalcnts 1,273 1,428 (156) -10.9% 

Assets held for sale 1,432 327 1,105 333.7% 

CURRENT ASSETS 5,963 4,723 1,239 26.2% 

TOTAL ASSETS 17,147 17,408 (260) -1.5% 

Capital 57 57 0% 

Reserves 3,486 3,437 49 1.4% 

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent 
220 352 (132) -37.5% 

Company 

Treasury stock (3) (14) 11 78.2% 

EQUITY A TTRIBUT ABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 
3,760 3,831 (71) -1.9% 

OF THE PARENT COMPANY 

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 203 266 (63) -30.9% 

EQUITY 3,963 4,097 (134) -3.4% 

J nlerest-bearing borrowings 5,272 5,602 (330) -5.9% 

Olher non-current liabilities 2,805 3,237 (432) -15.4% 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 8,077 8,839 (762) -9.4% 

lnterest-bearing borrowings 1,472 1,169 304 26.0% 

Trade payables 2,199 2,297 (98) -4.3% 

Other current liabilities 962 819 143 17.4% 

Liabil ities associaled to assets held for sale 474 186 287 154.4% 

CURRENT LIABJLlTlES 5,107 4,471 636 14.2% 

TOTAL EQUITY ANO LIABILITIES 17,147 17,408 (260) -1.5% 
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(Million Euros) Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 16 Chg. Chg. (%) 

EBITDA 1,275 1,192 83 7.0% 

Financia! Results (254) (330) 76 23 .0 

Working Capital (343) 162 (505) n.a. 

Other operating cashflow (251) (244) (7) -2.9% 

Operating cashflow 427 780 (353) -45.3% 

Gross ordinary Capex (920) (916) (4) -0.4% 

Divestments 201 64 137 11.3. 

Other investment cashflows 110 133 (23) -17.3% 

Net lnvcstment Cashflow (609) (719) 110 15.3% 

T reasury stock (6) (6) n.a. 

Derivatives 25 ( 12) 37 n.a. 

Forex 105 (81) 186 n.a. 

Dividends (165) (143) (22) -15.4% 

Changes in scope & other inc. convertible bond 130 203 (73) -36.0% 

Financing/other cashflow 89 (33) 122 369.7% 

Change in nct debt decrease/(increase) (93) 28 ( 121) 432.1% 

Attributable Eguity 

ACCIONA's attributable equity as of 3 lst December 2017 reached €3,760 million, 1,9% 
lower than the previous year. 

Net Financial Debt 

31-Dtt-17 31-Dtt-16 
Chg-(€111) Cbg_% 

Amoa•t Total Amoaat % Tour 

Non-recourse financia.! dcbl 1,889 28% 2,254 33% (365) -162% 

Rccourse financia! dcbt 4,855 72% 4,517 67% 338 7.5% 

Financia! debt (*) 6,744 100% 6,771 100% (27) -0.4% 

Cash + cash equivalents (1,520) (l,640) (120) -7.3% 

Net financia! debt: 5,224 5,131 93 1.8% 

* Financia! debt includes debentures and bonds. 

Net financial debt as of 31 st December 2017 totalled €5,224 million, 1.8% abo ve 
December 2016 leve Is. This variation in debt was mainly due to the combination of the 
following factors: 

• The Operating Cash-flow amounted to €427 
by: 

illion. This figure has been ~ffect~p, 0 \ CU\RA LO:.J LOZf-11\j 
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- The improvement in EBITDA by €83 million 
- The investment in working capital vs. the cash received in FY2016 (-€343 

million vs. +€162 million in 2016) had a negative impact. The main cause of 
this variation is the collection of prepayments from construction projects in 
2016 that have been partially consumed in 2017. 

- The positive effect of the reduction in financia! outflows that fell to -€254 
million (€76m lower than in FY2016) 

• The Net Investment Cash-flow of -€609 million included a few one-off 
investments in Infrastructure and Energy divisions. 

• The positive effect ofthe exchange rates (-€81 million in 2016 vs. +€105 million 
2017). 

Financia} gearing has evolved as follows: 

(Million Euros) 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-16 

Gearing (Net Debt/Equity) (% ) 132% 125% 

Capital Expenditure 

(llil'ñtm Eel'1)5) .Ja11-Dtt 17 .J:am-Dtt 16 Cbg.(fm) Cbg. (%) 

Energy 4ó8 489 (21) -4.3% 

lnfia!.1mctme 359 358 0.3% 

Construction and Industrial 278 205 74 36.~/o 

Concessions 25 19 6 3L8% 

Water 38 !07 (69) -642% 

Servíces 18 28 (IO) -34-3% 

Other Activities 93 69 24 34.3% 

GrmsCapn 929 916 4 9.4% 

Divestments (21H) (64) (137) -215.2% 

NctC:apcx 719 852 (134) -15.7% 

Gross capital expenditure across ACCIONA's divisions in FY2017 amounted to €920 
million. 

Energy and Infrastructure divisions comprise the greatest investment effort. The Energy 
division invested €468 million related to, among others, the last payments for projects 
already in operation, the construction of new wind power capacity in Mexico, Australia 
and Chile and the acquisition of an additional 50% of a wind farm in Canada. 
Infrastructure division investments worth €359 million, including the acquisition of 
Geotech (€139 million). 

In terms of divestments, it includes the sell of a real estate asset and Ruta 160 concession 
( debt was already classified as liability held for sale). 
As a result, Net Capex has reached €719 million. In terms of cash outflows, Net 
Investment Cash-flow amounted to €609 million. 
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Results by Division 

Energy 

(Millio11 Euros) Jan-Dec 16 Jan-Dec 16 Chg. (€m) Chg.% 

Generation 1,324 1,266 58 4.6% 

Spain 823 765 58 7.6% 

lntemational 50 1 501 0% 

Non-generation 758 880 ( 122) -13.9% 

Consol idation adjustments and other (345) -350 6 1.6% 

Revenue 1,737 1,796 (59) -3.3% 

Generation 802 782 20 2.5% 

Spain 452 412 40 9.7% 

lntemational 350 370 (20) -5.5% 

Non-generation (32) 27 (59) -219.1% 

Consolidation adj ustments and other (44) -70 25 36.5% 

EBITDA 726 740 (14) -1.9% 

Marg in (%) 41.8% 41.2% 

EBT 134 I07 27 25.1 % 

Margin ("/o) 7.7% 6.0% 

ACCIONA Energy's revenues fell by 3.3% compared to FY2016 to €1,737 million. 
EBITDA slightly decreased to €726 million (-1.9%). 

Generation EBITDA improved by a 2.5% to €802 million. 

The Generation business in Spain grew thanks to higher wholesale prices (€52.24/MWh 
vs €39.67/MWh in FY2016) and higher regulated revenues after the periodic review at 
the beginning of the year, however, these factors have been mitigated by the regulatory 
band mechanism (-€25 million), forward sales and lower production. 

The Intemational Generation business also suffered from lower generation volumes -
partly dueto events offorce majeure (Mexico and USA), although such effect was partly 
offset by the new capacity in operation. 

EBITDA contribution coming from Non-Generation activities decreased mainly dueto 
the reduction in the turnkey project business and A WP deconsolidation. 

EBT amounted to €134 million, 25.1 % higher than FY2016. 

Over the last 12 months, consolidated installed capacity increased by 148MW dueto the 
increase of the international installed capacity and the reduction of 37MW of wind in 
Spain (repowering of a wind farm), and 12MW hydro in Spain (end ofthis concession). 
Internationally, 84MW of wind have been added in Mexico, 75MW ofwind in India and 
38MW ofwind in Canada. 

At operational level, consolidated production amounted to 16,929GWh, 2.4% lower than 
in FY2016, dueto lower hydro and wind power production in Spain and despite the new 
intemational capacity in operation. 

CLARA LOl.3 LOZ!-\\\JO 
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Breakdown of Installed Capacity and Production by Technology 

Total Consolidatcd Nd 

31-Dtt-17 
lestalltd Produccd lnstallcd Prodaud lnstallrd Produced 

¡\f\\' G\'\''h MW GWb l\IW GWh 

Spaio 5,981 12,529 4,623 9,749 5,229 11,054 

Wind 4,710 9,850 3,433 1,(Xf) 4,042 8,392 

Hydro 876 I,804 876 I,804 876 1,804 

Solar Therrnoelectric 250 457 250 457 250 457 

Solar PV 3 4 3 4 3 3 

Biomass 61 414 61 414 59 397 

lekmatiomal 3,122 7,5191 2,874 7.188 2,655 4,923 

Wind 2,671 7,208 2,469 6~'i84 1.711 4,456 

USA 721 2,115 646 l,~ 467 1,365 

Mexico 641 1,835 641 l,835 445 l,191 

Australia 303 889 239 727 180 539 

ita!)' 156 252 156 252 104 168 

Sooth Africa 138 370 138 370 51 135 

India 164 304 164 304 135 232 

Portugal 120 290 120 290 75 178 

C.amda lSl 467 141 304 94 203 

Poland !01 2IO 101 210 67 140 

Costa Rica 50 225 50 115 32 146 

Chile 45 120 45 120 30 80 

Croatía 30 78 30 78 20 52 

Hungary 24 53 I2 26 

SolarPV 386 572 341 476 301 387 

Chile 246 270 246 270 246 270 

Sooth Africa 94 207 94 207 35 76 

Portugal 46 96 20 42 

Solar Thennoefoctric {USA) 64 121 64 f21 43 80 

Totll.IWind 7,382 17,058 5,902 JJ,653 5,753 12,848 

Totll.I othcr tttl:nro&ogits 1,6-48 J,373 1.,595 3,277 1,531 3,130 

Total Earrgy 9,122 20,431 7,497 16.929 7,284 15,977 
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Infrastructure 

(Millio11 Euros) Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 16 Chg. (€m) Chg.% 

Construct ion 3,131 1,983 1, 148 57.9% 

Industrial 274 174 100 57.4% 

Concessions 140 110 30 27.7% 

Water 682 708 (26) -3.7% 

Serv ices 753 677 76 11.2% 

Consol idat ion adjustrnents (39) -41 2 4.9% 

Revenues 4,940 3,611 1,329 36.8% 

Construction 197 116 81 70.4% 

Industrial 10 6 4 60.4% 

Concessions 56 52 4 6.7% 

Water 130 119 11 9.2% 

Services 34 28 6 22.6% 

EBITDA 426 321 106 33% 

Margin (%) 8.6% 8.9% 

EBT 120 122 (2) -1.9% 

Margin (%) 2.4% 3.4% 

Revenues increased in both businesses amounting to €3, 131 million m Construction 
(+57.9%) and €274 million in Industrial (+57.4%). 

EBITDA stood at €207 million backed by the growth of works in progress, as well as the 
growth of capital-intensive construction projects, with greater EBITDA margins. It 
should be noted that such high level of income and EBITDA is exceptional due to the 
simultaneous development of important projects that are investment intensive. 

Construction & Industrial Backlog 

(Million Euros) 31 -Dcc-17 31 -Dec-1 6 Chg. % 
Weight 

(%) 

Construction 6,287 7,527 -16.5% 33% 

Industrial 481 613 -21.5% 3% 

Water 11 ,165 10,469 6.6% 59% 

Services 898 783 14.7% 5% 

TOTAL 18,831 19,392 -2.9% !00% 

A. Construction and Industrial 
1 

1 Nº. 10009 
' 
' --·-C~) Chg.% (Millio11 Euros) Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 16 

- Page203 -



TRANSLA TION 

Construction 3,131 1,983 1,148 57.9% 

Industrial 274 174 100 57.4% 

Revenues 3,404 2,157 1,247 57.8% 

Construction 197 116 81 70.4% 

Margin (%) 6.3% 5.8% 

Industrial 10 6 4 60.4% 

Margin (%) 3.5% 3.5% 

EBITDA 207 122 85 69.9% 

Margin (%) 6.1% 5.6% 

EBT 57 56 1.9% 

Margin (%) 1.7% 2.6% 

Revenues increased in both businesses amounting to €3, 131 million in Construction (+57.9%) 
and €274 mili ion in Industrial (+57.4%). 

EBJTDA stood at €207 mi Ilion backed by the growth of works in progress, as well as the growth 
of capital-intensive construction projects, with greater EBITDA margins. It should be noted that 
such high leve) of income and EBJTDA is exceptional due to the simultaneous development of 
important projects that are investment intensive. 

Construction & Industrial Backlog 

As of 3lst December 2017, backlog amounted to €6,768 million, 16.9% lower than in 
FY2016. 

lt is to be highlighted the award of the contract for the construction of the Ciudad de 
Mexico Intemational Airport's terminal, as well as the new construction projects of Cebu 
Bridge in Philippines, Panamericana road in Panamá and Marga Marga Hospital in Chile. 

Furthermore, ACCIONA-Geotech was awarded during 2017 with a contract regarding 
the modemization of the Ballarat Rail Line in Australia, which also contributed to the 
construction backlog. 

(Million Euros) 31-Dec-17 31-Dec-16 Chg.% 
Weight 

(%) 

Total Spain 1,247 1,417 -12.0% 18% 

Total lnternational 5,521 6,723 -17.9% 82% 

Latin America 2,151 2,710 -20.6% 32% 

EMEA (Spain not incl.) 1,738 2,407 -27.8% 26% 

Australia and South-Ea5t Asia 1,026 1,146 -10.5% 15% 

North America 606 459 32.1% 9% 

TOTAL 6,768 8,140 -16.9% 100% 
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B. Concessions 

(Million Euros) Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 16 Chg. (€m) C hg.% 

Revenues 140 110 30 27.7% 

EBITDA 56 52 4 6.7% 

Margin (%) 39.6% 47.4% 

EBT 10 13 (3) -20.3% 

Margin ("/o) 7.3% 11.7% 

Concessions increased its revenues by 27.7% to €140 million and EBITDA to €56 
million. 

As ofDecember 3lst 2017, Book Value of concessions amounted to€1,211 million (€368 
million in "equity" and €844 1 million in net debt) and has a total amount of 20 
concess10ns. 

Appendix V shows the detail of the concessions portfolio as of 31 st Decernber 2017. 

1This figure includes the proportional part ofthe net debt from those concessions accounted by the equity 
method (€568m) 

c. Water 

(Million Euros) Jan-Dec 16 Jan-Dec 17 Chg. (€m) Chg.% 

Revenucs 682 708 (26) -3.7% 

EBITDA 130 119 11 9.2% 

Margin (%) 19.1% 16.8% 

EBT 38 38 1.1% 

Margin (%) 5.6% 5.4% 

The Water division revenues fell by 3.7%, but EBITDA increased by 9.2% to €130 
million, primarily due to the increase of O&M activity which has higher margins. 

CL/\R/\ LO:S LOZ~\NO 
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Water Backlog 

Water Backlog as of December 2017 stood at €11,165 million, increasing by 6.6% 
compared to FY2016. Among the new-awarded concessions, it is worth to mention the 
construction of water treatment facilities in Canada and Panama, as well as the water 
management service of Boca de Rio in Mexico. 

(Million euros) 31 -Dec-17 31-Dec-16 Chg. (%) Weight 
(%) 

D&C 537 555 -3.3% 5% 

O&M 2,769 2, 117 30.8% 25% 

ATLL 7,858 7,796 0.8% 70% 

TOTAL 11,165 10,469 6.6% 100% 

(Million euros) 31-Dec-17 31 -Dec-16 Chg. (%) Weight 
(%) 

Spain 9,194 9,141 0.6% 82% 

Tnternational 1,970 1,328 48.4% 18% 

TOTAL ll,165 10,469 6.6% 100% 

Appendix V shows the detail of the portfolio of water concessions regulated by 
CINIIF 12 as of 31 st December 201 7. 

D. Services 

(Million Euros) Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 16 Chg. (€m) Chg.% 

Rcvenucs 753 677 76 11.2% 

EBITDA 34 28 6 22.6% 

Margin (%) 4.6% 4.1% 

EBT 14 15 (1) -8.5% 

Margin (%) 1.8% 2.2% 

The division reported an increase in revenues of 11 .2% to €753 million andan EBITDA 
increase of 22.6% to €34 million, mainly dueto higher volumes in the airport business. 
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Other Activities 

(Milli011 Euros) Jan-Dcc 17 Jan-Dcc 16 Chg. (€m) Chg. % 

Trasmediterránea 426 431 (5) -1 .2% 

Real estate 113 105 8 7.7% 

Bestinver 106 85 21 24.9% 

Corp. & other 45 48 (2) -5.0% 

Revcnucs 690 668 22 3.2% 

Trasmed i terránea 45 61 -16 -26.0% 

Margin (%) 10.5% 14.1% 

Real estate 12 14 (2) -13.3% 

Margin (%) 10.8% 13.4% 

Bestinver 70 59 11 18.9% 

Margin (%) 66.1% 69.4% 

Corp. & other -3 -3 -9.6% 

EBITDA 124 131 (7) -5.2% 

EBT 127 85 42 48.9% 

Margin ("/o) 18.4% 12.8% 

During FY2017, Other Activities division, which includes Trasmediterránea, Real Estate, 
Bestinver and others, reported revenues of €690 million, up to 3.2% vs. FY2016. 

EBITDA decreased to €124 million (-5.2%), mainly dueto Trasmediterránea's results 
and despite the increase in contribution of Bestinver. 

Trasmediterránea: 

lt presents a relatively flat revenues level (-1.2%) with an increase in passengers, vehicles 
and lane meters. EBITDA fell to €45 million, due to the increase in fue! costs related to 
increase in oil prices. 

Jan-Dec 17 Jan-Dec 16 Chg. (%) 

Passengers served 

Cargo handled (Jane metres) 

Vehicles 

Real Estate: 

2,547,566 

6,057,793 

612,046 

2,508,535 

5,780,966 

575,991 

1.6% 

4.8% 

6.3% 

Turnover increased by 7.7% dueto the asset rotation strategy (land). 

EBITDA, however, fell by 13.3%, mainly dueto desconsolidation of the owesEJm 
patrimonial assets and relaunching of development activity. 

CLA~i.i\ !_o:s LOZ.-,:~o 
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Bestinver: 

Bestinver' s AUMs reached €6,058 million as of 31st December 2017, and improved 
EBITDA, up to €70 million (+18.9%) mainly dueto higher average managed funds vs. 
FY2016. 
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MATERIAL INFORMATION, DIVIDEND AND SHARE DATA 

Significant communications to the stock market 

• 16 January 2017: ACCIONA reports the buyback of its remaining convertible 
bonds up to a maximum of €108.4m 

The Company announced its intention to repurchase up to €108.4m in aggregate principal 
amount of its Bonds, representing the outstanding balance of the Bonds not already held 
by the Company in treasury stock. 

The Repurchase period was expected to close as soon as practicable on 19 January 2017 
after market close, subject to the right of the Company to close or extend, at its sole 
discretion, the Repurchase at any time. 

• 19 January 2017: ACCIONA informs about the terms & conditions of the buyback 
of its remaining convertible bonds 

• 

• 

The definitive terms & conditions of the Repurchase were the following: 

The aggregate principal amount ofthe Bonds to be repurchased would be €91,600,000. 

The repurchase price per Existing Bond will be 134.80% of its principal amount, which 
represents an aggregate consideration of approximately €123.48m for the Repurchase as 
a whole. 

The Company has accepted ali offers for repurchase of the Existing Bonds. 

Given that, following completion of the Repurchase, less than 15% in aggregate principal 
amount of the Bonds originally issued will be outstanding, the Company will be able to 
exercise its early redemption cal! in relation to ali remaining Bonds at its principal amount 
plus accrued and unpaid interests, subject to the decision of the Board of Directors. 

8 March 2017: ACCIONA Construction Australia-Geotech Group Transaction 

ACCIONA Construcción S.A has indirectly acquired through ACCIONA Geotech 
Holding Pty Ltd the 82.4% of Geotech Holdings Pty Ltd, parent company of the 
Australian construction group Geotech for a cash consideration of AUDI 97m (subject to 
potential working capital, net debt and capex adjustments) and the assignment to 
ACCIONA Australia of three projects currently under tender. The transaction values 
Geotech at AUD262m (Enterprise Value) and the undertaking that ACCIONA Australia 
will be the bidding vehicle for future civil construction projects in Australia and New 
Zealand. 

6 April 2017: Official announcement and submission of proposal of the Annual 
General Meeting 

On 6 April 2017, the company informed the CNMV (Spanish Stock Market Regulator) 
of the Annual General Meeting announcement for 17 May 2017 for its first cal 1, or the 18 
May 2017 for its second one, and submitted the proposed agreements. 

CLJ\R/\ LOIS LOV,NO 
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• 28 April 2017: Liquidity contracts and specialists 

On 28 April 2017, the Company informed about the temporary suspension of the 
Liquidity Contract subscribed with Bestinver Sociedad de Valores to manage its treasury 
stock in order to allow the purchase of 300,000 shares of ACCIONAS.A by ACCIONA 
S.A. that represent 0.523% ofthe share capital that is intended to cover 4.5% outstanding 
from the Senior Convertible Bonds, after direct repurchases and the ones made on the 
17th, 18th and 19th of January 2017. 

• 28 April 2017: Liquidity contracts and specialists 

On 28 April 2017, ACCIONA acquired, through a mass operation, a total share issue of 
221,357 treasury stocks that representa 0.386% of the social capital whose un it price is 
€74.70. After this transaction, the Company informed about the resumption of the 
operations under the liquidity contract subscribed on 3 July 2015 with Bestinver Sociedad 
de Valores S.A . in order to manage its treasury stock. 

• 18 May 2017: Annual General Meeting -Approval of Agreements 

On 18 May 2017 the Annual General Meeting adopted, among others, the following 
agreements : 

To approve the individualised annual accounts of ACCIONA S.A. for 2016, as well as 
the consolidated annual accounts of the corporate for the same period. 
To appoint KPMG Auditores S.L. as the accounts auditor of ACCIONA S.A. and its 
corporate group for a period of three years . 
To re-elect Mr. Jerónimo Gerard Rivero as lndependent Director and appoint Ms. Karen 
Christiana Figueres Olsen as lndependent Director. 
To authorise the acquisition of shares in the Company by the Company itself and by 
companies in its group, respecting the legal limits and requirements and in accordance 
with the conditions set out, leaving without any effect, in the amount not utilised, the 
authorisation approved for the purpose by the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 
in 24 May 2012. 
To approve the Directors Remuneration Policy for the years 2018, 2019 and 2020 and the 
empowerment ofthe Board of Directors to interpret, develop, formalise and execute this 
agreement. 
To increase the maximum number of available shares for the Shares Delivery and 
Performance Shares Plan for 2014-2019 in 100,000 shares, without prejudice to 
subsequent increases, if proposed by the Board of Directors and approved by the General 
Meeting. 
To Approve, for information purposes, the Annual Directors' Remuneration Report for 
the year 2016. 
To approve the Sustainability Report 2016. 

• 10 July 2017: The Company announces the completion of the liquidity contract 
signed on 2 July 2015 

ACCJONA informs that the liquidity contract subscribed with Bestinver Sociedad de 
Valores, SA has been cancelled due to the entry into force on 11 July 2017, of Circular 
1/2017of10 May, by the CNMV on liquidity contracts. 

• 10 July 2017: ACCIONA announces the subscription of a new liquidity contract in 
accordance with Circular 1/2017 ofthe CNMV 

ACCIONA informs that it has entered into a liquidity agreement with Bestinver Sociedad 
de Valores, S.A. for the management of its treasury stock. 
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The Contract will have a duration of twelve months, which may be extended tacitly for 
an equal period. 

• 27 July 2017: ACCIONA reports the agreement reached with Testa Residencial for 
the contribution of real estate assets 

ACCIONA via its subsidiary ACClONA Real Estate, S.A.U. has signed an agreement to 
contribute its residential renta! business to Testa Residencial SOCIMI, S.A . for €336m . 
As consideration, ARE will receive newly issued shares in Testa representing 21 % ofthe 
total share capital. 

• 1 August 2017: ACCIONA reports the early redemption call of the outstanding 
Convertible bonds 

ACCIONA informs that there are in circulation less than the 15% of the Bond's aggregate 
principal amount originally issued. 
The Company has decided to exercise its early redemption call on ali current remaining 
Bonds at its principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest up to (but excluding) the 
redemption date pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Bonds, and redeem and cancel 
the issuance entirely. 

• 11 August 2017: ACCIONA announces the agreement for the sale of the Chilean 
highway concession, Ruta 160 

The Company, via its subsidiaries ACCIONA Concesiones Chile Limitada and 
ACCIONA Construcción, S.A., has entered into an agreement with Globalvia forthe sale 
of 100% of the Ruta 160 shares. The consideration transaction amounts to €335m, 
including the assumption of€117m ofproject debt and €33m corresponding to the market 
value of the financia! derivatives associated to the debt. 

• 25 October 2017: ACCIONA announces the disposal of its stake in 
Trasmediterránea 

ACCIONA has reached an agreement with Naviera Armas Group for the sale of its 
holdings in Trasmediterránea (92. 71 % ). The agreement implies an enterprise value for 
100% of the company in a range of €4 l 9m to €436m, depending on the leve! of 
achievement of an earn out agreed with the Purchaser. The sale price for the shares owned 
by the Company amounts to €260.4m, of which €30.4m have been unconditionally 
deferred. In addition, the Purchaser will assume the repayment of a debt between 
Trasmediterránea and other companies belonging to the ACCJONA Group for an amount 
of €127 .3m. The transaction is subject to the fulfilment of a condition precedent. 

• 14 December 2017: ACCIONA reports on the modification of the Plan 2014 for 
Delivery of Shares and Performance Shares 

The Board of Directors of ACCIONA has approved the amendment of the regulation of 
the Plan 2017 for Delivery of Shares and Performance Shares to the management of 
ACCIONA and its group. 

Amendments to the regulation ofthe Plan consist of: 

a) Regarding Executive Directors: 

o Deferral, of at least one year, in the delivery of20% oftlle sbares...t:hey-ar.e.ntit.l-@0---­
to receive, also subject to the condition that their deLivery d~sAnqt di<mlose -&. \!Q 

l \....L K1 ~ cu1:-j L \JL/-11' 

! 
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• 

• 

• 

material restatement of the ACCIONA Group's consolidated financia( 
statements. 

o Possibility of claiming, under certain circumstances and during the 3 years 
following the date on which the delivery ofthe shares has been made, the refund 
of the equivalent amount ("claw-back"). 

o Delivery date: The date specifically determined by the Board of Directors after 
the Ordinary General Shareholders' Meeting. 

o The tax regime applicable to the Executive Directors is in line with that 
established for the other beneficiaries of the Plan's regulations. 

o Remuneration may be replaced at the proposal of Appointments and 
Remuneration Committee, in the delivery of shares or different Alternative 
Instruments provided for in the Plan's regulations. 

b) Regarding Beneficiaries otber than Executive Directors: 

o Extend the Plan duration by two additional years (that is, up to and including 
2021) under the terms and conditions provided for in the Plan's regulations. 

o It is foreseen the possibility of making an extraordinary allotment and delivery 
of ACCIONA shares in multi -annual periods (minimum of three years) to one or 
more Beneficiary Executives ( other than Executive Directors) for the 
achievement of extraordinary results. 

o Remuneration may be replaced at the proposal of Appointments and 
Remuneration Committee, in the delivery of shares or different Alternative 
Instruments provided for in the Plan' s regulations. 

18 December 2017: ACCIONA announces tbe temporary suspension of Liquidity 
Contract 

ACCIONA announces the temporary suspension of the Liquidity Contract signed on 1 O 
July 2017 with Bestinver Sociedad de Valores, S.A., for the management of its treasury 
stock to allow the purchase by ACCIONA, S.A., of up to 90,000 shares of ACCIONA, 
S.A., representing 0.157% of the social capital through two block transactions. Shares 
that will be used to implement the Plan of Delivery of Shares and Performance Shares. 

18 December 2017: ACCIONA informs of the resumption of operations under tbe 
Liquidity Contract subscribed after tbe block transactions. 

ACCIONA has acquired, through two block transactions, a total package of 90,000 
company's own shares, representing 0.157% ofthe social capital at the cost of €70.71 per 
share. In addition, once completed the reported operations, the Company informs of the 
resumption of the transaction under the Liquidity Contract signed on 1 O July 2017 with 
Bestinver Sociedad de Valores, S.A., for the management of its treasury stock. 

From 31 December 2017, ACCIONA has released the following material information: 

26 January 2018: Tbe Company communicates tbe internal reorganisation carried 
out by one of the reference shareholders and the subsistence oftbe Pacto Parsasocial 
de Estabilidad 

The family Group of Mr. José María Entrecanales de Azcarate, in order to rationalise the 
management of its participation, updating and simplifying its corporate governance, has 
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• 

implemented an interna! reorganisation resulting in La Verdosa SL directly owning 
5.31% of ACClO A. 

The terms ofthe aforementioned Pacto Parsasocial de Estabilidad, to which La Verdosa 
SL adheres, have not been modified, with each ofits signatories retaining ful! freedom to 
vote and, therefore, there is no agreement on ACCIONA's management. 

9 February 2018: ACCIONA reports on the news publisl1ed in the newspaper "El 
Economista" regarding certain energy assets. 

In relation to the news published in the newspaper "El Economista", ACCIONA informs 
that it is holding negotiations with Contour Global to carry out a corporate operation 
related to energy assets, but neither the perimeter, nor the valuations, nor the other terms 
and conditions mentioned in the article retlect the reality of it. 

22 February 2018: ACCIONA reports on the news published by the media 
regarding the Alta Ter-Llobregat (ATLL) water management contract. 

Regarding the news published by the media in relation to the Supreme Court ruling 
dismissing the Generalitat de Catalunya and Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona, 
S.A. contentious-administrative appeal against the ruling ofthe High Court of Justice of 
Catalonia dated 22 June 2015, confirming the annulment of the award of the alta Ter­
Llobregat water management contract already decreed by the High Court of Justice of 
Catalonia. ACCIONA reports that its appeal, based on different grounds than those 
portrayed on these appeals, has not yet been resolved. Therefore, no sentence has been 
notified regarding this matter. 

Once the Sentence is notified, ACCIONA will analyse the grounds for its decision and 
will determine the appropriate legal and/or judicial actions. 

In any case, it should be remembered that in accordance to Article 56 related to the public 
tender and decision ofthe Regional Departments ofEconomy & Knowledge and Territori 
i Sostenibilitat ofthe Generalitat de Catalunya dated 5 July 2013, ATLL Concesionaria 
de la Generalitat de Catalunya is obliged to continue providing service until the 
compensation set on the terms of reference and on the Consolidated Text of the Public 
Contract Law is paid and until the minutes in relation to the retum ofthe assets and rights 
linked to the pub!ic service is signed. 

Dividend 

On 28 February 2017 ACCIONA 's AGM proposed the payment of a dividend of €164.6m 
(€2.875 per share) against 2016 results. The dividend was paid on 3 July 2017. 
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Sbare data and sbare price performance 

ACCIONA Sbare Price Evolution (€/share) 

88 

85 

82 

79 

76 

73 

:~ ·L 
64 ·~~~~~-~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Jan-: 7 Feb-:7 Mar-17 . .:'.p:--17 ~-lay-17 Ln-:7 .lui-17 .:.\ g-:7 Stap-:7 Oct-:7 i\io\·-:7 ~ec- .:.7 

Key Share Data 

Share capital 

Price at 29 December 2017 (€/share) 

Price at 30 December 2016 (€/share) 

LowinFY 2017(10/11 /2017) 

High in FY 2017 (06/06/20 17) 

Average daily tracling (shares) 

Average dai ly trading (€) 

Number of sbares 

Market cap1talisatioo al 2 December 201 7 (€ millions) 

31-Dec-1 7 

68.04 

69.93 

64.85 

85.87 

172,797 

12,753,544 

57,259,550 

3,896 

At 31 December 2017 the share capital of ACCIONA amounted to €57,259,550 divided 
into 57,259,550 shares with a face value of€1 each. 

The group's treasury shares as of December 3lst 2017 amounted to 45,702 shares, which 
represent a 0.08% of the share capital. 
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The changes in treasury shares in financial year 2017 were as follows: 

2017 2016 

Numberof 
Cost sharcs 

Numbcr of 
Cost shares 

Opcning balance 233,898 14,403 320,460 20,238 

Additions 3,395,430 253, 160 4,992,255 338,284 

Retirements (3 ,392,916) (253,024) (4,987,221) (338,300) 

Liquidity contract 2,514 136 5,034 (16) 

Additions 03/05/2017 (*) 221 ,357 16,569 

Other additions 90,001 6,370 

Retirements (502,068) (34,332) (91 ,596) (5,819) 

Other movements (190,7!0) (11,393) (91,596) (5,819) 

Closing balance 45,702 3,146 233,898 14,403 

(*) Specific acquisition to meet the convertible bond conversion requirements 

Events after the reporting period 

On 21 February 2018, Acciona Group and the company ATLL Concessionaria de la 
Generalitat de Catalunya S.A. became aware of the judgement handed down by the 
Supreme Court on the cassation appeal filed by the Generalitat de Cata1unya against the 
High Court of Justice of Catalonia (HCJC) ruling which invalidated the procedure to 
award said concession (appeal 2725/2015). Thisjudgement dismisses the claims brought 
forward by the Generalitat and con:firms the HCJC ruling. 

The Acciona Group is currently waiting for notification of the cassation appeal 2682/2015 
filed by Gestió Catalana de Aigues, and appeal 2678/2015 filed by the Concessionaire 
and by Acciona Agua against the HCJC judgement which invalidated the procedure to 
award said concession. 

On 26 February 2018, an agreement has been reached for the sale of the thermal solar 
business in Spain to subsidiaries ofthe company Contour Global, consisting on five plants 
with a total capacity of 250 MW for an amount of 1,093 million euros (including debt). 
In addition, the parties have agreed to the payment of an eam out of up to 27 million 
euros. The effectiveness of the operation is conditional upon compliance with severa] 
conditions precedent (see Note 23 in the financial statements). 
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Main Risks associated with the ACCIONA Group's business activities 

The risk scenarios considered in the ACCIONA Risk Management System have been 
classified into four groups: financial, strategic, operational and unpredictable, with the 
first two groups identified by the Group's executives as those presenting a higher risk 
pro file. 

l. Financial and Economic Risks: 

Mainly fluctuations in exchange rates, interest rates and financial markets, changes in the 
prices ofraw materials, liquidity, cash flow, late payment or loss of clients. 

In order to mitigate the exchange rate risk, ACCIONA engages currency derivatives 
(mainly exchange-rate hedging instruments) to cover significant future transactions and 
cash flows in line with the tolerated risk thresholds. Note 19 to the annual accounts for 
201 7 includes detail of current and non-current assets and liabilities and of net equity at 
31 December 2017 in the main currencies in which the Group operates. 

Interest rate risk is particularly material with regard to the funding of infrastructure 
projects, in concession contracts, in the construction of wind farms or solar plants and 
other projects where the variation in interest rates may have a strong impact on their 
profitability. It is mitigated by hedging transactions through the engagement of 
derivatives. (Mainly Interest Rate Swaps, IRS). 

The risk of fluctuations in prices of raw materials, mainly when purchasing fuel, is 
fundamentally mitigated in the short term by specific hedging transactions generally 
through the engagement of derivatives. 

As regards credit and liquidity risks, the Group negotiates operations exclusively with 
solvent third parties and requires sufficient assurances to mitigate the risk of financial 
losses in the event of any default. 

Together with a suitable level of reserves, it also constantly monitors the forecasts and 
the current levels of cash flows to match these against the maturity profiles for financia! 
assets and liabilities. 

2. Strategic Risks: 

They are risks that have the consequences of reducing the growth of the company and 
failing to meet the objectives due to inability to respond to a dynamic and competitive 
environment. These risks include organisational changes, investments and divestments, 
threats from competitors, economic, political and legal changes, and the impact of new 
technologies or research and development. 

ACCIONA minimises this type of risk through its own strategy and business model by 
applying adequate sectoral and geographic diversification of its businesses; the 
performance of exhaustive market research, surveys of competitors and the countries in 
which its activities are carried out; as well as through the encouragement ofResearch and 
Development. 
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Risks derived from contrary conduct to ethics and integrity. The markets in which 
ACCIONA operates could be exposed to risks of an ethical nature that go against the 
principles of integrity and respect in existing legislation. ACCIONA has put in place a 
Code of Conduct which establishes the basic principies and cornrnitments that all 
directors and emp]oyees of the divisions as weJI as supp]iers and third parties in contact 
with these companies must fulfil and respect when carrying out their activities. There is 
a whistle blowing channel, communicated at all levels of the Organisation, to enable 
information to be passed on, with guarantees of confidentiality, regarding any irregular 
conduct relating to accounting, supervision and auditing as well as any other non­
compliance or breach of the behaviour promulgated in the Code. 

3. Operational Risks: 

They are risks concerning processes, people and products. They are related to regulatory, 
legal and contractual compliance, control systems and procedures, the supply chain, 
auxiliary services, information systems, employee productivity and the loss of key 
personnel. 

In each business area, specific systems are established to cover all the business 
requirements, to systematise and document processes, and to manage quality, operations, 
p1anning and financia} control. 

In order to mitigate the risks in the procurement process, controls have been established 
to favour free competition and transparency in the processes and to avoid violating 
ACCIONA's commitment to ethica1 behaviour in these processes. 

Every year ACCIONA draws up a map of the risks with its critical supp1iers, analysing 
the main risks in its supply chain from the perspectives of economics, the environment, 
the prevention of occupational hazards, the activity and the country of origin. 

4. Unforeseeable Risks: 

They are risks related to damage caused to company assets and civil liability risks that 
could negatively impact the company's performance, including criminal acts of a cyber 
nature. 

ACCIONA has a Corporate Management System for Environmenta] Crises. This system 
includes measures to be followed and the allocation of responsibilities and resources 
necessary for the adequate management of a crisis situation following any incident 
occurring at facilities owned or operated by the Company and leading to consequences 
for the environment. 

ACCIONA has consolidated its initiatives for management of risks to the environment, 
focusing its efforts on the identification and irnplementation of measures for the 
mitigation of the most re]evant risks. 

As regards the tax risks faced by the Group, these aTe basically procedures, 
communication with business areas that may lead to an inadequate technical ana]ysis, 
changes in tax regulations or administrative and jurisprudential criteria, as well as the 
reputational risk arising from tax decisions that may damage the Group's image and 
reputation. 
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Non-Financial Information Statement 

Through ACCIONA's sustainability strategy defined in its Sustainability Master Plan 
(SMP), the company responds to the main challenges of sustainable development, 
particularly regarding the mitigation of climate change, the provision of solutions to 
address water stress and the design of infrastructure adapted to the new realities. 

With a time frame up to 2020, the SMP (http://pds2020.acciona.com/) is structured in 
strategic and operational objectives, applicable to the whole organisation, with 
specifications for the different business lines, within the following areas: 

• Society: social impact management, dialogue and leadership, social action and 
volunteering. 

• Climate Change: carbon neutrality, climate risks and education. 
• Environment: eco-efficiency in operations, sustainable water management, 

biodiversity. 
• Good Govemance: ethics, human rights, corporate govemance, risk management 

and transparency. 
• People: health and safety, development and incentives, diversity and inclusion, 

and training. 
• Value Chain: sustainable management of the supply chain, partners, and clients. 
• Innovation: being at the forefront in the field of collaborative innovation and 

operational innovation. 

Since 2009, sustainability-related actions and undertakings as well as the objectives in 
the field of sustainability are promoted by the Board of Directors' Sustainability 
Committee. In addition, the Management Committee includes a body in charge of 
sustainability matters. At the same time, the specific objectives and initiatives of each 
division within the SMP framework are driven through the Sustainability Committees of 
each business. 

In order to maintain an attitude of continuous monitoring of new trends and challenges in 
sustainability matters, and to delve deeper into the social, environmental and govemance 
aspects ofrelevance for the business and to focus on accountability, ACCIONA draws up 
a materiality survey every year. 

In 2017 the materiality analysis was updated based on the previous year's study, which 
identified and prioritised issues relevant to each of ACCIONA's main lines of business 
and their impact along the entire value chain. With regards to the key issues identified, 
"Climate change", "non-financia! risks", "Ethics and anti-corruption ","Human Rights at 
Work" and "Occupational Safety and Health" stand out as relevant in the ACCIONA's 
main businesses. 

Based on this materiality analysis, ACCIONA exhaustively reports on its commitments, 
practices and performance each year in the Annual Sustainability Report, which is 
published on the corporate website (http://www.acciona.com). 

As required by Royal Decree-Law 18/2017 on non-financia! information and diversity, 
and in accordance with Directive 2014/95/EU, relevant information relating to 
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environmental and social issues is provided below, as well as information regarding staff, 
respect for human rights and the fight against corruption and bribery2• 

Environmental issues 

ACCIONA has four specific policies adopted by the Board of Directors' Sustainability 
Cornmittee, which apply to all business lines and countries in which the company 
operates: Environmental Policy, Climate Change Policy, Water Policy and Biodiversity 
Policy. 

In addition, the Code ofConduct includes the duty of ACCIONA and all its staffto know 
and adopt the Environmental Policy, and to strive to minimise the environmental impact 
of their activities. 

ACCIONA's environmental management model is based on the principies of improving 
environmental performance, and it establishes a common action framework for all 
company divisions. This model involves considering environmental aspects from the 
perspective of an entire life cycle, as well as the identification of risks and opportunities 
to ensure improvement and the planned results. Environmental objectives are established 
in all business lines, taking as a reference the objectives included in the SMP and 
management systems. 

The company's environmental management systems are certified under various 
intemational standards. Those certified under ISO 14001 for example are 100 % of the 
company's certifiable installed MW, 100 % of the marketing and sale of renewable 
energy with guarantees of origin accredited by the CNMV, 100 % of the construction 
activity in severa! countries (Spain, Chile, Mexico, Canada, Poland, Australia, etc.), 
among other ACCIONA activities. Energy management systems are also certified 
according to ISO 50001 :2011, as well as ali activities carried out by ACCIONA Agua in 
12 of its centres for example, in addition to EMAS certifications for the water distribution 
network centres of A TLL, among others. Likewise, the Wineries for Climate Protection 
certification has been renewed at Bodegas Viña Mayor. 

Environmental risk management is carried out by applying a proceduraP methodology, 
with which the risks are identified, assessed, prioritised and communicated to the 
decision-making bodies, as well as the potential environmental events that could impact 
the company and its centres, and the events generated by the company and its centres 
which in turn could impact on the environment, in order to establish action policies and 
tolerance thresholds. The focus is on the risks that ACCIONA's activities pose to the 
environment, the risks associated with climate change and those associated with water 
resources. In addition, the company has procedural mechanisms to manage risks, with the 
aim of addressing risks that have turned into environmental crises. 

• In 2017, ACCIONA carried out a top-down analysis ofthe environmental risks 
associated with climate change, following the Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) methodology. Further work has also been done on the 
identification and assessment of risk scenarios that could specifically impact 

2 lssues relating to the diversity of the Board of Directors are included in ACCIONA's 2017 Annual Corporate 
Governance Reporl. 
3 
Corporate Standards on Environmental Risk Managemenl and associated ocedures, (EnvironmentaJ Resp,onsibi liJ,y~ 

Climate Change and Water Resources). l CL1~Ri\ LlliS L02.,-J~O 
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ACCIONA's centres, activities and locations. The analysis carried out has 
obtained a total of 87 climate risk scenar1os, of which 13% correspond to 
significant risk scenarios. 

• In addition, a top-down analysis of risks and opportunities associated with water 
resources was carried out, which was able to identify 77 risk scenarios, 13% of 
which are significant risk scenarios. 

• With regard to the risks that ACCIONA's activities pose to the environment, 115 
risk scenarios have been analysed and evaluated within the scope of 
environmental risk standards. 

ACCIONA has made a commitment to be a carbon neutral company and therefore, all 
emissions generated since 2016 that could not be reduced, are compensated through 
certified carbon credits. Thanks to ACCIONA's electricity generation activities being 
100% from renewable sources, ACCIONA has avoided the emission of more than 14 
mi Ilion tonnes of C02. 

With the aim of contributing to the mitigation of climate change, the company has 
developed plans and programmes to reduce energy consumption and emissions of 
greenhouse gases, with a focus on energy efficiency and the use of renewable energy. In 
2017, more than 200 centres have consumed energy from 100% renewable energy 
sources4. 

Regarding water management, in 2017, ACCIONA's water footprint has generated a 
positive impact on the planet. In addition, plans to monitor and reduce water 
consurnption4 have been developed in production centres with intensive use of water 
resources. 

ACCIONA is committed to driving the transition towards a circular economy. In 2017, 
progress has been made in setting and achieving specific annual goals within the 
framework of its Waste Management Plan 2016-2020 promoting a circular economy, 
which at the group leve! sets a target to recover 50% of the waste generated in 2020, and 
to reduce the total amount of waste generated and not recovered by 10% when compared 
to 2015. During 2017, the company has recovered approximately 40% of the waste 
generated4

. 

Finally, the new life cycle analyses undertaken during 2017 has been incorporated into 
the company's portfolio, reaching a total of 50 analyses corresponding to 19 ACCIONA 
Construcción, ACCIONA Agua, ACCIONA Service, ACCIONA Energía and Bodegas 
Palacio 1894 Group projects, in which the standardised environmental impacts of various 
company products and services are exposed. 

ACCIONA has a total of 187 facilities that are located completely or partially in protected 
areas or non-protected areas with high biodiversity values, occupying around 8,000 
hectares. The company has identified and assessed the most significant impacts for each 
of the facilities at these locations, taking into account the affected species, the surface 

4 The consolidated data on emissions, energy consumption, water consumption, waste, among others, are published 
in the Sustainability Report, after the calculations were verified by an externa! entity (ongoing at the date the 
Management Report was finalised). 
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area ofthe facility, the duration ofthe impacts and their reversibility or irreversibility. In 
2017, the main impacts have been on the water environment (43 %), fauna (23 %), 
vegetation (15 % ) and to a lesser extent on the atmosphere, soil, landscape and habitat. 
ACCIONA has protected and restored more than 120 hectares in the surroundings of its 
projects. In addition, the company has a Biodiversity Compensation and Improvement 
Prograrnme which consists in designing and implementing voluntary initiatives that go 
beyond the administrative environmental requirements. 

On the other hand, and aiming to extend its environmental commitment to its suppliers, 
ACCIONA has calculated the greenhouse gas emissions of 100 % of its supply chain for 
the fourth consecutive year, and the water consumption of 100 % of the suppliers for the 
third consecutive year, which makes it possible to carry out an analysis by country, 
procurement sector and division. 

Social issues and issues related to staff 

ACCIONA has a specific Human Resources and Occupational Health and Safety Policy 
which reflects the company's commitment to ensure the respect for human rights and the 
principles governed by the International Labour Organisation, as well as its support for 
the objectives of the Seoul Declaration on Safety and Health at Work. In addition, 
Acciona's Code of Conduct sets conduct standards regarding respect for people, equality 
and safety and health at work, among others. 

With a workforce of 3 7 ,403 employees of 111 nationalities, 41 % being of non-Spanish 
nationality, ACCIONA considers it essential to attract and retain the best talent to 
compete in a global market and achieve the strategic goals that are pursued. Human 
capital management at ACCIONA is designed based on the definition of the human 
resources strategy and each year it is readjusted to the new business requirements. 

For the period 2018-2020, the cornpany sets as its rnain priority the need to put the 
employees at the centre of its strategy, with five basic management pillars. During 2017, 
the selection methodology has been revised, incorporating new tests that allow the 
capabilities that are required to be detected in a more effective way, and it has defined an 
internal mobility control panel. In the sarne way, a new Performance Management Model 
has been developed formed by four gears, launched through the first two phrases: Target 
Setting, Performance Status, My Development and Pay Decisions. 

In addition, the company considers training to be an essential part for the professional 
development of individuals and therefore, in 201 7, has carried out various initiati ves such 
as the M3 Plus manager training, the TMAX + programme for technicians, the new 
prograrnme on Digital Skills and the new ACCIONA Sustainability Course, among 
others. 

In 2017, voluntary rotation has decreased compared to the previous year to 3.7, the total 
rotation having increased from 6.59 in 2016 to 7 .6 this year. 

At ACCIONA, nearly all employees are covered by collective labour regulations in 
different countries (in certain countries, and due to commissioning reasons or legal 
framework reasons, there may be a rninimum nurnber of workers who are not covered, in 
any case this is Jess than 1 % of the total staff). 

Clf\R.l\. LO:.s LOZr1r~o 
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Depending on the country and the performed activity, the occupational and social risks 
associated with the projects carried out by the company are different: the most labour­
intensive businesses increase the risk associated with personnel management. Also, the 
protection of minorities stands out in certain countries (BBEEE requirements in South 
Africa, First Nations in Canada, Indigenous Peoples in Australia), as well as the 
promotion of equality (Europe, Canada, etc.), and the protection of immigrant groups 
(Middle East and Asia). The management of these risks at ACCIONA involves aligning 
the overall processes and objectives of diversity and socially responsible recruitment with 
the development of specific plans and procedures where required. To do this, externa! 
audit processes on working conditions are established in certain high-risk situations, as is 
the case ofthe United Arab Emirates. 

In order to ensure these objectives are met, the results obtained in the field of equality and 
socially responsible recruitment are reported on a monthly basis. These results are 
analysed by each business and country division in order to determine the action and/or 
correction plans required to ensure the objectives are met. 

In the specific case of Spain, all activity sectors are covered by Equality Plans in 
accordance with Organic Law 3/2007 for effective gender equality between women and 
men, signed with the most representative labour unions, in which the results are reported 
and assessed jointly every six months. Similar mechanisms are implemented in countries 
such as Australia, Mexico and Canada. 

Regarding the gender diversity, in 2017, 30% of the total staff are women, occupying 
12.8% of the total number of Director positions and 19.8% of management positions. 
With regards to the employability of people with disabilities, 3.52% of the equivalent 
employment of the total workforce in Spain has been reached. 

In matters regarding occupational safety and health, ACCIONA has action plans and 
specific objectives for promoting the health of its employees and collaborators and 
preventing occupational risks. Within the occupational risk management system, the 
company makes a continuous effort to assess the specific risks associated with each 
activity ( e.g., risks associated with occupational diseases, construction works, machinery, 
work at height, electrical contacts, etc.). 

It should be noted that the majority of ACCIONA's businesses are certified according to 
the OHSAS 18001 standard (100% of ACCIONA Energy, 97% of ACCIONA 
Infrastructure, 100% Corporate, 100% ACCIONA Real Estate and 100% Bestinver). In 
addition, ACCIONA Infrastructure has other local voluntary certifications, such as the 
COR in Canada and the OFSC Federal Safety in Australia. 

The Prevention Committee holds a meeting twice ayear, made up of the OHS Managers 
from ACCIONA's different divisions and business lines and the human resources 
department; the aim is to follow up on the projects that are ongoing and their level of 
development, as well as the occupational accidents in the period. 
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In the last such Committee, the data on accidents occurred on 2017 was analysed and the 
investigations into the causes and corrective measures of fatal accidents both of 
employees and subcontracted employees were reviewed. 5 

The company carries out different preventive actions such as the Health and Welfare Plan, 
the Road Safety Plan, actions in the field of education in all divisions, raising awareness 
and disseminating information relating to safety, among others. Sorne ofthe infrastructure 
division's initiatives should be noted, for example, the Leader Project which establishes 
leadership habits in OHS, as well as the Behaviour Based Safety for You (BBS4U) 
project, the aim of which is to control and prevent risks related to worker's behaviour 
from occurring. At ACCIONA Energía, the Think Safe programme has been 
implemented to improve the preventive culture of all the employees of the division, by 
taking part in awareness meetings. 

ACCIONA extends its culture and commitment to health and safety through its entire 
supply chain, involving contractors or subcontractors in preventive and training activities, 
and monitoring the accident rate statistics of contractors and subcontractors. In addition, 
specific initiatives have been developed, such as for example, the Voluntary Protection 
Programme for companies collaborating with ACCIONA Infrastructuras, so that these 
companies improve the occupational risk prevention standards and can be certified with 
a seal of approval which qualifies them as "safe companies". The implementation ofthis 
programme has resulted in 39 improvement plans in 2017. 

Social issues related to local communities 

ACCIONA's Sustainability Policy, approved by the Board of Directors' Sustainability 
Committee in 2013, includes the company's commitrnent to create value for the 
communities where it operates, as well as to maintain regular and fluid dialogue with its 
interest groups. This commitrnent to the interests of local communities is also 
incorporated into the Code of Conduct. In addition, by the end of 2017, work has been 
done on developing a specific relational policy with interest groups which will be adopted 
in 2018. 

The company has developed its own methodology for Social Impact Management (SIM), 
to analyse and address the social consequences of the projects on people, both negative 
and positive. This methodology is being implemented through a specific corporate 
procedure and is applicable to construction, operation and service projects of ACCIONA 
Infrastructure and ACCIONA Energy. The Social Impact Management methodology 
includes the following phases: 

• Characterisation of the social risk: study ofthe degree of social risk of the project 
through the characterisation of the social risk starting at the design and bid phase. 

• Social evaluation of the project: analysis ofthe socio-demographic characteristics 
of the populations in the area of influence of the project, identification and 
assessment of the positive or negative social impacts, and preparation of social 
action proposal. 

5 Accident rates are published in the Sustainability Report, after the calculations were e~rn~? by¡¡.~ :_C/.: r ... ~O 
externa( entity (ongoing at the date the Management Report was finalised). ¡ 
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• Communication and dialogue with communities: depending on the type of project, 
means of communicating are established with local communities and other 
interest groups to inform them of the project, its main impacts, and the social 
measures to be carried out. 

• Implementation and monitoring ofthe measures: implementation ofthe measures 
identified to avoid and mitigate negative social impacts, as well as to strengthen 
the positive impacts. 

The possible negative impacts that the SIM methodology focuses on are, among others: 
those affecting basic services and supplies to the communities; problems of road safety 
in urban environments; alteration of basic rights such as education and health; and 
changes in housing prices. On the other hand, the positive impacts that are generated when 
projects are developed are the recruitment of local staff, improvement of access to traffic 
mutes and stimulating the local economy, arnong others, are highlighted. 

With regards to the communications and dialogue with local communities, ACCIONA 
Energy, in addition to the usual channels within the projects, has a form on its website 
through which any person or group affected by the projects can raise a query and/or 
suggestion. ACCIONA Infraestructuras establishes a suggestions and cornplaints 
channels for projects in which the client requires it or allows it. 

During 2017, the SIM methodology has been implemented in a total of 100 ACCIONA 
projects (a 22% increase compared to 2016) in 33 countries (cornpared to 23 in the 
previous year), 13 projects belong to ACCIONA Energy and 87 belonging to ACCIONA 
Infraestructuras (Construction, Water, Industrial and Services). 

In addition, social impact management has been carried out in 12 projects of the 
Infrastructure division that have been classified as relevant, i.e. projects which although 
are not within the scope of the methodology, are considered as strategic for the business. 

The projects involved are diverse: construction of linear infrastructures and buildings, 
construction and operation of water treatment plants, and construction and operation of 
wind farms and photovoltaic plants, arnong others. For exarnple, in 2017, the social 
impacts have been managed on the construction of the Quito Metro (Ecuador), a water 
treatment plant in Metesusto (Colombia), a solar thermal plant in Kathu (South Africa), 
a wind farm in Bannur (India), the El Romero Solar photovoltaic plant (Chile), etc. 

The main social measures implemented to mitigate negative impacts and enhance the 
positive impacts in 2017 have been information campaigns about the project, 
rehabilitation and improvement of areas surrounding the projects, professional training 
for project workers, as well as environmental awareness-raising and social actions, 
education and health campaigns for schools, collaboration agreements to actívate the local 
economy, among others. 

As a novelty, in 2017, 9 external audits have been carried out, 2 on Energy projects and 
7 on Infrastructure projects in order to assess the degree of implementation of the SIM 
methodology. 
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Issues related to human rights 

As set out in the Code of Conduct, the Human Rights Policy, and the Human Resources 
and Occupational Health and Safety Policy approved by the Board of Directors, 
ACCIONA is committed to respecting the human rights and public freedoms recognised 
in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights of the United Nations; ACCIONA assumes 
the Declaration on Fundamental Principies and Rights at Work, the ILO Agreements, the 
OECD's Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and the United Nations Global 
Compact, among others, as basic conduct guidelines. Any alleged breach or violation of 
the conducts contained in the Code of Conduct, including human rights issues, can be 
cornmunicated through the company's Ethical Channel. 

The company developed a human rights risk diagnosis, taking the UN' s Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights as a frame of reference. During 2017, the 
human rights risk categories have been reviewed and the risks associated in the countries 
in which the company carries out its activities have been analysed. It was concluded that 
52 % of the countries in which ACCIONA operates have asevere or very severe risk of 
violating human rights, according to Maplecroft. 

The human rights risks analysed include freedom of opinion and expression, rights of 
minorities, rights of indigenous people, women and girls, rights to basic services, 
violations by hired security forces, migrant workers' rights, working conditions, health 
and safety, forced labour and child labour. 

Taking the standards of the Danish Institute for Human Rights and the United Nations 
Global Compactas a reference, with regard to the control measures identified based on 
the analysis of the company's procedures and policies, it was concluded that 43% are 
completed covered, 52% are partly covered, 3% have insufficient coverage and it <loes 
not apply to 2%. 

On the other hand, in relation to the rights of local and work communities that may be 
affected by ACCIONA's activities, the Social Impact Management (SIM) methodology 
has been used to study possible infringements of human rights that a particular project or 
service could inflict on communities and other interest groups, among other factors. In 
addition, it evaluates the social impacts in terms of severity if significant changes are 
incurred in the social, economic or cultural sb·ucture of a certain population or group of 
employees, or if human rights are affected. In this case, the SIM methodology requires 
prevention and mitigation measures for these impacts to be established. 

In 2017, 12 of the projects in which the SIM methodology has been implemented 
identified possible risks of violating human rights. In all of these cases, measures have 
been taken to prevent such violations from occurring. 

During 2017, different educational initiatives that include human rights issues have also 
been implemented. In ACCIONA's Sustainability Course released to more than 10,000 
employees from all divisions and geographical areas, training on the company' s 
responsibility to respect labour and civil rights is included. In addition, ACCIONA offers 
a specific course on the Code of Conduct which includes human rights within their 17 
basic action guidelines. In relation to the training provided to suppliers, ACCIONA has 
designed an online course on "Sustainability applied to your company" in collaboration 
with the Spanish Network for the United Nations Glo al Compact, whích incluCles a 
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specific module on human rights and social action. It is expected that a specific course on 
human rights for company employees will be developed in 2018. 

Issues relating to the fight against corruption and bribery 

The policies established by the ACCIONA group to fight against corruption and bribery 
are the following: 

• Code of Conduct: establishes the values that should guide the behaviour of all 
managers, directors, employees and suppliers of ACCIONA group companies. 
The Code of Conduct, adopted in 2007, was revised in 2011 and again in 2016 by 
the Board of Directors. 

• Anti-corruption Policy: approved in 2013, establishes the ACCIONA Group's 
clear position against any corrupt or criminal act, as well as the extrapolation of 
this commitment to ali the people that make up the group. 

• Anti-corruption Action Standards: approved by the Board ofDirectors in January 
2016, pro vide compliance guidelines to prevent misconduct which are mandatory 
for all employees and parties associated with ACCIONA (including agents, 
intermediaries, advisers, consultants and suppliers ). 

• Corporate Standard on donations and non-commercial sponsorships: approved in 
201 7, developed from the anti-corruption standards. 

The Compliance Management department, created in 2015 and reporting directly to the 
Executive Presidency and to the Board of Directors' Audit Committee, supervises the 
respect for and the effectiveness of the procedures, controls and interna! commitments 
established to ensure compliance with voluntary and regulatory obligations regarding 
ethical, organisational, environmental and social matters, and the identification, 
prevention and rnitigation of associated risks. 

The ACCIONA Group maintains relations with Public Administrations and participates 
in tender processes for infrastructure in different countries when carrying out its activities, 
and therefore the risks of public corruption are analysed in each project, evaluating the 
country and importance of the project. 

ACCIONA has adopted and implemented a Crime Prevention and Anti-Corruption Model 
which has the following features: 

• The model is arranged according to ACCIONA group's organisational structure, 
and it specifies the criminal risks and their corresponding controls for each 
department of the group in separate sections. 

• Interna! controls are associated to each identified risk which mitigate or, at any 
rate, decrease the chances of each criminal risk occurring. 

• The model documents these interna! controls, with a series of attributes that 
characterise them which include the area or administration responsible for 
implementing the control, anda specific description ofthe control activity. 
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• In addition, the model includes controls from ACCIONA group's Interna} Control 
over Financia! Reporting Systems (ICoFRS) which are suitable for preventing 
certain offences from being comrnitted. 

The crime prevention model established for Spain and adapted to local legislative 
requirements as applicable is progressívely being implanted to the other countries in 
which the group's activíties are carried out. 

In addition, control measures have been implemented to prevent or identify potential 
cases of corruption. The most important controls are reviewed periodically by the 
assigned managers. The following actions, among others, are highlighted. 

The group has implemented an Ethical channel since 2007 which allows others to 
communicate any irregular behaviour related to accounting, monitoring, auditing or any 
breach or violation of the conducts contained in the Code and internal standards. The 
interna! standards impose an obligation to let the company know immediately of any 
potential irregularities or breaches of the code that employees might become aware of, as 
well as to report any fact, act, conductor behavíour that is contrary to the Anti-Corruption 
Standards. 

The Code ofConduct Committee ensures that complaints regarding any possible breaches 
are analysed thoroughly, always guaranteeing the confidentiality of the complaints, as 
well as ensuring that there is no retaliation of any k:ind against those who make the 
complaints in good faith and respecting, in any case, the people allegedly involved. 

In 2017, 45 communications were received through the Ethical Channel compared to 26 
in 2016. Specific instructions were carried out for 51 % of the communications received, 
involving an external instructor in many cases. The other 49 % were closed without any 
instruction, since they were not related to the Code ofConduct (non-financia! anonymous 
complaints that were merely about Iabour, organisational or functional issues) without 
prejudice to the fact that a preliminary investigation was conducted for the majority of 
the archived files without a specífic instructor being assigned. 

The Code of Conduct, the Corporate Policies, and the Anti-Corruption Standards have 
been communicated to the employees and published on the company's intranet and web 
page. In addition, employees must mandatorily read and accept the Code of Conduct and 
the Anti-Corruption Standards 

In 2017, the Compliance Management department published relevant information on anti­
corruption on the intranet page, such as examples of reasonable gifts following the 
standards of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, instructions regarding contracts with 
agents and intermediaries, and clauses that must be contained in the agreements, the 
importance of the Ethical Channel in order to communicating irregularities, and a 
summary of their activitíes. 

Likewise, two training activities were held in 2017. On the one hand, 1,400 executives 
and managers were trained in an Anti-C01Tuption Course. On the other hand, 6,213 
employees were trained in a course on the Code of Conduct, which is available to all 
employees in 7 languages. 
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With regard to due diligence on the knowledge of third parties, the group has implemented 
a tool that allows an initial analysis to be carried out on the third parties that ACCIONA 
will/or aims to have a commercial/partnership relationship with, and which improves the 
risks management in projects. At the end of 2017, more than 1 70 third parties were 
evaluated. 

Supply Chain: environmental, social, labour, human rights and anti-corruption issues. 

ACCIONA works to extend sustainability to its supply chain and promotes the adoption 
of the values contained in its Code of Conduct among its suppliers and contractors. In 
addition, this Code sets specific guidelines on relations with suppliers. Similarly, the 
Ethical Principies for Suppliers, Contractors and Partners which were approved in 2011 
cover aspects regarding transparency and ethics, human and social rights, health and 
safety, and quality and the environment. In addition, the company has established 
minimum standards in the field of ethics and integrity, human rights and corporate 
responsibility, environment, safety and health, among others, contained in the No Go 
Policies. 

The main tool used for supply chain management at ACCIONA is PROCUR-e, the 
Supplier Portal and Tender Tool, in which increasingly detailed controls are established 
as the criticality increases. All suppliers registered are required to accept the Supplier' s 
Self-Declaration of Compliance document, which reflects ACCIONA's commitment 
with intemational standards, the Code of Conduct, Ethical Principies for suppliers, and 
minimum standards in the field of integrity, environment and quality. This requirement 
has already been formally accepted by more than 23,500 suppliers. 

Any supplier that submits an offer through PROCUR-e, must complete the self­
assessment questionnaire regarding corporate responsibility (CR) and sustainability; from 
this moment on the supplier forms part of the Supplier Risk Map which monitors and 
updates the level of risk on a daily basis which is based on 1 O variables including 
Integrity, Country Risk, CR and Sustainability (focussing on Human Rights), Health and 
Safety, the Environment, Assessment, etc. By the end of2017, more than 16,700 suppliers 
have a Risk Map. 

The following control is established for critica} suppliers during the Evaluation and 
Approval Process, through which the criticality regarding the level of Integrity, country 
risk, CR, sustainability, OHS risk, environmental risk, legal documentation and 
assessment are reviewed. By the end of2017, ACCIONA has 3,850 approved suppliers. 
Within the approval process, 296 auditing process have been carried out on suppliers, 47 
of them on suppliers from risk countries, in order to ensure the non-infringement of 
human rights in those areas, among other aspects. 88.46 % suppliers on ACCIONA sites 
in risk countries have been audited. 

Focus has been on issues relating to the fight against corruption and bribery, and in 2017, 
the Integrity variable has been monitored for 5,947 suppliers. 

ACCIONA offers its suppliers and contractors training prograrnmes in subjects such as 
the Code of Conduct, sustainability, human rights, prevention of discrimination, among 
others. 
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Foreseeable Evolution 

In 2017, the upturn in activity thatbegan in mid-2016 was confirmed. This growth, which 
occurred surprisingly in Europe and Asia, led to an increase in the global product which 
was estimated at 3.7% over the past year, half a point higher than what was projected in 
2016 for the end of2017. 

This growth force, the high confidence levels, and the US fiscal reform are the main 
factors that have led to the global growth expectations being revised, placing them at 
3.9% per year for 2018 and 2019. There are a number ofrisks that threaten this growth, 
although these seem to be balanced. The possible correction of financial markets is 
highlighted, as a result of the increase in the value of assets over the past few years with 
very small volatilities, in addition to sorne isolating rneasures, the geopolitical tension in 
sorne parts of the globe, and the political uncertainty in certain countries. 

It can be concluded that the upward revision of the global outlook is the result of advanced 
economies, expecting a growth of 2.3% and 2.2% for 2018 and 2019, respectively. This 
revision reflects the expectation that the acceleration of demand and investment wilJ be 
maintained, which are the result of the favourable financia] conditions and the 
improvement in the confidence level. 

In addition, as noted, it is expected that the tax reforrn in the United States is a temporary 
boost in the growth of the United States, which was corrected by the IMF in its latest 
growth forecasts published in January 2018 to 2.7% in 2018 and 2.5% in 2019, as well as 
the growth of its trading partners, especially Mexico and Canada. Although, it should be 
noted that even if this stimulus will boost growth in the coming years, the forecasts then 
reduce for a few years frorn 2022. 

With regards to the euro zone, the forecasts have also been revised upwards, particularly 
those of Italy, Germany and Holland, thanks to the increase in the interna} and extemal 
debt. The forecasts are 2.2% for 2018 and 2% for 2019. 

With regards to Spain, it should be noted that the growth expected by the end of 2017 will 
be far greater than the potential, standing at 3 .1 %. However, political uncertainty due to 
the Catalonia situation and its effect on the demand and confidence have led to the growth 
expectations for 2018 to be revised downwards, which ha ve changed from the initially 
estimated 2.5% to the current 2.4%, and to 2.1% in 2019. In this way, the Spain forecast 
is the only one ofthe large economies that has been reduced for 2018. However, it remains 
to be the economy with the highest growth rate among the major European economies as 
a result of the reforms adopted in the past and the optimism of the macro-economic 
situation in Europe. 

The growth forecasts in other advanced economies have also been revised upwards, 
especially as a result of the higher growth in the advanced economies of Asia. This is due 
to the fact that these economies are more susceptible to changes in the investment and 
intemational trade prospects, as is the case with Japan, whose growth expectations have 
been revised upwards for 2018 and 2019 and are set at 1.2% and 0.9%, respectively. 

The growth of the economies in emerging markets is expected to be 4.9% in 2018 and 
5% in 2019, although there is a wide dispersion between the development of each 
economy. The Asian region of emerging economies produces more"than halfo:t:th""e-Mg~lo~bsaa.1-l __ _ 
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growth and will grow by around 6.5% in 2018 and 6.6% in 2019, at the same rateas in 
2017. It is expected that the growth in India will increase to 7.4% in 2018 and to 7.8% in 
2019, while in China the growth projections modera te its growth gradually and it is 
estimated to be at 6.6% and 6.4% for 2018 and 2019, respectively. 

The emerging economies ofEurope enjoy relaxed financial conditions andan increase of 
exports to the euro zone, which has led to an upward revision of its growth, especially in 
Poland and Turkey. 

In Latín America, the forecasts show that the recovery will be strengthened, and the 
growth has been revised upwards, noting that it will be at 1.9% in 2018 and 2.6% in 2019. 
This upward revision occurs as a result of the strengthening of Brazil' s recovery, of the 
new perspectives of Mexico as a result of the tax reform in the United States, and the 
effect of the price increase of raw materials and the easing of financial conditions in sorne 
raw material exporting countries. On the other hand, the Venezuelan economy has been 
revised downward, which is loosely offset by upward revisions in the remaining Latin 
American countries. 

The revision of generalised growth caused the growth expectation ofRussia to be revised 
slightly upward to 1.7% in 2018 and 1.5% in 2019, which has led toan increase in the 
growth expectations of the Commonwealth of Independent States, exceeding 2% in both 
years. 

Average period of payment to suppliers and Corporate Social Responsibility 

To the effects of the provisions in article 262.1 of Royal Legislative Decree 1/2010, of 2 
July, whereby the consolidated text of the Capital Companies Act is approved, the 
information on the average period for payment to suppliers is contained in Note 36 to the 
financia! statements. In addition, and in conformity with recommendation 55 ofthe Code 
of Good Govemance of Listed Companies, it is hereby indicated that the aspects related 
to Corporate Social Responsibility are discussed in the Sustainability Report. 

Annual Corporate Governance Report 

The Annual Corporate Govemance Report is available in its entirety on the web site of 
the National Securities Market Commission (www.cnmv.es) and on the Company's web 
page (www.acciona.es). 

In addition, the Annual Corporate Governance Report will be notified to the National 
Securities Market Commission as a Material Event. 
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